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These interim procedures (Interim Supplementary Procedures) supplement the International
Centre for Dispute Resolution’s international arbitration rules in accordance with the
independent review process set forth in Article 4, Section 4.3 of ICANN’s Bylaws. These
procedures apply to all independent review process proceedings filed after 1 May 2018.
In drafting these Interim Supplementary Procedures, the IRP Implementation Oversight Team
(IOT) applied the following principles: (1) remain as close as possible to the current
Supplementary Procedures or the Updated Supplementary Procedures (USP) posted for public
comment on 28 November 2016 2; (2) to the extent public comments received in response to the
USP reflected clear movement away from either the current Supplementary Procedures or the
1

2

CONTEXTUAL NOTE: These Interim Supplementary Procedures are intended to supplement the ICDR RULES.
Therefore, when the ICDR RULES appropriately address an item, there is no need to re-state that Rule within the
Supplemental Procedures. The IOT, through its work, may identify additional places where variance from the
ICDR RULES is recommended, and that would result in addition or modification to the Supplemental Procedures.
See https://www.icann.org/public-comments/irp-supp-procedures-2016-11-28-en.
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USP, to reflect that movement unless doing so would require significant drafting that should be
properly deferred for broader consideration; (3) take no action that would materially expand any
part of the Supplementary Procedures that the IOT has not clearly agreed upon, or that represent
a significant change from what was posted for comment and would therefore require further
public consultation prior to changing the supplemental rules to reflect those expansions or
changes.
1. Definitions
In these Interim Supplementary Procedures:
A CLAIMANT is any legal or natural person, group, or entity including, but not limited to the
Empowered Community, a Supporting Organization, or an Advisory Committee, that has been
materially affected by a Dispute. To be materially affected by a Dispute, the Claimant must
suffer an injury or harm that is directly and causally connected to the alleged violation.
COVERED ACTIONS are any actions or failures to act by or within ICANN committed by the
Board, individual Directors, Officers, or Staff members that give rise to a DISPUTE.
DISPUTES are defined as:
(A) Claims that COVERED ACTIONS violated ICANN’s Articles of Incorporation or
Bylaws, including, but not limited to, any action or inaction that:
1) exceeded the scope of the Mission;
2) resulted from action taken in response to advice or input from any Advisory
Committee or Supporting Organization that are claimed to be inconsistent
with the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws;
3) resulted from decisions of process-specific expert panels that are claimed to
be inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws;
4) resulted from a response to a DIDP (as defined in Section 22.7(d)) request that
is claimed to be inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; or
5) arose from claims involving rights of the EC as set forth in the Articles of
Incorporation or Bylaws;
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(B) Claims that ICANN, the Board, individual Directors, Officers or Staff members have
not enforced ICANN’s contractual rights with respect to the IANA Naming Function
Contract; and
(C) Claims regarding the Post-Transition IANA entity service complaints by direct
customers of the IANA naming functions that are not resolved through mediation.
EMERGENCY PANELIST refers to a single member of the STANDING PANEL designated to
adjudicate requests for interim relief or, if a STANDING PANEL is not in place at the time the
relevant IRP is initiated, it shall refer to the panelist appointed by the ICDR pursuant to ICDR
RULES relating to appointment of panelists for emergency relief (ICDR RULES Article 6).
IANA refers to the Internet Assigned Numbers Authority.
ICDR refers to the International Centre for Dispute Resolution, which has been designated and
approved by ICANN’s Board of Directors as the IRP Provider (IRPP) under Article 4, Section
4.3 of ICANN’s Bylaws.
ICANN refers to the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers.
INDEPENDENT REVIEW PROCESS or IRP refers to the procedure that takes place upon the
Claimant’s filing of a written statement of a DISPUTE with the ICDR.
IRP PANEL refers to the panel of three neutral members appointed to decide the relevant
DISPUTE.
IRP PANEL DECISION refers to the final written decision of the IRP PANEL that reflects the
reasoned analysis of how the DISPUTE was resolved in compliance with ICANN’s Articles and
Bylaws.
ICDR RULES refers to the ICDR’s International Arbitration rules in effect at the time the
relevant request for independent review is submitted.
PROCEDURES OFFICER refers to a single member of the STANDING PANEL designated to
adjudicate requests for consolidation, intervention, and/or participation as an amicus, or, if a
STANDING PANEL is not in place at the time the relevant IRP is initiated, it shall refer to the
panelist appointed by the ICDR pursuant to its International Arbitration Rules relating to
appointment of panelists for consolidation (ICDR Rules Article 8)
PURPOSES OF THE IRP are to hear and resolve Disputes for the reasons specified in the
ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section 4.3(a).
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STANDING PANEL refers to an omnibus standing panel of at least seven members from which
three-member IRP PANELS are selected to hear and resolve DISPUTES consistent with the
purposes of the IRP.
2. Scope
The ICDR will apply these Interim Supplementary Procedures, in addition to the ICDR RULES,
in all cases submitted to the ICDR in connection with Article 4, Section 4.3 of the ICANN
Bylaws after the date these Interim Supplementary Procedures go into effect. In the event there
is any inconsistency between these Interim Supplementary Procedures and the ICDR RULES,
these Interim Supplementary Procedures will govern. These Interim Supplementary Procedures
and any amendment of them shall apply in the form in effect at the time the request for an
INDEPENDENT REVIEW is commenced. IRPs commenced prior to the adoption of these
Interim Supplementary Procedures shall be governed by the Supplementary Procedures in effect
at the time such IRPs were commenced.
In the event that any of these Interim Supplementary Procedures are subsequently amended, the
rules surrounding the application of those amendments will be defined therein.
3. Composition of Independent Review Panel
The IRP PANEL will comprise three panelists selected from the STANDING PANEL, unless a
STANDING PANEL is not in place when the IRP is initiated. The CLAIMANT and ICANN
shall each select one panelist from the STANDING PANEL, and the two panelists selected by
the parties will select the third panelist from the STANDING PANEL. A STANDING PANEL
member’s appointment will not take effect unless and until the STANDING PANEL member
signs a Notice of STANDING PANEL Appointment affirming that the member is available to
serve and is Independent and Impartial pursuant to the ICDR RULES. In addition to disclosing
relationships with parties to the DISPUTE, IRP PANEL members must also disclose the
existence of any material relationships with ICANN, and/or an ICANN Supporting Organization
or Advisory Committee. In the event that a STANDING PANEL is not in place when the
relevant IRP is initiated or is in place but does not have capacity due to other IRP commitments,
the CLAIMANT and ICANN shall each select a qualified panelist from outside the STANDING
PANEL, and the two panelists selected by the parties shall select the third panelist. In the event
that the two party-selected panelists cannot agree on the third panelist, the ICDR RULES shall
apply to selection of the third panelist. In the event that a panelist resigns, is incapable of
performing the duties of a panelist, or is removed and the position becomes vacant, a substitute
arbitrator shall be appointed pursuant to the provisions of this Section [3] of these Interim
Supplementary Procedures.
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4. Time for Filing3
An INDEPENDENT REVIEW is commenced when CLAIMANT files a written statement of a
DISPUTE. A CLAIMANT shall file a written statement of a DISPUTE with the ICDR no more
than 120 days after a CLAIMANT becomes aware of the material effect of the action or inaction
giving rise to the DISPUTE; provided, however, that a statement of a DISPUTE may not be filed
more than twelve (12) months from the date of such action or inaction.
In order for an IRP to be deemed to have been timely filed, all fees must be paid to the ICDR
within three business days (as measured by the ICDR) of the filing of the request with the ICDR.
5. Conduct of the Independent Review
It is in the best interests of ICANN and of the ICANN community for IRP matters to be resolved
expeditiously and at a reasonably low cost while ensuring fundamental fairness and due process
consistent with the PURPOSES OF THE IRP. The IRP PANEL shall consider accessibility,
fairness, and efficiency (both as to time and cost) in its conduct of the IRP.
In the event that an EMERGENCY PANELIST has been designated to adjudicate a request for
interim relief pursuant to the Bylaws, Article 4, Section 4.3(p), the EMERGENCY PANELIST
shall comply with the rules applicable to an IRP PANEL, with such modifications as appropriate.
5A.

Nature of IRP Proceedings

The IRP PANEL should conduct its proceedings by electronic means to the extent feasible.
Hearings shall be permitted as set forth in these Interim Supplementary Procedures. Where
necessary, the IRP PANEL may conduct hearings via telephone, video conference or similar
technologies).The IRP PANEL should conduct its proceedings with the presumption that inperson hearings shall not be permitted. For purposes of these Interim Supplementary
Procedures, an “in-person hearing” refers to any IRP proceeding held face-to-face, with
participants physically present in the same location. The presumption against in-person hearings
may be rebutted only under extraordinary circumstances, where, upon motion by a Party, the IRP
PANEL determines that the party seeking an in-person hearing has demonstrated that: (1) an in3

The IOT recently sought additional public comment to consider the Time for Filing rule that will be recommended
for inclusion in the final set of Supplementary Procedures. In the event that the final Time for Filing procedure
allows additional time to file than this interim Supplementary Procedure allows, ICANN committed to the IOT
that the final Supplementary Procedures will include transition language that provides potential claimants the
benefit of that additional time, so as not to prejudice those potential claimants.
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person hearing is necessary for a fair resolution of the claim; (2) an in-person hearing is
necessary to further the PURPOSES OF THE IRP; and (3) considerations of fairness and
furtherance of the PURPOSES OF THE IRP outweigh the time and financial expense of an inperson hearing. In no circumstances shall in-person hearings be permitted for the purpose of
introducing new arguments or evidence that could have been previously presented, but were not
previously presented, to the IRP PANEL.
All hearings shall be limited to argument only unless the IRP Panel determines that a the party
seeking to present witness testimony has demonstrated that such testimony is: (1) necessary for
a fair resolution of the claim; (2) necessary to further the PURPOSES OF THE IRP; and (3)
considerations of fairness and furtherance of the PURPOSES OF THE IRP outweigh the time
and financial expense of witness testimony and cross examination.
All evidence, including witness statements, must be submitted in writing 15 days in advance of
any hearing.
With due regard to ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section 4.3(s), the IRP PANEL retains
responsibility for determining the timetable for the IRP proceeding. Any violation of the IRP
PANEL’s timetable may result in the assessment of costs pursuant to Section 10 of these Interim
Supplementary Procedures.
5B.

Translation

As required by ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section 4.3(l), “All IRP proceedings shall be
administered in English as the primary working language, with provision of translation services
for CLAIMANTS if needed.” Translation may include both translation of written
documents/transcripts as well as interpretation of oral proceedings.
The IRP PANEL shall have discretion to determine (i) whether the CLAIMANT has a need for
translation services, (ii) what documents and/or hearing that need relates to, and (iii) what
language the document, hearing or other matter or event shall be translated into. A CLAIMANT
not determined to have a need for translation services must submit all materials in English (with
the exception of the request for translation services if the request includes CLAIMANT’s
certification to the IRP PANEL that submitting the request in English would be unduly
burdensome).
In determining whether a CLAIMANT needs translation, the IRP PANEL shall consider the
CLAIMANT’s proficiency in spoken and written English and, to the extent that the CLAIMANT
is represented in the proceedings by an attorney or other agent, that representative’s proficiency
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in spoken and written English. The IRP PANEL shall only consider requests for translations
from/to English and the other five official languages of the United Nations (i.e., Arabic, Chinese,
French, Russian, or Spanish).
In determining whether translation of a document, hearing or other matter or event shall be
ordered, the IRP PANEL shall consider the CLAIMANT’s proficiency in English as well as in
the requested other language (from among Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian or Spanish). The
IRP PANEL shall confirm that all material portions of the record of the proceeding are available
in English.
In considering requests for translation, the IRP PANEL shall consider the materiality of the
particular document, hearing or other matter or event requested to be translated, as well as the
cost and delay incurred by translation, pursuant to ICDR Article 18 on Translation, and the need
to ensure fundamental fairness and due process under ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section
4.3(n)(iv).
Unless otherwise ordered by the IRP PANEL, costs of need-based translation (as determined by
the IRP PANEL) shall be covered by ICANN as administrative costs and shall be coordinated
through ICANN’s language services providers. Even with a determination of need-based
translation, if ICANN or the CLAIMANT coordinates the translation of any document through
its legal representative, such translation shall be considered part of the legal costs and not an
administrative cost to be born by ICANN. Additionally, in the event that either the CLAIMANT
or ICANN retains a translator for the purpose of translating any document, hearing or other
matter or event, and such retention is not pursuant to a determination of need-based translation
by the IRP PANEL, the costs of such translation shall not be charged as administrative costs to
be covered by ICANN.
6. Written Statements
A CLAIMANT’S written statement of a DISPUTE shall include all claims that give rise to a
particular DISPUTE, but such claims may be asserted as independent or alternative claims.
The initial written submissions of the parties shall not exceed 25 pages each in argument, doublespaced and in 12-point font. All necessary and available evidence in support of the
CLAIMANT’S claim(s) should be part of the initial written submission. Evidence will not be
included when calculating the page limit. The parties may submit expert evidence in writing,
and there shall be one right of reply to that expert evidence. The IRP PANEL may request
additional written submissions from the party seeking review, the Board, the Supporting
Organizations, or from other parties.
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In addition, the IRP PANEL may grant a request for additional written submissions from any
person or entity who is intervening as a CLAIMANT or who is participating as an amicus upon
the showing of a compelling basis for such request. In the event the IRP PANEL grants a request
for additional written submissions, any such additional written submission shall not exceed 15
pages, double-spaced and in 12-point font.
For any DISPUTE resulting from a decision of a process-specific expert panel that is claimed to
be inconsistent with ICANN’s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, as specified at Bylaw Section
4.3(b)(iii)(A)(3), any person, group or entity that was previously identified as within a contention
set with the CLAIMANT regarding the issue under consideration within such expert panel
proceeding shall reasonably receive notice from ICANN that the INDEPENDENT REVIEW
PROCESS has commenced. ICANN shall undertake reasonable efforts to provide notice by
electronic message within two business days (calculated at ICANN’s principal place of business)
of receiving notification from the ICDR that the IRP has commenced.
7. Consolidation, Intervention and Participation as an Amicus
A PROCEDURES OFFICER shall be appointed from the STANDING PANEL to consider any
request for consolidation, intervention, and/or participation as an amicus. Except as otherwise
expressly stated herein, requests for consolidation, intervention, and/or participation as an amicus
are committed to the reasonable discretion of the PROCEDURES OFFICER. In the event that
no STANDING PANEL is in place when a PROCEDURES OFFICER must be selected, a
panelist may be appointed by the ICDR pursuant to its INTERNATIONAL ARBITRATION
RULES relating to appointment of panelists for consolidation.
In the event that requests for consolidation or intervention are granted, the restrictions on Written
Statements set forth in Section 6 shall apply to all CLAIMANTS collectively (for a total of 25
pages exclusive of evidence) and not individually unless otherwise modified by the IRP PANEL
in its discretion consistent with the PURPOSES OF THE IRP.
Consolidation
Consolidation of DISPUTES may be appropriate when the PROCEDURES OFFICER concludes
that there is a sufficient common nucleus of operative fact among multiple IRPs such that the
joint resolution of the DISPUTES would foster a more just and efficient resolution of the
DISPUTES than addressing each DISPUTE individually. If DISPUTES are consolidated, each
existing DISPUTE shall no longer be subject to further separate consideration. The
PROCEDURES OFFICER may in its discretion order briefing to consider the propriety of
consolidation of DISPUTES.
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Intervention
Any person or entity qualified to be a CLAIMANT pursuant to the standing requirement set forth
in the Bylaws may intervene in an IRP with the permission of the PROCEDURES OFFICER, as
provided below. This applies whether or not the person, group or entity participated in an
underlying proceeding (a process-specific expert panel per ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section
4.3(b)(iii)(A)(3)).
Intervention is appropriate to be sought when the prospective participant does not already have a
pending related DISPUTE, and the potential claims of the prospective participant stem from a
common nucleus of operative facts based on such briefing as the PROCEDURES OFFICER may
order in its discretion.
In addition, the Supporting Organization(s) which developed a Consensus Policy involved when
a DISPUTE challenges a material provision(s) of an existing Consensus Policy in whole or in
part shall have a right to intervene as a CLAIMANT to the extent of such challenge. Supporting
Organization rights in this respect shall be exercisable through the chair of the Supporting
Organization.
Any person, group or entity who intervenes as a CLAIMAINT pursuant to this section will
become a CLAIMANT in the existing INDEPENDENT REVIEW PROCESS and have all of the
rights and responsibilities of other CLAIMANTS in that matter and be bound by the outcome to
the same extent as any other CLAIMANT. All motions to intervene or for consolidation shall be
directed to the IRP PANEL within 15 days of the initiation of the INDEPENDENT REVIEW
PROCESS. All requests to intervene or for consolidation must contain the same information as a
written statement of a DISPUTE and must be accompanied by the appropriate filing fee. The
IRP PANEL may accept for review by the PROCEDURES OFFICER any motion to intervene or
for consolidation after 15 days in cases where it deems that the PURPOSES OF THE IRP are
furthered by accepting such a motion.
Excluding materials exempted from production under Rule 8 (Exchange of Information) below,
the IRP PANEL shall direct that all materials related to the DISPUTE be made available to
entities that have intervened or had their claim consolidated unless a CLAIMANT or ICANN
objects that such disclosure will harm commercial confidentiality, personal data, or trade secrets;
in which case the IRP PANEL shall rule on objection and provide such information as is
consistent with the PURPOSES OF THE IRP and the appropriate preservation of confidentiality
as recognized in Article 4 of the Bylaws.
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Participation as an Amicus Curiae
Any person, group, or entity that has a material interest relevant to the DISPUTE but does not
satisfy the standing requirements for a CLAIMANT set forth in the Bylaws may participate as an
amicus curiae before an IRP PANEL, subject to the limitations set forth below. Without
limitation to the persons, groups, or entities that may have such a material interest, the following
persons, groups, or entities shall be deemed to have a material interest relevant to the DISPUTE
and, upon request of person, group, or entity seeking to so participate, shall be permitted to
participate as an amicus before the IRP PANEL:
i.
ii.
iii.

A person, group or entity that participated in an underlying proceeding (a processspecific expert panel per ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section 4.3(b)(iii)(A)(3));
If the IRP relates to an application arising out of ICANN’s New gTLD Program, a
person, group or entity that was part of a contention set for the string at issue in
the IRP; and
If the briefings before the IRP PANEL significantly refer to actions taken by a
person, group or entity that is external to the DISPUTE, such external person,
group or entity.

All requests to participate as an amicus must contain the same information as the Written
Statement (set out at Section 6), specify the interest of the amicus curiae, and must be
accompanied by the appropriate filing fee.
If the PROCEDURES OFFICER determines, in his or her discretion, subject to the conditions set
forth above, that the proposed amicus curiae has a material interest relevant to the DISPUTE, he
or she shall allow participation by the amicus curiae. Any person participating as an amicus
curiae may submit to the IRP Panel written briefing(s) on the DISPUTE or on such discrete
questions as the IRP PANEL may request briefing, in the discretion of the IRP PANEL and
subject to such deadlines, page limits, and other procedural rules as the IRP PANEL may specify
in its discretion.4 The IRP PANEL shall determine in its discretion what materials related to the
DISPUTE to make available to a person participating as an amicus curiae.

4

During the pendency of these Interim Supplementary Rules, in exercising its discretion in
allowing the participation of amicus curiae and in then considering the scope of participation
from amicus curiae, the IRP PANEL shall lean in favor of allowing broad participation of an
amicus curiae as needed to further the purposes of the IRP set forth at Section 4.3 of the
ICANN Bylaws.

10

RE-1
8. Exchange of Information
The IRP PANEL shall be guided by considerations of accessibility, fairness, and efficiency (both
as to time and cost) in its consideration of requests for exchange of information.
On the motion of either Party and upon finding by the IRP PANEL that such exchange of
information is necessary to further the PURPOSES OF THE IRP, the IRP PANEL may order a
Party to produce to the other Party, and to the IRP PANEL if the moving Party requests,
documents or electronically stored information in the other Party’s possession, custody, or
control that the Panel determines are reasonably likely to be relevant and material to the
resolution of the CLAIMS and/or defenses in the DISPUTE and are not subject to the attorneyclient privilege, the work product doctrine or otherwise protected from disclosure by applicable
law (including, without limitation, disclosures to competitors of the dislosing person, group or
entity, of any competition-sensitvie information of any kind). Where such method(s) for
exchange of information are allowed, all Parties shall be granted the equivalent rights for
exchange of information.
A motion for exchange of documents shall contain a description of the specific documents,
classes of documents or other information sought that relate to the subject matter of the Dispute
along with an explanation of why such documents or other information are likely to be relevant
and material to resolution of the Dispute.
Depositions, interrogatories, and requests for admission will not be permitted.
In the event that a Party submits what the IRP PANEL deems to be an expert opinion, such
opinion must be provided in writing and the other Party must have a right of reply to such an
opinion with an expert opinion of its own.
9. Summary Dismissal
An IRP PANEL may summarily dismiss any request for INDEPENDENT REVIEW where the
Claimant has not demonstrated that it has been materially affected by a DISPUTE. To be
materially affected by a DISPUTE, a Claimant must suffer an injury or harm that is directly and
causally connected to the alleged violation.
An IRP PANEL may also summarily dismiss a request for INDEPENDENT REVIEW that lacks
substance or is frivolous or vexatious.
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10. Interim Measures of Protection
A Claimant may request interim relief from the IRP PANEL, or if an IRP PANEL is not yet in
place, from the STANDING PANEL. Interim relief may include prospective relief, interlocutory
relief, or declaratory or injunctive relief, and specifically may include a stay of the challenged
ICANN action or decision in order to maintain the status quo until such time as the opinion of
the IRP PANEL is considered by ICANN as described in ICANN Bylaws, Article 4, Section
4.3(o)(iv).
An EMERGENCY PANELIST shall be selected from the STANDING PANEL to adjudicate
requests for interim relief. In the event that no STANDING PANEL is in place when an
EMERGENCY PANELIST must be selected, a panelist may be appointed by the ICDR pursuant
to ICDR RULES relating to appointment of panelists for emergency relief. Interim relief may
only be provided if the EMERGENCY PANELIST determines that the Claimant has established
all of the following factors:
(i) A harm for which there will be no adequate remedy in the absence of such relief;
(ii) Either: (A) likelihood of success on the merits; or (B) sufficiently serious questions
related to the merits; and
(iii) A balance of hardships tipping decidedly toward the party seeking relief.
Interim relief may be granted on an ex parte basis in circumstances that the EMERGENCY
PANELIST deems exigent, but any Party whose arguments were not considered prior to the
granting of such interim relief may submit any opposition to such interim relief, and the
EMERGENCY PANELIST must consider such arguments, as soon as reasonably possible. The
EMERGENCY PANELIST may modify or terminate the interim relief if the EMERGENCY
PANELIST deems it appropriate to do so in light of such further arguments.
11. Standard of Review
Each IRP PANEL shall conduct an objective, de novo examination of the DISPUTE.
a.

With respect to COVERED ACTIONS, the IRP PANEL shall make findings of
fact to determine whether the COVERED ACTION constituted an action or
inaction that violated ICANN’S Articles or Bylaws.

12

RE-1
b.

All DISPUTES shall be decided in compliance with ICANN’s Articles and
Bylaws, as understood in the context of the norms of applicable law and prior
relevant IRP decisions.

c.

For Claims arising out of the Board’s exercise of its fiduciary duties, the IRP
PANEL shall not replace the Board’s reasonable judgment with its own so long as
the Board’s action or inaction is within the realm of reasonable business
judgment.

d.

With respect to claims that ICANN has not enforced its contractual rights with
respect to the IANA Naming Function Contract, the standard of review shall be
whether there was a material breach of ICANN’s obligations under the IANA
Naming Function Contract, where the alleged breach has resulted in material
harm to the Claimant.

e.

IRPs initiated through the mechanism contemplated at Article 4, Section
4.3(a)(iv) of ICANN’s Bylaws shall be subject to a separate standard of review as
defined in the IANA Naming Function Contract.

12. IRP PANEL Decisions
IRP PANEL DECISIONS shall be made by a simple majority of the IRP PANEL. If any IRP
PANEL member fails to sign the IRP PANEL DECISION, the IRP PANEL member shall
endeavor to provide a written statement of the reason for the absence of such signature.
13. Form and Effect of an IRP PANEL DECISION
a.

IRP PANEL DECISIONS shall be made in writing, promptly by the IRP PANEL,
based on the documentation, supporting materials and arguments submitted by the
parties. IRP PANEL DECISIONS shall be issued in English, and the English
version will be authoritative over any translations.

b.

The IRP PANEL DECISION shall specifically designate the prevailing party as to
each Claim.

c.

Subject to Article 4, Section 4.3 of ICANN’s Bylaws, all IRP PANEL
DECISIONS shall be made public, and shall reflect a well-reasoned application of
how the DISPUTE was resolved in compliance with ICANN’s Articles and
Bylaws, as understood in light of prior IRP PANEL DECISIONS decided under
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the same (or an equivalent prior) version of the provision of the Articles and
Bylaws at issue, and norms of applicable law.
14. Appeal of IRP PANEL Decisions
An IRP PANEL DECISION may be appealed to the full STANDING PANEL sitting en banc
within 60 days of the issuance of such decision. The en banc STANDING PANEL will review
such appealed IRP PANEL DECISION based on a clear error of judgment or the application of
an incorrect legal standard. The en banc STANDING PANEL may also resolve any disputes
between panelists on an IRP PANEL or the PROCEDURES OFFICER with respect to
consolidation of CLAIMS or intervention.
15. Costs
The IRP PANEL shall fix costs in its IRP PANEL DECISION. Except as otherwise provided in
Article 4, Section 4.3(e)(ii) of ICANN’s Bylaws, each party to an IRP proceeding shall bear its
own legal expenses, except that ICANN shall bear all costs associated with a Community IRP, as
defined in Article 4, Section 4.3(d) of ICANN’s Bylaws, including the costs of all legal counsel
and technical experts.
Except with respect to a Community IRP, the IRP PANEL may shift and provide for the losing
party to pay administrative costs and/or fees of the prevailing party in the event it identifies the
losing party’s Claim or defense as frivolous or abusive.
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.com Registry Agreement

(1 March 2006, amended 22 September 2010)

REGISTRY AGREEMENT
This REGISTRY AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into by and between the Internet
Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers, a California nonprofit public benefit corporation
(“ICANN”), and VeriSign, Inc. a Delaware corporation.
WHEREAS, the parties wish to work together cooperatively to promote and facilitate the security and
stability of the Internet and the DNS, and to that end, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I Introduction
Section 1.1         Effective Date. The effective date ("Effective Date") for purposes of this Agreement
shall be March 1, 2006.
Section 1.2         Top-Level Domain. The Top-Level Domain to which this Agreement applies is .com
("TLD").
Section 1.3         Designation as Registry Operator. Upon the Effective Date, until the Expiration Date
as defined in Section 4.1 hereof, ICANN shall continue to recognize VeriSign, Inc. as the sole registry
operator for the TLD ("Registry Operator").
ARTICLE II Representations and Warranties
Section 2.1         Registry Operator's Representations and Warranties.
(a)               Organization; Due Authorization and Execution. Registry Operator is a
corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
Delaware, and Registry Operator has all requisite power and authority to enter into this
Agreement. All corporate approvals and actions necessary for the entrance by Registry
Operator into this Agreement have been obtained and this Agreement has been duly and
validly executed and delivered by Registry Operator.
(b)               Statements made During Negotiation Process. The factual statements made in
writing by Registry Operator in negotiating this Agreement were true and correct in all
material respects at the time made. A violation or breach of any such representation or
warranty shall not be a basis for termination, rescission or other equitable relief, and,
instead shall only give rise to a claim for damages.
Section 2.2         ICANN's Representations and Warranties.
(a)               Organization; Due Authorization and Execution. ICANN is a nonprofit public
benefit corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
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California. ICANN has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this
Agreement. All corporate approvals and actions necessary for the entrance by ICANN into
this Agreement have been obtained and this Agreement has been duly and validly executed
and delivered by ICANN.
ARTICLE III Covenants
Section 3.1         Covenants of Registry Operator. Registry Operator covenants and agrees with
ICANN as follows:
(a)               Preserve Security and Stability.
(i)                  ICANN Temporary Specifications or Policies. Registry Operator
shall comply with and implement all specifications or policies established by the
ICANN Board of Directors on a temporary basis, if adopted by the ICANN Board
of Directors by a vote of at least two-thirds of its members, so long as the
ICANN Board of Directors reasonably determines that immediate temporary
establishment of a specification or policy on the subject is necessary to maintain
the Stability or Security (as defined in Section 3.1(d)(iv)(G)) of Registry Services
or the DNS (“Temporary Specification or Policies”). Such proposed specification
or policy shall be as narrowly tailored as feasible to achieve those objectives. In
establishing any specification or policy under this provision, the ICANN Board of
Directors shall state the period of time for which the specification or policy is
temporarily adopted and shall immediately implement the Consensus Policy
development process set forth in ICANN's Bylaws. ICANN shall also issue an
advisory statement containing a detailed explanation of its reasons for adopting
the temporary specification or policy and why the Board believes the
specification or policy should receive the consensus support of Internet
stakeholders. If the period of time for which the specification or policy is adopted
exceeds 90 days, the ICANN Board shall reaffirm its temporary adoption every
90 days for a total period not to exceed one year, in order to maintain such
policy in effect until such time as it shall become a Consensus Policy as
described in Section 3.1(b) below. If during such one year period, the temporary
policy or specification does not become a Consensus Policy meeting the
standard set forth in Section 3.1(b) below, Registry Operator shall no longer be
required to comply with or implement such temporary policy or specification.
(b)               Consensus Policies.
(i)                  At all times during the term of this Agreement and subject to the
terms hereof, Registry Operator will fully comply with and implement all
Consensus Policies found at http://www.icann.org/general/consensuspolicies.htm, as of the Effective Date and as may in the future be developed and
adopted in accordance with ICANN’s Bylaws and as set forth below.
(ii)                "Consensus Policies" are those specifications or policies
established (1) pursuant to the procedure set forth in ICANN's Bylaws and due
process, and (2) covering those topics listed in Section 3.1(b)(iv) below. The
Consensus Policy development process and procedure set forth in ICANN's
Bylaws may be revised from time to time in accordance with ICANN’s Bylaws,
and any Consensus Policy that is adopted through such a revised process and
covering those topics listed in Section 3.1(b)(iv) below shall be considered a
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(iii)               For all purposes under this Agreement, the policies identified at
http://www.icann.org/general/consensus-policies.htm shall be treated in the
same manner and have the same effect as "Consensus Policies."
(iv)              Consensus Policies and the procedures by which they are
developed shall be designed to produce, to the extent possible, a consensus of
Internet stakeholders, including the operators of gTLDs. Consensus Policies
shall relate to one or more of the following: (1) issues for which uniform or
coordinated resolution is reasonably necessary to facilitate interoperability,
Security and/or Stability of the Internet or DNS; (2) functional and performance
specifications for the provision of Registry Services (as defined in Section 3.1(d)
(iii) below); (3) Security and Stability of the registry database for the TLD; (4)
registry policies reasonably necessary to implement Consensus Policies relating
to registry operations or registrars; or (5) resolution of disputes regarding the
registration of domain names (as opposed to the use of such domain names).
Such categories of issues referred to in the preceding sentence shall include,
without limitation:
(A)              principles for allocation of registered names in the TLD
(e.g., first-come, first-served, timely renewal, holding period after
expiration);
(B)              prohibitions on warehousing of or speculation in domain
names by registries or registrars;
(C)              reservation of registered names in the TLD that may not
be registered initially or that may not be renewed due to reasons
reasonably related to (a) avoidance of confusion among or
misleading of users, (b) intellectual property, or (c) the technical
management of the DNS or the Internet (e.g., establishment of
reservations of names from registration);
(D)              maintenance of and access to accurate and up-to-date
information concerning domain name registrations;
(E)               procedures to avoid disruptions of domain name
registration due to suspension or termination of operations by a
registry operator or a registrar, including procedures for allocation of
responsibility for serving registered domain names in a TLD affected
by such a suspension or termination; and
(F)               resolution of disputes regarding whether particular
parties may register or maintain registration of particular domain
names.
(v)                In addition to the other limitations on Consensus Policies, they shall
not:
(A)              prescribe or limit the price of Registry Services;
(B)              modify the standards for the consideration of proposed
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(C)              for two years following the Effective Date, modify the
procedure for the consideration of proposed Registry Services;
(D)              modify the terms or conditions for the renewal or
termination of this Agreement;
(E)               modify ICANN’s obligations to Registry Operator under
Section 3.2 (a), (b), and (c);
(F)               modify the limitations on Consensus Policies or
Temporary Specifications or Policies;
(G)              modify the definition of Registry Services;
(H)              modify the terms of Sections 7.2 and 7.3, below; and
(I)                 alter services that have been implemented pursuant to
Section 3.1(d) of this Agreement (unless justified by compelling and
just cause based on Security and Stability).
(vi)              Registry Operator shall be afforded a reasonable period of time
following notice of the establishment of a Consensus Policy or Temporary
Specifications or Policies in which to comply with such policy or specification,
taking into account any urgency involved.
In the event of a conflict between Registry Services (as defined in Section 3.1(d)
(iii) below), on the one hand, and Consensus Policies developed in accordance
with this Section 3.1(b) or any Temporary Specifications or Policies established
pursuant to Section 3.1(a)(i) above, on the other hand, the Consensus Polices
or Temporary Specifications or Policies shall control, notwithstanding any other
provisions contained within this Agreement.
(c)               Handling of Registry Data.
(i)                  Data Escrow. Registry Operator shall establish at its expense a
data escrow or mirror site policy for the Registry Data compiled by Registry
Operator. Registry Data, as used in this Agreement, shall mean the following:
(1) data for domains sponsored by all registrars, consisting of domain name,
server name for each nameserver, registrar id, updated date, creation date,
expiration date, status information, and DNSSEC delegation signer (“DS”) data
(if Registry Operator implements DNSSEC); (2) data for nameservers sponsored
by all registrars consisting of server name, each IP address, registrar id,
updated date, creation date, expiration date, and status information; (3) data for
registrars sponsoring registered domains and nameservers, consisting of
registrar id, registrar address, registrar telephone number, registrar e-mail
address, whois server, referral URL, updated date and the name, telephone
number, and e-mail address of all the registrar's administrative, billing, and
technical contacts; and, (4) domain name registrant data collected by the
Registry Operator from registrars as part of or following registration of a domain
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name; The escrow agent or mirror-site manager, and the obligations thereof,
shall be mutually agreed upon by ICANN and Registry Operator on
commercially reasonable standards that are technically and practically sufficient
to allow a successor registry operator to assume management of the TLD. To
this end, Registry Operator shall periodically deposit into escrow all Registry
Data on a schedule (not more frequently than weekly for a complete set of
Registry Data, and daily for incremental updates) and in an electronic format
mutually approved from time to time by Registry Operator and ICANN, such
approval not to be unreasonably withheld by either party. In addition, Registry
Operator will deposit into escrow that data collected from registrars as part of
offering Registry Services introduced after the Effective Date of this Agreement.
The escrow shall be maintained, at Registry Operator's expense, by a reputable
escrow agent mutually approved by Registry Operator and ICANN, such
approval also not to be unreasonably withheld by either party. The schedule,
content, format, and procedure for escrow deposits shall be as reasonably
established by ICANN from time to time, and as set forth in Appendix 1 hereto.
Changes to the schedule, content, format, and procedure may be made only
with the mutual written consent of ICANN and Registry Operator (which neither
party shall unreasonably withhold) or through the establishment of a Consensus
Policy as outlined in Section 3.1(b) above. The escrow shall be held under an
agreement, substantially in the form of Appendix 2, as the same may be revised
from time to time, among ICANN, Registry Operator, and the escrow agent.

(ii)                Personal Data. Registry Operator shall notify registrars sponsoring
registrations in the registry for the TLD of the purposes for which Personal Data
(as defined below) submitted to Registry Operator by registrars, if any, is
collected, the intended recipients (or categories of recipients) of such Personal
Data, and the mechanism for access to and correction of such Personal Data.
Registry Operator shall take reasonable steps to protect Personal Data from
loss, misuse, unauthorized disclosure, alteration or destruction. Registry
Operator shall not use or authorize the use of Personal Data in a way that is
incompatible with the notice provided to registrars. "Personal Data" shall refer to
all data about any identified or identifiable natural person.
(iii)               Bulk Zone File Access. Registry Operator shall provide bulk access
to the zone files for the registry for the TLD to ICANN on a continuous basis in
the manner ICANN may reasonably specify from time to time. Bulk access to
the zone files shall be provided to third parties on the terms set forth in the TLD
zone file access agreement reasonably established by ICANN, which initially
shall be in the form attached as Appendix 3 hereto. Changes to the zone file
access agreement may be made upon the mutual written consent of ICANN and
Registry Operator (which consent neither party shall unreasonably withhold).
(iv)              Monthly Reporting. Within 20 days following the end of each
calendar month, Registry Operator shall prepare and deliver to ICANN a report
providing such data and in the format specified in Appendix 4. ICANN may audit
Registry Operator's books and records relating to data contained in monthly
reports from time to time upon reasonable advance written notice, provided that
such audits shall not exceed one per quarter. Any such audit shall be at
ICANN's cost, unless such audit shall reflect a material discrepancy or
discrepancies in the data provided by Registry Operator. In the latter event,
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Registry Operator shall reimburse ICANN for all costs and expenses associated
with such audit, which reimbursement shall be paid together with the next
Registry-Level Fee payment due following the date of transmittal of the cost
statement for such audit.

(v)                Whois Service. Registry Operator shall provide such whois data as
set forth in Appendix 5.
(d)               Registry Operations.
(i)                  Registration Restrictions. Registry Operator shall reserve, and not
register any TLD strings (i) appearing on the list of reserved TLD strings
attached as Appendix 6 hereto or (ii) located at http://data.iana.org/TLD/tldsalpha-by-domain.txt for initial (i.e., other than renewal) registration at the second
level within the TLD.
(ii)                Functional and Performance Specifications. Functional and
Performance Specifications for operation of the TLD shall be as set forth in
Appendix 7 hereto, and shall address without limitation DNS services; operation
of the shared registration system; and nameserver operations. Registry
Operator shall keep technical and operational records sufficient to evidence
compliance with such specifications for at least one year, which records ICANN
may audit from time to time upon reasonable advance written notice, provided
that such audits shall not exceed one per quarter. Any such audit shall be at
ICANN's cost.
(iii)               Registry Services. Registry Services are, for purposes of this
Agreement, defined as the following: (a) those services that are both (i)
operations of the registry critical to the following tasks: the receipt of data from
registrars concerning registrations of domain names and name servers;
provision to registrars of status information relating to the zone servers for the
TLD; dissemination of TLD zone files; operation of the registry zone servers;
and dissemination of contact and other information concerning domain name
server registrations in the TLD as required by this Agreement; and (ii) provided
by the Registry Operator for the .com registry as of the Effective Date; (b) other
products or services that the Registry Operator is required to provide because of
the establishment of a Consensus Policy (as defined in Section 3.1(b) above);
(c) any other products or services that only a registry operator is capable of
providing, by reason of its designation as the registry operator; and (d) material
changes to any Registry Service within the scope of (a), (b) or (c) above. Only
Registry Services defined in (a) and (b) above are subject to the maximum price
provisions of Section 7.3, below.
(iv)              Process for Consideration of Proposed Registry Services. Following
written notification by Registry Operator to ICANN that Registry Operator may
make a change in a Registry Service within the scope of the preceding
paragraph:
(A)              ICANN shall have 15 calendar days to make a
“preliminary determination” whether a Registry Service requires
further consideration by ICANN because it reasonably determines
such Registry Service: (i) could raise significant Security or Stability
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issues or (ii) could raise significant competition issues.
(B)              Registry Operator must provide sufficient information at
the time of notification to ICANN that it may implement such a
proposed Registry Service to enable ICANN to make an informed
“preliminary determination.” Information provided by Registry
Operator and marked “CONFIDENTIAL” shall be treated as
confidential by ICANN. Registry Operator will not designate
“CONFIDENTIAL” information necessary to describe the purpose of
the proposed Registry Service and the effect on users of the DNS.
(C)              ICANN may seek expert advice during the preliminary
determination period (from entities or persons subject to
confidentiality agreements) on the competition, Security or Stability
implications of the Registry Service in order to make its “preliminary
determination.” To the extent ICANN determines to disclose
confidential information to any such experts, it will provide notice to
Registry Operator of the identity of the expert(s) and the information
it intends to convey.
(D)              If ICANN determines during the 15 calendar day
“preliminary determination” period that the proposed Registry
Service, does not raise significant Security or Stability (as defined
below), or competition issues, Registry Operator shall be free to
deploy it upon such a determination.
(E)               In the event ICANN reasonably determines during the
15 calendar day “preliminary determination” period that the Registry
Service might raise significant competition issues, ICANN shall refer
the issue to the appropriate governmental competition authority or
authorities with jurisdiction over the matter within five business days
of making its determination, or two business days following the
expiration of such 15 day period, whichever is earlier, with notice to
Registry Operator. Any such referral communication shall be posted
on ICANN's website on the date of transmittal. Following such
referral, ICANN shall have no further responsibility, and Registry
Operator shall have no further obligation to ICANN, with respect to
any competition issues relating to the Registry Service. If such a
referral occurs, the Registry Operator will not deploy the Registry
Service until 45 calendar days following the referral, unless earlier
cleared by the referred governmental competition authority.
(F)               In the event that ICANN reasonably determines during
the 15 calendar day “preliminary determination” period that the
proposed Registry Service might raise significant Stability or Security
issues (as defined below), ICANN will refer the proposal to a
Standing Panel of experts (as defined below) within five business
days of making its determination, or two business days following the
expiration of such 15 day period, whichever is earlier, and
simultaneously invite public comment on the proposal. The Standing
Panel shall have 45 calendar days from the referral to prepare a
written report regarding the proposed Registry Service’s effect on
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Security or Stability (as defined below), which report (along with a
summary of any public comments) shall be forwarded to the ICANN
Board. The report shall set forward the opinions of the Standing
Panel, including, but not limited to, a detailed statement of the
analysis, reasons, and information upon which the panel has relied in
reaching their conclusions, along with the response to any specific
questions that were included in the referral from ICANN staff. Upon
ICANN’s referral to the Standing Panel, Registry Operator may
submit additional information or analyses regarding the likely effect
on Security or Stability of the Registry Service.
(G)              Upon its evaluation of the proposed Registry Service, the
Standing Panel will report on the likelihood and materiality of the
proposed Registry Service’s effects on Security or Stability, including
whether the proposed Registry Service creates a reasonable risk of
a meaningful adverse effect on Security or Stability as defined below:
Security: For purposes of this Agreement, an effect on security by
the proposed Registry Service shall mean (1) the unauthorized
disclosure, alteration, insertion or destruction of Registry Data, or (2)
the unauthorized access to or disclosure of information or resources
on the Internet by systems operating in accordance with all
applicable standards.
Stability: For purposes of this Agreement, an effect on stability shall
mean that the proposed Registry Service (1) is not compliant with
applicable relevant standards that are authoritative and published by
a well-established, recognized and authoritative standards body,
such as relevant Standards-Track or Best Current Practice RFCs
sponsored by the IETF or (2) creates a condition that adversely
affects the throughput, response time, consistency or coherence of
responses to Internet servers or end systems, operating in
accordance with applicable relevant standards that are authoritative
and published by a well-established, recognized and authoritative
standards body, such as relevant Standards-Track or Best Current
Practice RFCs and relying on Registry Operator's delegation
information or provisioning services.
(H)              Following receipt of the Standing Panel’s report, which
will be posted (with appropriate confidentiality redactions made after
consultation with Registry Operator) and available for public
comment, the ICANN Board will have 30 calendar days to reach a
decision. In the event the ICANN Board reasonably determines that
the proposed Registry Service creates a reasonable risk of a
meaningful adverse effect on Stability or Security, Registry Operator
will not offer the proposed Registry Service. An unredacted version
of the Standing Panel’s report shall be provided to Registry Operator
upon the posting of the report. The Registry Operator may respond
to the report of the Standing Panel or otherwise submit to the ICANN
Board additional information or analyses regarding the likely effect
on Security or Stability of the Registry Service.
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(I)                 The Standing Panel shall consist of a total of 20
persons expert in the design, management and implementation of
the complex systems and standards-protocols utilized in the Internet
infrastructure and DNS (the “Standing Panel”). The members of the
Standing Panel will be selected by its Chair. The Chair of the
Standing Panel will be a person who is agreeable to both ICANN and
the registry constituency of the supporting organization then
responsible for generic top level domain registry policies. All
members of the Standing Panel and the Chair shall execute an
agreement requiring that they shall consider the issues before the
panel neutrally and according to the definitions of Security and
Stability. For each matter referred to the Standing Panel, the Chair
shall select no more than five members from the Standing Panel to
evaluate the referred matter, none of which shall have an existing
competitive, financial, or legal conflict of interest, and with due regard
to the particular technical issues raised by the referral.
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(e)               Fees and Payments. Registry Operator shall pay the Registry-Level Fees to
ICANN on a quarterly basis in accordance with Section 7.2 hereof.
(f)                 Traffic Data. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude Registry Operator from
making commercial use of, or collecting, traffic data regarding domain names or nonexistent domain names for purposes such as, without limitation, the determination of the
availability and health of the Internet, pinpointing specific points of failure, characterizing
attacks and misconfigurations, identifying compromised networks and hosts, and promoting
the sale of domain names; provided, however, that such use does not disclose domain
name registrant, end user information or other Personal Data as defined in Section 3.1(c)(ii)
for any purpose not otherwise authorized by this agreement. The process for the
introduction of new Registry Services shall not apply to such traffic data. Nothing contained
in this section 3.1(f) shall be deemed to constitute consent or acquiescence by ICANN to a
re-introduction by Registry Operator of the SiteFinder service previously introduced by the
Registry Operator on or about September 15, 2003, or the introduction of any substantially
similar service employing a universal wildcard function intended to achieve the same or
substantially similar effect as the SiteFinder service. To the extent that traffic data subject
to this provision is made available, access shall be on terms that are non-discriminatory.
(g)       Security and Stability Review. Twice annually Registry Operator shall engage in
discussions with executive staff of ICANN and the Chairman of the Board of ICANN on
trends impacting the Security and/or Stability of the Registry, the DNS or the Internet
pursuant to the terms of confidentiality agreements executed both by the executive staff of
ICANN and the Chairman of the Board.
(h)        Centralized Whois. Registry Operator shall develop and deploy a centralized Whois
for the .com TLD if mandated by ICANN insofar as reasonably feasible, particularly in view
of Registry Operator’s dependence on cooperation of third parties.
Section 3.2         Covenants of ICANN. ICANN covenants and agrees with Registry Operator as
follows:
(a)               Open and Transparent. Consistent with ICANN’s expressed mission and core
values, ICANN shall operate in an open and transparent manner.
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(b)               Equitable Treatment. ICANN shall not apply standards, policies, procedures or
practices arbitrarily, unjustifiably, or inequitably and shall not single out Registry Operator
for disparate treatment unless justified by substantial and reasonable cause.
(c)               TLD Zone Servers. In the event and to the extent that ICANN is authorized to
set policy with regard to an authoritative root server system, it will ensure that (i) the
authoritative root will point to the TLD zone servers designated by Registry Operator for the
Registry TLD throughout the Term of this Agreement; and (ii) any changes to the TLD zone
server designation submitted to ICANN by Registry Operator will be implemented by ICANN
within seven days of submission.
(d)               Nameserver Changes. Registry Operator may request changes in the
nameserver delegation for the Registry TLD. Any such request must be made in a format,
and otherwise meet technical requirements, specified from time to time by ICANN. ICANN
will use commercially reasonable efforts to have such requests implemented in the
Authoritative Root-Server System within seven calendar days of the submission.
(e)               Root-zone Information Publication. ICANN's publication of root-zone contact
information for the Registry TLD will include Registry Operator and its administrative and
technical contacts. Any request to modify the contact information for the Registry Operator
must be made in the format specified from time to time by ICANN.
Section 3.3         Cooperation. The parties agree to cooperate with each other and share data as
necessary to accomplish the terms of this Agreement.
ARTICLE IV Term of Agreement
Section 4.1         Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall expire on November 30, 2012. The
"Expiration Date" shall be November 30, 2012, as extended by any renewal terms.
Section 4.2         Renewal. This Agreement shall be renewed upon the expiration of the term set forth
in Section 4.1 above and each later term, unless the following has occurred : (i) following notice of
breach to Registry Operator in accordance with Section 6.1 and failure to cure such breach within the
time period prescribed in Section 6.1, an arbitrator or court has determined that Registry Operator has
been in fundamental and material breach of Registry Operator’s obligations set forth in Sections 3.1(a),
(b), (d) or (e); Section 5.2 or Section 7.3 and (ii) following the final decision of such arbitrator or court,
Registry Operator has failed to comply within ten days with the decision of the arbitrator or court, or
within such other time period as may be prescribed by the arbitrator or court. Upon renewal, in the
event that the terms of this Agreement are not similar to the terms generally in effect in the Registry
Agreements of the 5 largest gTLDs (determined by the number of domain name registrations under
management at the time of renewal), renewal shall be upon terms reasonably necessary to render the
terms of this Agreement similar to such terms in the Registry Agreements for those other gTLDs. The
preceding sentence, however, shall not apply to the terms of this Agreement regarding the price of
Registry Services; the standards for the consideration of proposed Registry Services, including the
definitions of Security and Stability and the standards applied by ICANN in the consideration process;
the terms or conditions for the renewal or termination of this Agreement; ICANN’s obligations to
Registry Operator under Section 3.2 (a), (b), and (c); the limitations on Consensus Policies or
Temporary Specifications or Policies; the definition of Registry Services; or the terms of Section 7.3.   
Section 4.3         Failure to Perform in Good Faith. In the event Registry Operator shall have been
repeatedly and willfully in fundamental and material breach of Registry Operator’s obligations set forth
in Sections 3.1(a), (b), (d) or (e); Section 5.2 or Section 7.3, and arbitrators in accordance with Section
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5.1(b) of this Agreement repeatedly have found Registry Operator to have been in fundamental and
material breach of this Agreement, including in at least three separate awards, then the arbitrators shall
award such punitive, exemplary or other damages as they may believe appropriate under the
circumstances.
ARTICLE V Dispute Resolution
Section 5.1         Resolution of Disputes.
(a)               Cooperative Engagement. In the event of a disagreement between Registry
Operator and ICANN arising under or out of this Agreement, either party may by notice to
the other invoke the dispute resolution provisions of this Article V. Provided, however, that
before either party may initiate arbitration as provided in Section 5.1(b) below, ICANN and
Registry Operator must attempt to resolve the dispute by cooperative engagement as set
forth in this Section 5.1(a). If either party provides written notice to the other demanding
cooperative engagement as set forth in this Section 5.1(a), then each party will, within
seven calendar days after such written notice is deemed received in accordance with
Section 8.6 hereof, designate a single executive officer as its representative under this
Section 5.1(a) with full authority to act on such party's behalf to resolve the dispute. The
designated representatives shall, within 2 business days after being designated, confer by
telephone or in person to attempt to resolve the dispute. If they are not able to resolve the
dispute during such telephone conference or meeting, they shall further meet in person at a
location reasonably designated by ICANN within 7 calendar days after such initial telephone
conference or meeting, at which meeting the parties shall attempt to reach a definitive
resolution. The time schedule and process set forth in this Section 5.1(a) may be modified
with respect to any dispute, but only if both parties agree to a revised time schedule or
process in writing in advance. Settlement communications within the scope of this
paragraph shall be inadmissible in any arbitration or litigation between the parties.
(b)               Arbitration. Disputes arising under or in connection with this Agreement,
including requests for specific performance, shall be resolved through binding arbitration
conducted as provided in this Section 5.1(b) pursuant to the rules of the International Court
of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce ("ICC"). The arbitration shall be
conducted in the English language and shall occur in Los Angeles County, California, USA
only following the failure to resolve the dispute pursuant to cooperative engagement
discussions as set forth in Section 5.1(a) above. There shall be three arbitrators: each party
shall choose one arbitrator and, if the two arbitrators are not able to agree on a third
arbitrator, the third shall be chosen by the ICC. The prevailing party in the arbitration shall
have the right to recover its costs and reasonable attorneys' fees, which the arbitrators shall
include in their awards. Any party that seeks to confirm or vacate an arbitration award
issued under this Section 5.1(b) may do so only pursuant to the applicable arbitration
statutes. In any litigation involving ICANN concerning this Agreement, jurisdiction and
exclusive venue for such litigation shall be in a court located in Los Angeles County,
California, USA; however, the parties shall also have the right to enforce a judgment of
such a court in any court of competent jurisdiction. For the purpose of aiding the arbitration
and/or preserving the rights of the parties during the pendency of an arbitration, the parties
shall have the right to seek a temporary stay or injunctive relief from the arbitration panel or
a court, which shall not be a waiver of this agreement to arbitrate.
Section 5.2         Specific Performance. Registry Operator and ICANN agree that irreparable damage
could occur if any of the provisions of this Agreement was not performed in accordance with its specific
terms. Accordingly, the parties agree that they each shall be entitled to seek from the arbitrators
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specific performance of the terms of this Agreement (in addition to any other remedy to which each
party is entitled).
Section 5.3         Limitation of Liability. ICANN's aggregate monetary liability for violations of this
Agreement shall not exceed the amount of Registry-Level Fees paid by Registry Operator to ICANN
within the preceding twelve-month period pursuant to Section 7.2 of this Agreement. Registry
Operator's aggregate monetary liability to ICANN for violations of this Agreement shall be limited to
fees and monetary sanctions due and owing to ICANN under this Agreement. In no event shall either
party be liable for special, indirect, incidental, punitive, exemplary, or consequential damages arising
out of or in connection with this Agreement or the performance or nonperformance of obligations
undertaken in this Agreement, except as provided pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Agreement. EXCEPT
AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, REGISTRY OPERATOR DOES
NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE SERVICES
RENDERED BY ITSELF, ITS SERVANTS, OR ITS AGENTS OR THE RESULTS OBTAINED FROM
THEIR WORK, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY, NON-INFRINGEMENT, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.
ARTICLE VI Termination Provisions
Section 6.1         Termination by ICANN. ICANN may terminate this Agreement if and only if: (i)
Registry Operator fails to cure any fundamental and material breach of Registry Operator’s obligations
set forth in Sections 3.1(a), (b), (d) or (e); Section 5.2 or Section 7.3 within thirty calendar days after
ICANN gives Registry Operator written notice of the breach, which notice shall include with specificity
the details of the alleged breach; and (ii) (a) an arbitrator or court has finally determined that Registry
Operator is, or was, in fundamental and material breach and failed to cure such breach within the
prescribed time period and (b) following the decision of such arbitrator or court, Registry Operator has
failed to comply with the decision of the arbitrator or court.
Section 6.2         Bankruptcy. This Agreement shall automatically terminate in the event Registry
Operator shall voluntarily or involuntarily be subject to bankruptcy proceedings.
Section 6.3         Transition of Registry upon Termination of Agreement. Upon any termination of this
Agreement as provided in Sections 6.1 and 6.2, the parties agree to work cooperatively to facilitate and
implement the transition of the registry for the TLD in accordance with this Section 6.4. Registry
Operator shall agree to provide ICANN or any successor registry authority that may be designated for
the TLD with any data regarding operations of the registry for the TLD necessary to maintain
operations that may be reasonably requested in addition to that data escrowed in accordance with
Section 3.1(c)(i) hereof.
Section 6.4         Rights in Data. Registry Operator shall not be entitled to claim any intellectual
property rights in Registry Data. In the event that Registry Data is released from escrow as set forth in
Section 3.1(c)(i), rights, if any, held by Registry Operator in the data shall automatically be licensed on
a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free, paid-up basis to ICANN or to a party designated in writing by
ICANN.
Section 6.5         No Reimbursement. Any and all expenditures, capital investments or other
investments made by Registry Operator in connection with this Agreement shall be at Registry
Operator’s own risk and ICANN shall have no obligation to reimburse Registry Operator for any such
expense, capital expenditure or investment. Registry Operator shall not be required to make any
payments to a successor registry operator by reason of registry fees paid to Registry Operator prior to
the effective date of (i) any termination or expiration of this Agreement or (ii) transition of the registry,
unless any delay in transition of the registry to a successor operator shall be due to the actions of
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Registry Operator.
ARTICLE VII Special Provisions
Section 7.1         Registry-Registrar Agreement.

(a)               Access to Registry Services. Registry Operator shall make access to Registry
Services, including the shared registration system, available to all ICANN-accredited
registrars, subject to the terms of the Registry-Registrar Agreement attached as Appendix 8
hereto. Registry Operator shall provide all ICANN-accredited registrars following execution
of the Registry-Registrar Agreement, provided registrars are in compliance with such
agreement, operational access to Registry Services, including the shared registration
system for the TLD. Such nondiscriminatory access shall include without limitation the
following:
(i)                  All registrars (including any registrar affiliated with Registry
Operator) can connect to the shared registration system gateway for the TLD via
the Internet by utilizing the same maximum number of IP addresses and SSL
certificate authentication;
(ii)                Registry Operator has made the current version of the registrar
toolkit software accessible to all registrars and has made any updates available
to all registrars on the same schedule;
(iii)               All registrars have the same level of access to customer support
personnel via telephone, e-mail and Registry Operator's website;
(iv)              All registrars have the same level of access to registry resources to
resolve registry/registrar or registrar/registrar disputes and technical and/or
administrative customer service issues;
(v)                All registrars have the same level of access to data generated by
Registry Operator to reconcile their registration activities from Registry
Operator's Web and ftp servers;
(vi)              All registrars may perform basic automated registrar account
management functions using the same registrar tool made available to all
registrars by Registry Operator; and
(vii)             The shared registration system does not include, for purposes of
providing discriminatory access, any algorithms or protocols that differentiate
among registrars with respect to functionality, including database access,
system priorities and overall performance.
Such Registry-Registrar Agreement may be revised by Registry Operator from
time to time, provided however, that any such revisions must be approved in
advance by ICANN.
(b)               Registry Operator Shall Not Act as Own Registrar. Registry Operator shall not
act as a registrar with respect to the TLD. This shall not preclude Registry Operator from
registering names within the TLD to itself through a request made to an ICANN-accredited
registrar.
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(c)               Restrictions on Acquisition of Ownership or Controlling Interest in Registrar.
Registry Operator shall not acquire, directly or indirectly, control of, or a greater than fifteen
percent ownership interest in, any ICANN-accredited registrar.
Section 7.2         Fees to be Paid to ICANN.
(a)               Initial Fees. On the Effective Date, Registry Operator shall make a one-time
lump sum payment of US$625,000 to an account designated by ICANN. The uses of these
initial fees shall include meeting the costs associated with establishing structures to
implement the provisions of this Agreement.
(b)               Fixed Registry-Level Fee. Registry Operator shall pay ICANN, to an account
designated by ICANN, a Fixed Registry-Level Fee as provided below.   Payments shall be
made as follows: Beginning 1 July 2006 through 31 December 2006, Registry Operator
shall begin prepayment of the 2007 Fixed Registry-Level Fee in equal monthly payments
such that the total payments per quarter is US$1,500,000. Beginning 1 January 2007,
equal monthly payments for quarters ended 31 March 2007 and 30 June 2007 shall be paid
such that the total payments per quarter, calculated net of the prepayments during the
quarters ended 30 September 2006 and 31 December 2006, is US$1,500,000. Beginning 1
July 2007, equal monthly payments for quarters ended 30 September 2007, 31 December
2007, 31 March 2008, and 30 June 2008, shall be paid such that the total payments per
quarter is US$2,000,000. Beginning 1 July 2008, equal monthly payments will increase
such that the total payments per quarter will equal US$3,000,000. Equal monthly payments
shall continue such that the total payment per quarter will equal US$3,000,000 except that
after 1 July 2009: (i) if the total number of annual domain name registrations increases by a
total of ten million over the total number of domain name registrations on the Effective Date
of the Agreement, the equal monthly payments shall increase by an amount totaling
$750,000 per quarter, for each quarter that the increased level of annual domain name
registrations is maintained; (ii) if the total number of annual domain name registrations
increases by a total of twenty million over the total number of domain name registrations at
the time of the Effective Date of the Agreement, the equal monthly payments shall increase
by an amount in addition to that set forth in 7.2(a)(i), totaling $750,000 per quarter, for each
quarter that the increased level of annual domain name registrations is maintained;
provided, however, if at any time after the Effective Date, the total number of annual domain
name registrations falls below the total number of domain name registrations on the
Effective Date of the Agreement, or, if applicable, the total number of annual domain name
registrations in 7.2(a)(i) and 7.2(a)(ii) above, the equal monthly payments shall be reduced
by US$25,000 per month for every 1 million annual domain name registrations reduction.
(c)               Variable Registry-Level Fee. For fiscal quarters in which ICANN does not
collect a variable accreditation fee from all registrars, upon receipt of written notice from
ICANN, Registry Operator shall pay ICANN a Variable Registry-Level Fee. The fee will be
calculated by ICANN. The Registry Operator shall invoice and collect the fees from the
registrars who are party to a Registry-Registrar Agreement with Registry Operator and paid
to ICANN by the Registry Operator by the 20th day following the end of each calendar
quarter (i.e., on April 20, July 20, October 20 and January 20 for the calendar quarters
ending March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31) of the year to an account
designated by ICANN. The fee will consist of two components; each component will be
calculated by ICANN for each registrar:
(i)                  The transactional component of the Variable Registry-Level Fee
shall be specified by ICANN in accordance with the budget adopted by the
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(ii)                The per-registrar component of the Variable Registry-Level Fee
shall be specified by ICANN in accordance with the budget adopted by the
ICANN Board of Directors for each fiscal year, but the sum of the per-registrar
fees calculated for all registrars shall not exceed the total Per-Registrar Variable
funding established pursuant to the approved 2004-2005 ICANN Budget.
(d)               Interest on Late Payments. For any payments ten days or more overdue,
Registry Operator shall pay interest on late payments at the rate of 1.5% per month or, if
less, the maximum rate permitted by applicable law.
Section 7.3         Pricing for Domain Name Registrations and Registry Services.
(a)               Scope. The Registry Services to which the provisions of this Section 7.3 shall
apply are:
(i)                  the Registry Services defined in Section 3.1(d)(iii)(a), above, and
(ii)                other products or services that the Registry Operator is required to
provide within the scope of Section 3.1(d)(iii)(b), above, because of the
establishment of a Consensus Policy (as defined in Section 3.1(b) above):
(1)       to implement changes in the core functional or performance
specifications for Registry Services (as defined in Section 3.1(d)(iii)
(a)); or
(2)       that are reasonably necessary to facilitate: (A) Security
and/or Stability of the Internet or DNS; (B) Security and Stability of
the registry database for the TLD; or (C) resolution of disputes
regarding the registration of domain names (as opposed to the use
of such domain names).
Nothing contained herein shall be construed to apply the provisions
of this Section 7.3 to the services enumerated in Appendix 9 of this
Agreement.
(b)       No Tying. Registry Operator shall not require, as a condition of the provision or use
of Registry Services subject to this Section 7.3 in accordance with the requirements of this
Agreement, including without limitation Section 7.1 and Appendix 10, that the purchaser of
such services purchase any other product or service or refrain from purchasing any other
product or service. Notwithstanding any other offering that may include all or any portion of
the Registry Services at any price, Registry Operator shall offer to all ICANN-accredited
registrars the combination of all Registry Services subject to this Section 7.3 at a total price
for those Registry Services that is no greater than the Maximum Price calculated pursuant
to Section 7.3(d) and that otherwise complies with all the requirements of Section 7.3.
(c)        Price for Registry Services. The price for all Registry Services subject to this
Paragraph 7.3 shall be the amount, not to exceed the Maximum Price, that Registry
Operator charges for each annual increment of a new and renewal domain name
registration and for each transfer of a domain name registration from one ICANN-accredited
registrar to another.
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(d)       Maximum Price. The Maximum Price for Registry Services subject to this Paragraph
7.3 shall be as follows:
(i)         from the Effective Date through 31 December 2006, US$6.00;
(ii)        for each calendar year beginning with 1 January 2007, the smaller of the
preceding year's Maximum Price or the highest price charged during the
preceding year, multiplied by 1.07; provided, however, that such increases shall
only be permitted in four years of any six year term of the Agreement. In any
year, however, where a price increase does not occur, Registry Operator shall
be entitled to increase the Maximum Price by an amount sufficient to cover any
additional incremental costs incurred during the term of the Agreement due to
the imposition of any new Consensus Policy or documented extraordinary
expense resulting from an attack or threat of attack on the Security or Stability of
the DNS, not to exceed the smaller of the preceding year's Maximum Price or
the highest price charged during the preceding year, multiplied by 1.07.
(e)       No price discrimination. Registry Operator shall charge the same price for Registry
Services subject to this Section 7.3, not to exceed the Maximum Price, to all ICANNaccredited registrars (provided that volume discounts and marketing support and incentive
programs may be made if the same opportunities to qualify for those discounts and
marketing support and incentive programs is available to all ICANN-accredited registrars).
(f)         Adjustments to Pricing for Domain Name Registrations. Registry Operator shall
provide no less than six months prior notice in advance of any increase for new and
renewal domain name registrations and for transferring a domain name registration from
one ICANN-accredited registrar to another and shall continue to offer for periods of up to
ten years new and renewal domain name registrations fixed at the price in effect at the time
such offer is accepted. Registry Operator is not required to give notice of the imposition of
the Variable Registry-Level Fee set forth in Section 7.2(c).
(g)       Maximum Price does not include ICANN Variable Registry-Level Fee. The
Maximum Price does not include, and shall not be calculated from a price that includes, all
or any part of the ICANN Variable Registry-Level Fee set forth in Section 7.2(c), above, or
any other per-name fee for new and renewal domain name registrations and for transferring
a domain name registration from one ICANN-accredited registrar to another.
ARTICLE VIII Miscellaneous
Section 8.1         No Offset. All payments due under this Agreement shall be made in a timely manner
throughout the term of this Agreement and notwithstanding the pendency of any dispute (monetary or
otherwise) between Registry Operator and ICANN.
Section 8.2         Use of ICANN Name and Logo. ICANN grants to Registry Operator a non-exclusive
royalty-free license to state that it is designated by ICANN as the Registry Operator for the Registry
TLD and to use a logo specified by ICANN to signify that Registry Operator is an ICANN-designated
registry authority. This license may not be assigned or sublicensed by Registry Operator.
Section 8.3         Assignment and Subcontracting. Any assignment of this Agreement shall be effective
only upon written agreement by the assignee with the other party to assume the assigning party's
obligations under this Agreement. Moreover, neither party may assign this Agreement without the prior
written approval of the other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, ICANN may assign this Agreement
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(i) in conjunction with a reorganization or re-incorporation of ICANN, to another nonprofit corporation
organized for the same or substantially the same purposes, or (ii) as may be required pursuant to the
terms of that certain Memorandum of Understanding between ICANN and the U.S. Department of
Commerce, as the same may be amended from time to time. Registry Operator must provide notice to
ICANN of any subcontracting arrangements, and any agreement to subcontract portions of the
operations of the TLD must mandate compliance with all covenants, obligations and agreements by
Registry Operator hereunder. Any subcontracting of technical operations shall provide that the
subcontracted entity become party to the data escrow agreement mandated by Section 3.1(c)(i) hereof.
Section 8.4         Amendments and Waivers. No amendment, supplement, or modification of this
Agreement or any provision hereof shall be binding unless executed in writing by both parties. No
waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be binding unless evidenced by a writing signed by the
party waiving compliance with such provision. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement or
failure to enforce any of the provisions hereof shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other
provision hereof, nor shall any such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly
provided.
Section 8.5         No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not be construed to create any
obligation by either ICANN or Registry Operator to any non-party to this Agreement, including any
registrar or registered name holder.
Section 8.6         Notices, Designations, and Specifications. All notices to be given under or in relation
to this Agreement shall be given either (i) in writing at the address of the appropriate party as set forth
below or (ii) via facsimile or electronic mail as provided below, unless that party has given a notice of
change of postal or email address, or facsimile number, as provided in this agreement. Any change in
the contact information for notice below shall be given by the party within 30 days of such change. Any
notice required by this Agreement shall be deemed to have been properly given (i) if in paper form,
when delivered in person or via courier service with confirmation of receipt or (ii) if via facsimile or by
electronic mail, upon confirmation of receipt by the recipient's facsimile machine or email server.
Whenever this Agreement shall specify a URL address for certain information, Registry Operator shall
be deemed to have been given notice of any such information when electronically posted at the
designated URL. In the event other means of notice shall become practically achievable, such as
notice via a secure website, the parties shall work together to implement such notice means under this
Agreement.
If to ICANN, addressed to:
Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers
4676 Admiralty Way, Suite 330
Marina Del Rey, California 90292
Telephone: 1-310-823-9358
Facsimile: 1-310-823-8649
Attention: President and CEO
With a Required Copy to: General Counsel
Email: (As specified from time to time.)
If to Registry Operator, addressed to:
VeriSign, Inc.
21355 Ridgetop Circle
Dulles, VA 20166
Telephone: 1-703-948-4463
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Section 8.7         Language. Notices, designations, determinations, and specifications made under this
Agreement shall be in the English language.
Section 8.8         Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.
Section 8.9         Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including its Appendices, which form a part of it)
constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto pertaining to the operation of the TLD and
supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or
written, between the parties on that subject. In the event of a conflict between the provisions in the
body of this Agreement and any provision in its Appendices, the provisions in the body of the
Agreement shall control.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly
authorized representatives.
INTERNET CORPORATION FOR ASSIGNED NAMES AND NUMBERS
By:_____________________________
            Paul Twomey
            President and CEO
Date: 1 March 2006
VeriSign, Inc.
By:_____________________________
            Stratton Sclavos
            President and CEO, VeriSign, Inc.
Date: 1 March 2006
Comments concerning the layout, construction and functionality of this site
should be sent to webmaster@icann.org.
Page updated 9-Mar-2006
(c) 2007 The Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers. All rights reserved.
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The GNSO Committee on New Top-Level Domains consisted of all GNSO Council members.
All meetings were open to a wide range of interested stakeholders and observers. A set of
participation data is found in Part B.
Many of the terms found here have specific meaning within the context of ICANN and new toplevel domains discussion. A full glossary of terms is available in the Reference Material
section at the end of Part A.
BACKGROUND
1. The Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (ICANN) is respons ble for the
overall coordination of "the global Internet's system of unique identifiers" and ensuring the
"stable and secure operation of the Internet's unique identifier systems. In particular, ICANN
coordinates the "allocation and assignment of the three sets of unique identifiers for the
Internet". These are "domain names"(forming a system called the DNS); Internet protocol (IP)
addresses and autonomous system (AS) numbers and Protocol port and parameter numbers".
ICANN is also responsible for the "operation and evolution of the DNS root name server
system and policy development reasonably and appropriately related to these technical
functions". These elements are all contained in ICANN's Mission and Core Values[1] in
addition to provisions which enable policy development work that, once approved by the
ICANN Board, become binding on the organization. The results of the policy development
process found here relate to the introduction of new generic top-level domains.
2. This document is the Final Report of the Generic Names Supporting Organisation's (GNSO)
Policy Development Process (PDP) that has been conducted using ICANN's Bylaws and
policy development guidelines that relate to the work of the GNSO. This Report reflects a
comprehensive examination of four Terms of Reference designed to establish a stable and
ongoing process that facilitates the introduction of new top-level domains. The policy
development process (PDP) is part of the Generic Names Supporting Organisation's (GNSO)
mandate within the ICANN structure. However, close consultation with other ICANN
Supporting Organisations and Advisory Committees has been an integral part of the process.
The consultations and negotiations have also included a wide range of interested stakeholders
from within and outside the ICANN community[2].
3. The Final Report is in two parts. This document is Part A and contains the full explanation of
each of the Principles, Recommendations and Implementation Guidelines that the Committee
has developed since December 2005[3]. Part B of the Report contains a wide range of
supplementary materials which have been used in the policy development process including
Constituency Impact Statements (CIS), a series of Working Group Reports on important subelements of the Committee's deliberations, a collection of external reference materials, and the
procedural documentation of the policy development process[4].
4. The finalisation of the policy for the introduction of new top-level domains is part of a long
series of events that have dramatically changed the nature of the Internet. The 1969
ARPANET diagram shows the initial design of a network that is now global in its reach and an
integral part of many lives and businesses. The policy recommendations found here illustrate
the complexity of the Internet of 2007 and, as a package, propose a system to add new toplevel domains in an orderly and transparent way. The ICANN Staff Implementation Team,
consisting of policy, operational and legal staff members, has worked closely with the
Committee on all aspects of the policy development process[5]. The ICANN Board has
received regular information and updates about the process and the substantive results of the
Committee's work.
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5. The majority of the early work on the introduction of new top-level domains is found in the
IETF's Request for Comment series. RFC 1034[6] is a fundamental resource that explains key
concepts of the naming system. Read in conjunction with RFC920[7], an historical picture
emerges of how and why the domain name system hierarchy has been organised. Postel &
Reynolds set out in their RFC920 introduction about the "General Purpose Domains" that
..."While the initial domain name "ARPA" arises from the history of the development of this
system and environment, in the future most of the top level names will be very general
categories l ke "government", "education", or "commercial". The motivation is to provide an
organization name that is free of undesirable semantics."
6. In 2007, the Internet is multi-dimensional and its development is driven by widespread
access to inexpensive communications technologies in many parts of the world. In addition,
global travel is now relatively inexpensive, efficient and readily available to a diverse range of
travellers. As a consequence, citizens no longer automatically associate themselves with
countries but with international communities of linguistic, cultural or professional interests
independent of physical location. Many people now exercise multiple citizenship rights, speak
many different languages and quite often live far from where they were born or educated. The
2007 OECD Factbook[8] provides comprehensive statistics about the impact of migration on
OECD member countries. In essence, many populations are fluid and changing due in part to
easing labour movement restrictions but also because technology enables workers to live in
one place and work in another relatively easily. As a result, companies and organizations are
now global and operate across many geographic borders and jurisdictions. The following
illustration[9] shows how rapidly the number of domain names under registration has
increased and one could expect that trend to continue with the introduction of new top-level
domains.
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7. A key driver of change has been the introduction of competition in the registration of domain
names through ICANN Accredited Registrars[10]. In June 2007, there were more than 800
accredited registrars who register names for end users with ongoing downward pressure on
the prices end-users pay for domain name registration.
8. ICANN's work on the introduction of new top-level domains has been underway since 1999.
By mid-1999, Working Group C[11] had quickly reached consensus on two issues, namely
that "...ICANN should add new gTLDs to the root. The second is that ICANN should begin the
deployment of new gTLDs with an initial rollout of six to ten new gTLDs, followed by an
evaluation period". This work was undertaken throughout 2000 and saw the introduction of, for
example, .coop, .aero and .biz.
9. After an evaluation period, a further round of sponsored TLDs was introduced during 2003
and 2004 which included, amongst others, .mobi and .travel[12].
10. The July 2007 zone file survey statistics from www.registrarstats.com[13] shows that there
are slightly more than 96,000,000 top level domains registered across a selection of seven
top-level domains including .com, .net and .info. Evidence from potential new applicants
provides more impetus to implement a system that enables the ongoing introduction of new
top level domains[14]. In addition, interest from Internet users who could use Internationalised
Domain Names (IDNs) in a wide variety of scripts beyond ASCII is growing rapidly.
11. To arrive at the full set of policy recommendations which are found here, the Committee
considered the responses to a Call for Expert Papers issued at the beginning of the policy
development process[15], and which was augmented by a full set of GNSO Constituency
Statements[16]. These are all found in Part B of the Final Report and should be read in
conjunction with this document. In addition, the Committee received detailed responses from
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the Implementation Team about proposed policy recommendations and the implementation of
the recommendations package as an on-line application process that could be used by a wide
array of potential applicants.
12. The Committee reviewed and analysed a wide variety of materials including Working
Group C's findings, the evaluation reports from the 2003 & 2004 round of sponsored top-level
domains and a full range of other historic materials[17].
13. In the past, a number of different approaches to new top level domains have been
considered including the formulation of a structured taxonomy[18] of names, for example,
.auto, .books, .travel and .music. The Committee has opted to enable potential applicants to
self-select strings that are either the most appropriate for their customers or potentially the
most marketable. It is expected that applicants will apply for targeted community strings such
as .travel for the travel industry and .cat for the Catalan community as well as some generic
strings. The Committee identified five key drivers for the introduction of new top-level domains.
(i) It is consistent with the reasons articulated in 1999 when the first proof-of-concept
round was initiated
(ii) There are no technical impediments to the introduction of new top-level domains as
evidenced by the two previous rounds
(iii) Expanding the domain name space to accommodate the introduction of both new
ASCII and internationalised domain name (IDN) top-level domains will give end
users more choice about the nature of their presence on the Internet. In addition,
users will be able to use domain names in their language of choice.
(iv) There is demand for additional top-level domains as a business opportunity. The
GNSO Committee expects that this business opportunity will stimulate
competition at the registry service level which is consistent with ICANN's Core
Value 6.
(v) No compelling reason has been articulated to not proceed with accepting applications
for new top-level domains.
14. The remainder of this Report is structured around the four Terms of Reference. This
includes an explanation of the Principles that have guided the work taking into account the
Governmental Advisory Committee's March 2007 Public Policy Principles for New gTLDs[19];
a comprehensive set of Recommendations which has majority Committee support and a set of
Implementation Guidelines which has been discussed in great detail with the ICANN Staff
Implementation Team. The Implementation Team has released two ICANN Staff Discussion
Points documents (in November 2006 and June 2007). Version 2 provides detailed analysis of
the proposed recommendations from an implementation standpoint and provides suggestions
about the way in which the implementation plan may come together. The ICANN Board will
make the final decision about the actual structure of the application and evaluation process.
15. In each of the sections below the Committee's recommendations are discussed in more
detail with an explanation of the rationale for the decisions. The recommendations have been
the subject of numerous public comment periods and intensive discussion across a range of
stakeholders including ICANN's GNSO Constituencies, ICANN Supporting Organisations and
Advisory Committees and members of the broader Internet-using public that is interested in
ICANN's work[20]. In particular, detailed work has been conducted through the
Internationalised Domain Names Working Group (IDN-WG)[21], the Reserved Names Working
Group (RN-WG)[22] and the Protecting the Rights of Others Working Group (PRO-WG) [23].
The Working Group Reports are found in full in Part B of the Final Report along with the March
2007 GAC Public Policy Principles for New Top-Level Domains, Constituency Impact
Statements. A minority statement from the NCUC about Recommendations 6 & 20 are found
Annexes for this document along with individual comments from Nominating Committee
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GNSO Recommendations on New gTLDs
Whereas, the GNSO initiated a policy development process on the
introduction of New gTLDs in December 2005.
<http://gnso.icann.org/issues/new-gtlds/>
Whereas, the GNSO Committee on the Introduction of New gTLDs addressed
a range of difficult technical, operational, legal, economic, and policy
questions, and facilitated widespread participation and public comment
throughout the process.
Whereas, the GNSO successfully completed its policy development process
on the Introduction of New gTLDs and on 7 September 2007, and achieved a
Supermajority vote on its 19 policy recommendations.
<http://gnso.icann.org/meetings/minutes-gnso-06sep07.shtml>
Whereas, the Board instructed staff to review the GNSO recommendations
and determine whether they were capable of implementation.
Whereas, staff has engaged international technical, operational and legal
expertise to provide counsel on details to support the implementation of the
Policy recommendations and as a result, ICANN cross-functional teams have
developed implementation details in support of the GNSO's policy
recommendations, and have concluded that the recommendations are capable
of implementation.
Whereas, staff has provided regular updates to the community and the Board
on the implementation plan. <http://icann.org/topics/new-gtld-program.htm>
Whereas, consultation with the DNS technical community has led to the
conclusion that there is not currently any evidence to support establishing a
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limit to how many TLDs can be inserted in the root based on technical stability
concerns. <http://www.icann.org/topics/dns-stability-draft-paper-06feb08.pdf>
Whereas, the Board recognizes that the process will need to be resilient to
unforeseen circumstances.
Whereas, the Board has listened to the concerns about the recommendations
that have been raised by the community, and will continue to take into account
the advice of ICANN's supporting organizations and advisory committees in
the implementation plan.
Resolved (2008.06.26.02), based on both the support of the community for
New gTLDs and the advice of staff that the introduction of new gTLDs is
capable of implementation, the Board adopts the GNSO policy
recommendations for the introduction of new gTLDs
<http://gnso.icann.org/issues/new-gtlds/pdp-dec05-fr-parta-08aug07.htm>.
Resolved (2008.06.26.03), the Board directs staff to continue to further
develop and complete its detailed implementation plan, continue
communication with the community on such work, and provide the Board with
a final version of the implementation proposals for the board and community to
approve before the new gTLD introduction process is launched.
| back to top |

IDNC / IDN Fast-track
Whereas, the ICANN Board recognizes that the "IDNC Working Group"
developed, after extensive community comment, a final report on feasible
methods for timely (fast-track) introduction of a limited number of IDN ccTLDs
associated with ISO 3166-1 two-letter codes while an overall, long-term IDN
ccTLD policy is under development by the ccNSO.
Whereas, the IDNC Working Group has concluded its work and has submitted
recommendations for the selection and delegation of "fast-track" IDN ccTLDs
and, pursuant to its charter, has taken into account and was guided by
consideration of the requirements to:
Preserve the security and stability of the DNS;
Comply with the IDNA protocols;
Take input and advice from the technical community with respect to the
implementation of IDNs; and
Build on and maintain the current practices for the delegation of ccTLDs,
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which include the current IANA practices.
Whereas, the IDNC Working Group's high-level recommendations require
implementation planning.
Whereas, ICANN is looking closely at interaction with the final IDN ccTLD PDP
process and potential risks, and intends to implement IDN ccTLDs using a
procedure that will be resilient to unforeseen circumstances.
Whereas, staff will consider the full range of implementation issues related to
the introduction of IDN ccTLDs associated with the ISO 3166-1 list, including
means of promoting adherence to technical standards and mechanisms to
cover the costs associated with IDN ccTLDs.
Whereas, the Board intends that the timing of the process for the introduction
of IDN ccTLDs should be aligned with the process for the introduction of New
gTLDs.
Resolved (2008.06.26.04), the Board thanks the members of the IDNC WG for
completing their chartered tasks in a timely manner.
Resolved (2008.06.26.05), the Board directs staff to: (1) post the IDNC WG
final report for public comments; (2) commence work on implementation
issues in consultation with relevant stakeholders; and (3) submit a detailed
implementation report including a list of any outstanding issues to the Board in
advance of the ICANN Cairo meeting in November 2008.
| back to top |

GNSO Recommendation on Domain Tasting
Whereas, ICANN community stakeholders are increasingly concerned about
domain tasting, which is the practice of using the add grace period (AGP) to
register domain names in bulk in order to test their profitability.
Whereas, on 17 April 2008, the GNSO Council approved, by a Supermajority
vote, a motion to prohibit any gTLD operator that has implemented an AGP
from offering a refund for any domain name deleted during the AGP that
exceeds 10% of its net new registrations in that month, or fifty domain names,
whichever is greater. <http://gnso.icann.org/meetings/minutes-gnso17apr08.shtml>
Whereas, on 25 April 2008, the GNSO Council forwarded its formal "Report to
the ICANN Board - Recommendation for Domain Tasting"
<http://gnso.icann.org/issues/domain-tasting/domain-tasting-board-report-
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gnso-council-25apr08.pdf>, which outlines the full text of the motion and the
full context and procedural history of this proceeding.
Whereas, the Board is also considering the Proposed FY 09 Operating Plan
and Budget <http://www.icann.org/financials/fiscal-30jun09.htm>, which
includes (at the encouragement of the GNSO Council) a proposal similar to
the GNSO policy recommendation to expand the applicability of the ICANN
transaction fee in order to limit domain tasting.
Resolved (2008.06.26.06), the Board adopts the GNSO policy
recommendation on domain tasting, and directs staff to implement the policy
following appropriate comment and notice periods on the implementation
documents.
| back to top |

Approval of Operating Plan and Budget for Fiscal Year
2008-2009
Whereas, ICANN approved an update to the Strategic Plan in December
2007. < http://www.icann.org/strategic-plan/>
Whereas, the Initial Operating Plan and Budget Framework for fiscal year
2009 was presented at the New Delhi ICANN meeting and was posted in
February 2008 for community consultation.
<http://www.icann.org/announcements/announcement-2-04feb08.htm>
Whereas, community consultations were held to discuss and obtain feedback
on the Initial Framework.
Whereas, the draft FY09 Operating Plan and Budget was posted for public
comment in accordance with the Bylaws on 17 May 2008 based upon the
Initial Framework, community consultation, and consultations with the Board
Finance Committee. A slightly revised version was posted on 23 May 2008.
<http://www.icann.org/financials/fiscal-30jun09.htm>
Whereas, ICANN has actively solicited community feedback and consultation
with ICANN's constituencies. <http://forum.icann.org/lists/op-budget-fy2009/>
Whereas, the ICANN Board Finance Committee has discussed, and guided
staff on, the FY09 Operating Plan and Budget at each of its regularly
scheduled monthly meetings.
Whereas, the final FY09 Operating Plan and Budget was posted on 26 June
2008. <http://www.icann.org/en/financials/proposed-opplan-budget-v3-fy09-
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25jun08-en.pdf>
Whereas, the ICANN Board Finance Committee met in Paris on 22 June 2008
to discuss the FY09 Operating Plan and Budget, and recommended that the
Board adopt the FY09 Operating Plan and Budget.
Whereas, the President has advised that the FY09 Operating Plan and Budget
reflects the work of staff and community to identify the plan of activities, the
expected revenue, and resources necessary to be spent in fiscal year ending
30 June 2009.
Whereas, continuing consultation on the budget has been conducted at
ICANN's meeting in Paris, at constituency meetings, and during the public
forum.
Resolved (2008.06.26.07), the Board adopts the Fiscal Year 2008-2009
Operating Plan and Budget. <http://www.icann.org/en/financials/proposedopplan-budget-v3-fy09-25jun08-en.pdf>
| back to top |

Update on Draft Amendments to the Registrar Accreditation
Agreement
(For discussion only.)
| back to top |

Approval of PIR Request to Implement DNSSEC in .ORG
Whereas, Public Interest Registry has submitted a proposal to implement DNS
Security Extensions (DNSSEC) in .ORG. <http://icann.org/registries/rsep/pirrequest-03apr08.pdf>
Whereas, staff has evaluated the .ORG DNSSEC proposal as a new registry
service via the Registry Services Evaluation Policy
<http://icann.org/registries/rsep/>, and the proposal included a requested
amendment to Section 3.1(c)(i) of the .ORG Registry Agreement
<http://icann.org/tlds/agreements/org/proposed-org-amendment-23apr08.pdf>
which was posted for public comment along with the PIR proposal.
Whereas, the evaluation under the threshold test of the Registry Services
Evaluation Policy <http://icann.org/registries/rsep/rsep.html> found a likelihood
of security and stability issues associated with the proposed implementation.
The RSTEP Review Team considered the proposal and found that there was a
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risk of a meaningful adverse effect on security and stability, which could be
effectively mitigated by policies, decisions and actions to which PIR has
expressly committed in its proposal or could be reasonably required to commit.
<http://icann.org/registries/rsep/rstep-report-pir-dnssec-04jun08.pdf>
Whereas, the Chair of the SSAC has advised that RSTEP's thorough
investigation of every issue that has been raised concerning the security and
stability effects of DNSSEC deployment concludes that effective measures to
deal with all of them can be taken by PIR, and that this conclusion after
exhaustive review greatly increases the confidence with which DNSSEC
deployment in .ORG can be undertaken.
Whereas, PIR intends to implement DNSSEC only after extended testing and
consultation.
Resolved (2008.06.26.08), that PIR's proposal to implement DNSSEC in
.ORG is approved, with the understanding that PIR will continue to cooperate
and consult with ICANN on details of the implementation. The President and
the General Counsel are authorized to enter the associated amendment to the
.ORG Registry Agreement, and to take other actions as appropriate to enable
the deployment of DNSSEC in .ORG.
| back to top |

ICANN Board of Directors' Code of Conduct
Whereas, the members of ICANN's Board of Directors are committed to
maintaining a high standard of ethical conduct.
Whereas, the Board Governance Committee has developed a Code of
Conduct to provide the Board with guiding principles for conducting
themselves in an ethical manner.
Resolved (2008.06.26.09), the Board directs staff to post the newly proposed
ICANN Board of Directors' Code of Conduct for public comment, for
consideration by the Board as soon as feasible. [Reference to PDF will be
inserted when posted.]
| back to top |

Ratification of Selection of Consultant to Conduct
Independent Review of the Board
Whereas, the Board Governance Committee has recommended that Boston
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Consulting Group be selected as the consultant to perform the independent
review of the ICANN Board.
Whereas, the BGC's recommendation to retain BCG was approved by the
Executive Committee during its meeting on 12 June 2008.
Resolved (2008.06.26.10), the Board ratifies the Executive Committee's
approval of the Board Governance Committee's recommendation to select
Boston Consulting Group as the consultant to perform the independent review
of the ICANN Board.
| back to top |

Appointment of Independent Review Working Groups
Whereas, the Board Governance Committee has recommended that several
working groups should be formed to coordinate pending independent reviews
of ICANN structures.
Resolved (2008.06.26.11), the Board establishes the following independent
review working groups:
ICANN Board Independent Review Working Group: Amadeu Abril i Abril,
Roberto Gaetano (Chair), Steve Goldstein, Thomas Narten, Rajasekhar
Ramaraj, Rita Rodin, and Jean Jacques Subrenat.
DNS Root Server System Advisory Committee (RSSAC) Independent
Review Working Group: Harald Alvestrand (Chair), Steve Crocker and
Bruce Tonkin.
Security and Stability Advisory Committee (SSAC) Independent Review
Working Group: Robert Blokzijl, Dennis Jennings (Chair), Reinhard
Scholl and Suzanne Woolf.
| back to top |

Update on Independent Reviews of ICANN Structures
(For discussion only.)
| back to top |

Board Committee Assignment Revisions
Whereas, the Board Governance Committee has recommended that the
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membership of several Board should be revised, and that all other committees
should remain unchanged until the 2008 Annual Meeting.
Resolved (2008.06.26.12), the membership of the Audit, Finance, and
Reconsideration committees are revised as follows:
Audit Committee: Raimundo Beca, Demi Getschko, Dennis Jennings,
Njeri Rionge and Rita Rodin (Chair).
Finance Committee: Raimundo Beca, Peter Dengate Thrush, Steve
Goldstein, Dennis Jennings, Rajasekhar Ramaraj (Chair), and Bruce
Tonkin (as observer).
Reconsideration Committee: Susan Crawford (Chair), Demi Getschko,
Dennis Jennings, Rita Rodin, and Jean-Jacques Subrenat.
| back to top |

Approval of BGC Recommendations on GNSO
Improvements
Whereas, Article IV, Section 4 of ICANN's Bylaws calls for periodic reviews of
the performance and operation of ICANN's structures by an entity or entities
independent of the organization under review.
Whereas, the Board created the "Board Governance Committee GNSO
Review Working Group" (Working Group) to consider the independent review
of the GNSO and other relevant input, and recommend to the Board
Governance Committee a comprehensive proposal to improve the
effectiveness of the GNSO, including its policy activities, structure, operations
and communications.
Whereas, the Working Group engaged in extensive public consultation and
discussions, considered all input, and developed a final report
<http://www.icann.org/topics/gnso-improvements/gnso-improvements-report03feb08.pdf> containing a comprehensive and exhaustive list of proposed
recommendations on GNSO improvements.
Whereas, the Board Governance Committee determined that the GNSO
Improvements working group had fulfilled its charter and forwarded the final
report to the Board for consideration.
Whereas, a public comment forum was held open for 60 days to receive,
consider and summarize <http://forum.icann.org/lists/gnso-improvementsreport-2008/msg00033.html> public comments on the final report.

9

RE-5

Whereas, the GNSO Council and Staff have worked diligently over the past
few months to develop a top-level plan for approaching the implementation of
the improvement recommendations, as requested by the Board at its New
Delhi meeting.
Whereas, ICANN has a continuing need for a strong structure for developing
policies that reflect to the extent possible a consensus of all stakeholders in
the community including ICANN's contracted parties.
Resolved (2008.06.26.13), the Board endorses the recommendations of the
Board Governance Committee's GNSO Review Working Group, other than on
GNSO Council restructuring, and requests that the GNSO convene a small
working group on Council restructuring including one representative from the
current NomCom appointees, one member from each constituency and one
member from each liaison-appointing advisory committee (if that advisory
committee so desires), and that this group should reach consensus and
submit a consensus recommendation on Council restructuring by no later than
25 July 2008 for consideration by the ICANN Board as soon as possible, but
no later than the Board's meeting in August 2008.
| back to top |

Receipt of Report of President's Strategy Committee
Consultation
Whereas, the Chairman of the Board requested that the President's Strategy
Committee undertake a process on how to strengthen and complete the
ICANN multi-stakeholder model.
Whereas, the PSC has developed three papers that outline key areas and
possible responses to address them: "Transition Action Plan," "Improving
Institutional Confidence in ICANN," and "FAQ."
<http://icann.org/en/announcements/announcement-16jun08-en.htm >
Whereas, these documents and the proposals contained in them have been
discussed at ICANN's meeting in Paris.
Whereas, a dedicated webpage has been launched to provide the community
with information, including regular updates <http://icann.org/jpa/iic/>.
Resolved (2008.06.26.14), the Board thanks the President's Strategy
Committee for its work to date, and instructs ICANN staff to undertake the
public consultation recommended in the action plan, and strongly encourages
the entire ICANN community to participate in the continuing consultations on
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the future of ICANN by reviewing and submitting comments to the PSC by 31
July 2008.

Selection of Mexico City for March 2009 ICANN Meeting
Whereas, ICANN intends to hold its first meeting for calendar year 2009 in the
Latin America region;
Whereas, the Mexican Internet Association (AMIPCI) has agreed to host the
meeting;
Resolved (2008.06.26.15), the Board accepts the AMIPCI proposal to host
ICANN's 34th global meeting in Mexico City, in March 2009.

Review of Paris Meeting Structure
(For discussion only.)
| back to top |

Board Response to Discussions Arising from Paris Meeting
(For discussion only.)
| back to top |

ICANN At-Large Summit Proposal
Whereas, at the ICANN meeting in New Delhi in February 2008, the Board
resolved to direct staff to work with the ALAC to finalise a proposal to fund an
ICANN At-Large Summit, for consideration as part of the 2008-2009 operating
plan and budget process. <http://www.icann.org/minutes/resolutions15feb08.htm>
Whereas, potential funding for such a summit has been identified in the FY09
budget. <http://www.icann.org/financials/fiscal-30jun09.htm>
Whereas, a proposal for the Summit was completed and submitted shortly
before the ICANN Meeting in Paris.
Resolved (2008.06.26.16), the Board approves the proposal to hold an ICANN
At-Large Summit as a one-time special event, and requests that the ALAC
work with ICANN Staff to implement the Summit in a manner that achieves
efficiency, including considering the Mexico meeting as the venue.
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Resolved (2008.06.26.17), with the maturation of At-Large and the proposal
for the At-Large Summit's objectives set out, the Board expects the ALAC to
look to more self-funding for At-Large travel in the fiscal year 2010 plan,
consistent with the travel policies of other constituencies.
| back to top |

Other Business
(TBD)
| back to top |

Thanks to Steve Conte
Whereas, Steve Conte has served as an employee of ICANN for over five
years.
Whereas, Steve has served ICANN in a number of roles, currently as ICANN's
Chief Security Officer, but also as a vital support to the Board and its work at
meetings.
Whereas, Steve has given notice to ICANN that he has accepted a new
position with the Internet Society (ISOC), and that his employment with ICANN
will conclude at the end of this meeting.
Whereas, Steve is of gentle nature, possessed of endless patience and fierce
integrity, a love of music, and great dedication to the Internet and those who
nurture it.
Whereas, the ICANN Board wishes to recognize Steve for his service to
ICANN and the global Internet community. In particular, Steve has tirelessly
and with good nature supported the past 19 ICANN meetings and his
extraordinary efforts have been most appreciated.
Resolved (2008.06.26.18), the ICANN Board formally thanks Steve Conte for
his service to ICANN, and expresses its good wishes to Steve for his work with
ISOC and all his future endeavors.
| back to top |

Thanks to Sponsors
The Board extends its thanks to all sponsors of this meeting:
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L'Association Française pour le Nommage Internet en Coopération (AFNIC),
France Télécom, Groupe Jutheau Husson, Stichting Internet Domeinregistratie
Nederland (SIDN), Association Marocaine des Professionnels des
Telecommunications (MATI), Afilias Limited, Deutsches Network Information
Center (DENIC), The European Registry of Domain Names (EURid),
European Domain Name Registration (EuroDNS), INDOM, Toit de la Grande
Arche Parvis de la Défense, Musee de L'informatique, NeuStar, Inc., Public
Interest Registry, VeriSign, Inc., AusRegistry, Fundació puntCAT, Council of
European National Top Level Domain Registries (CENTR), China Internet
Network Information Center (CNNIC), Institut National de Recherche en
Informatique et en Automatique (INRIA), InterNetX, Key-Systems GmbH,
Directi Internet Solutions Pvt. Ltd. d/b/a PublicDomainRegistry.com, Nask,
Nominet UK, The Internet Infrastructure Foundation (.SE), Registry ASP,
Amen, DotAsia Organisation Ltd., Domaine FR, Golog, Iron Mountain
Intellectual Property Management, Inc., Nameaction, Inc., NIC.AT Internet
Verwaltungs und Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H, UNINETT Norid A/S, IIT – CNR
(Registro del ccTLD.it), Renater, Domaine.info, and ICANNWiki.
| back to top |

Thanks to Local Hosts, Staff, Scribes, Interpreters, Event
Teams, and Others
The Board wishes to extend its thanks to the local host organizers, AGIFEM,
its President Daniel Dardailler, Vice-President Pierre Bonis and CEO
Sebastien Bachollet, as well as Board Members from Afnic, Amen,
Domaine.fr, Eurodns, Indom, Internet Society France, Internet fr, Namebay,
Renater, and W3C.
The Board would also like to thank Eric Besson, the Minister for Forward
Planning, Assessment of Public Policies and Development of the Digital
Economy for his participation in the Welcome Ceremony and the Welcome
Cocktail.
The Board thanks the Au Toit de la Grande Arche , its president, Francis
Bouvier, and Directeur, Philippe Nieuwbourg, and Bertrand Delanoë, Maire de
Paris, and Jean-Louis Missika, adjoint au Maire de Paris for their hospitality at
the social events at the ICANN Paris meeting.
The Board expresses its appreciation to the scribes Laura Brewer, Teri
Darrenougue, Jennifer Schuck, and Charles Motter and to the entire ICANN
staff for their efforts in facilitating the smooth operation of the meeting. ICANN
would particularly like to acknowledge the many efforts of Michael Evans for
his assistance in organizing the past eighteen public board meetings and
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many other smaller events for the ICANN community.
The Board also wishes to express its appreciation to VeriLan Events Services,
Inc. for technical support, Auvitec and Prosn for audio/visual support, Calliope
Interpreters France for interpretation, and France Telecom for bandwith.
Additional thanks are given to the Le Meridien Montparnasse for this fine
facility, and to the event facilities and support.
The Board also wishes to thank all those who worked to introduce a Business
Access Agenda for the first time at this meeting, Ayesha Hassan of the
International Chamber of Commerce, Marilyn Cade, and ICANN Staff.
The members of the Board wish to especially thank their fellow Board Member
Jean-Jacques Subrenat for his assistance in making the arrangements for this
meeting in Paris, France.
| back to top |
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Preamble
New gTLD Program Background
New gTLDs have been in the forefront of ICANN’s agenda since its creation. The new gTLD
program will open up the top level of the Internet’s namespace to foster diversity, encourage
competition, and enhance the utility of the DNS.
Currently the namespace consists of 22 gTLDs and over 250 ccTLDs operating on various models.
Each of the gTLDs has a designated “registry operator” and, in most cases, a Registry Agreement
between the operator (or sponsor) and ICANN. The registry operator is responsible for the
technical operation of the TLD, including all of the names registered in that TLD. The gTLDs are
served by over 900 registrars, who interact with registrants to perform domain name registration and
other related services. The new gTLD program will create a means for prospective registry
operators to apply for new gTLDs, and create new options for consumers in the market. When the
program launches its first application round, ICANN expects a diverse set of applications for new
gTLDs, including IDNs, creating significant potential for new uses and benefit to Internet users across
the globe.
The program has its origins in carefully deliberated policy development work by the ICANN
community. In October 2007, the Generic Names Supporting Organization (GNSO)—one of the
groups that coordinate global Internet policy at ICANN—formally completed its policy
development work on new gTLDs and approved a set of 19 policy recommendations.
Representatives from a wide variety of stakeholder groups—governments, individuals, civil society,
business and intellectual property constituencies, and the technology community—were engaged
in discussions for more than 18 months on such questions as the demand, benefits and risks of new
gTLDs, the selection criteria that should be applied, how gTLDs should be allocated, and the
contractual conditions that should be required for new gTLD registries going forward. The
culmination of this policy development process was a decision by the ICANN Board of Directors to
adopt the community-developed policy in June 2008. A thorough brief to the policy process and
outcomes can be found at http://gnso.icann.org/issues/new-gtlds.
ICANN’s work next focused on implementation: creating an application and evaluation process
for new gTLDs that is aligned with the policy recommendations and provides a clear roadmap for
applicants to reach delegation, including Board approval. This implementation work is reflected in
the drafts of the applicant guidebook that were released for public comment, and in the
explanatory papers giving insight into rationale behind some of the conclusions reached on
specific topics. Meaningful community input has led to revisions of the draft applicant guidebook.
In parallel, ICANN has established the resources needed to successfully launch and operate the
program. This process concluded with the decision by the ICANN Board of Directors in June 2011 to
launch the New gTLD Program.
For current information, timelines and activities related to the New gTLD Program, please go to
http://www.icann.org/en/topics/new-gtld-program.htm.
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REGISTRY AGREEMENT
This REGISTRY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of ___________ (the
“Effective Date”) between Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers, a
California nonprofit public benefit corporation (“ICANN”), and __________, a _____________
(“Registry Operator”).
ARTICLE 1.
DELEGATION AND OPERATION
OF TOP–LEVEL DOMAIN; REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
1.1
Domain and Designation. The Top-Level Domain to which this Agreement
applies is ____ (the “TLD”). Upon the Effective Date and until the earlier of the expiration of
the Term (as defined in Section 4.1) or the termination of this Agreement pursuant to
Article 4, ICANN designates Registry Operator as the registry operator for the TLD, subject
to the requirements and necessary approvals for delegation of the TLD and entry into the
root-zone.
1.2
Technical Feasibility of String. While ICANN has encouraged and will
continue to encourage universal acceptance of all top-level domain strings across the
Internet, certain top-level domain strings may encounter difficulty in acceptance by ISPs
and webhosters and/or validation by web applications. Registry Operator shall be
responsible for ensuring to its satisfaction the technical feasibility of the TLD string prior to
entering into this Agreement.
1.3

Representations and Warranties.
(a)

Registry Operator represents and warrants to ICANN as follows:

(i)
all material information provided and statements made in the
registry TLD application, and statements made in writing during the
negotiation of this Agreement, were true and correct in all material respects
at the time made, and such information or statements continue to be true and
correct in all material respects as of the Effective Date except as otherwise
previously disclosed in writing by Registry Operator to ICANN;
(ii)
Registry Operator is duly organized, validly existing and in
good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction set forth in the preamble
hereto, and Registry Operator has all requisite power and authority and has
obtained all necessary approvals to enter into and duly execute and deliver
this Agreement; and
(iii)
Registry Operator has delivered to ICANN a duly executed
instrument that secures the funds required to perform registry functions for
the TLD in the event of the termination or expiration of this Agreement (the
“Continued Operations Instrument”), and such instrument is a binding
1
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obligation of the parties thereto, enforceable against the parties thereto in
accordance with its terms.
(b)
ICANN represents and warrants to Registry Operator that ICANN is a
nonprofit public benefit corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the State of California, United States of America. ICANN has all requisite
power and authority and has obtained all necessary corporate approvals to enter into and
duly execute and deliver this Agreement.
ARTICLE 2.
COVENANTS OF REGISTRY OPERATOR
Registry Operator covenants and agrees with ICANN as follows:
2.1
Approved Services; Additional Services. Registry Operator shall be
entitled to provide the Registry Services described in clauses (a) and (b) of the first
paragraph of Section 2.1 in the Specification 6 attached hereto (“Specification 6”) and such
other Registry Services set forth on Exhibit A (collectively, the “Approved Services”). If
Registry Operator desires to provide any Registry Service that is not an Approved Service
or is a material modification to an Approved Service (each, an “Additional Service”),
Registry Operator shall submit a request for approval of such Additional Service pursuant
to the Registry Services Evaluation Policy at
http://www.icann.org/en/registries/rsep/rsep.html, as such policy may be amended from
time to time in accordance with the bylaws of ICANN (as amended from time to time, the
“ICANN Bylaws”) applicable to Consensus Policies (the “RSEP”). Registry Operator may
offer Additional Services only with the written approval of ICANN, and, upon any such
approval, such Additional Services shall be deemed Registry Services under this
Agreement. In its reasonable discretion, ICANN may require an amendment to this
Agreement reflecting the provision of any Additional Service which is approved pursuant
to the RSEP, which amendment shall be in a form reasonably acceptable to the parties.
2.2
Compliance with Consensus Policies and Temporary Policies. Registry
Operator shall comply with and implement all Consensus Policies and Temporary Policies
found at <http://www.icann.org/general/consensus-policies.htm>, as of the Effective Date
and as may in the future be developed and adopted in accordance with the ICANN Bylaws,
provided such future Consensus Polices and Temporary Policies are adopted in accordance
with the procedure and relate to those topics and subject to those limitations set forth in
Specification 1 attached hereto (“Specification 1”).
2.3
Data Escrow. Registry Operator shall comply with the registry data escrow
procedures set forth in Specification 2 attached hereto (“Specification 2”) within fourteen
(14) calendar days after delegation.
2.4
Monthly Reporting. Within twenty (20) calendar days following the end of
each calendar month, commencing with the first calendar month in which the TLD is
delegated in the root zone, Registry Operator shall deliver to ICANN reports in the format
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set forth in Specification 3 attached hereto (“Specification 3”); provided, however, that if
the TLD is delegated in the root zone after the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of the calendar
month, Registry Operator may defer the delivery of the reports for such first calendar
month and instead deliver to ICANN such month’s reports no later than the time that
Registry Operator is required to deliver the reports for the immediately following calendar
month. Registry Operator must include in the Per-Registrar Transactions Report any
domain name created during pre-delegation testing that has not been deleted as of the time
of delegation (notably but not limited to domains registered by Registrar IDs 9995 and/or
9996).
2.5
Publication of Registration Data. Registry Operator shall provide public
access to registration data in accordance with Specification 4 attached hereto
(“Specification 4”).
2.6
Reserved Names. Except to the extent that ICANN otherwise expressly
authorizes in writing, Registry Operator shall comply with the requirements set forth in
Specification 5 attached hereto (“Specification 5”). Registry Operator may at any time
establish or modify policies concerning Registry Operator’s ability to reserve (i.e., withhold
from registration or allocate to Registry Operator, but not register to third parties, delegate,
use, activate in the DNS or otherwise make available) or block additional character strings
within the TLD at its discretion. Except as specified in Specification 5, if Registry Operator
is the registrant for any domain names in the registry TLD, such registrations must be
through an ICANN accredited registrar, and will be considered Transactions (as defined in
Section 6.1) for purposes of calculating the Registry-level transaction fee to be paid to
ICANN by Registry Operator pursuant to Section 6.1.
2.7
Registry Interoperability and Continuity. Registry Operator shall comply
with the Registry Interoperability and Continuity Specifications as set forth in Specification
6 attached hereto (“Specification 6”).
2.8
Protection of Legal Rights of Third Parties. Registry Operator must
specify, and comply with, the processes and procedures for launch of the TLD and initial
registration-related and ongoing protection of the legal rights of third parties as set forth
Specification 7 attached hereto (“Specification 7”). Registry Operator may, at its election,
implement additional protections of the legal rights of third parties. Any changes or
modifications to the process and procedures required by Specification 7 following the
Effective Date must be approved in advance by ICANN in writing. Registry Operator must
comply with all remedies imposed by ICANN pursuant to Section 2 of Specification 7,
subject to Registry Operator’s right to challenge such remedies as set forth in the applicable
procedure described therein. Registry Operator shall take reasonable steps to investigate
and respond to any reports from law enforcement and governmental and
quasi-governmental agencies of illegal conduct in connection with the use of the TLD. In
responding to such reports, Registry Operator will not be required to take any action in
contravention of applicable law.
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2.9

Registrars.

(a)
All domain name registrations in the TLD must be registered through
an ICANN accredited registrar; provided, that Registry Operator need not use a registrar if
it registers names in its own name in order to withhold such names from delegation or use
in accordance with Section 2.6. Subject to the requirements of Specification 11, Registry
Operator must provide non-discriminatory access to Registry Services to all ICANN
accredited registrars that enter into and are in compliance with the registry-registrar
agreement for the TLD; provided that Registry Operator may establish non-discriminatory
criteria for qualification to register names in the TLD that are reasonably related to the
proper functioning of the TLD. Registry Operator must use a uniform non-discriminatory
agreement with all registrars authorized to register names in the TLD (the
“Registry-Registrar Agreement”). Registry Operator may amend the Registry-Registrar
Agreement from time to time; provided, however, that any material revisions thereto must
be approved by ICANN before any such revisions become effective and binding on any
registrar. Registry Operator will provide ICANN and all registrars authorized to register
names in the TLD at least fifteen (15) calendar days written notice of any revisions to the
Registry-Registrar Agreement before any such revisions become effective and binding on
any registrar. During such period, ICANN will determine whether such proposed revisions
are immaterial, potentially material or material in nature. If ICANN has not provided
Registry Operator with notice of its determination within such fifteen (15) calendar-day
period, ICANN shall be deemed to have determined that such proposed revisions are
immaterial in nature. If ICANN determines, or is deemed to have determined under this
Section 2.9(a), that such revisions are immaterial, then Registry Operator may adopt and
implement such revisions. If ICANN determines such revisions are either material or
potentially material, ICANN will thereafter follow its procedure regarding review and
approval of changes to Registry-Registrar Agreements at
<http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/rra-amendment-procedure>, and such
revisions may not be adopted and implemented until approved by ICANN.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.9(a), any change to the
Registry-Registrar Agreement that relates exclusively to the fee charged by Registry
Operator to register domain names in the TLD will not be subject to the notice and
approval process specified in this Section 2.9(a), but will be subject to the requirements in
Section 2.10 below.
(b)
If Registry Operator (i) becomes an Affiliate or reseller of an ICANN
accredited registrar, or (ii) subcontracts the provision of any Registry Services to an ICANN
accredited registrar, registrar reseller or any of their respective Affiliates, then, in either
such case of (i) or (ii) above, Registry Operator will give ICANN prompt notice of the
contract, transaction or other arrangement that resulted in such affiliation, reseller
relationship or subcontract, as applicable, including, if requested by ICANN, copies of any
contract relating thereto; provided, that ICANN will treat such contract or related
documents that are appropriately marked as confidential (as required by Section 7.15) as
Confidential Information of Registry Operator in accordance with Section 7.15 (except that
ICANN may disclose such contract and related documents to relevant competition
authorities). ICANN reserves the right, but not the obligation, to refer any such contract,
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related documents, transaction or other arrangement to relevant competition authorities in
the event that ICANN determines that such contract, related documents, transaction or
other arrangement might raise significant competition issues under applicable law. If
feasible and appropriate under the circumstances, ICANN will give Registry Operator
advance notice prior to making any such referral to a competition authority.
(c)
For the purposes of this Agreement: (i) “Affiliate” means a person or
entity that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, or in combination
with one or more other persons or entities, controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the person or entity specified, and (ii) “control” (including the terms
“controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a
person or entity, whether through the ownership of securities, as trustee or executor, by
serving as an employee or a member of a board of directors or equivalent governing body,
by contract, by credit arrangement or otherwise.
2.10

Pricing for Registry Services.

(a)
With respect to initial domain name registrations, Registry Operator
shall provide each ICANN accredited registrar that has executed the Registry-Registrar
Agreement for the TLD advance written notice of any price increase (including as a result
of the elimination of any refunds, rebates, discounts, product tying or other programs
which had the effect of reducing the price charged to registrars, unless such refunds,
rebates, discounts, product tying or other programs are of a limited duration that is clearly
and conspicuously disclosed to the registrar when offered) of no less than thirty (30)
calendar days. Registry Operator shall offer registrars the option to obtain initial domain
name registrations for periods of one (1) to ten (10) years at the discretion of the registrar,
but no greater than ten (10) years.
(b)
With respect to renewal of domain name registrations, Registry
Operator shall provide each ICANN accredited registrar that has executed the
Registry-Registrar Agreement for the TLD advance written notice of any price increase
(including as a result of the elimination of any refunds, rebates, discounts, product tying,
Qualified Marketing Programs or other programs which had the effect of reducing the price
charged to registrars) of no less than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, with respect to renewal of domain name
registrations: (i) Registry Operator need only provide thirty (30) calendar days notice of
any price increase if the resulting price is less than or equal to (A) for the period beginning
on the Effective Date and ending twelve (12) months following the Effective Date, the initial
price charged for registrations in the TLD, or (B) for subsequent periods, a price for which
Registry Operator provided a notice pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 2.10(b)
within the twelve (12) month period preceding the effective date of the proposed price
increase; and (ii) Registry Operator need not provide notice of any price increase for the
imposition of the Variable Registry-Level Fee set forth in Section 6.3. Registry Operator
shall offer registrars the option to obtain domain name registration renewals at the current
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price (i.e., the price in place prior to any noticed increase) for periods of one (1) to ten (10)
years at the discretion of the registrar, but no greater than ten (10) years.
(c)
In addition, Registry Operator must have uniform pricing for renewals
of domain name registrations (“Renewal Pricing”). For the purposes of determining
Renewal Pricing, the price for each domain registration renewal must be identical to the
price of all other domain name registration renewals in place at the time of such renewal,
and such price must take into account universal application of any refunds, rebates,
discounts, product tying or other programs in place at the time of renewal. The foregoing
requirements of this Section 2.10(c) shall not apply for (i) purposes of determining
Renewal Pricing if the registrar has provided Registry Operator with documentation that
demonstrates that the applicable registrant expressly agreed in its registration agreement
with registrar to higher Renewal Pricing at the time of the initial registration of the domain
name following clear and conspicuous disclosure of such Renewal Pricing to such
registrant, and (ii) discounted Renewal Pricing pursuant to a Qualified Marketing Program
(as defined below). The parties acknowledge that the purpose of this Section 2.10(c) is to
prohibit abusive and/or discriminatory Renewal Pricing practices imposed by Registry
Operator without the written consent of the applicable registrant at the time of the initial
registration of the domain and this Section 2.10(c) will be interpreted broadly to prohibit
such practices. For purposes of this Section 2.10(c), a “Qualified Marketing Program” is a
marketing program pursuant to which Registry Operator offers discounted Renewal
Pricing, provided that each of the following criteria is satisfied: (i) the program and related
discounts are offered for a period of time not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) calendar
days (with consecutive substantially similar programs aggregated for purposes of
determining the number of calendar days of the program), (ii) all ICANN accredited
registrars are provided the same opportunity to qualify for such discounted Renewal
Pricing; and (iii) the intent or effect of the program is not to exclude any particular
class(es) of registrations (e.g., registrations held by large corporations) or increase the
renewal price of any particular class(es) of registrations. Nothing in this Section 2.10(c)
shall limit Registry Operator’s obligations pursuant to Section 2.10(b).
(d)
Registry Operator shall provide public query-based DNS lookup
service for the TLD (that is, operate the Registry TLD zone servers) at its sole expense.
2.11

Contractual and Operational Compliance Audits.

(a)
ICANN may from time to time (not to exceed twice per calendar year)
conduct, or engage a third party to conduct, contractual compliance audits to assess
compliance by Registry Operator with its representations and warranties contained in
Article 1 of this Agreement and its covenants contained in Article 2 of this Agreement. Such
audits shall be tailored to achieve the purpose of assessing compliance, and ICANN will (a)
give reasonable advance notice of any such audit, which notice shall specify in reasonable
detail the categories of documents, data and other information requested by ICANN, and
(b) use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct such audit during regular business
hours and in such a manner as to not unreasonably disrupt the operations of Registry
Operator. As part of such audit and upon request by ICANN, Registry Operator shall timely
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provide all responsive documents, data and any other information reasonably necessary to
demonstrate Registry Operator’s compliance with this Agreement. Upon no less than ten
(10) calendar days notice (unless otherwise agreed to by Registry Operator), ICANN may,
as part of any contractual compliance audit, conduct site visits during regular business
hours to assess compliance by Registry Operator with its representations and warranties
contained in Article 1 of this Agreement and its covenants contained in Article 2 of this
Agreement. ICANN will treat any information obtained in connection with such audits that
is appropriately marked as confidential (as required by Section 7.15) as Confidential
Information of Registry Operator in accordance with Section 7.15.
(b)
Any audit conducted pursuant to Section 2.11(a) will be at ICANN’s
expense, unless (i) Registry Operator (A) controls, is controlled by, is under common
control or is otherwise Affiliated with, any ICANN accredited registrar or registrar reseller
or any of their respective Affiliates, or (B) has subcontracted the provision of Registry
Services to an ICANN accredited registrar or registrar reseller or any of their respective
Affiliates, and, in either case of (A) or (B) above, the audit relates to Registry Operator’s
compliance with Section 2.14, in which case Registry Operator shall reimburse ICANN for
all reasonable costs and expenses associated with the portion of the audit related to
Registry Operator’s compliance with Section 2.14, or (ii) the audit is related to a
discrepancy in the fees paid by Registry Operator hereunder in excess of 5% in a given
quarter to ICANN’s detriment, in which case Registry Operator shall reimburse ICANN for
all reasonable costs and expenses associated with the entirety of such audit. In either such
case of (i) or (ii) above, such reimbursement will be paid together with the next RegistryLevel Fee payment due following the date of transmittal of the cost statement for such
audit.
(c)
Notwithstanding Section 2.11(a), if Registry Operator is found not to
be in compliance with its representations and warranties contained in Article 1 of this
Agreement or its covenants contained in Article 2 of this Agreement in two consecutive
audits conducted pursuant to this Section 2.11, ICANN may increase the number of such
audits to one per calendar quarter.
(d)
Registry Operator will give ICANN immediate notice of Registry
Operator’s knowledge of the commencement of any of the proceedings referenced in
Section 4.3(d) or the occurrence of any of the matters specified in Section 4.3(f).
2.12 Continued Operations Instrument. Registry Operator shall comply with
the terms and conditions relating to the Continued Operations Instrument set forth in
Specification 8 attached hereto (“Specification 8”).
2.13 Emergency Transition. Registry Operator agrees that, in the event that any
of the emergency thresholds for registry functions set forth in Section 6 of Specification 10
is reached, ICANN may designate an emergency interim registry operator of the registry for
the TLD (an “Emergency Operator”) in accordance with ICANN’s registry transition process
(available at <http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/transition-processes>) (as
the same may be amended from time to time, the “Registry Transition Process”) until such
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time as Registry Operator has demonstrated to ICANN’s reasonable satisfaction that it can
resume operation of the registry for the TLD without the reoccurrence of such failure.
Following such demonstration, Registry Operator may transition back into operation of the
registry for the TLD pursuant to the procedures set out in the Registry Transition Process,
provided that Registry Operator pays all reasonable costs incurred (i) by ICANN as a result
of the designation of the Emergency Operator and (ii) by the Emergency Operator in
connection with the operation of the registry for the TLD, which costs shall be documented
in reasonable detail in records that shall be made available to Registry Operator. In the
event ICANN designates an Emergency Operator pursuant to this Section 2.13 and the
Registry Transition Process, Registry Operator shall provide ICANN or any such Emergency
Operator with all data (including the data escrowed in accordance with Section 2.3)
regarding operations of the registry for the TLD necessary to maintain operations and
registry functions that may be reasonably requested by ICANN or such Emergency
Operator. Registry Operator agrees that ICANN may make any changes it deems necessary
to the IANA database for DNS and WHOIS records with respect to the TLD in the event that
an Emergency Operator is designated pursuant to this Section 2.13. In addition, in the
event of such failure, ICANN shall retain and may enforce its rights under the Continued
Operations Instrument.
2.14 Registry Code of Conduct. In connection with the operation of the registry
for the TLD, Registry Operator shall comply with the Registry Code of Conduct as set forth
in Specification 9 attached hereto (“Specification 9”).
2.15 Cooperation with Economic Studies. If ICANN initiates or commissions an
economic study on the impact or functioning of new generic top-level domains on the
Internet, the DNS or related matters, Registry Operator shall reasonably cooperate with
such study, including by delivering to ICANN or its designee conducting such study all data
related to the operation of the TLD reasonably necessary for the purposes of such study
requested by ICANN or its designee, provided, that Registry Operator may withhold (a) any
internal analyses or evaluations prepared by Registry Operator with respect to such data
and (b) any data to the extent that the delivery of such data would be in violation of
applicable law. Any data delivered to ICANN or its designee pursuant to this Section 2.15
that is appropriately marked as confidential (as required by Section 7.15) shall be treated
as Confidential Information of Registry Operator in accordance with Section 7.15, provided
that, if ICANN aggregates and makes anonymous such data, ICANN or its designee may
disclose such data to any third party. Following completion of an economic study for which
Registry Operator has provided data, ICANN will destroy all data provided by Registry
Operator that has not been aggregated and made anonymous.
2.16 Registry Performance Specifications. Registry Performance Specifications
for operation of the TLD will be as set forth in Specification 10 attached hereto
(“Specification 10”). Registry Operator shall comply with such Performance Specifications
and, for a period of at least one (1) year, shall keep technical and operational records
sufficient to evidence compliance with such specifications for each calendar year during the
Term.
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2.17 Additional Public Interest Commitments. Registry Operator shall comply
with the public interest commitments set forth in Specification 11 attached hereto
(“Specification 11”).
2.18 Personal Data. Registry Operator shall (i) notify each ICANN-accredited
registrar that is a party to the Registry-Registrar Agreement for the TLD of the purposes for
which data about any identified or identifiable natural person (“Personal Data”) submitted
to Registry Operator by such registrar is collected and used under this Agreement or
otherwise and the intended recipients (or categories of recipients) of such Personal Data,
and (ii) require such registrar to obtain the consent of each registrant in the TLD for such
collection and use of Personal Data. Registry Operator shall take reasonable steps to
protect Personal Data collected from such registrar from loss, misuse, unauthorized
disclosure, alteration or destruction. Registry Operator shall not use or authorize the use
of Personal Data in a way that is incompatible with the notice provided to registrars.
2.19 [Note: For Community-Based TLDs Only] Obligations of Registry
Operator to TLD Community. Registry Operator shall establish registration policies in
conformity with the application submitted with respect to the TLD for: (i) naming
conventions within the TLD, (ii) requirements for registration by members of the TLD
community, and (iii) use of registered domain names in conformity with the stated purpose
of the community-based TLD. Registry Operator shall operate the TLD in a manner that
allows the TLD community to discuss and participate in the development and modification
of policies and practices for the TLD. Registry Operator shall establish procedures for the
enforcement of registration policies for the TLD, and resolution of disputes concerning
compliance with TLD registration policies, and shall enforce such registration policies.
Registry Operator agrees to implement and be bound by the Registry Restrictions Dispute
Resolution Procedure as set forth at http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/rrdrp
with respect to disputes arising pursuant to this Section 2.19. Registry Operator shall
implement and comply with the community registration policies set forth on Specification
12 attached hereto.]
ARTICLE 3.
COVENANTS OF ICANN
ICANN covenants and agrees with Registry Operator as follows:
3.1
Open and Transparent. Consistent with ICANN’s expressed mission and
core values, ICANN shall operate in an open and transparent manner.
3.2
Equitable Treatment. ICANN shall not apply standards, policies,
procedures or practices arbitrarily, unjustifiably, or inequitably and shall not single out
Registry Operator for disparate treatment unless justified by substantial and reasonable
cause.
3.3
TLD Nameservers. ICANN will use commercially reasonable efforts to
ensure that any changes to the TLD nameserver designations submitted to ICANN by
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Registry Operator (in a format and with required technical elements specified by ICANN at
http://www.iana.org/domains/root/ will be implemented by ICANN within seven (7)
calendar days or as promptly as feasible following technical verifications.
3.4
Root-zone Information Publication. ICANN’s publication of root-zone
contact information for the TLD will include Registry Operator and its administrative and
technical contacts. Any request to modify the contact information for the Registry Operator
must be made in the format specified from time to time by ICANN at
http://www.iana.org/domains/root/.
3.5
Authoritative Root Database. To the extent that ICANN is authorized to set
policy with regard to an authoritative root server system (the “Authoritative Root Server
System”), ICANN shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) ensure that the
authoritative root will point to the top-level domain nameservers designated by Registry
Operator for the TLD, (b) maintain a stable, secure, and authoritative publicly available
database of relevant information about the TLD, in accordance with ICANN publicly
available policies and procedures, and (c) coordinate the Authoritative Root Server System
so that it is operated and maintained in a stable and secure manner; provided, that ICANN
shall not be in breach of this Agreement and ICANN shall have no liability in the event that
any third party (including any governmental entity or internet service provider) blocks or
restricts access to the TLD in any jurisdiction.
ARTICLE 4.
TERM AND TERMINATION
4.1
Term. The term of this Agreement will be ten (10) years from the Effective
Date (as such term may be extended pursuant to Section 4.2, the “Term”).
4.2

Renewal.

(a)
This Agreement will be renewed for successive periods of ten (10)
years upon the expiration of the initial Term set forth in Section 4.1 and each successive
Term, unless:
(i)
Following notice by ICANN to Registry Operator of a
fundamental and material breach of Registry Operator’s covenants set forth
in Article 2 or breach of its payment obligations under Article 6 of this
Agreement, which notice shall include with specificity the details of the
alleged breach, and such breach has not been cured within thirty (30)
calendar days of such notice, (A) an arbitrator or court of competent
jurisdiction has finally determined that Registry Operator has been in
fundamental and material breach of such covenant(s) or in breach of its
payment obligations, and (B) Registry Operator has failed to comply with
such determination and cure such breach within ten (10) calendar days or
such other time period as may be determined by the arbitrator or court of
competent jurisdiction; or
10
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(ii)
During the then current Term, Registry Operator shall have
been found by an arbitrator (pursuant to Section 5.2 of this Agreement) or a
court of competent jurisdiction on at least three (3) separate occasions to
have been in (A) fundamental and material breach (whether or not cured) of
Registry Operator’s covenants set forth in Article 2 or (B) breach of its
payment obligations under Article 6 of this Agreement.
(b)
Upon the occurrence of the events set forth in Section 4.2(a) (i) or (ii),
the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current Term.
4.3

Termination by ICANN.

(a)
ICANN may, upon notice to Registry Operator, terminate this
Agreement if: (i) Registry Operator fails to cure (A) any fundamental and material breach
of Registry Operator’s representations and warranties set forth in Article 1 or covenants
set forth in Article 2, or (B) any breach of Registry Operator’s payment obligations set forth
in Article 6 of this Agreement, each within thirty (30) calendar days after ICANN gives
Registry Operator notice of such breach, which notice will include with specificity the
details of the alleged breach, (ii) an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction has finally
determined that Registry Operator is in fundamental and material breach of such
covenant(s) or in breach of its payment obligations, and (iii) Registry Operator fails to
comply with such determination and cure such breach within ten (10) calendar days or
such other time period as may be determined by the arbitrator or court of competent
jurisdiction.
(b)
ICANN may, upon notice to Registry Operator, terminate this
Agreement if Registry Operator fails to complete all testing and procedures (identified by
ICANN in writing to Registry Operator prior to the date hereof) for delegation of the TLD
into the root zone within twelve (12) months of the Effective Date. Registry Operator may
request an extension for up to additional twelve (12) months for delegation if it can
demonstrate, to ICANN’s reasonable satisfaction, that Registry Operator is working
diligently and in good faith toward successfully completing the steps necessary for
delegation of the TLD. Any fees paid by Registry Operator to ICANN prior to such
termination date shall be retained by ICANN in full.
(c)
ICANN may, upon notice to Registry Operator, terminate this
Agreement if (i) Registry Operator fails to cure a material breach of Registry Operator’s
obligations set forth in Section 2.12 of this Agreement within thirty (30) calendar days of
delivery of notice of such breach by ICANN, or if the Continued Operations Instrument is
not in effect for greater than sixty (60) consecutive calendar days at any time following the
Effective Date, (ii) an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction has finally determined
that Registry Operator is in material breach of such covenant, and (iii) Registry Operator
fails to cure such breach within ten (10) calendar days or such other time period as may be
determined by the arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction.
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(d)
ICANN may, upon notice to Registry Operator, terminate this
Agreement if (i) Registry Operator makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors or
similar act, (ii) attachment, garnishment or similar proceedings are commenced against
Registry Operator, which proceedings are a material threat to Registry Operator’s ability to
operate the registry for the TLD, and are not dismissed within sixty (60) calendar days of
their commencement, (iii) a trustee, receiver, liquidator or equivalent is appointed in place
of Registry Operator or maintains control over any of Registry Operator’s property, (iv)
execution is levied upon any material property of Registry Operator that, if levied, would
reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect Registry Operator’s ability to
operate the registry for the TLD, (v) proceedings are instituted by or against Registry
Operator under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to the
relief of debtors and such proceedings are not dismissed within sixty (60) calendar days of
their commencement (if such proceedings are instituted by Registry Operator or its
Affiliates) or one hundred and eighty (180) calendar days of their commencement (if such
proceedings are instituted by a third party against Registry Operator), or (vi) Registry
Operator files for protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. Section
101, et seq., or a foreign equivalent or liquidates, dissolves or otherwise discontinues its
operations or the operation of the TLD.
(e)
ICANN may, upon thirty (30) calendar days’ notice to Registry
Operator, terminate this Agreement pursuant to a determination by any PDDRP panel or
RRDRP panel under Section 2 of Specification 7 or a determination by any PICDRP panel
under Section 2, Section 3 or any other applicable Section of Specification 11, subject to
Registry Operator’s right to challenge such termination as set forth in the applicable
procedure described therein.
(f)
ICANN may, upon notice to Registry Operator, terminate this
Agreement if (i) Registry Operator knowingly employs any officer who is convicted of a
misdemeanor related to financial activities or of any felony, or is judged by a court of
competent jurisdiction to have committed fraud or breach of fiduciary duty, or is the
subject of a judicial determination that ICANN reasonably deems as the substantive
equivalent of any of the foregoing and such officer is not terminated within thirty (30)
calendar days of Registry Operator’s knowledge of the foregoing, or (ii) any member of
Registry Operator’s board of directors or similar governing body is convicted of a
misdemeanor related to financial activities or of any felony, or is judged by a court of
competent jurisdiction to have committed fraud or breach of fiduciary duty, or is the
subject of a judicial determination that ICANN reasonably deems as the substantive
equivalent of any of the foregoing and such member is not removed from Registry
Operator’s board of directors or similar governing body within thirty (30) calendar days of
Registry Operator’s knowledge of the foregoing.
(g)
ICANN may, upon thirty (30) calendar days’ notice to Registry
Operator, terminate this Agreement as specified in Section 7.5.
(h)
[Applicable to intergovernmental organizations or governmental
entities only.] ICANN may terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.16.
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4.4

Termination by Registry Operator.

(a)
Registry Operator may terminate this Agreement upon notice to
ICANN if (i) ICANN fails to cure any fundamental and material breach of ICANN’s covenants
set forth in Article 3, within thirty (30) calendar days after Registry Operator gives ICANN
notice of such breach, which notice will include with specificity the details of the alleged
breach, (ii) an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction has finally determined that
ICANN is in fundamental and material breach of such covenants, and (iii) ICANN fails to
comply with such determination and cure such breach within ten (10) calendar days or
such other time period as may be determined by the arbitrator or court of competent
jurisdiction.
(b)
Registry Operator may terminate this Agreement for any reason upon
one hundred eighty (180) calendar day advance notice to ICANN.
4.5
Transition of Registry upon Termination of Agreement. Upon expiration
of the Term pursuant to Section 4.1 or Section 4.2 or any termination of this Agreement
pursuant to Section 4.3 or Section 4.4, Registry Operator shall provide ICANN or any
successor registry operator that may be designated by ICANN for the TLD in accordance
with this Section 4.5 with all data (including the data escrowed in accordance with Section
2.3) regarding operations of the registry for the TLD necessary to maintain operations and
registry functions that may be reasonably requested by ICANN or such successor registry
operator. After consultation with Registry Operator, ICANN shall determine whether or not
to transition operation of the TLD to a successor registry operator in its sole discretion and
in conformance with the Registry Transition Process; provided, however, that (i) ICANN
will take into consideration any intellectual property rights of Registry Operator (as
communicated to ICANN by Registry Operator) in determining whether to transition
operation of the TLD to a successor registry operator and (ii) if Registry Operator
demonstrates to ICANN’s reasonable satisfaction that (A) all domain name registrations in
the TLD are registered to, and maintained by, Registry Operator or its Affiliates for their
exclusive use, (B) Registry Operator does not sell, distribute or transfer control or use of
any registrations in the TLD to any third party that is not an Affiliate of Registry Operator,
and (C) transitioning operation of the TLD is not necessary to protect the public interest,
then ICANN may not transition operation of the TLD to a successor registry operator upon
the expiration or termination of this Agreement without the consent of Registry Operator
(which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). For the avoidance of
doubt, the foregoing sentence shall not prohibit ICANN from delegating the TLD pursuant
to a future application process for the delegation of top-level domains, subject to any
processes and objection procedures instituted by ICANN in connection with such
application process intended to protect the rights of third parties. Registry Operator
agrees that ICANN may make any changes it deems necessary to the IANA database for DNS
and WHOIS records with respect to the TLD in the event of a transition of the TLD pursuant
to this Section 4.5. In addition, ICANN or its designee shall retain and may enforce its rights
under the Continued Operations Instrument for the maintenance and operation of the TLD,
regardless of the reason for termination or expiration of this Agreement.
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[Alternative Section 4.5 Transition of Registry upon Termination of Agreement
text for intergovernmental organizations or governmental entities or other special
circumstances:
“Transition of Registry upon Termination of Agreement. Upon expiration of the
Term pursuant to Section 4.1 or Section 4.2 or any termination of this Agreement pursuant
to Section 4.3 or Section 4.4, in connection with ICANN’s designation of a successor registry
operator for the TLD, Registry Operator and ICANN agree to consult each other and work
cooperatively to facilitate and implement the transition of the TLD in accordance with this
Section 4.5. After consultation with Registry Operator, ICANN shall determine whether or
not to transition operation of the TLD to a successor registry operator in its sole discretion
and in conformance with the Registry Transition Process. In the event ICANN determines
to transition operation of the TLD to a successor registry operator, upon Registry
Operator’s consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed),
Registry Operator shall provide ICANN or such successor registry operator for the TLD
with any data regarding operations of the TLD necessary to maintain operations and
registry functions that may be reasonably requested by ICANN or such successor registry
operator in addition to data escrowed in accordance with Section 2.3 hereof. In the event
that Registry Operator does not consent to provide such data, any registry data related to
the TLD shall be returned to Registry Operator, unless otherwise agreed upon by the
parties. Registry Operator agrees that ICANN may make any changes it deems necessary to
the IANA database for DNS and WHOIS records with respect to the TLD in the event of a
transition of the TLD pursuant to this Section 4.5. In addition, ICANN or its designee shall
retain and may enforce its rights under the Continued Operations Instrument, regardless of
the reason for termination or expiration of this Agreement.”]
4.6
Effect of Termination. Upon any expiration of the Term or termination of
this Agreement, the obligations and rights of the parties hereto shall cease, provided that
such expiration or termination of this Agreement shall not relieve the parties of any
obligation or breach of this Agreement accruing prior to such expiration or termination,
including, without limitation, all accrued payment obligations arising under Article 6. In
addition, Article 5, Article 7, Section 2.12, Section 4.5, and this Section 4.6 shall survive the
expiration or termination of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the rights of
Registry Operator to operate the registry for the TLD shall immediately cease upon any
expiration of the Term or termination of this Agreement.
ARTICLE 5.
DISPUTE RESOLUTION
5.1
Mediation. In the event of any dispute arising under or in connection with
this Agreement, before either party may initiate arbitration pursuant to Section 5.2 below,
ICANN and Registry Operator must attempt to resolve the dispute through mediation in
accordance with the following terms and conditions:
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(a)
A party shall submit a dispute to mediation by written notice to the
other party. The mediation shall be conducted by a single mediator selected by the parties.
If the parties cannot agree on a mediator within fifteen (15) calendar days of delivery of
written notice pursuant to this Section 5.1, the parties will promptly select a mutually
acceptable mediation provider entity, which entity shall, as soon as practicable following
such entity’s selection, designate a mediator, who is a licensed attorney with general
knowledge of contract law, has no ongoing business relationship with either party and, to
the extent necessary to mediate the particular dispute, general knowledge of the domain
name system. Any mediator must confirm in writing that he or she is not, and will not
become during the term of the mediation, an employee, partner, executive officer, director,
or security holder of ICANN or Registry Operator. If such confirmation is not provided by
the appointed mediator, then a replacement mediator shall be appointed pursuant to this
Section 5.1(a).
(b)
The mediator shall conduct the mediation in accordance with the
rules and procedures that he or she determines following consultation with the parties.
The parties shall discuss the dispute in good faith and attempt, with the mediator’s
assistance, to reach an amicable resolution of the dispute. The mediation shall be treated
as a settlement discussion and shall therefore be confidential and may not be used against
either party in any later proceeding relating to the dispute, including any arbitration
pursuant to Section 5.2. The mediator may not testify for either party in any later
proceeding relating to the dispute.
(c)
Each party shall bear its own costs in the mediation. The parties shall
share equally the fees and expenses of the mediator. Each party shall treat information
received from the other party pursuant to the mediation that is appropriately marked as
confidential (as required by Section 7.15) as Confidential Information of such other party in
accordance with Section 7.15.
(d)
If the parties have engaged in good faith participation in the
mediation but have not resolved the dispute for any reason, either party or the mediator
may terminate the mediation at any time and the dispute can then proceed to arbitration
pursuant to Section 5.2 below. If the parties have not resolved the dispute for any reason
by the date that is ninety (90) calendar days following the date of the notice delivered
pursuant to Section 5.1(a), the mediation shall automatically terminate (unless extended by
agreement of the parties) and the dispute can then proceed to arbitration pursuant to
Section 5.2 below.
5.2
Arbitration. Disputes arising under or in connection with this Agreement
that are not resolved pursuant to Section 5.1, including requests for specific performance,
will be resolved through binding arbitration conducted pursuant to the rules of the
International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce (the “ICC”).
The arbitration will be conducted in the English language and will occur in Los Angeles
County, California. Any arbitration will be in front of a single arbitrator, unless (i) ICANN is
seeking punitive or exemplary damages, or operational sanctions, (ii) the parties agree in
writing to a greater number of arbitrators, or (iii) the dispute arises under Section 7.6 or
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7.7. In the case of clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) in the preceding sentence, the arbitration will be in
front of three arbitrators with each party nominating one arbitrator for confirmation by the
ICC and the two selected arbitrators nominating the third arbitrator for confirmation by
the ICC. For an arbitration in front of a sole arbitrator, Registry Operator and ICANN may,
by mutual agreement, nominate the sole arbitrator for confirmation by the ICC. If the
parties fail to nominate a sole arbitrator or, in the case of an arbitration in front of three
arbitrators, either party fails to nominate an arbitrator, in each case within thirty (30)
calendar days from the date when a party’s request for arbitration has been received by the
other party, or within such additional time as may be allowed by the Secretariat of the
Court of the ICC, the arbitrator(s) shall be appointed by the ICC. If any nominated
arbitrator is not confirmed by the ICC, the party or persons that appointed such arbitrator
shall promptly nominate a replacement arbitrator for confirmation by the ICC. In order to
expedite the arbitration and limit its cost, the arbitrator(s) shall establish page limits for
the parties’ filings in conjunction with the arbitration, and should the arbitrator(s)
determine that a hearing is necessary, the hearing shall be limited to one (1) calendar day,
provided that in any arbitration in which ICANN is seeking punitive or exemplary damages,
or operational sanctions, the hearing may be extended for one (1) additional calendar day if
agreed upon by the parties or ordered by the arbitrator(s) based on the arbitrator(s)
independent determination or the reasonable request of one of the parties thereto. The
prevailing party in the arbitration will have the right to recover its costs and reasonable
attorneys’ fees, which the arbitrator(s) shall include in the awards. In the event the
arbitrators determine that Registry Operator has been repeatedly and willfully in
fundamental and material breach of its obligations set forth in Article 2, Article 6 or Section
5.4 of this Agreement, ICANN may request the arbitrators award punitive or exemplary
damages, or operational sanctions (including without limitation an order temporarily
restricting Registry Operator’s right to sell new registrations). Each party shall treat
information received from the other party pursuant to the arbitration that is appropriately
marked as confidential (as required by Section 7.15) as Confidential Information of such
other party in accordance with Section 7.15. In any litigation involving ICANN concerning
this Agreement, jurisdiction and exclusive venue for such litigation will be in a court
located in Los Angeles County, California; however, the parties will also have the right to
enforce a judgment of such a court in any court of competent jurisdiction.
[Alternative Section 5.2 Arbitration text for intergovernmental organizations or
governmental entities or other special circumstances:
“Arbitration. Disputes arising under or in connection with this Agreement that are
not resolved pursuant to Section 5.1, including requests for specific performance, will be
resolved through binding arbitration conducted pursuant to the rules of the International
Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce (the “ICC”). The arbitration
will be conducted in the English language and will occur in Geneva, Switzerland, unless
another location is mutually agreed upon by Registry Operator and ICANN. Any arbitration
will be in front of a single arbitrator, unless (i) ICANN is seeking punitive or exemplary
damages, or operational sanctions, (ii) the parties agree in writing to a greater number of
arbitrators, or (iii) the dispute arises under Section 7.6 or 7.7. In the case of clauses (i), (ii)
or (iii) in the preceding sentence, the arbitration will be in front of three arbitrators with
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each party nominating one arbitrator for confirmation by the ICC and the two selected
arbitrators nominating the third arbitrator for confirmation by the ICC. For an arbitration
in front of a sole arbitrator, Registry Operator and ICANN may, by mutual agreement,
nominate the sole arbitrator for confirmation by the ICC. If the parties fail to nominate a
sole arbitrator or, in the case of an arbitration in front of three arbitrators, either party fails
to nominate an arbitrator, in each case within thirty (30) calendar days from the date when
a party’s request for arbitration has been received by the other party, or within such
additional time as may be allowed by the Secretariat of the Court of the ICC, the
arbitrator(s) shall be appointed by the ICC. If any nominated arbitrator is not confirmed by
the ICC, the party or persons that appointed such arbitrator shall promptly nominate a
replacement arbitrator for confirmation by the ICC. In order to expedite the arbitration
and limit its cost, the arbitrator(s) shall establish page limits for the parties’ filings in
conjunction with the arbitration, and should the arbitrator(s) determine that a hearing is
necessary, the hearing shall be limited to one (1) calendar day, provided that in any
arbitration in which ICANN is seeking punitive or exemplary damages, or operational
sanctions, the hearing may be extended for one (1) additional calendar day if agreed upon
by the parties or ordered by the arbitrator(s) based on the arbitrator(s) independent
determination or the reasonable request of one of the parties thereto. The prevailing party
in the arbitration will have the right to recover its costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees,
which the arbitrator(s) shall include in the awards. In the event the arbitrators determine
that Registry Operator has been repeatedly and willfully in fundamental and material
breach of its obligations set forth in Article 2, Article 6 or Section 5.4 of this Agreement,
ICANN may request the arbitrators award punitive or exemplary damages, or operational
sanctions (including without limitation an order temporarily restricting Registry
Operator’s right to sell new registrations). Each party shall treat information received from
the other party pursuant to the arbitration that is appropriately marked as confidential (as
required by Section 7.15) as Confidential Information of such other party in accordance
with Section 7.15. In any litigation involving ICANN concerning this Agreement,
jurisdiction and exclusive venue for such litigation will be in a court located in Geneva,
Switzerland, unless another location is mutually agreed upon by Registry Operator and
ICANN; however, the parties will also have the right to enforce a judgment of such a court
in any court of competent jurisdiction.”]
5.3
Limitation of Liability. ICANN’s aggregate monetary liability for violations
of this Agreement will not exceed an amount equal to the Registry-Level Fees paid by
Registry Operator to ICANN within the preceding twelve-month period pursuant to this
Agreement (excluding the Variable Registry-Level Fee set forth in Section 6.3, if any).
Registry Operator’s aggregate monetary liability to ICANN for breaches of this Agreement
will be limited to an amount equal to the fees paid to ICANN during the preceding
twelve-month period (excluding the Variable Registry-Level Fee set forth in Section 6.3, if
any), and punitive and exemplary damages, if any, awarded in accordance with Section 5.2,
except with respect to Registry Operator’s indemnification obligations pursuant to Section
7.1 and Section 7.2. In no event shall either party be liable for special, punitive, exemplary
or consequential damages arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the
performance or nonperformance of obligations undertaken in this Agreement, except as
provided in Section 5.2. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, neither party
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makes any warranty, express or implied, with respect to the services rendered by itself, its
servants or agents, or the results obtained from their work, including, without limitation,
any implied warranty of merchantability, non-infringement or fitness for a particular
purpose.
5.4
Specific Performance. Registry Operator and ICANN agree that irreparable
damage could occur if any of the provisions of this Agreement was not performed in
accordance with its specific terms. Accordingly, the parties agree that they each shall be
entitled to seek from the arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction specific performance
of the terms of this Agreement (in addition to any other remedy to which each party is
entitled).
ARTICLE 6.
FEES
6.1

Registry-Level Fees.

(a)
Registry Operator shall pay ICANN a registry-level fee equal to (i) the
registry fixed fee of US$6,250 per calendar quarter and (ii) the registry-level transaction
fee (collectively, the “Registry-Level Fees”). The registry-level transaction fee will be equal
to the number of annual increments of an initial or renewal domain name registration (at
one or more levels, and including renewals associated with transfers from one
ICANN-accredited registrar to another, each a “Transaction”), during the applicable
calendar quarter multiplied by US$0.25; provided, however that the registry-level
transaction fee shall not apply until and unless more than 50,000 Transactions have
occurred in the TLD during any calendar quarter or any consecutive four calendar quarter
period in the aggregate (the “Transaction Threshold”) and shall apply to each Transaction
that occurred during each quarter in which the Transaction Threshold has been met, but
shall not apply to each quarter in which the Transaction Threshold has not been met.
Registry Operator’s obligation to pay the quarterly registry-level fixed fee will begin on the
date on which the TLD is delegated in the DNS to Registry Operator. The first quarterly
payment of the registry-level fixed fee will be prorated based on the number of calendar
days between the delegation date and the end of the calendar quarter in which the
delegation date falls.
(b)
Subject to Section 6.1(a), Registry Operator shall pay the
Registry-Level Fees on a quarterly basis to an account designated by ICANN within thirty
(30) calendar days following the date of the invoice provided by ICANN.
6.2
Cost Recovery for RSTEP. Requests by Registry Operator for the approval
of Additional Services pursuant to Section 2.1 may be referred by ICANN to the Registry
Services Technical Evaluation Panel (“RSTEP”) pursuant to that process at
http://www.icann.org/en/registries/rsep/. In the event that such requests are referred to
RSTEP, Registry Operator shall remit to ICANN the invoiced cost of the RSTEP review
within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of a copy of the RSTEP invoice from ICANN,
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unless ICANN determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, to pay all or any portion of the
invoiced cost of such RSTEP review.
6.3

Variable Registry-Level Fee.

(a)
If the ICANN accredited registrars (accounting, in the aggregate, for
payment of two-thirds of all registrar-level fees (or such portion of ICANN accredited
registrars necessary to approve variable accreditation fees under the then-current
registrar accreditation agreement), do not approve, pursuant to the terms of their registrar
accreditation agreements with ICANN, the variable accreditation fees established by the
ICANN Board of Directors for any ICANN fiscal year, upon delivery of notice from ICANN,
Registry Operator shall pay to ICANN a variable registry-level fee, which shall be paid on a
fiscal quarter basis, and shall accrue as of the beginning of the first fiscal quarter of such
ICANN fiscal year (the “Variable Registry-Level Fee”). The fee will be calculated and
invoiced by ICANN on a quarterly basis, and shall be paid by Registry Operator within sixty
(60) calendar days with respect to the first quarter of such ICANN fiscal year and within
twenty (20) calendar days with respect to each remaining quarter of such ICANN fiscal
year, of receipt of the invoiced amount by ICANN. The Registry Operator may invoice and
collect the Variable Registry-Level Fees from the registrars that are party to a
Registry-Registrar Agreement with Registry Operator (which agreement may specifically
provide for the reimbursement of Variable Registry-Level Fees paid by Registry Operator
pursuant to this Section 6.3); provided, that the fees shall be invoiced to all ICANN
accredited registrars if invoiced to any. The Variable Registry-Level Fee, if collectible by
ICANN, shall be an obligation of Registry Operator and shall be due and payable as
provided in this Section 6.3 irrespective of Registry Operator’s ability to seek and obtain
reimbursement of such fee from registrars. In the event ICANN later collects variable
accreditation fees for which Registry Operator has paid ICANN a Variable Registry-Level
Fee, ICANN shall reimburse the Registry Operator an appropriate amount of the Variable
Registry-Level Fee, as reasonably determined by ICANN. If the ICANN accredited registrars
(as a group) do approve, pursuant to the terms of their registrar accreditation agreements
with ICANN, the variable accreditation fees established by the ICANN Board of Directors for
a fiscal year, ICANN shall not be entitled to a Variable-Level Fee hereunder for such fiscal
year, irrespective of whether the ICANN accredited registrars comply with their payment
obligations to ICANN during such fiscal year.
(b)
The amount of the Variable Registry-Level Fee will be specified for
each registrar, and may include both a per-registrar component and a transactional
component. The per-registrar component of the Variable Registry-Level Fee shall be
specified by ICANN in accordance with the budget adopted by the ICANN Board of
Directors for each ICANN fiscal year. The transactional component of the Variable
Registry-Level Fee shall be specified by ICANN in accordance with the budget adopted by
the ICANN Board of Directors for each ICANN fiscal year but shall not exceed US$0.25 per
domain name registration (including renewals associated with transfers from one ICANN
accredited registrar to another) per year.

19

RE-7
6.4
Pass Through Fees. Registry Operator shall pay to ICANN (i) a one-time fee
equal to US$5,000 for access to and use of the Trademark Clearinghouse as described in
Specification 7 (the “RPM Access Fee”) and (ii) US$0.25 per Sunrise Registration and Claims
Registration (as such terms are used in Trademark Clearinghouse RPMs incorporated
herein pursuant to Specification 7) (the “RPM Registration Fee”). The RPM Access Fee will
be invoiced as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, and Registry Operator shall pay such
fee to an account specified by ICANN within thirty (30) calendar days following the date of
the invoice. ICANN will invoice Registry Operator quarterly for the RPM Registration Fee,
which shall be due in accordance with the invoicing and payment procedure specified in
Section 6.1.
6.5
Adjustments to Fees. Notwithstanding any of the fee limitations set forth in
this Article 6, commencing upon the expiration of the first year of this Agreement, and upon
the expiration of each year thereafter during the Term, the then-current fees set forth in
Section 6.1 and Section 6.3 may be adjusted, at ICANN’s discretion, by a percentage equal to
the percentage change, if any, in (i) the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers, U.S.
City Average (1982-1984 = 100) published by the United States Department of Labor,
Bureau of Labor Statistics, or any successor index (the “CPI”) for the month which is one
(1) month prior to the commencement of the applicable year, over (ii) the CPI published for
the month which is one (1) month prior to the commencement of the immediately prior
year. In the event of any such increase, ICANN shall provide notice to Registry Operator
specifying the amount of such adjustment. Any fee adjustment under this Section 6.5 shall
be effective as of the first day of the first calendar quarter following at least thirty (30) days
after ICANN’s delivery to Registry Operator of such fee adjustment notice.
6.6
Additional Fee on Late Payments. For any payments thirty (30) calendar
days or more overdue under this Agreement, Registry Operator shall pay an additional fee
on late payments at the rate of 1.5% per month or, if less, the maximum rate permitted by
applicable law.
6.7
Fee Reduction Waiver. In ICANN’s sole discretion, ICANN may reduce the
amount of registry fees payable hereunder by Registry Operator for any period of time
(“Fee Reduction Waiver”). Any such Fee Reduction Waiver may, as determined by ICANN
in its sole discretion, be (a) limited in duration and (b) conditioned upon Registry
Operator’s acceptance of the terms and conditions set forth in such waiver. A Fee
Reduction Waiver shall not be effective unless executed in writing by ICANN as
contemplated by Section 7.6(i). ICANN will provide notice of any Fee Reduction Waiver to
Registry Operator in accordance with Section 7.9.
ARTICLE 7.
MISCELLANEOUS
7.1

Indemnification of ICANN.
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(a)
Registry Operator shall indemnify and defend ICANN and its directors,
officers, employees, and agents (collectively, “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all
third-party claims, damages, liabilities, costs, and expenses, including reasonable legal fees
and expenses, arising out of or relating to intellectual property ownership rights with
respect to the TLD, the delegation of the TLD to Registry Operator, Registry Operator’s
operation of the registry for the TLD or Registry Operator’s provision of Registry Services,
provided that Registry Operator shall not be obligated to indemnify or defend any
Indemnitee to the extent the claim, damage, liability, cost or expense arose: (i) due to the
actions or omissions of ICANN, its subcontractors, panelists or evaluators specifically
related to and occurring during the registry TLD application process (other than actions or
omissions requested by or for the benefit of Registry Operator), or (ii) due to a breach by
ICANN of any obligation contained in this Agreement or any willful misconduct by ICANN.
This Section shall not be deemed to require Registry Operator to reimburse or otherwise
indemnify ICANN for costs associated with the negotiation or execution of this Agreement,
or with monitoring or management of the parties’ respective obligations hereunder.
Further, this Section shall not apply to any request for attorney’s fees in connection with
any litigation or arbitration between or among the parties, which shall be governed by
Article 5 or otherwise awarded by a court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator.
[Alternative Section 7.1(a) text for intergovernmental organizations or
governmental entities:
“Registry Operator shall use its best efforts to cooperate with ICANN in order to
ensure that ICANN does not incur any costs associated with claims, damages, liabilities,
costs and expenses, including reasonable legal fees and expenses, arising out of or relating
to intellectual property ownership rights with respect to the TLD, the delegation of the TLD
to Registry Operator, Registry Operator’s operation of the registry for the TLD or Registry
Operator’s provision of Registry Services, provided that Registry Operator shall not be
obligated to provide such cooperation to the extent the claim, damage, liability, cost or
expense arose due to a breach by ICANN of any of its obligations contained in this
Agreement or any willful misconduct by ICANN. This Section shall not be deemed to
require Registry Operator to reimburse or otherwise indemnify ICANN for costs associated
with the negotiation or execution of this Agreement, or with monitoring or management of
the parties’ respective obligations hereunder. Further, this Section shall not apply to any
request for attorney’s fees in connection with any litigation or arbitration between or
among the parties, which shall be governed by Article 5 or otherwise awarded by a court of
competent jurisdiction or arbitrator.”]
(b)
For any claims by ICANN for indemnification whereby multiple
registry operators (including Registry Operator) have engaged in the same actions or
omissions that gave rise to the claim, Registry Operator’s aggregate liability to indemnify
ICANN with respect to such claim shall be limited to a percentage of ICANN’s total claim,
calculated by dividing the number of total domain names under registration with Registry
Operator within the TLD (which names under registration shall be calculated consistently
with Article 6 hereof for any applicable quarter) by the total number of domain names
under registration within all top level domains for which the registry operators thereof are
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engaging in the same acts or omissions giving rise to such claim. For the purposes of
reducing Registry Operator’s liability under Section 7.1(a) pursuant to this Section 7.1(b),
Registry Operator shall have the burden of identifying the other registry operators that are
engaged in the same actions or omissions that gave rise to the claim, and demonstrating, to
ICANN’s reasonable satisfaction, such other registry operators’ culpability for such actions
or omissions. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that a registry operator is engaged in
the same acts or omissions giving rise to the claims, but such registry operator(s) do not
have the same or similar indemnification obligations to ICANN as set forth in Section 7.1(a)
above, the number of domains under management by such registry operator(s) shall
nonetheless be included in the calculation in the preceding sentence. [Note: This Section
7.1(b) is inapplicable to intergovernmental organizations or governmental entities.]
7.2
Indemnification Procedures. If any third-party claim is commenced that is
indemnified under Section 7.1 above, ICANN shall provide notice thereof to Registry
Operator as promptly as practicable. Registry Operator shall be entitled, if it so elects, in a
notice promptly delivered to ICANN, to immediately take control of the defense and
investigation of such claim and to employ and engage attorneys reasonably acceptable to
ICANN to handle and defend the same, at Registry Operator’s sole cost and expense,
provided that in all events ICANN will be entitled to control at its sole cost and expense the
litigation of issues concerning the validity or interpretation of ICANN’s policies, Bylaws or
conduct. ICANN shall cooperate, at Registry Operator’s cost and expense, in all reasonable
respects with Registry Operator and its attorneys in the investigation, trial, and defense of
such claim and any appeal arising therefrom, and may, at its own cost and expense,
participate, through its attorneys or otherwise, in such investigation, trial and defense of
such claim and any appeal arising therefrom. No settlement of a claim that involves a
remedy affecting ICANN other than the payment of money in an amount that is fully
indemnified by Registry Operator will be entered into without the consent of ICANN. If
Registry Operator does not assume full control over the defense of a claim subject to such
defense in accordance with this Section 7.2, ICANN will have the right to defend the claim in
such manner as it may deem appropriate, at the cost and expense of Registry Operator and
Registry Operator shall cooperate in such defense. [Note: This Section 7.2 is inapplicable
to intergovernmental organizations or governmental entities.]
7.3
Defined Terms. For purposes of this Agreement, unless such definitions are
amended pursuant to a Consensus Policy at a future date, in which case the following
definitions shall be deemed amended and restated in their entirety as set forth in such
Consensus Policy, Security and Stability shall be defined as follows:
(a)
For the purposes of this Agreement, an effect on “Security” shall mean
(1) the unauthorized disclosure, alteration, insertion or destruction of registry data, or (2)
the unauthorized access to or disclosure of information or resources on the Internet by
systems operating in accordance with all applicable standards.
(b)
For purposes of this Agreement, an effect on “Stability” shall refer to
(1) lack of compliance with applicable relevant standards that are authoritative and
published by a well-established and recognized Internet standards body, such as the
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relevant Standards-Track or Best Current Practice Requests for Comments (“RFCs”)
sponsored by the Internet Engineering Task Force; or (2) the creation of a condition that
adversely affects the throughput, response time, consistency or coherence of responses to
Internet servers or end systems operating in accordance with applicable relevant
standards that are authoritative and published by a well-established and recognized
Internet standards body, such as the relevant Standards-Track or Best Current Practice
RFCs, and relying on Registry Operator’s delegated information or provisioning of services.
7.4
No Offset. All payments due under this Agreement will be made in a timely
manner throughout the Term and notwithstanding the pendency of any dispute (monetary
or otherwise) between Registry Operator and ICANN.
7.5
Change of Control; Assignment and Subcontracting. Except as set forth in
this Section 7.5, neither party may assign any of its rights and obligations under this
Agreement without the prior written approval of the other party, which approval will not
be unreasonably withheld. For purposes of this Section 7.5, a direct or indirect change of
control of Registry Operator or any subcontracting arrangement that relates to any Critical
Function (as identified in Section 6 of Specification 10) for the TLD (a “Material
Subcontracting Arrangement”) shall be deemed an assignment.
(a)
Registry Operator must provide no less than thirty (30) calendar days
advance notice to ICANN of any assignment or Material Subcontracting Arrangement, and
any agreement to assign or subcontract any portion of the operations of the TLD (whether
or not a Material Subcontracting Arrangement) must mandate compliance with all
covenants, obligations and agreements by Registry Operator hereunder, and Registry
Operator shall continue to be bound by such covenants, obligations and agreements.
Registry Operator must also provide no less than thirty (30) calendar days advance notice
to ICANN prior to the consummation of any transaction anticipated to result in a direct or
indirect change of control of Registry Operator.
(b)
Within thirty (30) calendar days of either such notification pursuant
to Section 7.5(a), ICANN may request additional information from Registry Operator
establishing (i) compliance with this Agreement and (ii) that the party acquiring such
control or entering into such assignment or Material Subcontracting Arrangement (in any
case, the “Contracting Party”) and the ultimate parent entity of the Contracting Party meets
the ICANN-adopted specification or policy on registry operator criteria then in effect
(including with respect to financial resources and operational and technical capabilities), in
which case Registry Operator must supply the requested information within fifteen (15)
calendar days.
(c)
Registry Operator agrees that ICANN’s consent to any assignment,
change of control or Material Subcontracting Arrangement will also be subject to
background checks on any proposed Contracting Party (and such Contracting Party’s
Affiliates).
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(d)
If ICANN fails to expressly provide or withhold its consent to any
assignment, direct or indirect change of control of Registry Operator or any Material
Subcontracting Arrangement within thirty (30) calendar days of ICANN’s receipt of notice
of such transaction (or, if ICANN has requested additional information from Registry
Operator as set forth above, thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of all requested written
information regarding such transaction) from Registry Operator, ICANN shall be deemed to
have consented to such transaction.
(e)
In connection with any such assignment, change of control or Material
Subcontracting Arrangement, Registry Operator shall comply with the Registry Transition
Process.
(f)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) any consummated change of
control shall not be voidable by ICANN; provided, however, that, if ICANN reasonably
determines to withhold its consent to such transaction, ICANN may terminate this
Agreement pursuant to Section 4.3(g), (ii) ICANN may assign this Agreement without the
consent of Registry Operator upon approval of the ICANN Board of Directors in conjunction
with a reorganization, reconstitution or re-incorporation of ICANN upon such assignee’s
express assumption of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (iii) Registry Operator
may assign this Agreement without the consent of ICANN directly to an Affiliated Assignee,
as that term is defined herein below, upon such Affiliated Assignee’s express written
assumption of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and (iv) ICANN shall be deemed
to have consented to any assignment, Material Subcontracting Arrangement or change of
control transaction in which the Contracting Party is an existing operator of a generic
top-level domain pursuant to a registry agreement between such Contracting Party and
ICANN (provided that such Contracting Party is then in compliance with the terms and
conditions of such registry agreement in all material respects), unless ICANN provides to
Registry Operator a written objection to such transaction within ten (10) calendar days of
ICANN’s receipt of notice of such transaction pursuant to this Section 7.5. Notwithstanding
Section 7.5(a), in the event an assignment is made pursuant to clauses (ii) or (iii) of this
Section 7.5(f), the assigning party will provide the other party with prompt notice following
any such assignment. For the purposes of this Section 7.5(f), (A) “Affiliated Assignee”
means a person or entity that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries,
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the person or entity specified,
and (B) “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”)
shall have the same meaning specified in Section 2.9(c) of this Agreement.
7.6

Amendments and Waivers.

(a)
If the ICANN Board of Directors determines that an amendment to this
Agreement (including to the Specifications referred to herein) and all other registry
agreements between ICANN and the Applicable Registry Operators (the “Applicable
Registry Agreements”) is desirable (each, a “Special Amendment”), ICANN may adopt a
Special Amendment pursuant to the requirements of and process set forth in this Section
7.6; provided that a Special Amendment may not be a Restricted Amendment.
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(b)
Prior to submitting a Special Amendment for Registry Operator
Approval, ICANN shall first consult in good faith with the Working Group regarding the
form and substance of such Special Amendment. The duration of such consultation shall be
reasonably determined by ICANN based on the substance of the Special Amendment.
Following such consultation, ICANN may propose the adoption of a Special Amendment by
publicly posting such amendment on its website for no less than thirty (30) calendar days
(the “Posting Period”) and providing notice of such proposed amendment to the Applicable
Registry Operators in accordance with Section 7.9. ICANN will consider the public
comments submitted on a Special Amendment during the Posting Period (including
comments submitted by the Applicable Registry Operators).
(c)
If, within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days following the
expiration of the Posting Period (the “Approval Period”), the ICANN Board of Directors
approves a Special Amendment (which may be in a form different than submitted for public
comment, but must address the subject matter of the Special Amendment posted for public
comment, as modified to reflect and/or address input from the Working Group and public
comments), ICANN shall provide notice of, and submit, such Special Amendment for
approval or disapproval by the Applicable Registry Operators. If, during the sixty (60)
calendar day period following the date ICANN provides such notice to the Applicable
Registry Operators, such Special Amendment receives Registry Operator Approval, such
Special Amendment shall be deemed approved (an “Approved Amendment”) by the
Applicable Registry Operators, and shall be effective and deemed an amendment to this
Agreement on the date that is sixty (60) calendar days following the date ICANN provided
notice of the approval of such Approved Amendment to Registry Operator (the
“Amendment Effective Date”). In the event that a Special Amendment does not receive
Registry Operator Approval, the Special Amendment shall be deemed not approved by the
Applicable Registry Operators (a “Rejected Amendment”). A Rejected Amendment will
have no effect on the terms and conditions of this Agreement, except as set forth below.
(d)
If the ICANN Board of Directors reasonably determines that a Rejected
Amendment falls within the subject matter categories set forth in Section 1.2 of
Specification 1, the ICANN Board of Directors may adopt a resolution (the date such
resolution is adopted is referred to herein as the “Resolution Adoption Date”) requesting an
Issue Report (as such term is defined in ICANN’s Bylaws) by the Generic Names Supporting
Organization (the “GNSO”) regarding the substance of such Rejected Amendment. The
policy development process undertaken by the GNSO pursuant to such requested Issue
Report is referred to herein as a “PDP.” If such PDP results in a Final Report supported by a
GNSO Supermajority (as defined in ICANN’s Bylaws) that either (i) recommends adoption
of the Rejected Amendment as Consensus Policy or (ii) recommends against adoption of
the Rejected Amendment as Consensus Policy, and, in the case of (i) above, the Board
adopts such Consensus Policy, Registry Operator shall comply with its obligations pursuant
to Section 2.2 of this Agreement. In either case, ICANN will abandon the Rejected
Amendment and it will have no effect on the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 7.6(d), the ICANN Board of
Directors shall not be required to initiate a PDP with respect to a Rejected Amendment if, at
any time in the twelve (12) month period preceding the submission of such Rejected
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Amendment for Registry Operator Approval pursuant to Section 7.6(c), the subject matter
of such Rejected Amendment was the subject of a concluded or otherwise abandoned or
terminated PDP that did not result in a GNSO Supermajority recommendation.
(e)
If (a) a Rejected Amendment does not fall within the subject matter
categories set forth in Section 1.2 of Specification 1, (b) the subject matter of a Rejected
Amendment was, at any time in the twelve (12) month period preceding the submission of
such Rejected Amendment for Registry Operator Approval pursuant to Section 7.6(c), the
subject of a concluded or otherwise abandoned or terminated PDP that did not result in a
GNSO Supermajority recommendation, or (c) a PDP does not result in a Final Report
supported by a GNSO Supermajority that either (A) recommends adoption of the Rejected
Amendment as Consensus Policy or (B) recommends against adoption of the Rejected
Amendment as Consensus Policy (or such PDP has otherwise been abandoned or
terminated for any reason), then, in any such case, such Rejected Amendment may still be
adopted and become effective in the manner described below. In order for the Rejected
Amendment to be adopted, the following requirements must be satisfied:
(i)
the subject matter of the Rejected Amendment must be within
the scope of ICANN’s mission and consistent with a balanced application of
its core values (as described in ICANN’s Bylaws);
(ii)
the Rejected Amendment must be justified by a Substantial and
Compelling Reason in the Public Interest, must be likely to promote such
interest, taking into account competing public and private interests that are
likely to be affected by the Rejected Amendment, and must be narrowly
tailored and no broader than reasonably necessary to address such
Substantial and Compelling Reason in the Public Interest;
(iii)
to the extent the Rejected Amendment prohibits or requires
conduct or activities, imposes material costs on the Applicable Registry
Operators, and/or materially reduces public access to domain name services,
the Rejected Amendment must be the least restrictive means reasonably
available to address the Substantial and Compelling Reason in the Public
Interest;
(iv)
the ICANN Board of Directors must submit the Rejected
Amendment, along with a written explanation of the reasoning related to its
determination that the Rejected Amendment meets the requirements set out
in subclauses (i) through (iii) above, for public comment for a period of no
less than thirty (30) calendar days; and
(v)
following such public comment period, the ICANN Board of
Directors must (a) engage in consultation (or direct ICANN management to
engage in consultation) with the Working Group, subject matter experts,
members of the GNSO, relevant advisory committees and other interested
stakeholders with respect to such Rejected Amendment for a period of no
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less than sixty (60) calendar days; and (b) following such consultation,
reapprove the Rejected Amendment (which may be in a form different than
submitted for Registry Operator Approval, but must address the subject
matter of the Rejected Amendment, as modified to reflect and/or address
input from the Working Group and public comments) by the affirmative vote
of at least two-thirds of the members of the ICANN Board of Directors eligible
to vote on such matter, taking into account any ICANN policy affecting such
eligibility, including ICANN’s Conflict of Interest Policy (a “Board
Amendment”).
Such Board Amendment shall, subject to Section 7.6(f), be deemed an Approved
Amendment, and shall be effective and deemed an amendment to this Agreement on the
date that is sixty (60) calendar days following the date ICANN provided notice of the
approval of such Board Amendment to Registry Operator (which effective date shall be
deemed the Amendment Effective Date hereunder). Notwithstanding the foregoing, a
Board Amendment may not amend the registry fees charged by ICANN hereunder, or
amend this Section 7.6.
(f)
Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.6(e), a Board Amendment
shall not be deemed an Approved Amendment if, during the thirty (30) calendar day period
following the approval by the ICANN Board of Directors of the Board Amendment, the
Working Group, on the behalf of the Applicable Registry Operators, submits to the ICANN
Board of Directors an alternative to the Board Amendment (an “Alternative Amendment”)
that meets the following requirements:
(i)
sets forth the precise text proposed by the Working Group to
amend this Agreement in lieu of the Board Amendment;
(ii)
addresses the Substantial and Compelling Reason in the Public
Interest identified by the ICANN Board of Directors as the justification for the
Board Amendment; and
(iii)
compared to the Board Amendment is: (a) more narrowly
tailored to address such Substantial and Compelling Reason in the Public
Interest, and (b) to the extent the Alternative Amendment prohibits or
requires conduct or activities, imposes material costs on Affected Registry
Operators, or materially reduces access to domain name services, is a less
restrictive means to address the Substantial and Compelling Reason in the
Public Interest.
Any proposed amendment that does not meet the requirements of subclauses (i) through
(iii) in the immediately preceding sentence shall not be considered an Alternative
Amendment hereunder and therefore shall not supersede or delay the effectiveness of the
Board Amendment. If, following the submission of the Alternative Amendment to the
ICANN Board of Directors, the Alternative Amendment receives Registry Operator
Approval, the Alternative Amendment shall supersede the Board Amendment and shall be
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deemed an Approved Amendment hereunder (and shall be effective and deemed an
amendment to this Agreement on the date that is sixty (60) calendar days following the
date ICANN provided notice of the approval of such Alternative Amendment to Registry
Operator, which effective date shall deemed the Amendment Effective Date hereunder),
unless, within a period of sixty (60) calendar days following the date that the Working
Group notifies the ICANN Board of Directors of Registry Operator Approval of such
Alternative Amendment (during which time ICANN shall engage with the Working Group
with respect to the Alternative Amendment), the ICANN Board of Directors by the
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the members of the ICANN Board of Directors
eligible to vote on such matter, taking into account any ICANN policy affecting such
eligibility, including ICANN’s Conflict of Interest Policy, rejects the Alternative Amendment.
If (A) the Alternative Amendment does not receive Registry Operator Approval within
thirty (30) calendar days of submission of such Alternative Amendment to the Applicable
Registry Operators (and the Working Group shall notify ICANN of the date of such
submission), or (B) the ICANN Board of Directors rejects the Alternative Amendment by
such two-thirds vote, the Board Amendment (and not the Alternative Amendment) shall be
effective and deemed an amendment to this Agreement on the date that is sixty (60)
calendar days following the date ICANN provided notice to Registry Operator (which
effective date shall deemed the Amendment Effective Date hereunder). If the ICANN Board
of Directors rejects an Alternative Amendment, the board shall publish a written rationale
setting forth its analysis of the criteria set forth in Sections 7.6(f)(i) through 7.6(f)(iii). The
ability of the ICANN Board of Directors to reject an Alternative Amendment hereunder does
not relieve the Board of the obligation to ensure that any Board Amendment meets the
criteria set forth in Section 7.6(e)(i) through 7.6(e)(v).
(g)
In the event that Registry Operator believes an Approved Amendment
does not meet the substantive requirements set out in this Section 7.6 or has been adopted
in contravention of any of the procedural provisions of this Section 7.6, Registry Operator
may challenge the adoption of such Special Amendment pursuant to the dispute resolution
provisions set forth in Article 5, except that such arbitration shall be conducted by a
three-person arbitration panel. Any such challenge must be brought within sixty (60)
calendar days following the date ICANN provided notice to Registry Operator of the
Approved Amendment, and ICANN may consolidate all challenges brought by registry
operators (including Registry Operator) into a single proceeding. The Approved
Amendment will be deemed not to have amended this Agreement during the pendency of
the dispute resolution process.
(h)
Registry Operator may apply in writing to ICANN for an exemption
from the Approved Amendment (each such request submitted by Registry Operator
hereunder, an “Exemption Request”) during the thirty (30) calendar day period following
the date ICANN provided notice to Registry Operator of such Approved Amendment. Each
Exemption Request will set forth the basis for such request and provide detailed support
for an exemption from the Approved Amendment. An Exemption Request may also include
a detailed description and support for any alternatives to, or a variation of, the Approved
Amendment proposed by such Registry Operator. An Exemption Request may only be
granted upon a clear and convincing showing by Registry Operator that compliance with
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the Approved Amendment conflicts with applicable laws or would have a material adverse
effect on the long-term financial condition or results of operations of Registry Operator. No
Exemption Request will be granted if ICANN determines, in its reasonable discretion, that
granting such Exemption Request would be materially harmful to registrants or result in
the denial of a direct benefit to registrants. Within ninety (90) calendar days of ICANN’s
receipt of an Exemption Request, ICANN shall either approve (which approval may be
conditioned or consist of alternatives to or a variation of the Approved Amendment) or
deny the Exemption Request in writing, during which time the Approved Amendment will
not amend this Agreement. If the Exemption Request is approved by ICANN, the Approved
Amendment will not amend this Agreement; provided, that any conditions, alternatives or
variations of the Approved Amendment required by ICANN shall be effective and, to the
extent applicable, will amend this Agreement as of the Amendment Effective Date. If such
Exemption Request is denied by ICANN, the Approved Amendment will amend this
Agreement as of the Amendment Effective Date (or, if such date has passed, such Approved
Amendment shall be deemed effective immediately on the date of such denial), provided
that Registry Operator may, within thirty (30) calendar days following receipt of ICANN’s
determination, appeal ICANN’s decision to deny the Exemption Request pursuant to the
dispute resolution procedures set forth in Article 5. The Approved Amendment will be
deemed not to have amended this Agreement during the pendency of the dispute
resolution process. For avoidance of doubt, only Exemption Requests submitted by
Registry Operator that are approved by ICANN pursuant to this Section 7.6(j), agreed to by
ICANN following mediation pursuant to Section 5.1 or through an arbitration decision
pursuant to Section 5.2 shall exempt Registry Operator from any Approved Amendment,
and no Exemption Request granted to any other Applicable Registry Operator (whether by
ICANN or through arbitration) shall have any effect under this Agreement or exempt
Registry Operator from any Approved Amendment.
(i)
Except as set forth in this Section 7.6, Section 7.7 and as otherwise set
forth in this Agreement and the Specifications hereto, no amendment, supplement or
modification of this Agreement or any provision hereof shall be binding unless executed in
writing by both parties, and nothing in this Section 7.6 or Section 7.7 shall restrict ICANN
and Registry Operator from entering into bilateral amendments and modifications to this
Agreement negotiated solely between the two parties. No waiver of any provision of this
Agreement shall be binding unless evidenced by a writing signed by the party waiving
compliance with such provision. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement or
failure to enforce any of the provisions hereof shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver
of any other provision hereof, nor shall any such waiver constitute a continuing waiver
unless otherwise expressly provided. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Sections
7.6 or 7.7 shall be deemed to limit Registry Operator’s obligation to comply with Section
2.2.
(j)
For purposes of this Section 7.6, the following terms shall have the
following meanings:
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(i)
“Applicable Registry Operators” means, collectively, the
registry operators of top-level domains party to a registry agreement that
contains a provision similar to this Section 7.6, including Registry Operator.
(ii)
“Registry Operator Approval” means the receipt of each of the
following: (A) the affirmative approval of the Applicable Registry Operators
whose payments to ICANN accounted for two-thirds of the total amount of
fees (converted to U.S. dollars, if applicable, at the prevailing exchange rate
published the prior day in the U.S. Edition of the Wall Street Journal for the
date such calculation is made by ICANN) paid to ICANN by all the Applicable
Registry Operators during the immediately previous calendar year pursuant
to the Applicable Registry Agreements, and (B) the affirmative approval of a
majority of the Applicable Registry Operators at the time such approval is
obtained. For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to clause (B), each
Applicable Registry Operator shall have one vote for each top-level domain
operated by such Registry Operator pursuant to an Applicable Registry
Agreement.
(iii)
“Restricted Amendment” means the following: (A) an
amendment of Specification 1, (B) except to the extent addressed in Section
2.10 hereof, an amendment that specifies the price charged by Registry
Operator to registrars for domain name registrations, (C) an amendment to
the definition of Registry Services as set forth in the first paragraph of
Section 2.1 of Specification 6, or (D) an amendment to the length of the Term.
(iv)
“Substantial and Compelling Reason in the Public Interest”
means a reason that is justified by an important, specific, and articulated
public interest goal that is within ICANN's mission and consistent with a
balanced application of ICANN's core values as defined in ICANN's Bylaws.
(v)
“Working Group” means representatives of the Applicable
Registry Operators and other members of the community that the Registry
Stakeholders Group appoints, from time to time, to serve as a working group
to consult on amendments to the Applicable Registry Agreements (excluding
bilateral amendments pursuant to Section 7.6(i)).
(k)
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 7.6 to the contrary, (i) if
Registry Operator provides evidence to ICANN's reasonable satisfaction that the Approved
Amendment would materially increase the cost of providing Registry Services, then ICANN
will allow up to one-hundred eighty (180) calendar days for Approved Amendment to
become effective with respect to Registry Operator, and (ii) no Approved Amendment
adopted pursuant to Section 7.6 shall become effective with respect to Registry Operator if
Registry Operator provides ICANN with an irrevocable notice of termination pursuant to
Section 4.4(b).
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7.7

Negotiation Process.

(a)
If either the Chief Executive Officer of ICANN (“CEO”) or the
Chairperson of the Registry Stakeholder Group (“Chair”) desires to discuss any revision(s)
to this Agreement, the CEO or Chair, as applicable, shall provide written notice to the other
person, which shall set forth in reasonable detail the proposed revisions to this Agreement
(a “Negotiation Notice”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the CEO nor the Chair may
(i) propose revisions to this Agreement that modify any Consensus Policy then existing, (ii)
propose revisions to this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.7 on or before June 30,
2014, or (iii) propose revisions or submit a Negotiation Notice more than once during any
twelve (12) month period beginning on July 1, 2014.
(b)
Following receipt of the Negotiation Notice by either the CEO or the
Chair, ICANN and the Working Group (as defined in Section 7.6) shall consult in good faith
negotiations regarding the form and substance of the proposed revisions to this
Agreement, which shall be in the form of a proposed amendment to this Agreement (the
“Proposed Revisions”), for a period of at least ninety (90) calendar days (unless a
resolution is earlier reached) and attempt to reach a mutually acceptable agreement
relating to the Proposed Revisions (the “Discussion Period”).
(c)
If, following the conclusion of the Discussion Period, an agreement is
reached on the Proposed Revisions, ICANN shall post the mutually agreed Proposed
Revisions on its website for public comment for no less than thirty (30) calendar days (the
“Posting Period”) and provide notice of such revisions to all Applicable Registry Operators
in accordance with Section 7.9. ICANN and the Working Group will consider the public
comments submitted on the Proposed Revisions during the Posting Period (including
comments submitted by the Applicable Registry Operators). Following the conclusion of
the Posting Period, the Proposed Revisions shall be submitted for Registry Operator
Approval (as defined in Section 7.6) and approval by the ICANN Board of Directors. If such
approvals are obtained, the Proposed Revisions shall be deemed an Approved Amendment
(as defined in Section 7.6) by the Applicable Registry Operators and ICANN, and shall be
effective and deemed an amendment to this Agreement upon sixty (60) calendar days
notice from ICANN to Registry Operator.
(d)
If, following the conclusion of the Discussion Period, an agreement is
not reached between ICANN and the Working Group on the Proposed Revisions, either the
CEO or the Chair may provide the other person written notice (the “Mediation Notice”)
requiring each party to attempt to resolve the disagreements related to the Proposed
Revisions through impartial, facilitative (non-evaluative) mediation in accordance with the
terms and conditions set forth below. In the event that a Mediation Notice is provided,
ICANN and the Working Group shall, within fifteen (15) calendar days thereof,
simultaneously post the text of their desired version of the Proposed Revisions and a
position paper with respect thereto on ICANN’s website.
(i)
The mediation shall be conducted by a single mediator selected
by the parties. If the parties cannot agree on a mediator within fifteen (15)
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calendar days following receipt by the CEO or Chair, as applicable, of the
Mediation Notice, the parties will promptly select a mutually acceptable
mediation provider entity, which entity shall, as soon as practicable following
such entity’s selection, designate a mediator, who is a licensed attorney with
general knowledge of contract law, who has no ongoing business relationship
with either party and, to the extent necessary to mediate the particular
dispute, general knowledge of the domain name system. Any mediator must
confirm in writing that he or she is not, and will not become during the term
of the mediation, an employee, partner, executive officer, director, or security
holder of ICANN or an Applicable Registry Operator. If such confirmation is
not provided by the appointed mediator, then a replacement mediator shall
be appointed pursuant to this Section 7.7(d)(i).
(ii)
The mediator shall conduct the mediation in accordance with
the rules and procedures for facilitative mediation that he or she determines
following consultation with the parties. The parties shall discuss the dispute
in good faith and attempt, with the mediator’s assistance, to reach an
amicable resolution of the dispute.
(iii)
Each party shall bear its own costs in the mediation. The
parties shall share equally the fees and expenses of the mediator.
(iv)
If an agreement is reached during the mediation, ICANN shall
post the mutually agreed Proposed Revisions on its website for the Posting
Period and provide notice to all Applicable Registry Operators in accordance
with Section 7.9. ICANN and the Working Group will consider the public
comments submitted on the agreed Proposed Revisions during the Posting
Period (including comments submitted by the Applicable Registry
Operators). Following the conclusion of the Posting Period, the Proposed
Revisions shall be submitted for Registry Operator Approval and approval by
the ICANN Board of Directors. If such approvals are obtained, the Proposed
Revisions shall be deemed an Approved Amendment (as defined in Section
7.6) by the Applicable Registry Operators and ICANN, and shall be effective
and deemed an amendment to this Agreement upon sixty (60) calendar days
notice from ICANN to Registry Operator.
(v)
If the parties have not resolved the dispute for any reason by
the date that is ninety (90) calendar days following receipt by the CEO or
Chair, as applicable, of the Mediation Notice, the mediation shall
automatically terminate (unless extended by agreement of the parties). The
mediator shall deliver to the parties a definition of the issues that could be
considered in future arbitration, if invoked. Those issues are subject to the
limitations set forth in Section 7.7(e)(ii) below.
(e)
If, following mediation, ICANN and the Working Group have not
reached an agreement on the Proposed Revisions, either the CEO or the Chair may provide
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the other person written notice (an “Arbitration Notice”) requiring ICANN and the
Applicable Registry Operators to resolve the dispute through binding arbitration in
accordance with the arbitration provisions of Section 5.2, subject to the requirements and
limitations of this Section 7.7(e).
(i)
If an Arbitration Notice is sent, the mediator’s definition of
issues, along with the Proposed Revisions (be those from ICANN, the
Working Group or both) shall be posted for public comment on ICANN’s
website for a period of no less than thirty (30) calendar days. ICANN and the
Working Group will consider the public comments submitted on the
Proposed Revisions during the Posting Period (including comments
submitted by the Applicable Registry Operators), and information regarding
such comments and consideration shall be provided to a three (3) person
arbitrator panel. Each party may modify its Proposed Revisions before and
after the Posting Period. The arbitration proceeding may not commence
prior to the closing of such public comment period, and ICANN may
consolidate all challenges brought by registry operators (including Registry
Operator) into a single proceeding. Except as set forth in this Section 7.7, the
arbitration shall be conducted pursuant to Section 5.2.
(ii)
No dispute regarding the Proposed Revisions may be
submitted for arbitration to the extent the subject matter of the Proposed
Revisions (i) relates to Consensus Policy, (ii) falls within the subject matter
categories set forth in Section 1.2 of Specification 1, or (iii) seeks to amend
any of the following provisions or Specifications of this Agreement: Articles
1, 3 and 6; Sections 2.1, 2.2, 2.5, 2.7, 2.9, 2.10, 2.16, 2.17, 2.19, 4.1, 4.2, 7.3, 7.6,
7.7, 7.8, 7.10, 7.11, 7.12, 7.13, 7.14, 7.16; Section 2.8 and Specification 7 (but
only to the extent such Proposed Revisions seek to implement an RPM not
contemplated by Sections 2.8 and Specification 7); Exhibit A; and
Specifications 1, 4, 6, 10 and 11.
(iii)
The mediator will brief the arbitrator panel regarding ICANN
and the Working Group’s respective proposals relating to the Proposed
Revisions.
(iv)
No amendment to this Agreement relating to the Proposed
Revisions may be submitted for arbitration by either the Working Group or
ICANN, unless, in the case of the Working Group, the proposed amendment
has received Registry Operator Approval and, in the case of ICANN, the
proposed amendment has been approved by the ICANN Board of Directors.
(v)
In order for the arbitrator panel to approve either ICANN or
the Working Group’s proposed amendment relating to the Proposed
Revisions, the arbitrator panel must conclude that such proposed
amendment is consistent with a balanced application of ICANN’s core values
(as described in ICANN’s Bylaws) and reasonable in light of the balancing of
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the costs and benefits to the business interests of the Applicable Registry
Operators and ICANN (as applicable), and the public benefit sought to be
achieved by the Proposed Revisions as set forth in such amendment. If the
arbitrator panel concludes that either ICANN or the Working Group’s
proposed amendment relating to the Proposed Revisions meets the foregoing
standard, such amendment shall be effective and deemed an amendment to
this Agreement upon sixty (60) calendar days notice from ICANN to Registry
Operator and deemed an Approved Amendment hereunder.
(f)
With respect to an Approved Amendment relating to an amendment
proposed by ICANN, Registry may apply in writing to ICANN for an exemption from such
amendment pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.6.
(g)
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 7.7 to the contrary, (a) if
Registry Operator provides evidence to ICANN's reasonable satisfaction that the Approved
Amendment would materially increase the cost of providing Registry Services, then ICANN
will allow up to one-hundred eighty (180) calendar days for the Approved Amendment to
become effective with respect to Registry Operator, and (b) no Approved Amendment
adopted pursuant to Section 7.7 shall become effective with respect to Registry Operator if
Registry Operator provides ICANN with an irrevocable notice of termination pursuant to
Section 4.4(b).
7.8
No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement will not be construed to
create any obligation by either ICANN or Registry Operator to any non-party to this
Agreement, including any registrar or registered name holder.
7.9
General Notices. Except for notices pursuant to Sections 7.6 and 7.7, all
notices to be given under or in relation to this Agreement will be given either (i) in writing
at the address of the appropriate party as set forth below or (ii) via facsimile or electronic
mail as provided below, unless that party has given a notice of change of postal or email
address, or facsimile number, as provided in this Agreement. All notices under Sections 7.6
and 7.7 shall be given by both posting of the applicable information on ICANN’s web site
and transmission of such information to Registry Operator by electronic mail. Any change
in the contact information for notice below will be given by the party within thirty (30)
calendar days of such change. Other than notices under Sections 7.6 or 7.7, any notice
required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been properly given (i) if in paper form,
when delivered in person or via courier service with confirmation of receipt or (ii) if via
facsimile or by electronic mail, upon confirmation of receipt by the recipient’s facsimile
machine or email server, provided that such notice via facsimile or electronic mail shall be
followed by a copy sent by regular postal mail service within three (3) calendar days. Any
notice required by Sections 7.6 or 7.7 will be deemed to have been given when
electronically posted on ICANN’s website and upon confirmation of receipt by the email
server. In the event other means of notice become practically achievable, such as notice via
a secure website, the parties will work together to implement such notice means under this
Agreement.
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If to ICANN, addressed to:
Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers
12025 Waterfront Drive, Suite 300
Los Angeles, CA 90094-2536
USA
Telephone: +1-310-301-5800
Facsimile: +1-310-823-8649
Attention: President and CEO
With a Required Copy to: General Counsel
Email: (As specified from time to time.)
If to Registry Operator, addressed to:
[________________]
[________________]
[________________]
Telephone:
With a Required Copy to:
Email: (As specified from time to time.)
7.10 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including those specifications and
documents incorporated by reference to URL locations which form a part of it) constitutes
the entire agreement of the parties hereto pertaining to the operation of the TLD and
supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether
oral or written, between the parties on that subject.
7.11 English Language Controls. Notwithstanding any translated version of this
Agreement and/or specifications that may be provided to Registry Operator, the English
language version of this Agreement and all referenced specifications are the official
versions that bind the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict or discrepancy between
any translated version of this Agreement and the English language version, the English
language version controls. Notices, designations, determinations, and specifications made
under this Agreement shall be in the English language.
7.12 Ownership Rights. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed
as (a) establishing or granting to Registry Operator any property ownership rights or
interests of Registry Operator in the TLD or the letters, words, symbols or other characters
making up the TLD string, or (b) affecting any existing intellectual property or ownership
rights of Registry Operator.
7.13 Severability; Conflicts with Laws. This Agreement shall be deemed
severable; the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision of this Agreement
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the balance of this Agreement or of any
other term hereof, which shall remain in full force and effect. If any of the provisions
hereof are determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the parties shall negotiate in good
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faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as
possible. ICANN and the Working Group will mutually cooperate to develop an ICANN
procedure for ICANN’s review and consideration of alleged conflicts between applicable
laws and non-WHOIS related provisions of this Agreement. Until such procedure is
developed and implemented by ICANN, ICANN will review and consider alleged conflicts
between applicable laws and non-WHOIS related provisions of this Agreement in a manner
similar to ICANN’s Procedure For Handling WHOIS Conflicts with Privacy Law.
7.14 Court Orders. ICANN will respect any order from a court of competent
jurisdiction, including any orders from any jurisdiction where the consent or non-objection
of the government was a requirement for the delegation of the TLD. Notwithstanding any
other provision of this Agreement, ICANN’s implementation of any such order will not be a
breach of this Agreement
7.15

Confidentiality

(a)
Subject to Section 7.15(c), during the Term and for a period of three
(3) years thereafter, each party shall, and shall cause its and its Affiliates’ officers, directors,
employees and agents to, keep confidential and not publish or otherwise disclose to any
third party, directly or indirectly, any information that is, and the disclosing party has
marked as, or has otherwise designated in writing to the receiving party as, “confidential
trade secret,” “confidential commercial information” or “confidential financial information”
(collectively, “Confidential Information”), except to the extent such disclosure is permitted
by the terms of this Agreement.
(b)
The confidentiality obligations under Section 7.15(a) shall not apply
to any Confidential Information that (i) is or hereafter becomes part of the public domain
by public use, publication, general knowledge or the like through no fault of the receiving
party in breach of this Agreement, (ii) can be demonstrated by documentation or other
competent proof to have been in the receiving party’s possession prior to disclosure by the
disclosing party without any obligation of confidentiality with respect to such information,
(iii) is subsequently received by the receiving party from a third party who is not bound by
any obligation of confidentiality with respect to such information, (iv) has been published
by a third party or otherwise enters the public domain through no fault of the receiving
party, or (v) can be demonstrated by documentation or other competent evidence to have
been independently developed by or for the receiving party without reference to the
disclosing party’s Confidential Information.
(c)
Each party shall have the right to disclose Confidential Information to
the extent that such disclosure is (i) made in response to a valid order of a court of
competent jurisdiction or, if in the reasonable opinion of the receiving party’s legal counsel,
such disclosure is otherwise required by applicable law; provided, however, that the
receiving party shall first have given notice to the disclosing party and given the disclosing
party a reasonable opportunity to quash such order or to obtain a protective order or
confidential treatment order requiring that the Confidential Information that is the subject
of such order or other applicable law be held in confidence by such court or other third
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party recipient, unless the receiving party is not permitted to provide such notice under
such order or applicable law, or (ii) made by the receiving party or any of its Affiliates to its
or their attorneys, auditors, advisors, consultants, contractors or other third parties for use
by such person or entity as may be necessary or useful in connection with the performance
of the activities under this Agreement, provided that such third party is bound by
confidentiality obligations at least as stringent as those set forth herein, either by written
agreement or through professional responsibility standards.
[Note: The following section is applicable to intergovernmental organizations or
governmental entities only.]
7.16 Special Provision Relating to Intergovernmental Organizations or
Governmental Entities.
(a)
ICANN acknowledges that Registry Operator is an entity subject to
public international law, including international treaties applicable to Registry Operator
(such public international law and treaties, collectively hereinafter the “Applicable Laws”).
Nothing in this Agreement and its related specifications shall be construed or interpreted
to require Registry Operator to violate Applicable Laws or prevent compliance therewith.
The Parties agree that Registry Operator’s compliance with Applicable Laws shall not
constitute a breach of this Agreement.
(b)
In the event Registry Operator reasonably determines that any
provision of this Agreement and its related specifications, or any decisions or policies of
ICANN referred to in this Agreement, including but not limited to Temporary Policies and
Consensus Policies (such provisions, specifications and policies, collectively hereinafter,
“ICANN Requirements”), may conflict with or violate Applicable Law (hereinafter, a
“Potential Conflict”), Registry Operator shall provide detailed notice (a “Notice”) of such
Potential Conflict to ICANN as early as possible and, in the case of a Potential Conflict with a
proposed Consensus Policy, no later than the end of any public comment period on such
proposed Consensus Policy. In the event Registry Operator determines that there is
Potential Conflict between a proposed Applicable Law and any ICANN Requirement,
Registry Operator shall provide detailed Notice of such Potential Conflict to ICANN as early
as possible and, in the case of a Potential Conflict with a proposed Consensus Policy, no
later than the end of any public comment period on such proposed Consensus Policy.
(c)
As soon as practicable following such review, the parties shall attempt
to resolve the Potential Conflict by mediation pursuant to the procedures set forth in
Section 5.1. In addition, Registry Operator shall use its best efforts to eliminate or
minimize any impact arising from such Potential Conflict between Applicable Laws and any
ICANN Requirement. If, following such mediation, Registry Operator determines that the
Potential Conflict constitutes an actual conflict between any ICANN Requirement, on the
one hand, and Applicable Laws, on the other hand, then ICANN shall waive compliance with
such ICANN Requirement (provided that the parties shall negotiate in good faith on a
continuous basis thereafter to mitigate or eliminate the effects of such noncompliance on
ICANN), unless ICANN reasonably and objectively determines that the failure of Registry
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Operator to comply with such ICANN Requirement would constitute a threat to the Security
and Stability of Registry Services, the Internet or the DNS (hereinafter, an “ICANN
Determination”). Following receipt of notice by Registry Operator of such ICANN
Determination, Registry Operator shall be afforded a period of ninety (90) calendar days to
resolve such conflict with an Applicable Law. If the conflict with an Applicable Law is not
resolved to ICANN’s complete satisfaction during such period, Registry Operator shall have
the option to submit, within ten (10) calendar days thereafter, the matter to binding
arbitration as defined in subsection (d) below. If during such period, Registry Operator
does not submit the matter to arbitration pursuant to subsection (d) below, ICANN may,
upon notice to Registry Operator, terminate this Agreement with immediate effect.
(d)
If Registry Operator disagrees with an ICANN Determination, Registry
Operator may submit the matter to binding arbitration pursuant to the provisions of
Section 5.2, except that the sole issue presented to the arbitrator for determination will be
whether or not ICANN reasonably and objectively reached the ICANN Determination. For
the purposes of such arbitration, ICANN shall present evidence to the arbitrator supporting
the ICANN Determination. If the arbitrator determines that ICANN did not reasonably and
objectively reach the ICANN Determination, then ICANN shall waive Registry Operator’s
compliance with the subject ICANN Requirement. If the arbitrators or pre-arbitral referee,
as applicable, determine that ICANN did reasonably and objectively reach the ICANN
Determination, then, upon notice to Registry Operator, ICANN may terminate this
Agreement with immediate effect.
(e)
Registry Operator hereby represents and warrants that, to the best of
its knowledge as of the date of execution of this Agreement, no existing ICANN
Requirement conflicts with or violates any Applicable Law.
(f)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 7.16, following an
ICANN Determination and prior to a finding by an arbitrator pursuant to Section 7.16(d)
above, ICANN may, subject to prior consultations with Registry Operator, take such
reasonable technical measures as it deems necessary to ensure the Security and Stability of
Registry Services, the Internet and the DNS. These reasonable technical measures shall be
taken by ICANN on an interim basis, until the earlier of the date of conclusion of the
arbitration procedure referred to in Section 7.16(d) above or the date of complete
resolution of the conflict with an Applicable Law. In case Registry Operator disagrees with
such technical measures taken by ICANN, Registry Operator may submit the matter to
binding arbitration pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.2 above, during which process
ICANN may continue to take such technical measures. In the event that ICANN takes such
measures, Registry Operator shall pay all costs incurred by ICANN as a result of taking such
measures. In addition, in the event that ICANN takes such measures, ICANN shall retain
and may enforce its rights under the Continued Operations Instrument and Alternative
Instrument, as applicable.
*****
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be
executed by their duly authorized representatives.
INTERNET CORPORATION FOR ASSIGNED NAMES AND NUMBERS
By:

_____________________________
[_____________]
President and CEO
Date:

[Registry Operator]

By:

_____________________________
[____________]
[____________]
Date:
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EXHIBIT A
Approved Services
The ICANN gTLD Applicant Guidebook (located at
http://newgtlds.icann.org/en/applicants/agb) and the RSEP specify processes for
consideration of proposed registry services. Registry Operator may provide any service
that is required by the terms of this Agreement. In addition, the following services (if any)
are specifically identified as having been approved by ICANN prior to the effective date of
the Agreement, and Registry Operator may provide such services:
1.

DNS Service – TLD Zone Contents

Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, as indicated in section 2.2.3.3 of the gTLD
Applicant Guidebook, permissible contents for the TLD’s DNS service are:
1.1. For the “Internet” (IN) Class:
1.1.1. Apex SOA record
1.1.2. Apex NS records and in-bailiwick glue for the TLD’s DNS servers
1.1.3. NS records and in-bailiwick glue for DNS servers of registered names in the
TLD
1.1.4. DS records for registered names in the TLD
1.1.5. Records associated with signing the TLD zone (e.g., RRSIG, DNSKEY, NSEC,
NSEC3PARAM and NSEC3)
1.1.6. Apex TXT record for zone versioning purposes
1.1.7. Apex TYPE65534 record for automatic dnssec signing signaling
1.2. For the “Chaos” (CH) Class:
1.2.1. TXT records for server version/identification (e.g., TXT records for
“version.bind.”, “id.server.”, “authors.bind” and/or “hostname.bind.”)
(Note: The above language effectively does not allow, among other things, the inclusion of
DNS resource records that would enable a dotless domain name (e.g., apex A, AAAA, MX
records) in the TLD zone.)
If Registry Operator wishes to place any DNS resource record type or class into its TLD DNS
service (other than those listed in Sections 1.1 or 1.2 above), it must describe in detail its
proposal and submit a Registry Services Evaluation Process (RSEP) request. This will be
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evaluated per RSEP to determine whether the service would create a risk of a meaningful
adverse impact on security or stability of the DNS. Registry Operator recognizes and
acknowledges that a service based on the use of less-common DNS resource records
and/or classes in the TLD zone, even if approved, might not work as intended for all users
due to lack of software support.
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SPECIFICATION 1
CONSENSUS POLICIES AND TEMPORARY POLICIES SPECIFICATION
1.

Consensus Policies.
1.1.

“Consensus Policies” are those policies established (1) pursuant to the
procedure set forth in ICANN’s Bylaws and due process, and (2) covering
those topics listed in Section 1.2 of this Specification. The Consensus Policy
development process and procedure set forth in ICANN’s Bylaws may be
revised from time to time in accordance with the process set forth therein.

1.2.

Consensus Policies and the procedures by which they are developed shall be
designed to produce, to the extent possible, a consensus of Internet
stakeholders, including the operators of gTLDs. Consensus Policies shall
relate to one or more of the following:
1.2.1 issues for which uniform or coordinated resolution is reasonably
necessary to facilitate interoperability, security and/or stability of the
Internet or Domain Name System (“DNS”);
1.2.2 functional and performance specifications for the provision of
Registry Services;
1.2.3 Security and Stability of the registry database for the TLD;
1.2.4 registry policies reasonably necessary to implement Consensus
Policies relating to registry operations or registrars;
1.2.5 resolution of disputes regarding the registration of domain names (as
opposed to the use of such domain names); or
1.2.6 restrictions on cross-ownership of registry operators and registrars
or registrar resellers and regulations and restrictions with respect to
registry operations and the use of registry and registrar data in the
event that a registry operator and a registrar or registrar reseller are
affiliated.

1.3.

Such categories of issues referred to in Section 1.2 of this Specification shall
include, without limitation:
1.3.1 principles for allocation of registered names in the TLD (e.g.,
first-come/first-served, timely renewal, holding period after
expiration);
1.3.2 prohibitions on warehousing of or speculation in domain names by
registries or registrars;
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1.3.3 reservation of registered names in the TLD that may not be registered
initially or that may not be renewed due to reasons reasonably related
to (i) avoidance of confusion among or misleading of users, (ii)
intellectual property, or (iii) the technical management of the DNS or
the Internet (e.g., establishment of reservations of names from
registration); and
1.3.4 maintenance of and access to accurate and up-to-date information
concerning domain name registrations; and procedures to avoid
disruptions of domain name registrations due to suspension or
termination of operations by a registry operator or a registrar,
including procedures for allocation of responsibility for serving
registered domain names in a TLD affected by such a suspension or
termination.
1.4.

In addition to the other limitations on Consensus Policies, they shall not:
1.4.1 prescribe or limit the price of Registry Services;
1.4.2 modify the terms or conditions for the renewal or termination of the
Registry Agreement;
1.4.3 modify the limitations on Temporary Policies (defined below) or
Consensus Policies;
1.4.4 modify the provisions in the registry agreement regarding fees paid
by Registry Operator to ICANN; or
1.4.5 modify ICANN’s obligations to ensure equitable treatment of registry
operators and act in an open and transparent manner.

2.

Temporary Policies. Registry Operator shall comply with and implement all
specifications or policies established by the Board on a temporary basis, if adopted
by the Board by a vote of at least two-thirds of its members, so long as the Board
reasonably determines that such modifications or amendments are justified and
that immediate temporary establishment of a specification or policy on the subject
is necessary to maintain the stability or security of Registry Services or the DNS
(“Temporary Policies”).
2.1.

Such proposed specification or policy shall be as narrowly tailored as feasible
to achieve those objectives. In establishing any Temporary Policy, the Board
shall state the period of time for which the Temporary Policy is adopted and
shall immediately implement the Consensus Policy development process set
forth in ICANN’s Bylaws.
2.1.1 ICANN shall also issue an advisory statement containing a detailed
explanation of its reasons for adopting the Temporary Policy and why
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the Board believes such Temporary Policy should receive the
consensus support of Internet stakeholders.
2.1.2 If the period of time for which the Temporary Policy is adopted
exceeds ninety (90) calendar days, the Board shall reaffirm its
temporary adoption every ninety (90) calendar days for a total period
not to exceed one (1) year, in order to maintain such Temporary
Policy in effect until such time as it becomes a Consensus Policy. If the
one (1) year period expires or, if during such one (1) year period, the
Temporary Policy does not become a Consensus Policy and is not
reaffirmed by the Board, Registry Operator shall no longer be
required to comply with or implement such Temporary Policy.
3.

Notice and Conflicts. Registry Operator shall be afforded a reasonable period of
time following notice of the establishment of a Consensus Policy or Temporary
Policy in which to comply with such policy or specification, taking into account any
urgency involved. In the event of a conflict between Registry Services and
Consensus Policies or any Temporary Policy, the Consensus Polices or Temporary
Policy shall control, but only with respect to subject matter in conflict.
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SPECIFICATION 2
DATA ESCROW REQUIREMENTS
Registry Operator will engage an independent entity to act as data escrow agent (“Escrow
Agent”) for the provision of data escrow services related to the Registry Agreement. The
following Technical Specifications set forth in Part A, and Legal Requirements set forth in
Part B, will be included in any data escrow agreement between Registry Operator and the
Escrow Agent, under which ICANN must be named a third-party beneficiary. In addition to
the following requirements, the data escrow agreement may contain other provisions that
are not contradictory or intended to subvert the required terms provided below.
PART A – TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS
1.

2.

3.

Deposits. There will be two types of Deposits: Full and Differential. For both types,
the universe of Registry objects to be considered for data escrow are those objects
necessary in order to offer all of the approved Registry Services.
1.1.

“Full Deposit” will consist of data that reflects the state of the registry as of
00:00:00 UTC (Coordinated Universal Time) on the day that such Full
Deposit is submitted to Escrow Agent.

1.2.

“Differential Deposit” means data that reflects all transactions that were not
reflected in the last previous Full or Differential Deposit, as the case may be.
Each Differential Deposit will contain all database transactions since the
previous Deposit was completed as of 00:00:00 UTC of each day, but Sunday.
Differential Deposits must include complete Escrow Records as specified
below that were not included or changed since the most recent full or
Differential Deposit (i.e., all additions, modifications or removals of data).

Schedule for Deposits. Registry Operator will submit a set of escrow files on a
daily basis as follows:
2.1.

Each Sunday, a Full Deposit must be submitted to the Escrow Agent by 23:59
UTC.

2.2.

The other six (6) days of the week, a Full Deposit or the corresponding
Differential Deposit must be submitted to Escrow Agent by 23:59 UTC.

Escrow Format Specification.
3.1.

Deposit’s Format. Registry objects, such as domains, contacts, name
servers, registrars, etc. will be compiled into a file constructed as described
in draft-arias-noguchi-registry-data-escrow, see Part A, Section 9, reference 1
of this Specification and draft-arias-noguchi-dnrd-objects-mapping, see Part
A, Section 9, reference 2 of this Specification (collectively, the “DNDE
Specification”). The DNDE Specification describes some elements as
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optional; Registry Operator will include those elements in the Deposits if
they are available. If not already an RFC, Registry Operator will use the most
recent draft version of the DNDE Specification available at the Effective Date.
Registry Operator may at its election use newer versions of the DNDE
Specification after the Effective Date. Once the DNDE Specification is
published as an RFC, Registry Operator will implement that version of the
DNDE Specification, no later than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days
after. UTF-8 character encoding will be used.
3.2.

4.

Extensions. If a Registry Operator offers additional Registry Services that
require submission of additional data, not included above, additional
“extension schemas” shall be defined in a case by case basis to represent that
data. These “extension schemas” will be specified as described in Part A,
Section 9, reference 2 of this Specification. Data related to the “extensions
schemas” will be included in the deposit file described in Part A, Section 3.1
of this Specification. ICANN and the respective Registry Operator shall work
together to agree on such new objects’ data escrow specifications.

Processing of Deposit files. The use of compression is recommended in order to
reduce electronic data transfer times, and storage capacity requirements. Data
encryption will be used to ensure the privacy of registry escrow data. Files
processed for compression and encryption will be in the binary OpenPGP format as
per OpenPGP Message Format - RFC 4880, see Part A, Section 9, reference 3 of this
Specification. Acceptable algorithms for Public-key cryptography, Symmetric-key
cryptography, Hash and Compression are those enumerated in RFC 4880, not
marked as deprecated in OpenPGP IANA Registry, see Part A, Section 9, reference 4
of this Specification, that are also royalty-free. The process to follow for the data file
in original text format is:
(1)

The XML file of the deposit as described in Part A, Section 9, reference 1 of
this Specification must be named as the containing file as specified in Section
5 but with the extension xml.

(2)

The data file(s) are aggregated in a tarball file named the same as (1) but
with extension tar.

(3)

A compressed and encrypted OpenPGP Message is created using the tarball
file as sole input. The suggested algorithm for compression is ZIP as per RFC
4880. The compressed data will be encrypted using the escrow agent’s
public key. The suggested algorithms for Public-key encryption are Elgamal
and RSA as per RFC 4880. The suggested algorithms for Symmetric-key
encryption are TripleDES, AES128 and CAST5 as per RFC 4880.

(4)

The file may be split as necessary if, once compressed and encrypted, it is
larger than the file size limit agreed with the escrow agent. Every part of a
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split file, or the whole file if not split, will be called a processed file in this
section.

5.

(5)

A digital signature file will be generated for every processed file using the
Registry Operator’s private key. The digital signature file will be in binary
OpenPGP format as per RFC 4880 Section 9, reference 3, and will not be
compressed or encrypted. The suggested algorithms for Digital signatures
are DSA and RSA as per RFC 4880. The suggested algorithm for Hashes in
Digital signatures is SHA256.

(6)

The processed files and digital signature files will then be transferred to the
Escrow Agent through secure electronic mechanisms, such as, SFTP, SCP,
HTTPS file upload, etc. as agreed between the Escrow Agent and the Registry
Operator. Non-electronic delivery through a physical medium such as
CD-ROMs, DVD-ROMs, or USB storage devices may be used if authorized by
ICANN.

(7)

The Escrow Agent will then validate every (processed) transferred data file
using the procedure described in Part A, Section 8 of this Specification.

File Naming Conventions. Files will be named according to the following
convention: {gTLD}_{YYYY-MM-DD}_{type}_S{#}_R{rev}.{ext} where:
5.1.

{gTLD} is replaced with the gTLD name; in case of an IDN-TLD, the
ASCII-compatible form (A-Label) must be used;

5.2.

{YYYY-MM-DD} is replaced by the date corresponding to the time used as a
timeline watermark for the transactions; i.e. for the Full Deposit
corresponding to 2009-08-02T00:00Z, the string to be used would be
“2009-08-02”;

5.3.

{type} is replaced by:

5.4.

(1)

“full”, if the data represents a Full Deposit;

(2)

“diff”, if the data represents a Differential Deposit;

(3)

“thin”, if the data represents a Bulk Registration Data Access file, as
specified in Section 3 of Specification 4;

(4)

"thick-{gurid}", if the data represent Thick Registration Data from a
specific registrar, as defined in Section 3.2 of Specification 4. The
{gurid} element must be replaced with the IANA Registrar ID
associated with the data.

{#} is replaced by the position of the file in a series of files, beginning with
“1”; in case of a lone file, this must be replaced by “1”.
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5.5.

{rev} is replaced by the number of revision (or resend) of the file beginning
with “0”:

5.6.

{ext} is replaced by “sig” if it is a digital signature file of the
quasi-homonymous file. Otherwise it is replaced by “ryde”.

6.

Distribution of Public Keys. Each of Registry Operator and Escrow Agent will
distribute its public key to the other party (Registry Operator or Escrow Agent, as
the case may be) via email to an email address to be specified. Each party will
confirm receipt of the other party’s public key with a reply email, and the
distributing party will subsequently reconfirm the authenticity of the key
transmitted via offline methods, like in person meeting, telephone, etc. In this way,
public key transmission is authenticated to a user able to send and receive mail via a
mail server operated by the distributing party. Escrow Agent, Registry Operator
and ICANN will exchange public keys by the same procedure.

7.

Notification of Deposits. Along with the delivery of each Deposit, Registry
Operator will deliver to Escrow Agent and to ICANN (using the API described in
draft-lozano-icann-registry-interfaces, see Part A, Section 9, reference 5 of this
Specification (the “Interface Specification”)) a written statement from Registry
Operator (which may be by authenticated e-mail) that includes a copy of the report
generated upon creation of the Deposit and states that the Deposit has been
inspected by Registry Operator and is complete and accurate. The preparation and
submission of this statement must be performed by the Registry Operator or its
designee, provided that such designee may not be the Escrow Agent or any of
Escrow Agent’s Affiliates. Registry Operator will include the Deposit’s “id” and
“resend” attributes in its statement. The attributes are explained in Part A, Section
9, reference 1 of this Specification.
If not already an RFC, Registry Operator will use the most recent draft version of the
Interface Specification at the Effective Date. Registry Operator may at its election
use newer versions of the Interface Specification after the Effective Date. Once the
Interface Specification is published as an RFC, Registry Operator will implement that
version of the Interface Specification, no later than one hundred eighty (180)
calendar days after such publishing.

8.

Verification Procedure.
(1)

The signature file of each processed file is validated.

(2)

If processed files are pieces of a bigger file, the latter is put together.

(3)

Each file obtained in the previous step is then decrypted and uncompressed.

(4)

Each data file contained in the previous step is then validated against the
format defined in Part A, Section 9, reference 1 of this Specification.
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(5)

The data escrow agent extended verification process, as defined below in
reference 2 of Part A of this Specification 2, as well as any other data escrow
verification process contained in such reference.

If any discrepancy is found in any of the steps, the Deposit will be considered
incomplete.
9.

References.
(1)

Domain Name Data Escrow Specification (work in progress),
http://tools.ietf.org/html/draft-arias-noguchi-registry-data-escrow

(2)

Domain Name Registration Data (DNRD) Objects Mapping,
http://tools.ietf.org/html/draft-arias-noguchi-dnrd-objects-mapping

(3)

OpenPGP Message Format, http://www.rfc-editor.org/rfc/rfc4880.txt

(4)

OpenPGP parameters,
http://www.iana.org/assignments/pgp-parameters/pgp-parameters.xhtml

(5)

ICANN interfaces for registries and data escrow agents,
http://tools.ietf.org/html/draft-lozano-icann-registry-interfaces
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PART B – LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
1.

Escrow Agent. Prior to entering into an escrow agreement, the Registry Operator
must provide notice to ICANN as to the identity of the Escrow Agent, and provide
ICANN with contact information and a copy of the relevant escrow agreement, and
all amendments thereto. In addition, prior to entering into an escrow agreement,
Registry Operator must obtain the consent of ICANN to (a) use the specified Escrow
Agent, and (b) enter into the form of escrow agreement provided. ICANN must be
expressly designated as a third-party beneficiary of the escrow agreement. ICANN
reserves the right to withhold its consent to any Escrow Agent, escrow agreement,
or any amendment thereto, all in its sole discretion.

2.

Fees. Registry Operator must pay, or have paid on its behalf, fees to the Escrow
Agent directly. If Registry Operator fails to pay any fee by the due date(s), the
Escrow Agent will give ICANN written notice of such non-payment and ICANN may
pay the past-due fee(s) within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the written
notice from Escrow Agent. Upon payment of the past-due fees by ICANN, ICANN
shall have a claim for such amount against Registry Operator, which Registry
Operator shall be required to submit to ICANN together with the next fee payment
due under the Registry Agreement.

3.

Ownership. Ownership of the Deposits during the effective term of the Registry
Agreement shall remain with Registry Operator at all times. Thereafter, Registry
Operator shall assign any such ownership rights (including intellectual property
rights, as the case may be) in such Deposits to ICANN. In the event that during the
term of the Registry Agreement any Deposit is released from escrow to ICANN, any
intellectual property rights held by Registry Operator in the Deposits will
automatically be licensed to ICANN or to a party designated in writing by ICANN on
a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free, paid-up basis, for any use
related to the operation, maintenance or transition of the TLD.

4.

Integrity and Confidentiality. Escrow Agent will be required to (i) hold and
maintain the Deposits in a secure, locked, and environmentally safe facility, which is
accessible only to authorized representatives of Escrow Agent, (ii) protect the
integrity and confidentiality of the Deposits using commercially reasonable
measures and (iii) keep and safeguard each Deposit for one (1) year. ICANN and
Registry Operator will be provided the right to inspect Escrow Agent’s applicable
records upon reasonable prior notice and during normal business hours. Registry
Operator and ICANN will be provided with the right to designate a third-party
auditor to audit Escrow Agent’s compliance with the technical specifications and
maintenance requirements of this Specification 2 from time to time.
If Escrow Agent receives a subpoena or any other order from a court or other
judicial tribunal pertaining to the disclosure or release of the Deposits, Escrow
Agent will promptly notify the Registry Operator and ICANN unless prohibited by
law. After notifying the Registry Operator and ICANN, Escrow Agent shall allow
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sufficient time for Registry Operator or ICANN to challenge any such order, which
shall be the responsibility of Registry Operator or ICANN; provided, however, that
Escrow Agent does not waive its rights to present its position with respect to any
such order. Escrow Agent will cooperate with the Registry Operator or ICANN to
support efforts to quash or limit any subpoena, at such party’s expense. Any party
requesting additional assistance shall pay Escrow Agent’s standard charges or as
quoted upon submission of a detailed request.
5.

Copies. Escrow Agent may be permitted to duplicate any Deposit, in order to
comply with the terms and provisions of the escrow agreement.

6.

Release of Deposits. Escrow Agent will make available for electronic download
(unless otherwise requested) to ICANN or its designee, within twenty-four (24)
hours, at the Registry Operator’s expense, all Deposits in Escrow Agent’s possession
in the event that the Escrow Agent receives a request from Registry Operator to
effect such delivery to ICANN, or receives one of the following written notices by
ICANN stating that:
6.1.

the Registry Agreement has expired without renewal, or been terminated; or

6.2.

ICANN has not received a notification as described in Part B, Sections 7.1 and
7.2 of this Specification from Escrow Agent within five (5) calendar days after
the Deposit’s scheduled delivery date; (a) ICANN gave notice to Escrow Agent
and Registry Operator of that failure; and (b) ICANN has not, within seven (7)
calendar days after such notice, received the notification from Escrow Agent;
or

6.3.

ICANN has received notification as described in Part B, Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of
this Specification from Escrow Agent of failed verification of the latest escrow
deposit for a specific date or a notification of a missing deposit, and the
notification is for a deposit that should have been made on Sunday (i.e., a Full
Deposit); (a) ICANN gave notice to Registry Operator of that receipt; and (b)
ICANN has not, within seven (7) calendar days after such notice, received
notification as described in Part B, Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of this Specification
from Escrow Agent of verification of a remediated version of such Full
Deposit; or

6.4.

ICANN has received five notifications from Escrow Agent within the last
thirty (30) calendar days notifying ICANN of either missing or failed escrow
deposits that should have been made Monday through Saturday (i.e., a
Differential Deposit), and (x) ICANN provided notice to Registry Operator of
the receipt of such notifications; and (y) ICANN has not, within seven (7)
calendar days after delivery of such notice to Registry Operator, received
notification from Escrow Agent of verification of a remediated version of
such Differential Deposit; or
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6.5.

Registry Operator has: (i) ceased to conduct its business in the ordinary
course; or (ii) filed for bankruptcy, become insolvent or anything analogous
to any of the foregoing under the laws of any jurisdiction anywhere in the
world; or

6.6.

Registry Operator has experienced a failure of critical registry functions and
ICANN has asserted its rights pursuant to Section 2.13 of the Agreement; or

6.7.

a competent court, arbitral, legislative, or government agency mandates the
release of the Deposits to ICANN; or

6.8.

pursuant to Contractual and Operational Compliance Audits as specified
under Section 2.11 of the Agreement.

Unless Escrow Agent has previously released the Registry Operator’s Deposits to
ICANN or its designee, Escrow Agent will deliver all Deposits to ICANN upon
expiration or termination of the Registry Agreement or the Escrow Agreement.
7.

8.

Verification of Deposits.
7.1.

Within twenty-four (24) hours after receiving each Deposit or corrected
Deposit, Escrow Agent must verify the format and completeness of each
Deposit and deliver to ICANN a notification generated for each Deposit.
Reports will be delivered electronically using the API described in
draft-lozano-icann-registry-interfaces, see Part A, Section 9, reference 5 of
this Specification.

7.2.

If Escrow Agent discovers that any Deposit fails the verification procedures
or if Escrow Agent does not receive any scheduled Deposit, Escrow Agent
must notify Registry Operator either by email, fax or phone and ICANN (using
the API described in draft-lozano-icann-registry-interfaces, see Part A,
Section 9, reference 5 of this Specification) of such nonconformity or
non-receipt within twenty-four (24) hours after receiving the
non-conformant Deposit or the deadline for such Deposit, as applicable.
Upon notification of such verification or delivery failure, Registry Operator
must begin developing modifications, updates, corrections, and other fixes of
the Deposit necessary for the Deposit to be delivered and pass the
verification procedures and deliver such fixes to Escrow Agent as promptly
as possible.

Amendments. Escrow Agent and Registry Operator shall amend the terms of the
Escrow Agreement to conform to this Specification 2 within ten (10) calendar days
of any amendment or modification to this Specification 2. In the event of a conflict
between this Specification 2 and the Escrow Agreement, this Specification 2 shall
control.
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9.

Indemnity. Escrow Agent shall indemnify and hold harmless Registry Operator and
ICANN, and each of their respective directors, officers, agents, employees, members,
and stockholders (“Indemnitees”) absolutely and forever from and against any and
all claims, actions, damages, suits, liabilities, obligations, costs, fees, charges, and any
other expenses whatsoever, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, that may
be asserted by a third party against any Indemnitee in connection with the
misrepresentation, negligence or misconduct of Escrow Agent, its directors, officers,
agents, employees and contractors.
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SPECIFICATION 3
FORMAT AND CONTENT FOR REGISTRY OPERATOR MONTHLY REPORTING
Registry Operator shall provide one set of monthly reports per gTLD, using the API
described in draft-lozano-icann-registry-interfaces, see Specification 2, Part A, Section 9,
reference 5, with the following content.
ICANN may request in the future that the reports be delivered by other means and using
other formats. ICANN will use reasonable commercial efforts to preserve the
confidentiality of the information reported until three (3) months after the end of the
month to which the reports relate. Unless set forth in this Specification 3, any reference to
a specific time refers to Coordinated Universal Time (UTC). Monthly reports shall consist
of data that reflects the state of the registry at the end of the month (UTC).
1.

Field
#
01

Per-Registrar Transactions Report. This report shall be compiled in a comma
separated-value formatted file as specified in RFC 4180. The file shall be named
“gTLD-transactions-yyyymm.csv”, where “gTLD” is the gTLD name; in case of an
IDN-TLD, the A-label shall be used; “yyyymm” is the year and month being reported.
The file shall contain the following fields per registrar:
Field name

Description

registrar-name

Registrar’s full corporate name as registered with
IANA

02

iana-id

For cases where the registry operator acts as
registrar (i.e., without the use of an ICANN
accredited registrar) either 9998 or 9999 should
be used depending on registration type (as
described in Specification 5), otherwise the
sponsoring Registrar IANA id should be used as
specified in
http://www.iana.org/assignments/registrar-ids

03

total-domains

total domain names under sponsorship in any EPP
status but pendingCreate that have not been
purged

04

total-nameservers

total name servers (either host objects or name
server hosts as domain name attributes)
associated with domain names registered for the
TLD in any EPP status but pendingCreate that
have not been purged

05

net-adds-1-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of one (1) year (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
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in the month the add grace period ends.
06

net-adds-2-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of two(2) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

07

net-adds-3-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of three (3) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

08

net-adds-4-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of four (4) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

09

net-adds-5-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of five (5) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

10

net-adds-6-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of six (6) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

11

net-adds-7-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of seven (7) years (and not deleted within
the add grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the add grace period ends.

12

net-adds-8-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of eight (8) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

13

net-adds-9-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
term of nine (9) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.

14

net-adds-10-yr

number of domains successfully registered (i.e.,
not in EPP pendingCreate status) with an initial
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term of ten (10) years (and not deleted within the
add grace period). A transaction must be reported
in the month the add grace period ends.
15

net-renews-1-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of one
(1) year (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
grace period ends.

16

net-renews-2-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of two
(2) years (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
grace period ends.

17

net-renews-3-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of
three (3) years (and not deleted within the renew
or auto-renew grace period). A transaction must
be reported in the month the renew or
auto-renew grace period ends.

18

net-renews-4-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of four
(4) years (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
grace period ends.

19

net-renews-5-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of five
(5) years (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
grace period ends.

20

net-renews-6-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of six
(6) years (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
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grace period ends.
21

net-renews-7-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of
seven (7) years (and not deleted within the renew
or auto-renew grace period). A transaction must
be reported in the month the renew or
auto-renew grace period ends.

22

net-renews-8-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of
eight (8) years (and not deleted within the renew
or auto-renew grace period). A transaction must
be reported in the month the renew or
auto-renew grace period ends.

23

net-renews-9-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of nine
(9) years (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
grace period ends.

24

net-renews-10-yr

number of domains successfully renewed (i.e., not
in EPP pendingRenew status) either automatically
or by command with a new renewal period of ten
(10) years (and not deleted within the renew or
auto-renew grace period). A transaction must be
reported in the month the renew or auto-renew
grace period ends.

25

transfer-gaining-successful

number of domain transfers initiated by this
registrar that were successfully completed (either
explicitly or automatically approved) and not
deleted within the transfer grace period. A
transaction must be reported in the month the
transfer grace period ends.

26

transfer-gaining-nacked

number of domain transfers initiated by this
registrar that were rejected (e.g., EPP transfer
op="reject") by the other registrar

27

transfer-losing-successful

number of domain transfers initiated by another
registrar that were successfully completed (either
explicitly or automatically approved)

28

transfer-losing-nacked

number of domain transfers initiated by another
registrar that this registrar rejected (e.g., EPP
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transfer op="reject")
29

transfer-disputed-won

number of transfer disputes in which this
registrar prevailed (reported in the month where
the determination happened)

30

transfer-disputed-lost

number of transfer disputes this registrar lost
(reported in the month where the determination
happened)

31

transfer-disputed-nodecision

number of transfer disputes involving this
registrar with a split or no decision (reported in
the month where the determination happened)

32

deleted-domains-grace

domains deleted within the add grace period
(does not include names deleted while in EPP
pendingCreate status). A deletion must be
reported in the month the name is purged.

33

deleted-domains-nograce

domains deleted outside the add grace period
(does not include names deleted while in EPP
pendingCreate status). A deletion must be
reported in the month the name is purged.

34

restored-domains

domain names restored during reporting period

35

restored-noreport

total number of restored names for which a
restore report is required by the registry, but the
registrar failed to submit it

36

agp-exemption-requests

total number of AGP (add grace period) exemption
requests

37

agp-exemptions-granted

total number of AGP (add grace period) exemption
requests granted

38

agp-exempted-domains

total number of names affected by granted AGP
(add grace period) exemption requests

39

attempted-adds

number of attempted (both successful and failed)
domain name create commands

The first line shall include the field names exactly as described in the table above as a
“header line” as described in section 2 of RFC 4180. The last line of each report shall
include totals for each column across all registrars; the first field of this line shall read
“Totals” while the second field shall be left empty in that line. No other lines besides the
ones described above shall be included. Line breaks shall be <U+000D, U+000A> as
described in RFC 4180.
2.

Registry Functions Activity Report. This report shall be compiled in a comma
separated-value formatted file as specified in RFC 4180. The file shall be named
“gTLD-activity-yyyymm.csv”, where “gTLD” is the gTLD name; in case of an
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IDN-TLD, the A-label shall be used; “yyyymm” is the year and month being reported.
The file shall contain the following fields:
Field #

Field Name

Description

01

operational-registrars

number of operational registrars in the
production system at the end of the reporting
period

02

zfa-passwords

number of active zone file access passwords at
the end of the reporting period; "CZDS" may be
used instead of the number of active zone file
access passwords, if the Centralized Zone Data
Service (CZDS) is used to provide the zone file
to the end user

03

whois-43-queries

number of WHOIS (port-43) queries responded
during the reporting period

04

web-whois-queries

number of Web-based Whois queries
responded during the reporting period, not
including searchable Whois

05

searchable-whois-queries

number of searchable Whois queries responded
during the reporting period, if offered

06

dns-udp-queries-received

number of DNS queries received over UDP
transport during the reporting period

07

dns-udp-queries-responded

number of DNS queries received over UDP
transport that were responded during the
reporting period

08

dns-tcp-queries-received

number of DNS queries received over TCP
transport during the reporting period

09

dns-tcp-queries-responded

number of DNS queries received over TCP
transport that were responded during the
reporting period

10

srs-dom-check

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “check” requests responded
during the reporting period

11

srs-dom-create

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “create” requests responded
during the reporting period

12

srs-dom-delete

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “delete” requests responded
during the reporting period

13

srs-dom-info

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “info” requests responded during
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Field #

Field Name

Description
the reporting period

14

srs-dom-renew

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “renew” requests responded
during the reporting period

15

srs-dom-rgp-restore-report

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name RGP “restore” requests delivering
a restore report responded during the reporting
period

16

srs-dom-rgp-restore-request

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name RGP “restore” requests
responded during the reporting period

17

srs-dom-transfer-approve

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “transfer” requests to approve
transfers responded during the reporting
period

18

srs-dom-transfer-cancel

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “transfer” requests to cancel
transfers responded during the reporting
period

19

srs-dom-transfer-query

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “transfer” requests to query
about a transfer responded during the
reporting period

20

srs-dom-transfer-reject

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “transfer” requests to reject
transfers responded during the reporting
period

21

srs-dom-transfer-request

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “transfer” requests to request
transfers responded during the reporting
period

22

srs-dom-update

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
domain name “update” requests (not including
RGP restore requests) responded during the
reporting period

23

srs-host-check

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
host “check” requests responded during the
reporting period

24

srs-host-create

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
host “create” requests responded during the
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Field #

Field Name

Description
reporting period

25

srs-host-delete

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
host “delete” requests responded during the
reporting period

26

srs-host-info

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
host “info” requests responded during the
reporting period

27

srs-host-update

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
host “update” requests responded during the
reporting period

28

srs-cont-check

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “check” requests responded during the
reporting period

29

srs-cont-create

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “create” requests responded during the
reporting period

30

srs-cont-delete

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “delete” requests responded during the
reporting period

31

srs-cont-info

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “info” requests responded during the
reporting period

32

srs-cont-transfer-approve

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “transfer” requests to approve transfers
responded during the reporting period

33

srs-cont-transfer-cancel

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “transfer” requests to cancel transfers
responded during the reporting period

34

srs-cont-transfer-query

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “transfer” requests to query about a
transfer responded during the reporting period

35

srs-cont-transfer-reject

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “transfer” requests to reject transfers
responded during the reporting period

36

srs-cont-transfer-request

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “transfer” requests to request transfers
responded during the reporting period

37

srs-cont-update

number of SRS (EPP and any other interface)
contact “update” requests responded during the
reporting period
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The first line shall include the field names exactly as described in the table above as a
“header line” as described in section 2 of RFC 4180. No other lines besides the ones
described above shall be included. Line breaks shall be <U+000D, U+000A> as described in
RFC 4180.
For gTLDs that are part of a single-instance Shared Registry System, the Registry Functions
Activity Report may include the total contact or host transactions for all the gTLDs in the
system.
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SPECIFICATION 4
REGISTRATION DATA PUBLICATION SERVICES
1.

Registration Data Directory Services. Until ICANN requires a different protocol,
Registry Operator will operate a WHOIS service available via port 43 in accordance
with RFC 3912, and a web-based Directory Service at <whois.nic.TLD> providing
free public query-based access to at least the following elements in the following
format. ICANN reserves the right to specify alternative formats and protocols, and
upon such specification, the Registry Operator will implement such alternative
specification as soon as reasonably practicable.
Registry Operator shall implement a new standard supporting access to domain
name registration data (SAC 051) no later than one hundred thirty-five (135) days
after it is requested by ICANN if: 1) the IETF produces a standard (i.e., it is
published, at least, as a Proposed Standard RFC as specified in RFC 2026); and 2) its
implementation is commercially reasonable in the context of the overall operation
of the registry.
1.1.

The format of responses shall follow a semi-free text format outline below,
followed by a blank line and a legal disclaimer specifying the rights of
Registry Operator, and of the user querying the database.

1.2.

Each data object shall be represented as a set of key/value pairs, with lines
beginning with keys, followed by a colon and a space as delimiters, followed
by the value.

1.3.

For fields where more than one value exists, multiple key/value pairs with
the same key shall be allowed (for example to list multiple name servers).
The first key/value pair after a blank line should be considered the start of a
new record, and should be considered as identifying that record, and is used
to group data, such as hostnames and IP addresses, or a domain name and
registrant information, together.

1.4.

The fields specified below set forth the minimum output requirements.
Registry Operator may output data fields in addition to those specified
below, subject to approval by ICANN, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

1.5.

Domain Name Data:
1.5.1 Query format: whois EXAMPLE.TLD
1.5.2 Response format:
Domain Name: EXAMPLE.TLD
Domain ID: D1234567-TLD
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WHOIS Server: whois.example.tld
Referral URL: http://www.example.tld
Updated Date: 2009-05-29T20:13:00Z
Creation Date: 2000-10-08T00:45:00Z
Registry Expiry Date: 2010-10-08T00:44:59Z
Sponsoring Registrar: EXAMPLE REGISTRAR LLC
Sponsoring Registrar IANA ID: 5555555
Domain Status: clientDeleteProhibited
Domain Status: clientRenewProhibited
Domain Status: clientTransferProhibited
Domain Status: serverUpdateProhibited
Registrant ID: 5372808-ERL
Registrant Name: EXAMPLE REGISTRANT
Registrant Organization: EXAMPLE ORGANIZATION
Registrant Street: 123 EXAMPLE STREET
Registrant City: ANYTOWN
Registrant State/Province: AP
Registrant Postal Code: A1A1A1
Registrant Country: EX
Registrant Phone: +1.5555551212
Registrant Phone Ext: 1234
Registrant Fax: +1.5555551213
Registrant Fax Ext: 4321
Registrant Email: EMAIL@EXAMPLE.TLD
Admin ID: 5372809-ERL
Admin Name: EXAMPLE REGISTRANT ADMINISTRATIVE
Admin Organization: EXAMPLE REGISTRANT ORGANIZATION
Admin Street: 123 EXAMPLE STREET
Admin City: ANYTOWN
Admin State/Province: AP
Admin Postal Code: A1A1A1
Admin Country: EX
Admin Phone: +1.5555551212
Admin Phone Ext: 1234
Admin Fax: +1.5555551213
Admin Fax Ext:
Admin Email: EMAIL@EXAMPLE.TLD
Tech ID: 5372811-ERL
Tech Name: EXAMPLE REGISTRAR TECHNICAL
Tech Organization: EXAMPLE REGISTRAR LLC
Tech Street: 123 EXAMPLE STREET
Tech City: ANYTOWN
Tech State/Province: AP
Tech Postal Code: A1A1A1
Tech Country: EX
Tech Phone: +1.1235551234
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Tech Phone Ext: 1234
Tech Fax: +1.5555551213
Tech Fax Ext: 93
Tech Email: EMAIL@EXAMPLE.TLD
Name Server: NS01.EXAMPLEREGISTRAR.TLD
Name Server: NS02.EXAMPLEREGISTRAR.TLD
DNSSEC: signedDelegation
DNSSEC: unsigned
>>> Last update of WHOIS database: 2009-05-29T20:15:00Z <<<
1.6.

Registrar Data:
1.6.1 Query format: whois “registrar Example Registrar, Inc.”
1.6.2 Response format:
Registrar Name: Example Registrar, Inc.
Street: 1234 Admiralty Way
City: Marina del Rey
State/Province: CA
Postal Code: 90292
Country: US
Phone Number: +1.3105551212
Fax Number: +1.3105551213
Email: registrar@example.tld
WHOIS Server: whois.example-registrar.tld
Referral URL: http://www.example-registrar.tld
Admin Contact: Joe Registrar
Phone Number: +1.3105551213
Fax Number: +1.3105551213
Email: joeregistrar@example-registrar.tld
Admin Contact: Jane Registrar
Phone Number: +1.3105551214
Fax Number: +1.3105551213
Email: janeregistrar@example-registrar.tld
Technical Contact: John Geek
Phone Number: +1.3105551215
Fax Number: +1.3105551216
Email: johngeek@example-registrar.tld
>>> Last update of WHOIS database: 2009-05-29T20:15:00Z <<<

1.7.

Nameserver Data:
1.7.1 Query format: whois “nameserver (nameserver name)”, or whois
“nameserver (IP Address).” For example: whois “nameserver
NS1.EXAMPLE.TLD”.
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1.7.2 Response format:
Server Name: NS1.EXAMPLE.TLD
IP Address: 192.0.2.123
IP Address: 2001:0DB8::1
Registrar: Example Registrar, Inc.
WHOIS Server: whois.example-registrar.tld
Referral URL: http://www.example-registrar.tld
>>> Last update of WHOIS database: 2009-05-29T20:15:00Z <<<
1.8.

The format of the following data fields: domain status, individual and
organizational names, address, street, city, state/province, postal code,
country, telephone and fax numbers (the extension will be provided as a
separate field as shown above), email addresses, date and times should
conform to the mappings specified in EPP RFCs 5730-5734 so that the
display of this information (or values return in WHOIS responses) can be
uniformly processed and understood.

1.9.

In order to be compatible with ICANN’s common interface for WHOIS
(InterNIC), WHOIS output shall be in the format outline above.

1.10. Searchability. Offering searchability capabilities on the Directory Services is
optional but if offered by the Registry Operator it shall comply with the
specification described in this section.
1.10.1 Registry Operator will offer searchability on the web-based Directory
Service.
1.10.2 Registry Operator will offer partial match capabilities, at least, on the
following fields: domain name, contacts and registrant’s name, and
contact and registrant’s postal address, including all the sub-fields
described in EPP (e.g., street, city, state or province, etc.).
1.10.3 Registry Operator will offer exact-match capabilities, at least, on the
following fields: Registrar ID, name server name, and name server’s
IP address (only applies to IP addresses stored by the registry, i.e.,
glue records).
1.10.4 Registry Operator will offer Boolean search capabilities supporting, at
least, the following logical operators to join a set of search criteria:
AND, OR, NOT.
1.10.5 Search results will include domain names matching the search
criteria.
1.10.6 Registry Operator will: 1) implement appropriate measures to avoid
abuse of this feature (e.g., permitting access only to legitimate
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authorized users); and 2) ensure the feature is in compliance with any
applicable privacy laws or policies.
1.11. Registry Operator shall provide a link on the primary website for the TLD
(i.e., the website provided to ICANN for publishing on the ICANN website) to
a web page designated by ICANN containing WHOIS policy and educational
materials.
2.

Zone File Access
2.1.

Third-Party Access
2.1.1 Zone File Access Agreement. Registry Operator will enter into an
agreement with any Internet user, which will allow such user to
access an Internet host server or servers designated by Registry
Operator and download zone file data. The agreement will be
standardized, facilitated and administered by a Centralized Zone Data
Access Provider, which may be ICANN or an ICANN designee (the
“CZDA Provider”). Registry Operator (optionally through the CZDA
Provider) will provide access to zone file data per Section 2.1.3 of this
Specification and do so using the file format described in Section 2.1.4
of this Specification. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) the CZDA
Provider may reject the request for access of any user that does not
satisfy the credentialing requirements in Section 2.1.2 below; (b)
Registry Operator may reject the request for access of any user that
does not provide correct or legitimate credentials under Section 2.1.2
below or where Registry Operator reasonably believes will violate the
terms of Section 2.1.5. below; and, (c) Registry Operator may revoke
access of any user if Registry Operator has evidence to support that
the user has violated the terms of Section 2.1.5 below.
2.1.2 Credentialing Requirements. Registry Operator, through the
facilitation of the CZDA Provider, will request each user to provide it
with information sufficient to correctly identify and locate the user.
Such user information will include, without limitation, company name,
contact name, address, telephone number, facsimile number, email
address and IP address.
2.1.3 Grant of Access. Each Registry Operator (optionally through the
CZDA Provider) will provide the Zone File SFTP (or other Registry
supported) service for an ICANN-specified and managed URL
(specifically, <TLD>.zda.icann.org where <TLD> is the TLD for which
the registry is responsible) for the user to access the Registry’s zone
data archives. Registry Operator will grant the user a non-exclusive,
nontransferable, limited right to access Registry Operator’s
(optionally CZDA Provider's) Zone File hosting server, and to transfer
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a copy of the top-level domain zone files, and any associated
cryptographic checksum files no more than once per 24 hour period
using SFTP, or other data transport and access protocols that may be
prescribed by ICANN. For every zone file access server, the zone files
are in the top-level directory called <zone>.zone.gz, with
<zone>.zone.gz.md5 and <zone>.zone.gz.sig to verify downloads. If
the Registry Operator (or the CZDA Provider) also provides historical
data, it will use the naming pattern <zone>-yyyymmdd.zone.gz, etc.
2.1.4 File Format Standard. Registry Operator (optionally through the
CZDA Provider) will provide zone files using a subformat of the
standard Master File format as originally defined in RFC 1035, Section
5, including all the records present in the actual zone used in the
public DNS. Sub-format is as follows:
1.

Each record must include all fields in one line as:
<domain-name> <TTL> <class> <type> <RDATA>.

2.

Class and Type must use the standard mnemonics and must be
in lower case.

3.

TTL must be present as a decimal integer.

4.

Use of \X and \DDD inside domain names is allowed.

5.

All domain names must be in lower case.

6.

Must use exactly one tab as separator of fields inside a record.

7.

All domain names must be fully qualified.

8.

No $ORIGIN directives.

9.

No use of “@” to denote current origin.

10.

No use of “blank domain names” at the beginning of a record to
continue the use of the domain name in the previous record.

11.

No $INCLUDE directives.

12.

No $TTL directives.

13.

No use of parentheses, e.g., to continue the list of fields in a
record across a line boundary.

14.

No use of comments.

15.

No blank lines.
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16.

The SOA record should be present at the top and (duplicated
at) the end of the zone file.

17.

With the exception of the SOA record, all the records in a file
must be in alphabetical order.

18.

One zone per file. If a TLD divides its DNS data into multiple
zones, each zone goes into a separate file named as above, with
all the files combined using tar into a file called <tld>.zone.tar.

2.1.5 Use of Data by User. Registry Operator will permit user to use the
zone file for lawful purposes; provided that (a) user takes all
reasonable steps to protect against unauthorized access to, use of, and
disclosure of the data, and (b) under no circumstances will Registry
Operator be required or permitted to allow user to use the data to (i)
allow, enable or otherwise support any marketing activities to entities
other than the user’s existing customers, regardless of the medium
used (such media include but are not limited to transmission by
e-mail, telephone, facsimile, postal mail, SMS, and wireless alerts of
mass unsolicited, commercial advertising or solicitations to entities),
(ii) enable high volume, automated, electronic processes that send
queries or data to the systems of Registry Operator or any
ICANN-accredited registrar, or (iii) interrupt, disrupt or interfere in
the normal business operations of any registrant.
2.1.6 Term of Use. Registry Operator, through CZDA Provider, will provide
each user with access to the zone file for a period of not less than
three (3) months. Registry Operator will allow users to renew their
Grant of Access.
2.1.7 No Fee for Access. Registry Operator will provide, and CZDA
Provider will facilitate, access to the zone file to user at no cost.
2.2.

Co-operation
2.2.1 Assistance. Registry Operator will co-operate and provide
reasonable assistance to ICANN and the CZDA Provider to facilitate
and maintain the efficient access of zone file data by permitted users
as contemplated under this Schedule.

2.3.

ICANN Access. Registry Operator shall provide bulk access to the zone files
for the TLD to ICANN or its designee on a continuous basis in the manner
ICANN may reasonably specify from time to time. Access will be provided at
least daily. Zone files will include SRS data committed as close as possible to
00:00:00 UTC.
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2.4.

3.

Emergency Operator Access. Registry Operator shall provide bulk access
to the zone files for the TLD to the Emergency Operators designated by
ICANN on a continuous basis in the manner ICANN may reasonably specify
from time to time.

Bulk Registration Data Access to ICANN
3.1.

Periodic Access to Thin Registration Data. In order to verify and ensure
the operational stability of Registry Services as well as to facilitate
compliance checks on accredited registrars, Registry Operator will provide
ICANN on a weekly basis (the day to be designated by ICANN) with
up-to-date Registration Data as specified below. Data will include data
committed as of 00:00:00 UTC on the day previous to the one designated for
retrieval by ICANN.
3.1.1 Contents. Registry Operator will provide, at least, the following data
for all registered domain names: domain name, domain name
repository object id (roid), Registrar ID (IANA ID), statuses, last
updated date, creation date, expiration date, and name server names.
For sponsoring registrars, at least, it will provide: registrar name,
registrar id (IANA ID), hostname of registrar Whois server, and URL of
registrar.
3.1.2 Format. The data will be provided in the format specified in
Specification 2 for Data Escrow (including encryption, signing, etc.)
but including only the fields mentioned in the previous section, i.e.,
the file will only contain Domain and Registrar objects with the fields
mentioned above. Registry Operator has the option to provide a full
deposit file instead as specified in Specification 2.
3.1.3 Access. Registry Operator will have the file(s) ready for download as
of 00:00:00 UTC on the day designated for retrieval by ICANN. The
file(s) will be made available for download by SFTP, though ICANN
may request other means in the future.

3.2.

Exceptional Access to Thick Registration Data. In case of a registrar
failure, deaccreditation, court order, etc. that prompts the temporary or
definitive transfer of its domain names to another registrar, at the request of
ICANN, Registry Operator will provide ICANN with up-to-date data for the
domain names of the losing registrar. The data will be provided in the format
specified in Specification 2 for Data Escrow. The file will only contain data
related to the domain names of the losing registrar. Registry Operator will
provide the data as soon as commercially practicable, but in no event later
than five (5) calendar days following ICANN’s request. Unless otherwise
agreed by Registry Operator and ICANN, the file will be made available for
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download by ICANN in the same manner as the data specified in Section 3.1
of this Specification.
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SPECIFICATION 5
SCHEDULE OF RESERVED NAMES
Except to the extent that ICANN otherwise expressly authorizes in writing, and subject to
the terms and conditions of this Specification, Registry Operator shall reserve the following
labels from initial (i.e., other than renewal) registration within the TLD. If using
self-allocation, the Registry Operator must show the registration in the RDDS. In the case of
IDN names (as indicated below), IDN variants will be identified according to the registry
operator IDN registration policy, where applicable.
1.

Example. The ASCII label “EXAMPLE” shall be withheld from registration or
allocated to Registry Operator at the second level and at all other levels within the
TLD at which Registry Operator offers registrations (such second level and all other
levels are collectively referred to herein as, “All Levels”). Such label may not be
activated in the DNS, and may not be released for registration to any person or
entity other than Registry Operator. Upon conclusion of Registry Operator’s
designation as operator of the registry for the TLD, such withheld or allocated label
shall be transferred as specified by ICANN. Registry Operator may self-allocate and
renew such name without use of an ICANN accredited registrar, which will not be
considered Transactions for purposes of Section 6.1 of the Agreement.

2.

Two-character labels. All two-character ASCII labels shall be withheld from
registration or allocated to Registry Operator at the second level within the TLD.
Such labels may not be activated in the DNS, and may not be released for
registration to any person or entity other than Registry Operator, provided that
such two-character label strings may be released to the extent that Registry
Operator reaches agreement with the related government and country-code
manager of the string as specified in the ISO 3166-1 alpha-2 standard. The Registry
Operator may also propose the release of these reservations based on its
implementation of measures to avoid confusion with the corresponding country
codes, subject to approval by ICANN. Upon conclusion of Registry Operator’s
designation as operator of the registry for the TLD, all such labels that remain
withheld from registration or allocated to Registry Operator shall be transferred as
specified by ICANN. Registry Operator may self-allocate and renew such names
without use of an ICANN accredited registrar, which will not be considered
Transactions for purposes of Section 6.1 of the Agreement.

3.

Reservations for Registry Operations.
3.1.

The following ASCII labels must be withheld from registration or allocated to
Registry Operator at All Levels for use in connection with the operation of
the registry for the TLD: WWW, RDDS and WHOIS. The following ASCII label
must be allocated to Registry Operator upon delegation into the root zone at
All Levels for use in connection with the operation of the registry for the TLD:
NIC. Registry Operator may activate WWW, RDDS and WHOIS in the DNS,
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but must activate NIC in the DNS, as necessary for the operation of the TLD
(in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit A, the ASCII label NIC must be
provisioned in the DNS as a zone cut using NS resource records). None of
WWW, RDDS, WHOIS or NIC may be released or registered to any person
(other than Registry Operator) or third party. Upon conclusion of Registry
Operator’s designation as operator of the registry for the TLD all such
withheld or allocated names shall be transferred as specified by ICANN.
Registry Operator may self-allocate and renew such names without use of an
ICANN accredited registrar, which will not be considered Transactions for
purposes of Section 6.1 of the Agreement. Such domains shall be identified
by Registrar ID 9999.
3.1.1 If Exhibit A to the Agreement specifically provides that Registry
Operator may offer registration of IDNs, Registry Operator may also
activate a language-specific translation or transliteration of the term
"NIC" or an abbreviation for the translation of the term "Network
Information Center" in the DNS in accordance with Registry
Operator’s IDN Tables and IDN Registration Rules. Such translation,
transliteration or abbreviation may be reserved by Registry Operator
and used in addition to the label NIC to provide any required registry
functions. For the avoidance of doubt, Registry Operator is required
to activate the ASCII label NIC pursuant to Section 3.1 of this
Specification 3.
3.2.

Registry Operator may activate in the DNS at All Levels up to one hundred
(100) names (plus their IDN variants, where applicable) necessary for the
operation or the promotion of the TLD. Registry Operator must act as the
Registered Name Holder of such names as that term is defined in the
then-current ICANN Registrar Accreditation Agreement (RAA). These
activations will be considered Transactions for purposes of Section 6.1 of the
Agreement. Registry Operator must either (i) register such names through an
ICANN accredited registrar; or (ii) self-allocate such names and with respect
to those names submit to and be responsible to ICANN for compliance with
ICANN Consensus Policies and the obligations set forth in Subsections 3.7.7.1
through 3.7.7.12 of the then-current RAA (or any other replacement clause
setting out the terms of the registration agreement between a registrar and a
registered name holder). If Registry Operator chooses option (ii) above, it
shall identify these transactions using Registrar ID 9998. At Registry
Operator’s discretion and in compliance with all other terms of this
Agreement, including the RPMs set forth in Specification 7, such names may
be released for registration to another person or entity.

3.3.

Registry Operator may withhold from registration or allocate to Registry
Operator names (including their IDN variants, where applicable) at All Levels
in accordance with Section 2.6 of the Agreement. Such names may not be
activated in the DNS, but may be released for registration to Registry
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Operator or another person or entity at Registry Operator’s discretion,
subject to compliance with all the terms of this Agreement, including
applicable RPMs set forth in Specification 7. Upon conclusion of Registry
Operator’s designation as operator of the registry for the TLD, all such names
that remain withheld from registration or allocated to Registry Operator
shall be transferred as specified by ICANN. Upon ICANN’s request, Registry
Operator shall provide a listing of all names withheld or allocated to Registry
Operator pursuant to Section 2.6 of the Agreement. Registry Operator may
self-allocate and renew such names without use of an ICANN accredited
registrar, which will not be considered Transactions for purposes of Section
6.1 of the Agreement.
3.4.

4.

Effective upon the conclusion of the No-Activation Period specified in Section
6.1 of Specification 6, Registry Operator shall allocate the domain name
"icann-sla-monitoring.<tld>" to the ICANN testing registrar (as such registrar
is described in Section 8.2 of Specification 10). If such domain name is not
available for registration in the TLD or is otherwise inconsistent with the
registration policies of the TLD, Registry Operator may allocate a different
domain name to the ICANN testing registrar in consultation with ICANN. The
allocation of any such alternative domain name will be communicated to
ICANN following such consultation. The allocation of the domain name
"icann-sla-monitoring.<tld>" to the ICANN testing registrar will not (i) be
considered a Transaction for purposes of Section 6.1 of the Agreement, (ii)
count towards the one hundred domain names available to Registry Operator
under Section 3.2 of this Specification 5, or (iii) adversely affect Registry
Operator’s qualification as a .BRAND TLD pursuant to Specification 13
(.BRAND TLD Provisions) hereto (as applicable).

Country and Territory Names. The country and territory names (including their
IDN variants, where applicable) contained in the following internationally
recognized lists shall be withheld from registration or allocated to Registry Operator
at All Levels:
4.1.

the short form (in English) of all country and territory names contained on
the ISO 3166-1 list, as updated from time to time, including the European
Union, which is exceptionally reserved on the ISO 3166-1 list, and its scope
extended in August 1999 to any application needing to represent the name
European Union
<http://www.iso.org/iso/support/country_codes/iso_3166_code_lists/iso-3
166-1_decoding_table.htm>;

4.2.

the United Nations Group of Experts on Geographical Names, Technical
Reference Manual for the Standardization of Geographical Names, Part III
Names of Countries of the World; and
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4.3.

the list of United Nations member states in 6 official United Nations
languages prepared by the Working Group on Country Names of the United
Nations Conference on the Standardization of Geographical Names;

provided, that the reservation of specific country and territory names (including
their IDN variants according to the registry operator IDN registration policy, where
applicable) may be released to the extent that Registry Operator reaches agreement
with the applicable government(s). Registry Operator must not activate such names
in the DNS; provided, that Registry Operator may propose the release of these
reservations, subject to review by ICANN’s Governmental Advisory Committee and
approval by ICANN. Upon conclusion of Registry Operator’s designation as operator
of the registry for the TLD, all such names that remain withheld from registration or
allocated to Registry Operator shall be transferred as specified by ICANN. Registry
Operator may self-allocate and renew such names without use of an ICANN
accredited registrar, which will not be considered Transactions for purposes of
Section 6.1 of the Agreement.
5.

International Olympic Committee; International Red Cross and Red Crescent
Movement. As instructed from time to time by ICANN, the names (including their
IDN variants, where applicable) relating to the International Olympic Committee,
International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement listed at
http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/reserved shall be withheld from
registration or allocated to Registry Operator at the second level within the TLD.
Additional International Olympic Committee, International Red Cross and Red
Crescent Movement names (including their IDN variants) may be added to the list
upon ten (10) calendar days notice from ICANN to Registry Operator. Such names
may not be activated in the DNS, and may not be released for registration to any
person or entity other than Registry Operator. Upon conclusion of Registry
Operator’s designation as operator of the registry for the TLD, all such names
withheld from registration or allocated to Registry Operator shall be transferred as
specified by ICANN. Registry Operator may self-allocate and renew such names
without use of an ICANN accredited registrar, which will not be considered
Transactions for purposes of Section 6.1 of the Agreement.

6.

Intergovernmental Organizations. As instructed from time to time by ICANN,
Registry Operator will implement the protections mechanism determined by the
ICANN Board of Directors relating to the protection of identifiers for
Intergovernmental Organizations. A list of reserved names for this Section 6 is
available at http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/reserved. Additional
names (including their IDN variants) may be added to the list upon ten (10)
calendar days notice from ICANN to Registry Operator. Any such protected
identifiers for Intergovernmental Organizations may not be activated in the DNS,
and may not be released for registration to any person or entity other than Registry
Operator. Upon conclusion of Registry Operator’s designation as operator of the
registry for the TLD, all such protected identifiers shall be transferred as specified
by ICANN. Registry Operator may self-allocate and renew such names without use
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of an ICANN accredited registrar, which will not be considered Transactions for
purposes of Section 6.1 of the Agreement.
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SPECIFICATION 6
REGISTRY INTEROPERABILITY AND CONTINUITY SPECIFICATIONS
1.

Standards Compliance
1.1.

DNS. Registry Operator shall comply with relevant existing RFCs and those
published in the future by the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF),
including all successor standards, modifications or additions thereto relating
to the DNS and name server operations including without limitation RFCs
1034, 1035, 1123, 1982, 2181, 2182, 3226, 3596, 3597, 4343, 5966 and
6891. DNS labels may only include hyphens in the third and fourth position
if they represent valid IDNs (as specified above) in their ASCII encoding (e.g.,
“xn--ndk061n”).

1.2.

EPP. Registry Operator shall comply with relevant existing RFCs and those
published in the future by the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF)
including all successor standards, modifications or additions thereto relating
to the provisioning and management of domain names using the Extensible
Provisioning Protocol (EPP) in conformance with RFCs 5910, 5730, 5731,
5732 (if using host objects), 5733 and 5734. If Registry Operator implements
Registry Grace Period (RGP), it will comply with RFC 3915 and its successors.
If Registry Operator requires the use of functionality outside the base EPP
RFCs, Registry Operator must document EPP extensions in Internet-Draft
format following the guidelines described in RFC 3735. Registry Operator
will provide and update the relevant documentation of all the EPP Objects
and Extensions supported to ICANN prior to deployment.

1.3.

DNSSEC. Registry Operator shall sign its TLD zone files implementing
Domain Name System Security Extensions (“DNSSEC”). For the absence of
doubt, Registry Operator shall sign the zone file of <TLD> and zone files used
for in-bailiwick glue for the TLD’s DNS servers. During the Term, Registry
Operator shall comply with RFCs 4033, 4034, 4035, 4509 and their
successors, and follow the best practices described in RFC 6781 and its
successors. If Registry Operator implements Hashed Authenticated Denial of
Existence for DNS Security Extensions, it shall comply with RFC 5155 and its
successors. Registry Operator shall accept public-key material from child
domain names in a secure manner according to industry best practices.
Registry shall also publish in its website the DNSSEC Practice Statements
(DPS) describing critical security controls and procedures for key material
storage, access and usage for its own keys and secure acceptance of
registrants’ public-key material. Registry Operator shall publish its DPS
following the format described in RFC 6841. DNSSEC validation must be
active and use the IANA DNS Root Key Signing Key set (available at
https://www.iana.org/dnssec/files) as a trust anchor for Registry Operator’s
Registry Services making use of data obtained via DNS responses.
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2.

1.4.

IDN. If the Registry Operator offers Internationalized Domain Names
(“IDNs”), it shall comply with RFCs 5890, 5891, 5892, 5893 and their
successors. Registry Operator shall comply with the ICANN IDN Guidelines
at <http://www.icann.org/en/topics/idn/implementation-guidelines.htm>,
as they may be amended, modified, or superseded from time to time.
Registry Operator shall publish and keep updated its IDN Tables and IDN
Registration Rules in the IANA Repository of IDN Practices.

1.5.

IPv6. Registry Operator shall be able to accept IPv6 addresses as glue
records in its Registry System and publish them in the DNS. Registry
Operator shall offer public IPv6 transport for, at least, two of the Registry’s
name servers listed in the root zone with the corresponding IPv6 addresses
registered with IANA. Registry Operator should follow “DNS IPv6 Transport
Operational Guidelines” as described in BCP 91 and the recommendations
and considerations described in RFC 4472. Registry Operator shall offer
public IPv6 transport for its Registration Data Publication Services as defined
in Specification 4 of this Agreement; e.g., Whois (RFC 3912), Web based
Whois. Registry Operator shall offer public IPv6 transport for its Shared
Registration System (SRS) to any Registrar, no later than six (6) months after
receiving the first request in writing from a gTLD accredited Registrar willing
to operate with the SRS over IPv6.

1.6.

IANA Rootzone Database. In order to ensure that authoritative information
about the TLD remains publicly available, Registry Operator shall submit a
change request to the IANA functions operator updating any outdated or
inaccurate DNS or WHOIS records of the TLD. Registry Operator shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to submit any such change request no later
than seven (7) calendar days after the date any such DNS or WHOIS records
becomes outdated or inaccurate. Registry Operator must submit all change
requests in accordance with the procedures set forth at
<http://www.iana.org/domains/root>.

1.7.

Network Ingress Filtering. Registry Operator shall implement network
ingress filtering checks for its Registry Services as described in BCP 38 and
BCP 84, which ICANN will also implement.

Registry Services
2.1.

Registry Services. “Registry Services” are, for purposes of the Agreement,
defined as the following: (a) those services that are operations of the
registry critical to the following tasks: the receipt of data from registrars
concerning registrations of domain names and name servers; provision to
registrars of status information relating to the zone servers for the TLD;
dissemination of TLD zone files; operation of the registry DNS servers; and
dissemination of contact and other information concerning domain name
server registrations in the TLD as required by this Agreement; (b) other
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products or services that the Registry Operator is required to provide
because of the establishment of a Consensus Policy as defined in
Specification 1; (c) any other products or services that only a registry
operator is capable of providing, by reason of its designation as the registry
operator; and (d) material changes to any Registry Service within the scope
of (a), (b) or (c) above.
2.2.

3.

Wildcard Prohibition. For domain names which are either not registered,
or the registrant has not supplied valid records such as NS records for listing
in the DNS zone file, or their status does not allow them to be published in
the DNS, the use of DNS wildcard Resource Records as described in RFCs
1034 and 4592 or any other method or technology for synthesizing DNS
Resources Records or using redirection within the DNS by the Registry is
prohibited. When queried for such domain names the authoritative name
servers must return a “Name Error” response (also known as NXDOMAIN),
RCODE 3 as described in RFC 1035 and related RFCs. This provision applies
for all DNS zone files at all levels in the DNS tree for which the Registry
Operator (or an affiliate engaged in providing Registration Services)
maintains data, arranges for such maintenance, or derives revenue from such
maintenance.

Registry Continuity
3.1.

High Availability. Registry Operator will conduct its operations using
network and geographically diverse, redundant servers (including
network-level redundancy, end-node level redundancy and the
implementation of a load balancing scheme where applicable) to ensure
continued operation in the case of technical failure (widespread or local), or
an extraordinary occurrence or circumstance beyond the control of the
Registry Operator. Registry Operator’s emergency operations department
shall be available at all times to respond to extraordinary occurrences.

3.2.

Extraordinary Event. Registry Operator will use commercially reasonable
efforts to restore the critical functions of the registry within twenty-four (24)
hours after the termination of an extraordinary event beyond the control of
the Registry Operator and restore full system functionality within a
maximum of forty-eight (48) hours following such event, depending on the
type of critical function involved. Outages due to such an event will not be
considered a lack of service availability.

3.3.

Business Continuity. Registry Operator shall maintain a business continuity
plan, which will provide for the maintenance of Registry Services in the event
of an extraordinary event beyond the control of the Registry Operator or
business failure of Registry Operator, and may include the designation of a
Registry Services continuity provider. If such plan includes the designation
of a Registry Services continuity provider, Registry Operator shall provide
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the name and contact information for such Registry Services continuity
provider to ICANN. In the case of an extraordinary event beyond the control
of the Registry Operator where the Registry Operator cannot be contacted,
Registry Operator consents that ICANN may contact the designated Registry
Services continuity provider, if one exists. Registry Operator shall conduct
Registry Services Continuity testing at least once per year.
4.

5.

6.

Abuse Mitigation
4.1.

Abuse Contact. Registry Operator shall provide to ICANN and publish on its
website its accurate contact details including a valid email and mailing
address as well as a primary contact for handling inquiries related to
malicious conduct in the TLD, and will provide ICANN with prompt notice of
any changes to such contact details.

4.2.

Malicious Use of Orphan Glue Records. Registry Operator shall take action
to remove orphan glue records (as defined at
http://www.icann.org/en/committees/security/sac048.pdf) when provided
with evidence in written form that such records are present in connection
with malicious conduct.

Supported Initial and Renewal Registration Periods
5.1.

Initial Registration Periods. Initial registrations of registered names may
be made in the registry in one (1) year increments for up to a maximum of
ten (10) years. For the avoidance of doubt, initial registrations of registered
names may not exceed ten (10) years.

5.2.

Renewal Periods. Renewal of registered names may be made in one (1)
year increments for up to a maximum of ten (10) years. For the avoidance of
doubt, renewal of registered names may not extend their registration period
beyond ten (10) years from the time of the renewal.

Name Collision Occurrence Management
6.1.

No-Activation Period. Registry Operator shall not activate any names in the
DNS zone for the Registry TLD (except for "NIC") until at least 120 calendar
days after the effective date of this agreement. Registry Operator may
allocate names (subject to subsection 6.2 below) during this period only if
Registry Operator causes registrants to be clearly informed of the inability to
activate names until the No-Activation Period ends.

6.2.

Name Collision Occurrence Assessment
6.2.1 Registry Operator shall not activate any names in the DNS zone for the
Registry TLD except in compliance with a Name Collision Occurrence
Assessment provided by ICANN regarding the Registry TLD. Registry
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Operator will either (A) implement the mitigation measures described
in its Name Collision Occurrence Assessment before activating any
second-level domain name, or (B) block those second-level domain
names for which the mitigation measures as described in the Name
Collision Occurrence Assessment have not been implemented and
proceed with activating names that are not listed in the Assessment.
6.2.2 Notwithstanding subsection 6.2.1, Registry Operator may proceed
with activation of names in the DNS zone without implementation of
the measures set forth in Section 6.2.1 only if (A) ICANN determines
that the Registry TLD is eligible for this alternative path to activation
of names; and (B) Registry Operator blocks all second-level domain
names identified by ICANN and set forth at
<http://newgtlds.icann.org/en/announcements-and-media/announc
ement-2-17nov13-en> as such list may be modified by ICANN from time to
time. Registry Operator may activate names pursuant to this
subsection and later activate names pursuant to subsection 6.2.1.
6.2.3 The sets of names subject to mitigation or blocking pursuant to
Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2 will be based on ICANN analysis of DNS
information including "Day in the Life of the Internet" data
maintained by the DNS Operations, Analysis, and Research Center
(DNS-OARC) <https://www.dns-oarc.net/oarc/data/ditl>.
6.2.4 Registry Operator may participate in the development by the ICANN
community of a process for determining whether and how these
blocked names may be released.
6.2.5 If ICANN determines that the TLD is ineligible for the alternative path
to activation of names, ICANN may elect not to delegate the TLD
pending completion of the final Name Collision Occurrence
Assessment for the TLD, and Registry Operator’s completion of all
required mitigation measures. Registry Operator understands that the
mitigation measures required by ICANN as a condition to activation of
names in the DNS zone for the TLD may include, without limitation,
mitigation measures such as those described in Section 3.2 of the New
gTLD Name Collision Occurrence Management Plan approved by the
ICANN Board New gTLD Program Committee (NGPC) on 7 October
2013 as found at
<http://www.icann.org/en/groups/board/documents/resolutions-n
ew-gtld-annex-1-07oct13-en.pdf>.
6.3.

Name Collision Report Handling
6.3.1 During the first two years after delegation of the TLD, Registry
Operator’s emergency operations department shall be available to
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receive reports, relayed by ICANN, alleging demonstrably severe harm
from collisions with overlapping use of the names outside of the
authoritative DNS.
6.3.2 Registry Operator shall develop an internal process for handling in an
expedited manner reports received pursuant to subsection 6.3.1
under which Registry Operator may, to the extent necessary and
appropriate, remove a recently activated name from the TLD zone for
a period of up to two years in order to allow the affected party to
make changes to its systems.
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SPECIFICATION 7
MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR RIGHTS PROTECTION MECHANISMS
1.

Rights Protection Mechanisms. Registry Operator shall implement and adhere to
the rights protection mechanisms (“RPMs”) specified in this Specification. In
addition to such RPMs, Registry Operator may develop and implement additional
RPMs that discourage or prevent registration of domain names that violate or abuse
another party’s legal rights. Registry Operator will include all RPMs required by this
Specification 7 and any additional RPMs developed and implemented by Registry
Operator in the Registry-Registrar Agreement entered into by ICANN-accredited
registrars authorized to register names in the TLD. Registry Operator shall
implement in accordance with requirements set forth therein each of the mandatory
RPMs set forth in the Trademark Clearinghouse as of the date hereof, as posted at
http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/tmch-requirements (the
“Trademark Clearinghouse Requirements”), which may be revised in immaterial
respects by ICANN from time to time. Registry Operator shall not mandate that any
owner of applicable intellectual property rights use any other trademark
information aggregation, notification, or validation service in addition to or instead
of the ICANN-designated Trademark Clearinghouse. If there is a conflict between
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Trademark Clearinghouse
Requirements, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. Registry
Operator must enter into a binding and enforceable Registry-Registrar Agreement
with at least one ICANN accredited registrar authorizing such registrar(s) to register
domain names in the TLD as follows:
a.

if Registry Operator conducts a Qualified Launch Program or is authorized by
ICANN to conduct an Approved Launch Program (as those terms are defined
in the Trademark Clearinghouse Requirements), Registry Operator must
enter into a binding and enforceable Registry-Registrar Agreement with at
least one ICANN accredited registrar prior to allocating any domain names
pursuant to such Qualified Launch Program or Approved Launch Program, as
applicable;

b.

if Registry Operator does not conduct a Qualified Launch Program or is not
authorized by ICANN to conduct an Approved Launch Program, Registry
Operator must enter into a binding and enforceable Registry-Registrar
Agreement with at least one ICANN accredited registrar at least thirty (30)
calendar days prior to the expiration date of the Sunrise Period (as defined in
the Trademark Clearinghouse Requirements) for the TLD; or

c.

if this Agreement contains a Specification 13, Registry Operator must enter
into a binding and enforceable Registry-Registrar Agreement with at least
one ICANN accredited registrar prior to the Claims Commencement Date (as
defined in Specification 13).
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Nothing in this Specification 7 shall limit or waive any other obligations or
requirements of this Agreement applicable to Registry Operator, including Section
2.9(a) and Specification 9.
2.

Dispute Resolution Mechanisms. Registry Operator will comply with the
following dispute resolution mechanisms as they may be revised from time to time:
a.

the Trademark Post-Delegation Dispute Resolution Procedure (PDDRP) and
the Registration Restriction Dispute Resolution Procedure (RRDRP) adopted
by ICANN (posted at http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/pddrp
and http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/rrdrp, respectively).
Registry Operator agrees to implement and adhere to any remedies ICANN
imposes (which may include any reasonable remedy, including for the
avoidance of doubt, the termination of the Registry Agreement pursuant to
Section 4.3(e) of the Agreement) following a determination by any PDDRP or
RRDRP panel and to be bound by any such determination; and

b.

the Uniform Rapid Suspension system (“URS”) adopted by ICANN (posted at
http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/urs), including the
implementation of determinations issued by URS examiners.
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SPECIFICATION 8
CONTINUED OPERATIONS INSTRUMENT
1.

The Continued Operations Instrument shall (a) provide for sufficient financial
resources to ensure the continued operation of the critical registry functions related
to the TLD set forth in Section 6 of Specification 10 to this Agreement for a period of
three (3) years following any termination of this Agreement on or prior to the fifth
anniversary of the Effective Date or for a period of one (1) year following any
termination of this Agreement after the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date but
prior to or on the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Effective Date, and (b) be in the form
of either (i) an irrevocable standby letter of credit, or (ii) an irrevocable cash escrow
deposit, each meeting the requirements set forth in item 50(b) of Attachment to
Module 2 – Evaluation Questions and Criteria – of the gTLD Applicant Guidebook, as
published and supplemented by ICANN prior to the date hereof (which is hereby
incorporated by reference into this Specification 8). Registry Operator shall use its
best efforts to take all actions necessary or advisable to maintain in effect the
Continued Operations Instrument for a period of six (6) years from the Effective
Date, and to maintain ICANN as a third party beneficiary thereof. If Registry
Operator elects to obtain an irrevocable standby letter of credit but the term
required above is unobtainable, Registry Operator may obtain a letter of credit with
a one-year term and an “evergreen provision,” providing for annual extensions,
without amendment, for an indefinite number of additional periods until the issuing
bank informs ICANN of its final expiration or until ICANN releases the letter of credit
as evidenced in writing, if the letter of credit otherwise meets the requirements set
forth in item 50(b) of Attachment to Module 2 – Evaluation Questions and Criteria –
of the gTLD Applicant Guidebook, as published and supplemented by ICANN prior to
the date hereof; provided, however, that if the issuing bank informs ICANN of the
expiration of such letter of credit prior to the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Effective
Date, such letter of credit must provide that ICANN is entitled to draw the funds
secured by the letter of credit prior to such expiration. The letter of credit must
require the issuing bank to give ICANN at least thirty (30) calendar days’ notice of
any such expiration or non-renewal. If the letter of credit expires or is terminated at
any time prior to the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Effective Date, Registry Operator
will be required to obtain a replacement Continued Operations Instrument. ICANN
may draw the funds under the original letter of credit, if the replacement Continued
Operations Instrument is not in place prior to the expiration of the original letter of
credit. Registry Operator shall provide to ICANN copies of all final documents
relating to the Continued Operations Instrument and shall keep ICANN reasonably
informed of material developments relating to the Continued Operations
Instrument. Registry Operator shall not agree to, or permit, any amendment of, or
waiver under, the Continued Operations Instrument or other documentation
relating thereto without the prior written consent of ICANN (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld).
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2.

If, notwithstanding the use of best efforts by Registry Operator to satisfy its
obligations under the preceding paragraph, the Continued Operations Instrument
expires or is terminated by another party thereto, in whole or in part, for any
reason, prior to the sixth anniversary of the Effective Date, Registry Operator shall
promptly (i) notify ICANN of such expiration or termination and the reasons
therefor and (ii) arrange for an alternative instrument that provides for sufficient
financial resources to ensure the continued operation of the critical registry
functions related to the TLD set forth in Section 6 of Specification 10 to this
Agreement for a period of three (3) years following any termination of this
Agreement on or prior to the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date or for a period of
one (1) year following any termination of this Agreement after the fifth anniversary
of the Effective Date but prior to or on the sixth (6) anniversary of the Effective Date
(an “Alternative Instrument”). Any such Alternative Instrument shall be on terms
no less favorable to ICANN than the Continued Operations Instrument and shall
otherwise be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to ICANN.

3.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Specification 8, at any
time, Registry Operator may replace the Continued Operations Instrument with an
Alternative Instrument that (i) provides for sufficient financial resources to ensure
the continued operation of the critical registry functions related to the TLD set forth
in Section 6 of Specification 10 to this Agreement for a period of three (3) years
following any termination of this Agreement on or prior to the fifth anniversary of
the Effective Date or for a period one (1) year following any termination of this
Agreement after the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date but prior to or on the
sixth (6) anniversary of the Effective Date, and (ii) contains terms no less favorable
to ICANN than the Continued Operations Instrument and is otherwise in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to ICANN. In the event Registry Operator replaces
the Continued Operations Instrument either pursuant to paragraph 2 or this
paragraph 3, the terms of this Specification 8 shall no longer apply with respect to
the original Continuing Operations Instrument, but shall thereafter apply with
respect to such Alternative Instrument(s), and such instrument shall thereafter be
considered the Continued Operations Instrument for purposes of this Agreement.
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SPECIFICATION 9
REGISTRY OPERATOR CODE OF CONDUCT
1.

In connection with the operation of the registry for the TLD, Registry Operator will
not, and will not allow any parent, subsidiary, Affiliate, subcontractor or other
related entity, to the extent such party is engaged in the provision of Registry
Services with respect to the TLD (each, a “Registry Related Party”), to:
a.

directly or indirectly show any preference or provide any special
consideration to any registrar with respect to operational access to registry
systems and related registry services, unless comparable opportunities to
qualify for such preferences or considerations are made available to all
registrars on substantially similar terms and subject to substantially similar
conditions;

b.

register domain names in its own right, except for names registered through
an ICANN accredited registrar; provided, however, that Registry Operator
may (a) reserve names from registration pursuant to Section 2.6 of the
Agreement and (b) may withhold from registration or allocate to Registry
Operator up to one hundred (100) names pursuant to Section 3.2 of
Specification 5;

c.

register names in the TLD or sub-domains of the TLD based upon proprietary
access to information about searches or resolution requests by consumers
for domain names not yet registered (commonly known as, “front-running”);
or

d.

allow any Affiliated registrar to disclose Personal Data about registrants to
Registry Operator or any Registry Related Party, except as reasonably
necessary for the management and operations of the TLD, unless all
unrelated third parties (including other registry operators) are given
equivalent access to such user data on substantially similar terms and subject
to substantially similar conditions.

2.

If Registry Operator or a Registry Related Party also operates as a provider of
registrar or registrar-reseller services, Registry Operator will, or will cause such
Registry Related Party to, ensure that such services are offered through a legal
entity separate from Registry Operator, and maintain separate books of accounts
with respect to its registrar or registrar-reseller operations.

3.

If Registry Operator or a Registry Related Party also operates as a provider of
registrar or registrar-reseller services, Registry Operator will conduct internal
reviews at least once per calendar year to ensure compliance with this Code of
Conduct. Within twenty (20) calendar days following the end of each calendar year,
Registry Operator will provide the results of the internal review, along with a
certification executed by an executive officer of Registry Operator certifying as to
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Registry Operator’s compliance with this Code of Conduct, via email to an address to
be provided by ICANN. (ICANN may specify in the future the form and contents of
such reports or that the reports be delivered by other reasonable means.) Registry
Operator agrees that ICANN may publicly post such results and certification;
provided, however, ICANN shall not disclose Confidential Information contained in
such results except in accordance with Section 7.15 of the Agreement.
4.

Nothing set forth herein shall: (i) limit ICANN from conducting investigations of
claims of Registry Operator’s non-compliance with this Code of Conduct; or (ii)
provide grounds for Registry Operator to refuse to cooperate with ICANN
investigations of claims of Registry Operator’s non-compliance with this Code of
Conduct.

5.

Nothing set forth herein shall limit the ability of Registry Operator or any Registry
Related Party, to enter into arms-length transactions in the ordinary course of
business with a registrar or reseller with respect to products and services unrelated
in all respects to the TLD.

6.

Registry Operator may request an exemption to this Code of Conduct, and such
exemption may be granted by ICANN in ICANN’s reasonable discretion, if Registry
Operator demonstrates to ICANN’s reasonable satisfaction that (i) all domain name
registrations in the TLD are registered to, and maintained by, Registry Operator for
the exclusive use of Registry Operator or its Affiliates, (ii) Registry Operator does
not sell, distribute or transfer control or use of any registrations in the TLD to any
third party that is not an Affiliate of Registry Operator, and (iii) application of this
Code of Conduct to the TLD is not necessary to protect the public interest.
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SPECIFICATION 10
REGISTRY PERFORMANCE SPECIFICATIONS
1.

2.

Definitions
1.1.

DNS. Refers to the Domain Name System as specified in RFCs 1034, 1035,
and related RFCs.

1.2.

DNSSEC proper resolution. There is a valid DNSSEC chain of trust from the
root trust anchor to a particular domain name, e.g., a TLD, a domain name
registered under a TLD, etc.

1.3.

EPP. Refers to the Extensible Provisioning Protocol as specified in RFC 5730
and related RFCs.

1.4.

IP address. Refers to IPv4 or IPv6 addresses without making any distinction
between the two. When there is need to make a distinction, IPv4 or IPv6 is
used.

1.5.

Probes. Network hosts used to perform (DNS, EPP, etc.) tests (see below)
that are located at various global locations.

1.6.

RDDS. Registration Data Directory Services refers to the collective of WHOIS
and Web-based WHOIS services as defined in Specification 4 of this
Agreement.

1.7.

RTT. Round-Trip Time or RTT refers to the time measured from the sending
of the first bit of the first packet of the sequence of packets needed to make a
request until the reception of the last bit of the last packet of the sequence
needed to receive the response. If the client does not receive the whole
sequence of packets needed to consider the response as received, the request
will be considered unanswered.

1.8.

SLR. Service Level Requirement is the level of service expected for a certain
parameter being measured in a Service Level Agreement (SLA).

Service Level Agreement Matrix
Parameter

DNS

RDDS

SLR (monthly basis)

DNS service availability
DNS name server availability
TCP DNS resolution RTT
UDP DNS resolution RTT
DNS update time
RDDS availability

0 min downtime = 100% availability
 432 min of downtime ( 99%)
 1500 ms, for at least 95% of the queries
 500 ms, for at least 95% of the queries
 60 min, for at least 95% of the probes
 864 min of downtime ( 98%)
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EPP

RDDS query RTT
RDDS update time
EPP service availability
EPP session-command RTT
EPP query-command RTT
EPP transform-command RTT

 2000 ms, for at least 95% of the queries
 60 min, for at least 95% of the probes
 864 min of downtime ( 98%)
 4000 ms, for at least 90% of the commands
 2000 ms, for at least 90% of the commands
 4000 ms, for at least 90% of the commands

Registry Operator is encouraged to do maintenance for the different services at the times
and dates of statistically lower traffic for each service. However, note that there is no
provision for planned outages or similar periods of unavailable or slow service; any
downtime, be it for maintenance or due to system failures, will be noted simply as
downtime and counted for SLA purposes.
3.

DNS
3.1.

DNS service availability. Refers to the ability of the group of
listed-as-authoritative name servers of a particular domain name (e.g., a
TLD), to answer DNS queries from DNS probes. For the service to be
considered available at a particular moment, at least, two of the delegated
name servers registered in the DNS must have successful results from “DNS
tests” to each of their public-DNS registered “IP addresses” to which the
name server resolves. If 51% or more of the DNS testing probes see the
service as unavailable during a given time, the DNS service will be considered
unavailable.

3.2.

DNS name server availability. Refers to the ability of a public-DNS
registered “IP address” of a particular name server listed as authoritative for
a domain name, to answer DNS queries from an Internet user. All the public
DNS-registered “IP address” of all name servers of the domain name being
monitored shall be tested individually. If 51% or more of the DNS testing
probes get undefined/unanswered results from “DNS tests” to a name server
“IP address” during a given time, the name server “IP address” will be
considered unavailable.

3.3.

UDP DNS resolution RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of two packets,
the UDP DNS query and the corresponding UDP DNS response. If the RTT is
5 times greater than the time specified in the relevant SLR, the RTT will be
considered undefined.

3.4.

TCP DNS resolution RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of packets
from the start of the TCP connection to its end, including the reception of the
DNS response for only one DNS query. If the RTT is 5 times greater than the
time specified in the relevant SLR, the RTT will be considered undefined.

3.5.

DNS resolution RTT. Refers to either “UDP DNS resolution RTT” or “TCP
DNS resolution RTT”.
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3.6.

DNS update time. Refers to the time measured from the reception of an EPP
confirmation to a transform command on a domain name, until the name
servers of the parent domain name answer “DNS queries” with data
consistent with the change made. This only applies for changes to DNS
information.

3.7.

DNS test. Means one non-recursive DNS query sent to a particular “IP
address” (via UDP or TCP). If DNSSEC is offered in the queried DNS zone, for
a query to be considered answered, the signatures must be positively verified
against a corresponding DS record published in the parent zone or, if the
parent is not signed, against a statically configured Trust Anchor. The
answer to the query must contain the corresponding information from the
Registry System, otherwise the query will be considered unanswered. A
query with a “DNS resolution RTT” 5 times higher than the corresponding
SLR, will be considered unanswered. The possible results to a DNS test are:
a number in milliseconds corresponding to the “DNS resolution RTT” or,
undefined/unanswered.

3.8.

Measuring DNS parameters. Every minute, every DNS probe will make an
UDP or TCP “DNS test” to each of the public-DNS registered “IP addresses”
of the name servers of the domain name being monitored. If a “DNS test”
result is undefined/unanswered, the tested IP will be considered unavailable
from that probe until it is time to make a new test.

3.9.

Collating the results from DNS probes. The minimum number of active
testing probes to consider a measurement valid is 20 at any given
measurement period, otherwise the measurements will be discarded and will
be considered inconclusive; during this situation no fault will be flagged
against the SLRs.

3.10. Distribution of UDP and TCP queries. DNS probes will send UDP or TCP
“DNS test” approximating the distribution of these queries.
3.11. Placement of DNS probes. Probes for measuring DNS parameters shall be
placed as near as possible to the DNS resolvers on the networks with the
most users across the different geographic regions; care shall be taken not to
deploy probes behind high propagation-delay links, such as satellite links.
4.

RDDS
4.1.

RDDS availability. Refers to the ability of all the RDDS services for the TLD,
to respond to queries from an Internet user with appropriate data from the
relevant Registry System. If 51% or more of the RDDS testing probes see any
of the RDDS services as unavailable during a given time, the RDDS will be
considered unavailable.
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4.2.

WHOIS query RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of packets from the
start of the TCP connection to its end, including the reception of the WHOIS
response. If the RTT is 5-times or more the corresponding SLR, the RTT will
be considered undefined.

4.3.

Web-based-WHOIS query RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of
packets from the start of the TCP connection to its end, including the
reception of the HTTP response for only one HTTP request. If Registry
Operator implements a multiple-step process to get to the information, only
the last step shall be measured. If the RTT is 5-times or more the
corresponding SLR, the RTT will be considered undefined.

4.4.

RDDS query RTT. Refers to the collective of “WHOIS query RTT” and
“Web-based- WHOIS query RTT”.

4.5.

RDDS update time. Refers to the time measured from the reception of an
EPP confirmation to a transform command on a domain name, host or
contact, up until the servers of the RDDS services reflect the changes made.

4.6.

RDDS test. Means one query sent to a particular “IP address” of one of the
servers of one of the RDDS services. Queries shall be about existing objects
in the Registry System and the responses must contain the corresponding
information otherwise the query will be considered unanswered. Queries
with an RTT 5 times higher than the corresponding SLR will be considered as
unanswered. The possible results to an RDDS test are: a number in
milliseconds corresponding to the RTT or undefined/unanswered.

4.7.

Measuring RDDS parameters. Every 5 minutes, RDDS probes will select
one IP address from all the public-DNS registered “IP addresses” of the
servers for each RDDS service of the TLD being monitored and make an
“RDDS test” to each one. If an “RDDS test” result is undefined/unanswered,
the corresponding RDDS service will be considered as unavailable from that
probe until it is time to make a new test.

4.8.

Collating the results from RDDS probes. The minimum number of active
testing probes to consider a measurement valid is 10 at any given
measurement period, otherwise the measurements will be discarded and will
be considered inconclusive; during this situation no fault will be flagged
against the SLRs.

4.9.

Placement of RDDS probes. Probes for measuring RDDS parameters shall
be placed inside the networks with the most users across the different
geographic regions; care shall be taken not to deploy probes behind high
propagation-delay links, such as satellite links.
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5.

EPP
5.1.

EPP service availability. Refers to the ability of the TLD EPP servers as a
group, to respond to commands from the Registry accredited Registrars, who
already have credentials to the servers. The response shall include
appropriate data from the Registry System. An EPP command with “EPP
command RTT” 5 times higher than the corresponding SLR will be
considered as unanswered. If 51% or more of the EPP testing probes see the
EPP service as unavailable during a given time, the EPP service will be
considered unavailable.

5.2.

EPP session-command RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of packets
that includes the sending of a session command plus the reception of the EPP
response for only one EPP session command. For the login command it will
include packets needed for starting the TCP session. For the logout
command it will include packets needed for closing the TCP session. EPP
session commands are those described in section 2.9.1 of EPP RFC 5730. If
the RTT is 5 times or more the corresponding SLR, the RTT will be
considered undefined.

5.3.

EPP query-command RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of packets
that includes the sending of a query command plus the reception of the EPP
response for only one EPP query command. It does not include packets
needed for the start or close of either the EPP or the TCP session. EPP query
commands are those described in section 2.9.2 of EPP RFC 5730. If the RTT
is 5-times or more the corresponding SLR, the RTT will be considered
undefined.

5.4.

EPP transform-command RTT. Refers to the RTT of the sequence of
packets that includes the sending of a transform command plus the reception
of the EPP response for only one EPP transform command. It does not
include packets needed for the start or close of either the EPP or the TCP
session. EPP transform commands are those described in section 2.9.3 of
EPP RFC 5730. If the RTT is 5 times or more the corresponding SLR, the RTT
will be considered undefined.

5.5.

EPP command RTT. Refers to “EPP session-command RTT”, “EPP
query-command RTT” or “EPP transform-command RTT”.

5.6.

EPP test. Means one EPP command sent to a particular “IP address” for one
of the EPP servers. Query and transform commands, with the exception of
“create”, shall be about existing objects in the Registry System. The response
shall include appropriate data from the Registry System. The possible results
to an EPP test are: a number in milliseconds corresponding to the “EPP
command RTT” or undefined/unanswered.
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5.7.

Measuring EPP parameters. Every 5 minutes, EPP probes will select one
“IP address” of the EPP servers of the TLD being monitored and make an
“EPP test”; every time they should alternate between the 3 different types of
commands and between the commands inside each category. If an “EPP
test” result is undefined/unanswered, the EPP service will be considered as
unavailable from that probe until it is time to make a new test.

5.8.

Collating the results from EPP probes. The minimum number of active
testing probes to consider a measurement valid is 5 at any given
measurement period, otherwise the measurements will be discarded and will
be considered inconclusive; during this situation no fault will be flagged
against the SLRs.

5.9.

Placement of EPP probes. Probes for measuring EPP parameters shall be
placed inside or close to Registrars points of access to the Internet across the
different geographic regions; care shall be taken not to deploy probes behind
high propagation-delay links, such as satellite links.

Emergency Thresholds

6.

The following matrix presents the emergency thresholds that, if reached by any of the
services mentioned above for a TLD, would cause the emergency transition of the Registry
for the TLD as specified in Section 2.13 of this Agreement.
Critical Function

Emergency Threshold

DNS Service

4-hour total downtime / week

DNSSEC proper
resolution

4-hour total downtime / week

EPP

24-hour total downtime / week

RDDS

24-hour total downtime / week

Data Escrow

Reaching any of the criteria for the release of deposits
described in Specification 2, Part B, Section 6.2 through Section
6.6.

7.

Emergency Escalation

Escalation is strictly for purposes of notifying and investigating possible or potential issues
in relation to monitored services. The initiation of any escalation and the subsequent
cooperative investigations do not in themselves imply that a monitored service has failed
its performance requirements.
Escalations shall be carried out between ICANN and Registry Operators, Registrars and
Registry Operator, and Registrars and ICANN. Registry Operators and ICANN must provide
said emergency operations departments. Current contacts must be maintained between
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ICANN and Registry Operators and published to Registrars, where relevant to their role in
escalations, prior to any processing of an Emergency Escalation by all related parties, and
kept current at all times.
7.1.

Emergency Escalation initiated by ICANN

Upon reaching 10% of the Emergency thresholds as described in Section 6 of this
Specification, ICANN’s emergency operations will initiate an Emergency Escalation with the
relevant Registry Operator. An Emergency Escalation consists of the following minimum
elements: electronic (i.e., email or SMS) and/or voice contact notification to the Registry
Operator’s emergency operations department with detailed information concerning the
issue being escalated, including evidence of monitoring failures, cooperative
trouble-shooting of the monitoring failure between ICANN staff and the Registry Operator,
and the commitment to begin the process of rectifying issues with either the monitoring
service or the service being monitoring.
7.2.

Emergency Escalation initiated by Registrars

Registry Operator will maintain an emergency operations department prepared to handle
emergency requests from registrars. In the event that a registrar is unable to conduct EPP
transactions with the registry for the TLD because of a fault with the Registry Service and is
unable to either contact (through ICANN mandated methods of communication) the
Registry Operator, or the Registry Operator is unable or unwilling to address the fault, the
registrar may initiate an emergency escalation to the emergency operations department of
ICANN. ICANN then may initiate an emergency escalation with the Registry Operator as
explained above.
7.3.

Notifications of Outages and Maintenance

In the event that a Registry Operator plans maintenance, it will provide notice to the ICANN
emergency operations department, at least, twenty-four (24) hours ahead of that
maintenance. ICANN’s emergency operations department will note planned maintenance
times, and suspend Emergency Escalation services for the monitored services during the
expected maintenance outage period.
If Registry Operator declares an outage, as per its contractual obligations with ICANN, on
services under a service level agreement and performance requirements, it will notify the
ICANN emergency operations department. During that declared outage, ICANN’s
emergency operations department will note and suspend emergency escalation services for
the monitored services involved.
8.

Covenants of Performance Measurement
8.1.

No interference. Registry Operator shall not interfere with measurement
Probes, including any form of preferential treatment of the requests for the
monitored services. Registry Operator shall respond to the measurement
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tests described in this Specification as it would to any other request from an
Internet user (for DNS and RDDS) or registrar (for EPP).
8.2.

ICANN testing registrar. Registry Operator agrees that ICANN will have a
testing registrar used for purposes of measuring the SLRs described above.
Registry Operator agrees to not provide any differentiated treatment for the
testing registrar other than no billing of the transactions. ICANN shall not
use the registrar for registering domain names (or other registry objects) for
itself or others, except for the purposes of verifying contractual compliance
with the conditions described in this Agreement. Registry Operator shall
identify these transactions using Registrar ID 9997.
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SPECIFICATION 11
PUBLIC INTEREST COMMITMENTS
1. Registry Operator will use only ICANN accredited registrars that are party to
the Registrar Accreditation Agreement approved by the ICANN Board of
Directors on 27 June 2013 in registering domain names. A list of such
registrars shall be maintained by ICANN on ICANN’s website.
2. Registry Operator will operate the registry for the TLD in compliance with all
commitments, statements of intent and business plans stated in the following
sections of Registry Operator’s application to ICANN for the TLD, which
commitments, statements of intent and business plans are hereby
incorporated by reference into this Agreement. Registry Operator’s
obligations pursuant to this paragraph shall be enforceable by ICANN and
through the Public Interest Commitment Dispute Resolution Process
established by ICANN (posted at
http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/picdrp), which may be
revised in immaterial respects by ICANN from time to time (the “PICDRP”).
Registry Operator shall comply with the PICDRP. Registry Operator agrees to
implement and adhere to any remedies ICANN imposes (which may include
any reasonable remedy, including for the avoidance of doubt, the termination
of the Registry Agreement pursuant to Section 4.3(e) of the Agreement)
following a determination by any PICDRP panel and to be bound by any such
determination
[Registry Operator to insert specific application sections here, if applicable]
3. Registry Operator agrees to perform the following specific public interest
commitments, which commitments shall be enforceable by ICANN and
through the Public Interest Commitment Dispute Resolution Process
established by ICANN (posted at
http://www.icann.org/en/resources/registries/picdrp), which may be
revised in immaterial respects by ICANN from time to time (the “PICDRP”).
Registry Operator shall comply with the PICDRP. Registry Operator agrees to
implement and adhere to any remedies ICANN imposes (which may include
any reasonable remedy, including for the avoidance of doubt, the termination
of the Registry Agreement pursuant to Section 4.3(e) of the Agreement)
following a determination by any PICDRP panel and to be bound by any such
determination.
a. Registry Operator will include a provision in its Registry-Registrar
Agreement that requires Registrars to include in their Registration
Agreements a provision prohibiting Registered Name Holders from
distributing malware, abusively operating botnets, phishing, piracy,
trademark or copyright infringement, fraudulent or deceptive
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practices, counterfeiting or otherwise engaging in activity contrary to
applicable law, and providing (consistent with applicable law and any
related procedures) consequences for such activities including
suspension of the domain name.
b. Registry Operator will periodically conduct a technical analysis to
assess whether domains in the TLD are being used to perpetrate
security threats, such as pharming, phishing, malware, and botnets.
Registry Operator will maintain statistical reports on the number of
security threats identified and the actions taken as a result of the
periodic security checks. Registry Operator will maintain these
reports for the term of the Agreement unless a shorter period is
required by law or approved by ICANN, and will provide them to
ICANN upon request.
c. Registry Operator will operate the TLD in a transparent manner
consistent with general principles of openness and
non-discrimination by establishing, publishing and adhering to clear
registration policies.
d. Registry Operator of a “Generic String” TLD may not impose eligibility

criteria for registering names in the TLD that limit registrations
exclusively to a single person or entity and/or that person’s or entity’s
“Affiliates” (as defined in Section 2.9(c) of the Registry Agreement).
“Generic String” means a string consisting of a word or term that
denominates or describes a general class of goods, services, groups,
organizations or things, as opposed to distinguishing a specific brand
of goods, services, groups, organizations or things from those of
others.
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SPECIFICATION 12
COMMUNITY REGISTRATION POLICIES
Registry Operator shall implement and comply with all community registration
policies described below and/or attached to this Specification 12.
[Insert registration policies]
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ICANN’s core values, as enumerated in the Bylaws approved by the ICANN community, instruct
ICANN to introduce and promote competition in the registration of domain names and, where
feasible and appropriate, depend upon market mechanisms to promote and sustain a
competitive environment in the DNS market.
The Uniform Rapid Suspension (URS) system, a rights protection dispute resolution
mechanism, was developed and adopted into the Base RA through a process involving
extensive community input including review by the GNSO Council. While there is policy
development in progress regarding rights protection mechanisms, there is currently no policy
requiring or prohibiting registries from adopting URS. Further, it has been affirmed by the Board
that ICANN org should not stop its work because a topic is or might be the subject of policy
development discussions.
During the course of renewal negotiations with the respective registry operators for .biz, .info
and .org, the ICANN org provided a briefing and held a discussion with the ICANN Board at the
Board’s workshop in Los Angeles (25-28 January 2019). The org presented the history of the
price controls in various gTLD contracts, how the concepts of price control and price protection
were considered by the community during the development of the Base gTLD Registry
Agreement for the New gTLD Program, and rationale for why ICANN org recommended
adopting the Base RA rather than maintaining the price controls.
After consultation with the Board at the Los Angeles workshop, and with the Board’s support,
ICANN’s President and CEO decided to continue with the plan to complete the renewal
negotiations utilizing the Base RA. After the negotiations were completed with each registry
operator in February/March 2019, each agreement was posted for public comment. The ICANN
org team did review and consider all 3,200+ comments received. Staff shared the summary and
analysis of the public comments with the ICANN Board prior to posting the summary analysis. In
addition, briefing papers were provided to the Board in advance of its workshop in June 2019 in
Marrakech. The briefing papers summarized the key issues raised in the public comment
process and correspondence (removal of price controls and inclusion of URS), and outlined the
rationale for the recommendation to renew the agreements as proposed.
Following the discussion with the ICANN Board in Marrakech, and consistent with the Board’s
support, ICANN President and CEO made the decision to continue with renewal agreements as
proposed, using the Base gTLD Registry Agreement. These agreements were effective on 30
June 2019.
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New gTLD Application
Quick Facts

Executed Registry Agreements (completed
contracting)

1253

Overview of New gTLD
Applications

Registry Agreements with Specification 13

494

Registry Agreements with Code of Conduct
Exemption

80

In Contracting

5

Pre-Delegation Testing (PDT)
Passed PDT

1247

**Breakdown: Delegation Statistics
Delegated gTLDs (Introduced into Internet)

1235

Select Subcategories of Delegated gTLDs
(NOTE: gTLDs may fall into more than one
subcategory)

Community

53

Geographic

53

Internationalized Domain Names (IDNs)

95

gTLD Startup Statistics (as of 2 March 2020)
Sunrise
Completed

585

In Progress

1

Not Started

0

Claims
Completed

697

In Progress

224

Not Started

2

Please note: Registry Agreement and Delegated gTLD totals are not adjusted for TLDs that
subsequently terminated their Registry Agreements and/or were removed from the root zone. In
addition, Specification 13 and Code of Conduct Exemption totals are not adjusted if subsequently
removed.
Get a status update on an individual application »
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New gTLD Application Submission Statistics
The statistics in this section were calculated based on applications received by the 29 March 2012
deadline.
Application Breakdown by: Region | Type | String Similarity
Application Breakdown by Region
Statistics as of 13 June 2012

Application Breakdown by Type
Statistics as of 13 June 2012
Application Totals
Community: 84
Geographic: 66
Internationalized Domain Names: 116
Total Scripts Represented: 12
Other: 1846
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Application Breakdown by String Similarity
Statistics as of 26 February 2013
Approximate Number of Unique Applied-for Strings: 1,400
Contention Sets
Exact Match: 230
(two or more applications for a string with same characters)
Confusingly Similar: 2
.hotels & .hoteis
.unicorn & .unicom
Applications in a Contention Set: 751

© 2015 Internet Corporation For Assigned Names and Numbers      Privacy Policy    Terms of Service    Cookies Policy    Site Map
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23 May 2017

xn--ngbrx (عرب, "Arab", /arab/)

7 April 2017

RUGBY

7 April 2017

HOTELS

15 February 2017

AFRICA

21 December 2016

FUN

20 December 2016

PHONE

20 December 2016

MOBILE

20 December 2016

DATA

9 December 2016

HOSPITAL

2 December 2016

HAIR

1 December 2016

xn--80aqecdr1a (католик, "Catholic", /katolik/)

1 December 2016

xn--mgbi4ecexp (كاثوليك
, "Catholic", /katholik/)

1 December 2016

xn--tiq49xqyj (天主教, "Catholic", /tianzhujiao/)

1 December 2016

CATHOLIC

29 November 2016

BOSTON

24 November 2016

RMIT

15 November 2016

RELIANCE

15 November 2016

JIO

15 November 2016

RIL

12 November 2016

MOTO

12 November 2016

CRUISE

11 November 2016

BOX

10 November 2016

FOOD

8 November 2016

FREE

4 November 2016

AOL

30 October 2016

NEWHOLLAND

30 October 2016

BASEBALL

30 October 2016

CASEIH

30 October 2016

CASE

30 October 2016

IVECO

24 October 2016

VOLVO

2
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19 October 2016

BASKETBALL

12 October 2016

RADIO

30 September 2016

DVR

30 September 2016

xn--gk3at1e (通販, "online shopping", /tsuhan/)

27 September 2016

OBSERVER

26 September 2016

WOW

20 September 2016

ROGERS

20 September 2016

FIDO

14 September 2016

MONSTER

28 August 2016

ECO

28 August 2016

VANGUARD

25 August 2016

DIY

18 August 2016

SAMSCLUB

18 August 2016

WALMART

18 August 2016

NAB

18 August 2016

GEORGE

18 August 2016

UBANK

17 August 2016

AUSPOST

16 August 2016

xn--3oq18vl8pn36a (大众汽车, "Volkswagen", /dazhong qiche/)

16 August 2016

AIGO

16 August 2016

HDFC

14 August 2016

HBO

14 August 2016

ASDA

10 August 2016

HOT

10 August 2016

PAY

10 August 2016

HUGHES

10 August 2016

DISH

10 August 2016

CAPITALONE

10 August 2016

SLING

10 August 2016

SECURE

8 August 2016

AMEX

3

8 August 2016

OPEN

8 August 2016

AMERICANEXPRESS

4 August 2016

LOFT

4 August 2016

LANCIA

4 August 2016

DODGE

4 August 2016

CBS

4 August 2016

GAP

4 August 2016

QVC

4 August 2016

MASERATI

4 August 2016

OLDNAVY

4 August 2016

BANANAREPUBLIC

4 August 2016

SHOWTIME

4 August 2016

BLOCKBUSTER

4 August 2016

CALVINKLEIN

4 August 2016

FIDELITY

4 August 2016

TARGET

4 August 2016

ABARTH

4 August 2016

ATHLETA

4 August 2016

LATINO

2 August 2016

NBA

2 August 2016

FIAT

2 August 2016

MOPAR

2 August 2016

JUNIPER

2 August 2016

FERRARI

2 August 2016

ALFAROMEO

2 August 2016

BOFA

31 July 2016

LILLY

31 July 2016

MCKINSEY

31 July 2016

AFAMILYCOMPANY

29 July 2016

LADBROKES

28 July 2016

UCONNECT
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28 July 2016

ABC

28 July 2016

HYATT

28 July 2016

INTEL

28 July 2016

GLADE

28 July 2016

PRU

28 July 2016

JEEP

28 July 2016

SRT

28 July 2016

VISA

28 July 2016

BANAMEX

28 July 2016

PRUDENTIAL

28 July 2016

PRAMERICA

28 July 2016

CHRYSLER

28 July 2016

DISCOVER

28 July 2016

CITI

26 July 2016

AMERICANFAMILY

26 July 2016

HONEYWELL

23 July 2016

DUNS

23 July 2016

MSD

23 July 2016

BOOKING

23 July 2016

AMFAM

23 July 2016

ESURANCE

23 July 2016

CITADEL

21 July 2016

DUCK

21 July 2016

RAID

21 July 2016

SWIFTCOVER

21 July 2016

SCJOHNSON

21 July 2016

IEEE

21 July 2016

OFF

21 July 2016

DOCTOR

21 July 2016

RIGHTATHOME

20 July 2016

TIAA
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19 July 2016

LPL

19 July 2016

LPLFINANCIAL

19 July 2016

BESTBUY

15 July 2016

BBT

15 July 2016

PANASONIC

15 July 2016

BEAUTY

15 July 2016

LUNDBECK

15 July 2016

TJX

15 July 2016

SMART

15 July 2016

FUJIXEROX

15 July 2016

HOMESENSE

15 July 2016

STAPLES

15 July 2016

MARSHALLS

15 July 2016

LANCOME

15 July 2016

TKMAXX

15 July 2016

HOMEGOODS

15 July 2016

PFIZER

15 July 2016

VIVO

15 July 2016

WINNERS

15 July 2016

ONYOURSIDE

15 July 2016

TJMAXX

15 July 2016

NATIONWIDE

14 July 2016

GOODHANDS

14 July 2016

ALLSTATE

14 July 2016

LEFRAK

12 July 2016

MACYS

12 July 2016

MINT

12 July 2016

INTUIT

9 July 2016

SES

9 July 2016

NIKE

7 July 2016

XFINITY

6

RE-11

RE-11

7 July 2016

MITSUBISHI

7 July 2016

COMCAST

7 July 2016

GODADDY

7 July 2016

FUJITSU

6 July 2016

MIT

2 July 2016

SHANGRILA

2 July 2016

ZIPPO

2 July 2016

xn--5su34j936bgsg (香格里拉, "Shangri-La", /xianggelila/)

2 July 2016

CBRE

1 July 2016

IKANO

1 July 2016

PNC

25 June 2016

FARMERS

25 June 2016

FEDEX

23 June 2016

POLITIE

23 June 2016

ART

23 June 2016

NFL

23 June 2016

WOODSIDE

23 June 2016

TRAVELCHANNEL

23 June 2016

HGTV

23 June 2016

FRONTDOOR

23 June 2016

FOODNETWORK

23 June 2016

COOKINGCHANNEL

22 June 2016

ORIENTEXPRESS

21 June 2016

ANZ

21 June 2016

ITV

21 June 2016

BLANCO

21 June 2016

SHOPPING

21 June 2016

ABLE

16 June 2016

CAM

16 June 2016

LEGO

10 June 2016

ALSTOM
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10 June 2016

DUNLOP

10 June 2016

AIRBUS

10 June 2016

GOODYEAR

10 June 2016

KOSHER

10 June 2016

DUPONT

10 June 2016

ERICSSON

7 June 2016

SAVE

7 June 2016

PRIME

7 June 2016

DEAL

7 June 2016

EPOST

7 June 2016

NOW

7 June 2016

CHINTAI

7 June 2016

FIRE

7 June 2016

KINDLE

7 June 2016

SILK

7 June 2016

IMDB

7 June 2016

AUDIBLE

7 June 2016

TDK

2 June 2016

DHL

2 June 2016

HISAMITSU

2 June 2016

GAMES

2 June 2016

PIONEER

2 June 2016

ZAPPOS

31 May 2016

UPS

28 May 2016

MATTEL

28 May 2016

NETFLIX

27 May 2016

OTT

27 May 2016

LOCKER

27 May 2016

DTV

27 May 2016

OLLO

25 May 2016

MLB
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23 May 2016

REALESTATE

23 May 2016

SHOP

20 May 2016

AETNA

18 May 2016

DOT

18 May 2016

BLOG

16 May 2016

xn--w4rs40l (嘉里, "Kerry", /jia li/)

13 May 2016

GUARDIAN

12 May 2016

HKT

11 May 2016

RICHARDLI

11 May 2016

PCCW

11 May 2016

DDS

11 May 2016

NOWTV

11 May 2016

METLIFE

11 May 2016

xn--fzys8d69uvgm (電訊盈科, "PCCW", /dianxun yingke/)

10 May 2016

FLIR

6 May 2016

OLAYANGROUP

3 May 2016

xn--mgba7c0bbn0a (العليان
, "Olayan", /al-alian/)

3 May 2016

LIPSY

3 May 2016

OLAYAN

3 May 2016

NEXTDIRECT

3 May 2016

WARMAN

3 May 2016

NEXT

20 April 2016

MLS

20 April 2016

PROGRESSIVE

17 April 2016

FTR

17 April 2016

xn--5tzm5g (网站, "website", /wangzhan/)

16 April 2016

STATEBANK

16 April 2016

SBI

16 April 2016

AGAKHAN

16 April 2016

ISMAILI

16 April 2016

AKDN

9
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16 April 2016

IMAMAT

13 April 2016

TEVA

8 April 2016

JNJ

8 April 2016

BABY

6 April 2016

VIG

6 April 2016

xn--9krt00a (微博, "Weibo", /weibo/)

6 April 2016

WEIBO

6 April 2016

ABUDHABI

6 April 2016

xn--mgbca7dzdo (ابوظبي
, "Abu Dhabi", /abu thabi/)

6 April 2016

ABBVIE

6 April 2016

NORTHWESTERNMUTUAL

4 April 2016

KPMG

4 April 2016

MUTUAL

30 March 2016

JCP

30 March 2016

YUN

30 March 2016

SHOUJI

30 March 2016

NISSAY

30 March 2016

SINA

30 March 2016

XIHUAN

30 March 2016

ANQUAN

25 March 2016

TALK

25 March 2016

AWS

25 March 2016

YOU

25 March 2016

xn--fct429k (家電, "consumer electronics", /kaden/)

25 March 2016

EXTRASPACE

24 March 2016

ALLY

24 March 2016

BAREFOOT

22 March 2016

GALLO

22 March 2016

SHAW

18 March 2016

STREAM

9 March 2016

LOCUS
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9 March 2016

GMBH

9 March 2016

AVIANCA

9 March 2016

BCG

9 March 2016

TOTAL

5 March 2016

KERRYPROPERTIES

5 March 2016

KERRYLOGISTICS

5 March 2016

KUOKGROUP

5 March 2016

xn--w4r85el8fhu5dnra (嘉里大酒店, "Kerry Hotels", /jia li da
jiudian/)

5 March 2016

KERRYHOTELS

2 March 2016

VUELOS

2 March 2016

PASSAGENS

27 February 2016

JPMORGAN

27 February 2016

CHASE

25 February 2016

TELECITY

25 February 2016

TUNES

24 February 2016

SONG

22 February 2016

STORE

22 February 2016

xn--jvr189m (食品, "food", /shokuhin/)

22 February 2016

VIKING

21 February 2016

xn--bck1b9a5dre4c (ファッション, "fashion", /fasshon/)

19 February 2016

xn--rovu88b (書籍, "book", /shoseki/)

19 February 2016

SPOT

19 February 2016

xn--1ck2e1b (セール, "sale", /seru/)

19 February 2016

xn--cck2b3b (ストア, "store", /sutoa/)

19 February 2016

xn--gckr3f0f (クラウド, "cloud", /kuraudo/)

19 February 2016

COUPON

13 February 2016

YAHOO

13 February 2016

TVS

13 February 2016

FLICKR

11 February 2016

GALLUP

11 February 2016

HDFCBANK

11

11 February 2016

PWC

11 February 2016

WOLTERSKLUWER

11 February 2016

NATURA

6 February 2016

FRONTIER

6 February 2016

QUEST

6 February 2016

xn--8y0a063a (联通, "Unicom", /liantong/)

4 February 2016

UNICOM

29 January 2016

DELOITTE

28 January 2016

WEATHERCHANNEL

28 January 2016

NIKON

26 January 2016

LANXESS

26 January 2016

HELSINKI

26 January 2016

HEALTH

26 January 2016

ADAC

21 January 2016

EDEKA

21 January 2016

TAOBAO

21 January 2016

TMALL

21 January 2016

TIFFANY

19 January 2016

LIFEINSURANCE

16 January 2016

xn--g2xx48c (购物, "shopping", /gouwu/)

16 January 2016

ALIPAY

16 January 2016

ALIBABA

16 January 2016

SOFTBANK

15 January 2016

COMPARE

15 January 2016

SKIN

15 January 2016

ISELECT

15 January 2016

MAKEUP

15 January 2016

SELECT

12 January 2016

WEATHER

11 January 2016

TUBE

9 January 2016

FRESENIUS
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9 January 2016

VOLKSWAGEN

7 January 2016

DUBAI

5 January 2016

BAIDU

31 December 2015

PROMO

28 December 2015

LIVING

28 December 2015

CLINIQUE

24 December 2015

LAMER

24 December 2015

SAFETY

24 December 2015

ORIGINS

24 December 2015

FOX

24 December 2015

SCHAEFFLER

24 December 2015

STATEFARM

24 December 2015

DEALER

24 December 2015

BOSCH

24 December 2015

REXROTH

23 December 2015

MOBILY

23 December 2015

xn--mgbb9fbpob (موبايلي
, "Mobily", /mobayli/)

22 December 2015

STAR

22 December 2015

PID

22 December 2015

CONTACT

22 December 2015

WEBER

21 December 2015

ANALYTICS

18 December 2015

JMP

18 December 2015

xn--jlq61u9w7b (诺基亚, "Nokia", /nuojiya/)

18 December 2015

SAS

18 December 2015

FORD

18 December 2015

STORAGE

18 December 2015

LINCOLN

15 December 2015

KFH

15 December 2015

WANGGOU

15 December 2015

SHELL
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15 December 2015

xn--pbt977c (珠宝, "jewelry", /zhubao/)

15 December 2015

xn--kpu716f (手表, "watches", /shoubiao/)

15 December 2015

KPN

15 December 2015

xn--ngbe9e0a (بيتك
, "home", /baytak/)

15 December 2015

TRAVELERSINSURANCE

14 December 2015

WATCHES

14 December 2015

xn--eckvdtc9d (ポイント, "point", /pointo/)

14 December 2015

TUSHU

11 December 2015

TRV

11 December 2015

REDUMBRELLA

7 December 2015

xn--mgbt3dhd ( همراه, "comrade", /hamra/)

7 December 2015

PARS

5 December 2015

ZERO

5 December 2015

SMILE

5 December 2015

BOT

5 December 2015

JOY

5 December 2015

BUY

5 December 2015

GOT

5 December 2015

FAST

5 December 2015

JOT

5 December 2015

PIN

5 December 2015

READ

5 December 2015

CIRCLE

5 December 2015

BOOK

5 December 2015

SAFE

5 December 2015

CALL

5 December 2015

ROOM

5 December 2015

LIKE

5 December 2015

AUTHOR

5 December 2015

TRAVELERS

5 December 2015

NOWRUZ
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5 December 2015

FIRESTONE

5 December 2015

TCI

5 December 2015

SHARP

5 December 2015

SALON

5 December 2015

SHIA

3 December 2015

INSURANCE

3 December 2015

NORTON

3 December 2015

MED

3 December 2015

SYMANTEC

1 December 2015

SFR

25 November 2015

BOEHRINGER

25 November 2015

BOSTIK

25 November 2015

LAMBORGHINI

25 November 2015

BUGATTI

25 November 2015

AUDI

25 November 2015

VIP

25 November 2015

VERISIGN

18 November 2015

BROADWAY

16 November 2015

COMSEC

13 November 2015

GRAINGER

13 November 2015

TAB

13 November 2015

FAIRWINDS

10 November 2015

CITYEATS

10 November 2015

LIFESTYLE

10 November 2015

CREDITUNION

10 November 2015

VANA

7 November 2015

PLAYSTATION

7 November 2015

FERRERO

7 November 2015

ROCHER

3 November 2015

APPLE

3 November 2015

AARP
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3 November 2015

BEATS

29 October 2015

PING

29 October 2015

MEO

29 October 2015

SAPO

29 October 2015

SBS

27 October 2015

GUCCI

27 October 2015

LANDROVER

27 October 2015

JAGUAR

27 October 2015

RWE

27 October 2015

ZARA

23 October 2015

MUTUELLE

20 October 2015

ARTE

15 October 2015

ARAMCO

15 October 2015

xn--mgba3a3ejt (ارامكو, “Aramco”, /aramko/)

14 October 2015

DELL

9 October 2015

CIPRIANI

9 October 2015

KINDER

7 October 2015

YAMAXUN

7 October 2015

MOI

7 October 2015

VIRGIN

7 October 2015

MTR

2 October 2015

CLUBMED

26 September 2015

BOM

26 September 2015

STOCKHOLM

26 September 2015

KIA

26 September 2015

FINAL

26 September 2015

SEVEN

26 September 2015

HYUNDAI

23 September 2015

OBI

23 September 2015

LTD

22 September 2015

BMS
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17 September 2015

SECURITY

16 September 2015

LINDE

13 September 2015

STADA

13 September 2015

THEATRE

13 September 2015

PROTECTION

9 September 2015

CAR

1 September 2015

CSC

29 August 2015

AMICA

29 August 2015

STC

28 August 2015

VIVA

28 August 2015

STCGROUP

28 August 2015

AAA

28 August 2015

GEA

27 August 2015

ACO

24 August 2015

xn--efvy88h (新闻, "news", /xinwen/)

19 August 2015

MOM

11 August 2015

FAMILY

11 August 2015

SEEK

8 August 2015

FAGE

8 August 2015

CEB

8 August 2015

GROUP

6 August 2015

GIVING

5 August 2015

XPERIA

5 August 2015

BOOTS

5 August 2015

CHANEL

5 August 2015

WINE

5 August 2015

VIN

30 July 2015

LIXIL

29 July 2015

xn--tckwe (コム, "com", /komu/)

28 July 2015

xn--fhbei (كوم, "com", /kom/)

28 July 2015

xn--c2br7g (नेट, "net", /neta/)

17

RE-11

28 July 2015

xn--9dbq2a ()קום

28 July 2015

xn--11b4c3d (कॉम, "com", /koma/)

28 July 2015

xn--3pxu8k (点看, "dot com", /dian kan/)

28 July 2015

xn--t60b56a (닷넷, "dot net", /datnet/)

28 July 2015

xn--j1aef (ком, "com", /kom/)

28 July 2015

xn--pssy2u (大拿, "dot net", /da na/)

28 July 2015

xn--42c2d9a (คอม, "com", /khxm/)

28 July 2015

xn--mk1bu44c (닷컴, "dot com", /datkeom/)

26 July 2015

IPIRANGA

26 July 2015

LEXUS

26 July 2015

PET

26 July 2015

MAN

26 July 2015

TOYOTA

24 July 2015

SANOFI

24 July 2015

TATAMOTORS

24 July 2015

SRL

24 July 2015

BET

22 July 2015

ICE

22 July 2015

ITAU

15 July 2015

NOKIA

15 July 2015

LANCASTER

11 July 2015

UBS

11 July 2015

ISTANBUL

11 July 2015

DELTA

11 July 2015

IST

10 July 2015

HSBC

09 July 2015

IINET

09 July 2015

ORANGE

09 July 2015

BENTLEY

08 July 2015

GAME

08 July 2015

JPRS
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08 July 2015

BCN

08 July 2015

STUDIO

08 July 2015

BARCELONA

08 July 2015

AIRTEL

08 July 2015

LIVE

02 July 2015

APP

02 July 2015

SAKURA

01 July 2015

REALTY

01 July 2015

FORUM

26 June 2015

HOTELES

26 June 2015

TELEFONICA

26 June 2015

BNL

26 June 2015

CLOUD

26 June 2015

BRADESCO

26 June 2015

MOVISTAR

26 June 2015

OMEGA

26 June 2015

SWATCH

26 June 2015

LAW

23 June 2015

SKYPE

23 June 2015

SCOR

23 June 2015

OFFICE

22 June 2015

STARHUB

22 June 2015

VISTA

22 June 2015

COMMBANK

22 June 2015

VISTAPRINT

22 June 2015

RICOH

22 June 2015

NETBANK

22 June 2015

CBA

20 June 2015

GENTING

20 June 2015

DRIVE

20 June 2015

PLAY
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20 June 2015

AEG

19 June 2015

CROWN

19 June 2015

STATOIL

14 June 2015

BHARTI

11 June 2015

LASALLE

10 June 2015

JLC

10 June 2015

MICROSOFT

10 June 2015

HOTMAIL

10 June 2015

WINDOWS

10 June 2015

BING

06 June 2015

AZURE

04 June 2015

HOMEDEPOT

04 June 2015

XBOX

03 June 2015

SNCF

02 June 2015

BIBLE

30 May 2015

SKI

30 May 2015

xn--imr513n (餐厅, "restaurant", /canting/)

27 May 2015

WALTER

27 May 2015

SANDVIK

27 May 2015

SANDVIKCOROMANT

27 May 2015

BBVA

22 May 2015

MBA

22 May 2015

JLL

22 May 2015

FYI

22 May 2015

THD

20 May 2015

MEN

16 May 2015

LUPIN

16 May 2015

CORSICA

15 May 2015

CISCO

14 May 2015

EARTH

13 May 2015

SOCCER
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13 May 2015

COUPONS

13 May 2015

ICBC

12 May 2015

BROTHER

09 May 2015

ACCENTURE

09 May 2015

PHILIPS

09 May 2015

xn--fjq720a (娱乐, "entertainment", /yule/)

09 May 2015

NEC

07 May 2015

TAXI

07 May 2015

xn--estv75g (工行, "ICBC", /gonghang/)

07 May 2015

HOCKEY

07 May 2015

RUN

06 May 2015

THEATER

02 May 2015

AIG

02 May 2015

ICU

02 May 2015

LOL

02 May 2015

LIAISON

02 May 2015

CFA

02 May 2015

NADEX

02 May 2015

CARS

02 May 2015

AUTO

01 May 2015

TORAY

01 May 2015

HITACHI

01 May 2015

BRIDGESTONE

01 May 2015

SENER

30 April 2015

RENT

30 April 2015

HONDA

29 April 2015

SWISS

29 April 2015

DOG

29 April 2015

BROKER

25 April 2015

ABB

18 April 2015

SEX
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18 April 2015

SEAT

17 April 2015

WEIR

16 April 2015

JEWELRY

16 April 2015

XEROX

16 April 2015

SHOW

16 April 2015

TEAM

16 April 2015

SONY

7 April 2015

xn--kcrx77d1x4a (飞利浦, "Philips", /feilipu/)

5 April 2015

EXPRESS

5 April 2015

BAUHAUS

5 April 2015

CAFE

3 April 2015

CYOU

3 April 2015

RACING

2 April 2015

xn--nyqy26a (健康, "healthy", /jiankang/)

2 April 2015

SCHOLARSHIPS

2 April 2015

LOVE

31 March 2015

xn--30rr7y (慈善, "charity", /cishan/)

31 March 2015

MMA

28 March 2015

AFL

28 March 2015

REDSTONE

27 March 2015

xn--9et52u (时尚, "vogue", /shishang/)

27 March 2015

BOND

26 March 2015

SAP

26 March 2015

KOMATSU

25 March 2015

DOHA

25 March 2015

MTN

25 March 2015

REVIEW

25 March 2015

WIN

25 March 2015

PANERAI

25 March 2015

DOWNLOAD

25 March 2015

MOVIE
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25 March 2015

FAITH

25 March 2015

TICKETS

25 March 2015

ACCOUNTANT

25 March 2015

LOAN

25 March 2015

DATE

24 March 2015

TOURS

24 March 2015

ADS

24 March 2015

PLUS

24 March 2015

FILM

24 March 2015

GOLD

24 March 2015

GOLF

24 March 2015

GUGE

21 March 2015

BBC

21 March 2015

TECH

21 March 2015

NEWS

18 March 2015

xn--vuq861b (信息, "information", /xinxi/)

16 March 2015

PAGE

16 March 2015

PIAGET

16 March 2015

SITE

16 March 2015

FAN

16 March 2015

ONLINE

13 March 2015

CFD

13 March 2015

TRADING

13 March 2015

SPREADBETTING

12 March 2015

ERNI

12 March 2015

MARKETS

12 March 2015

FOREX

7 March 2015

XIN

7 March 2015

PICTET

7 March 2015

ABBOTT

4 March 2015

NISSAN
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4 March 2015

INFINITI

4 March 2015

DATSUN

4 March 2015

MTPC

3 March 2015

ORACLE

3 March 2015

GOO

3 March 2015

LECLERC

3 March 2015

JAVA

3 March 2015

EPSON

3 March 2015

MAIF

3 March 2015

xn--mxtq1m (政府, "government", /zhengfu/)

25 February 2015

SUCKS

25 February 2015

STUDY

25 February 2015

BOATS

25 February 2015

COURSES

19 February 2015

CASINO

19 February 2015

FANS

19 February 2015

FOOTBALL

19 February 2015

GOLDPOINT

19 February 2015

SCHOOL

19 February 2015

YODOBASHI

13 February 2015

CBN

13 February 2015

GDN

10 February 2015

APARTMENTS

10 February 2015

SAXO

10 February 2015

NICO

4 February 2015

TENNIS

4 February 2015

BINGO

4 February 2015

CANON

4 February 2015

STYLE

4 February 2015

TOSHIBA

4 February 2015

CHAT
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3 February 2015

NTT

28 January 2015

KYOTO

24 January 2015

DCLK

24 January 2015

xn--b4w605ferd (淡马锡, "Temasek", /danmaxi/)

24 January 2015

IFM

24 January 2015

GOOG

24 January 2015

TEMASEK

24 January 2015

HANGOUT

24 January 2015

BARCLAYS

24 January 2015

DESIGN

24 January 2015

DABUR

24 January 2015

HERMES

24 January 2015

BARCLAYCARD

23 January 2015

JCB

22 January 2015

ONE

14 January 2015

LOTTE

14 January 2015

MARRIOTT

09 January 2015

FIT

09 January 2015

LAT

09 January 2015

KDDI

09 January 2015

BANK

30 December 2014

SHRIRAM

25 December 2014

ZUERICH

25 December 2014

FLOWERS

25 December 2014

GGEE

25 December 2014

SALE

25 December 2014

AMSTERDAM

25 December 2014

VIDEO

18 December 2014

DOCS

18 December 2014

TIRES

18 December 2014

DEV
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13 December 2014

SCHWARZ

13 December 2014

IWC

13 December 2014

OSAKA

13 December 2014

SEW

13 December 2014

GARDEN

13 December 2014

LIDL

13 December 2014

DOOSAN

12 December 2014

SKY

11 December 2014

CARTIER

10 December 2014

SAMSUNG

06 December 2014

xn--czrs0t (商店, "shop", /shangdian/)

06 December 2014

ADULT

06 December 2014

PORN

06 December 2014

TRUST

06 December 2014

EUROVISION

06 December 2014

FASHION

02 December 2014

LATROBE

02 December 2014

IRISH

02 December 2014

xn--hxt814e (网店, "webstore", /wang dian/)

02 December 2014

AQUARELLE

26 November 2014

MEMORIAL

26 November 2014

LEGAL

26 November 2014

MONEY

26 November 2014

COACH

26 November 2014

EVERBANK

20 November 2014

xn--flw351e (谷歌, "Google", /guge/)

20 November 2014

MADRID

20 November 2014

FIRMDALE

20 November 2014

xn--qcka1pmc (グーグル, "Google", /guguru/)

19 November 2014

MORMON

19 November 2014

LDS
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17 November 2014

PARTY

17 November 2014

xn--45q11c (八卦, "gossip", /bagua/)

17 November 2014

CRICKET

15 November 2014

SCIENCE

12 November 2014

REIT

12 November 2014

ANDROID

5 November 2014

SYDNEY

5 November 2014

BLOOMBERG

1 November 2014

ENERGY

1 November 2014

DELIVERY

23 October 2014

TAIPEI

22 October 2014

EMERCK

15 October 2014

FLSMIDTH

15 October 2014

BAND

15 October 2014

YOGA

15 October 2014

CRS

15 October 2014

ABOGADO

15 October 2014

RIP

15 October 2014

WEDDING

15 October 2014

POKER

4 October 2014

ALSACE

1 October 2014

ALLFINANZ

1 October 2014

IBM

1 October 2014

FORSALE

27 September 2014

vermögensberatung (xn--vermgensberatung-pwb) – German for
"financial advice"

27 September 2014

vermögensberater (xn--vermgensberater-ctb) – German for
"financial advisor"

27 September 2014

рус (xn--p1acf) – Russian for "Russian"

27 September 2014

TUI

27 September 2014

DVAG

27 September 2014

POHL
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23 September 2014

WORK

23 September 2014

CASA

23 September 2014

BUDAPEST

19 September 2014

WORLD

15 September 2014

GOOGLE

15 September 2014

FLY

15 September 2014

NEXUS

15 September 2014

CHANNEL

15 September 2014

PROF

15 September 2014

GLE

15 September 2014

ZIP

15 September 2014

CAL

15 September 2014

CHROME

10 September 2014

WME

5 September 2014

PHARMACY

5 September 2014

GMX

30 August 2014

BOO

30 August 2014

DAD

30 August 2014

DAY

30 August 2014

FRL

30 August 2014

ING

30 August 2014

NEW

30 August 2014

MOV

30 August 2014

RSVP

30 August 2014

EAT

30 August 2014

MEME

29 August 2014

YOUTUBE

29 August 2014

HERE

29 August 2014

PROD

29 August 2014

ESQ

27 August 2014

IMMO
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27 August 2014

PIZZA

27 August 2014

GMAIL

27 August 2014

GBIZ

27 August 2014

OTSUKA

22 August 2014

BUSINESS

22 August 2014

企业 (xn--vhquv) – chinese for "enterprise"

22 August 2014

NETWORK

16 August 2014

CLICK

16 August 2014

DIET

16 August 2014

HOW

16 August 2014

OOO

16 August 2014

UOL

16 August 2014

HELP

16 August 2014

HOSTING

16 August 2014

PROPERTY

16 August 2014

LTDA

16 August 2014

CERN

14 August 2014

CARAVAN

14 August 2014

SCA

14 August 2014

广东 (xn--xhq521b) – Chinese province of "Guangdong"

14 August 2014

佛山 (xn--1qqw23a) – Chinese city of "Foshan"

14 August 2014

BNPPARIBAS

8 August 2014

RESTAURANT

8 August 2014

CYMRU

8 August 2014

SARL

8 August 2014

GIFTS

7 August 2014

WALES

7 August 2014

TATAR

3 August 2014

TOP

30 July 2014

HEALTHCARE

30 July 2014

REALTOR
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28 July 2014

WILLIAMHILL

28 July 2014

ONG

18 July 2014

PRAXI

18 July 2014

YANDEX

18 July 2014

AUCTION

18 July 2014

WHOSWHO

18 July 2014

KRD

18 July 2014

NGO

18 July 2014

NRA

18 July 2014

SPIEGEL

18 July 2014

LACAIXA

18 July 2014

LGBT

13 July 2014

GENT

11 July 2014

NRW

11 July 2014

SCB

10 July 2014

DEALS

10 July 2014

MELBOURNE

10 July 2014

CITY

3 July 2014

SCHMIDT

3 July 2014

CUISINELLA

3 July 2014

CANCERRESEARCH

2 July 2014

DIRECT

2 July 2014

PLACE

2 July 2014

SUZUKI

26 June 2014

ACTIVE

24 June 2014

MINI

21 June 2014

BMW

19 June 2014

OVH

19 June 2014

CAPETOWN

19 June 2014

PHYSIO

19 June 2014

LOTTO
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19 June 2014

DURBAN

19 June 2014

GREEN

19 June 2014

JOBURG

18 June 2014

VLAANDEREN

18 June 2014

BRUSSELS

18 June 2014

SURF

17 June 2014

手机 (xn--kput3i) – Chinese for "cell phone"

17 June 2014

BZH

13 June 2014

SCOT

13 June 2014

ORGANIC

6 June 2014

GLOBAL

4 June 2014

ENGINEER

4 June 2014

NHK

4 June 2014

HAMBURG

4 June 2014

REHAB

4 June 2014

TIROL

4 June 2014

REPUBLICAN

4 June 2014

GIVES

4 June 2014

NAVY

4 June 2014

ARMY

2 June 2014

BIO

31 May 2014

LAWYER

31 May 2014

VET

31 May 2014

MORTGAGE

31 May 2014

SOFTWARE

31 May 2014

HOST

31 May 2014

MARKET

31 May 2014

DENTIST

31 May 2014

HIV

31 May 2014

ATTORNEY

31 May 2014

PRESS

31

RE-11

30 May 2014

DEGREE

30 May 2014

SPACE

30 May 2014

WEBSITE

28 May 2014

(موقعxn--4gbrim) – Arabic for "site"

22 May 2014

YACHTS

22 May 2014

RIO

22 May 2014

HOMES

22 May 2014

AUTOS

22 May 2014

VERSICHERUNG

22 May 2014

REISE

22 May 2014

MOTORCYCLES

22 May 2014

商标 (xn--czr694b) – Chinese for "trademark"

15 May 2014

GUIDE

15 May 2014

AUDIO

15 May 2014

HIPHOP

15 May 2014

LOANS

15 May 2014

CHURCH

15 May 2014

LIFE

15 May 2014

BEER

15 May 2014

JUEGOS

15 May 2014

LUXE

7 May 2014

CREDIT

7 May 2014

ACCOUNTANTS

7 May 2014

DIGITAL

7 May 2014

CLAIMS

3 May 2014

GMO

3 May 2014

GLOBO

3 May 2014

BAYERN

30 April 2014

AIRFORCE

29 April 2014

CREDITCARD

29 April 2014

INSURE
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29 April 2014

FINANCE

29 April 2014

WTC

29 April 2014

CITIC

24 April 2014

москва (xn--80adxhks) – Russian for "Moscow/ moskva"

24 April 2014

MOSCOW

23 April 2014

LIMITED

23 April 2014

FAIL

23 April 2014

EXCHANGE

23 April 2014

TAX

23 April 2014

WTF

23 April 2014

FUND

23 April 2014

SURGERY

23 April 2014

INVESTMENTS

23 April 2014

FINANCIAL

23 April 2014

GRATIS

23 April 2014

FURNITURE

23 April 2014

DENTAL

23 April 2014

CARE

23 April 2014

CASH

23 April 2014

DISCOUNT

23 April 2014

BLACKFRIDAY

23 April 2014

CLINIC

23 April 2014

FITNESS

19 April 2014

SCHULE

19 April 2014

FOO

19 April 2014

SOY

19 April 2014

PARIS

19 April 2014

FROGANS

16 April 2014

QUEBEC

11 April 2014

PICTURES

11 April 2014

UNIVERSITY
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11 April 2014

GAL

11 April 2014

ASSOCIATES

11 April 2014

REISEN

11 April 2014

MEDIA

11 April 2014

CAREER

11 April 2014

TOWN

11 April 2014

TOYS

11 April 2014

LEASE

11 April 2014

SERVICES

11 April 2014

ENGINEERING

11 April 2014

GRIPE

11 April 2014

EUS

11 April 2014

CAPITAL

10 April 2014

DESI

10 April 2014

FEEDBACK

10 April 2014

COLLEGE

10 April 2014

ROCKS

10 April 2014

网址 (xn--ses554g) – Chinese for "network address"

4 April 2014

GOP

3 April 2014

RYUKYU

3 April 2014

YOKOHAMA

2 April 2014

REST

2 April 2014

SAARLAND

1 April 2014

CONSULTING

31 March 2014

VODKA

31 March 2014

HAUS

31 March 2014

COOKING

31 March 2014

MOE

31 March 2014

RODEO

31 March 2014

COUNTRY

31 March 2014

商城(xn--czru2d) – Chinese for "mall"
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31 March 2014

HORSE

31 March 2014

FISHING

31 March 2014

VEGAS

31 March 2014

MIAMI

31 March 2014

ARCHI

27 March 2014

BLACK

27 March 2014

REN

27 March 2014

MEET

25 March 2014

SOHU

22 March 2014

LONDON

20 March 2014

NYC

19 March 2014

COLOGNE

19 March 2014

AXA

19 March 2014

WEBCAM

19 March 2014

TRADE

15 March 2014

JETZT

12 March 2014

世界 (xn--rhqv96g) – Chinese for "world/shijie"

11 March 2014

DNP

11 March 2014

INK

9 March 2014

机构 (xn--nqv7f) – Chinese for "agencies/institutions"

9 March 2014

संगठन (xn--i1b6b1a6a2e) – Hindi for "organization/sangathana"

9 March 2014

组织机构 (xn--nqv7fs00ema) – Chinese for "organization"

5 March 2014

орг (xn--c1avg) – Russian for "organization/org"

5 March 2014

KOELN

2 March 2014

BID

2 March 2014

OKINAWA

2 March 2014

VOTE

2 March 2014

VOTO

27 February 2014

BAR

27 February 2014

KRED

27 February 2014

BEST
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26 February 2014

CHRISTMAS

26 February 2014

PUB

26 February 2014

дети (xn--d1acj3b) – Russian for "kids/deti"

26 February 2014

ACTOR

25 February 2014

SUPPLIES

21 February 2014

FISH

21 February 2014

삼성 (xn―cg4bki) – Korean for "Samsung/Samseong"

21 February 2014

VACATIONS

21 February 2014

INDUSTRIES

21 February 2014

SUPPLY

19 February 2014

XYZ

19 February 2014

WIKI

19 February 2014

NEUSTAR

18 February 2014

(بازارxn--mgbab2bd) – Arabic for "bazaar/bazar"

16 February 2014

MANGO

12 February 2014

QPON

11 February 2014

CARDS

11 February 2014

FOUNDATION

11 February 2014

REVIEWS

11 February 2014

FUTBOL

11 February 2014

VISION

11 February 2014

CONDOS

11 February 2014

VILLAS

11 February 2014

PARTS

11 February 2014

PRODUCTIONS

11 February 2014

MAISON

5 February 2014

移动 (xn--6frz82g) – Chinese for "mobile"

5 February 2014

BLUE

4 February 2014

FLIGHTS

4 February 2014

CLEANING

4 February 2014

REPORT
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4 February 2014

EVENTS

4 February 2014

CRUISES

4 February 2014

RENTALS

4 February 2014

PARTNERS

4 February 2014

PROPERTIES

4 February 2014

CATERING

4 February 2014

EXPOSED

29 January 2014

VOTING

29 January 2014

TOKYO

29 January 2014

NAGOYA

27 January 2014

DATING

27 January 2014

COMMUNITY

23 January 2014

BOUTIQUE

23 January 2014

BARGAINS

23 January 2014

TIENDA

23 January 2014

WORKS

23 January 2014

WED

23 January 2014

EXPERT

23 January 2014

WATCH

23 January 2014

KIM

23 January 2014

COOL

23 January 2014

TOOLS

18 January 2014

CLUB

18 January 2014

BUILD

18 January 2014

PICS

18 January 2014

PINK

18 January 2014

LUXURY

18 January 2014

PHOTO

18 January 2014

GIFT

18 January 2014

网络 (xn--io0a7i) – Chinese for "network"

18 January 2014

公司 (xn--55qx5d) – Chinese for "company"
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18 January 2014

MONASH

18 January 2014

RICH

18 January 2014

RED

18 January 2014

SHIKSHA

18 January 2014

中信 (xn--fiq64b) – Chinese for "CITIC"

18 January 2014

LINK

18 January 2014

GUITARS

14 January 2014

ZONE

14 January 2014

CHEAP

14 January 2014

MARKETING

14 January 2014

DEMOCRAT

14 January 2014

SOCIAL

14 January 2014

AGENCY

14 January 2014

MODA

14 January 2014

DANCE

8 January 2014

BERLIN

3 January 2014

集团 (xn--3bst00m) – Chinese for "group"

3 January 2014

我爱你 (xn--6qq986b3xl) – Chinese for "I love you"

3 January 2014

中文网 (xn--fiq228c5hs) – Chinese for "Chinese network"

3 January 2014

WANG

3 January 2014

KIWI

3 January 2014

WIEN

2 January 2014

EMAIL

2 January 2014

IMMOBILIEN

2 January 2014

在线 (xn--3ds443g) – Chinese for "online"

28 December 2013

INSTITUTE

28 December 2013

CEO

28 December 2013

SOLAR

28 December 2013

FARM

28 December 2013

EDUCATION

28 December 2013

GLASS
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28 December 2013

ONL

28 December 2013

INTERNATIONAL

28 December 2013

CODES

28 December 2013

TRAINING

28 December 2013

HOUSE

28 December 2013

KAUFEN

28 December 2013

NINJA

28 December 2013

REPAIR

28 December 2013

BUILDERS

28 December 2013

COFFEE

28 December 2013

FLORIST

28 December 2013

HOLIDAY

28 December 2013

SOLUTIONS

18 December 2013

BUZZ

18 December 2013

SUPPORT

17 December 2013

RECIPES

17 December 2013

COMPUTER

17 December 2013

ACADEMY

17 December 2013

CAREERS

17 December 2013

CAB

17 December 2013

公益 (xn--55qw42g) – Chinese for "charity"

17 December 2013

政务 (xn--zfr164b) – Chinese for "government"

17 December 2013

SYSTEMS

17 December 2013

DOMAINS

17 December 2013

VIAJES

17 December 2013

COMPANY

17 December 2013

CAMP

17 December 2013

LIMO

17 December 2013

MANAGEMENT

17 December 2013

PHOTOS

17 December 2013

SHOES
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17 December 2013

CENTER

10 December 2013

RUHR

30 November 2013

MENU

30 November 2013

UNO

23 November 2013

みんな (xn--q9jyb4c) - Japanese for "everyone"

19 November 2013

DIAMONDS

19 November 2013

TIPS

19 November 2013

PHOTOGRAPHY

19 November 2013

DIRECTORY

19 November 2013

ENTERPRISES

19 November 2013

KITCHEN

19 November 2013

TODAY

14 November 2013

PLUMBING

14 November 2013

GRAPHICS

14 November 2013

CONTRACTORS

14 November 2013

GALLERY

14 November 2013

SEXY

14 November 2013

CONSTRUCTION

14 November 2013

TATTOO

14 November 2013

TECHNOLOGY

14 November 2013

ESTATE

14 November 2013

LAND

14 November 2013

BIKE

06 November 2013

VENTURES

06 November 2013

CAMERA

06 November 2013

CLOTHING

06 November 2013

LIGHTING

06 November 2013

SINGLES

06 November 2013

VOYAGE

06 November 2013

GURU

06 November 2013

HOLDINGS
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06 November 2013

EQUIPMENT

23 October 2013

شبكة
(xn--ngbc5azd) – Arabic for "web/network"

23 October 2013

онлайн (xn--80asehdb) – Russian for "online"

23 October 2013

сайт (xn--80aswg) – Russian for "site"

23 October 2013

游戏(xn--unup4y) – Chinese for "game(s)"
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The .org renewal agreement is based on the base generic top level
domain (gTLD) Registry Agreement updated on 31 July 2017 (herein
referred to as "base registry agreement"). However, in order to
account for the specific nature of the .org TLD, relevant provisions in
the current .org agreement have been carried over to the .org
renewal agreement.
As a result, the .org renewal agreement is substantially similar to the
terms of the base registry agreement. Listed below are summaries of
both a) provisions in the renewal agreement that are materially
different from the current .org agreement, and b) material differences
between the .org renewal agreement and the base registry
agreement.
a. Provisions in the proposed .org renewal agreement that
are materially different from the current .org agreement:
Approved Services (Exhibit A): Consistent with all new
gTLDs and other "legacy" TLD registry agreement
renewals, Exhibit A has been modified to include the
following additional or modified approved services: AntiAbuse, Searchable Whois, Internationalized Domain
Names (IDNs), .org Single and Two-Character Phased
Allocation Program, Bulk Transfer After Partial Portfolio
Acquisition (BTAPPA), Registry Lock, and an
implementation period of 270 calendar days to transition
all systems to the requirements of the .org renewal
agreement, which is consistent with other legacy TLD
registry agreement renewals.
Protection of Legal Rights of Third Parties and
Minimum Requirements for Rights Protection
Mechanisms (Section 2.8 and Specification 7 of the
.org renewal agreement): To better conform with the
base registry agreement, the .org renewal agreement
will be subject to the Rights Protection Mechanisms
(RPMs) set forth in section 2 of Specification 7, including
the Uniform Rapid Suspension (URS) system, the
Trademark Post-Delegation Dispute Resolution
Procedure (PDDRP), and the Registration Restrictions
Dispute Resolution Procedure (RRDRP). Public Interest
Registry is also authorized to develop additional rights
protection mechanisms. Section 2.8 of the .org renewal
agreement also does not contemplate processes and
procedures for launch of the TLD as is consistent with
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other legacy TLD registry agreement renewals.

Public Interest Commitments (Section 2.17 and
Specification 11 of the .org renewal agreement): The
Registry Operator has adopted the public interest
commitments and applicability of the Public Interest
Commitment Dispute Resolution Process (PICDRP)
comparable to new gTLD operators (with the exception
of Specification 11 Section 2, which refers to the initial
application for the gTLD).
Pricing for Domain Name Registrations and Registry
Services (Section 2.10 of the .org renewal
agreement): In alignment with the base registry
agreement, the price cap provisions in the current .org
agreement, which limited the price of registrations and
allowable price increases for registrations, are removed
from the .org renewal agreement. Protections for existing
registrants will remain in place, in line with the base
registry agreement. This change will not only allow the
.org renewal agreement to better conform with the base
registry agreement, but also takes into consideration the
maturation of the domain name market and the goal of
treating the Registry Operator equitably with registry
operators of new gTLDs and other legacy gTLDs utilizing
the base registry agreement
Fees to be paid to ICANN org (Section 6.1 of the .org
renewal agreement): The .org renewal agreement has
been modified to match the fee provisions in the base
registry agreement. Accordingly, the registry fixed fee of
$6,250 per calendar quarter is proposed for the .org TLD
beginning on the .org renewal agreement effective date.
The registry-level transaction fee remains at $0.25 for
each annual increment of an initial or renewal domain
name registration.
Misc. Provisions: Various other provisions have been
modified, at the request of the Registry Operator and
after bilateral negotiations with Registry Operator, to
align with terms previously included in the current .org
agreement.
b. Material differences between the proposed renewal
agreement for .org and the base gTLD Registry Agreement:
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Registry Interoperability and Continuity (Section 2.7
and Specification 6 of the base registry agreement):
Section 6 of Specification 6 of the base gTLD registry
agreement (Name Collision Occurrence Management)
will not apply to the .org TLD as it has been in operation
since 1985. This is consistent with other legacy TLD
registry agreement renewals.
Emergency Transition (Section 2.13 and 2.14 of the
.org renewal agreement) and Continued Operations
Instrument (Section 2.12 and Specification 8 of the
base registry agreement): In alignment with the base
registry agreement, the .org renewal agreement will
continue to incorporate the registrant protection
provision allowing ICANN to designate an emergency
interim registry operator if emergency thresholds for
registry functions are reached. However, the Continued
Operations Instrument requirement will not apply to the
.org TLD as it has been in continuous operation since
1985. As a result, Section 4.3(c) of the base registry
agreement (Termination by ICANN) is not applicable to
the .org TLD and, therefore, is of no force or effect. This
is consistent with other legacy TLDs who have adopted
the Emergency Transition provisions.
Pass Through Fees related to the Trademark
Clearinghouse (Section 6.4 of the base registry
agreement): This requirement will not apply to the .org
TLD as it has been in continuous operation since 1985.
As a result, Section 6.4 of the base registry agreement is
not applicable to the .org TLD and, therefore, is of no
force of effect. This is consistent with other legacy TLD
registry agreement renewals.
Schedule of Reserved Names (Specification 5 of the
base registry agreement): The .org renewal agreement
amends Section 2 of Specification 5 (Two-Character
ASCII Labels) allowing the Registry Operator to allocate
two-character labels that were reserved in prior registry
agreements. The allocation of two-character labels is
subject to the Registration Policy and Post Registrations
Complaint Investigation provisions in Appendix A of the
Authorization for Release of Letter/Letter Two-Character
ASCII Labels at The Second Level issued to all new
gTLD registry operators on 13 December 2016.
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Additionally, the provision on the Registry Operator's use
of up to 100 names for the operation and promotion of
the TLD (Section 3.2) and the provisions on activation of
names relating to International Olympic Committee,
International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement
(Section 5) and names relating to Intergovernmental
Organizations Section 6) are of no force or effect in the
.org renewal agreement.
Misc. Provisions: Various other provisions have been
modified to remove references to the initial delegation of
the TLD, entry into the root zone, statements made in
the registry TLD application, and launch of the TLD, as
they are not applicable to a legacy TLD.
Posted for public comment are both clean and "redline" versions of
the .org renewal agreement, and the Addendum to the .org renewal
agreement that is proposed to be executed by the parties as follows:
Proposed .org renewal agreement
Redline showing changes compared to the base registry
agreement
Proposed addendum to the .org renewal agreement
Contractual Compliance Review: As part of the renewal process,
ICANN conducted a contractual compliance review of the current .org
agreement. Public Interest Registry was found to be in compliance
with its contractual requirements for the operation of the .org TLD.

Section II: Background
ICANN and Public Interest Registry, a Pennsylvania non-profit
corporation, entered into a TLD Registry Agreement on 2 December
2002 for continued operation of the .org top level domain, which was
subsequently renewed on 8 December 2006 and 22 August 2013.
In addition to the .org renewal agreement, the registry agreements of
several "legacy" gTLDs, namely, .tel, .mobi, .jobs, .travel, .cat and
.pro have been renewed based on the base registry agreement as a
result of bilateral negotiations between ICANN and the applicable
registry operators. These renewed agreements can be viewed at:
https://www.icann.org/resources/pages/registries/registries-
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agreements-en.

Section III: Relevant Resources
Current .org Registry Agreement and Appendices
Approved base New gTLD Registry Agreement (as updated on
31 July 2017)

Section IV: Additional Information
Section V: Reports
Report

Who We Are

Contact Us

Accountability

Governance
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Substantive Evaluation by the ICANN Ombudsman of Request for Reconsideration 19-2
This substantive evaluation of Request for Reconsideration (“RFR”) 19-2 by the ICANN
Ombudsman is required under the Paragraph 4.2(l) of the current ICANN Bylaws (“Bylaws”
(as amended July 22, 2017)).
Under ICANN Bylaws 4.2(c), a Requestor can bring a Request for Reconsideration
concerning an action or inaction as follows:
Section 4.2. RECONSIDERATION…
(c) A Requestor may submit a request for reconsideration or review of
an ICANN action or inaction (“Reconsideration Request”) to the extent
that the Requestor has been adversely affected by:
(i)
(ii)

(iii)

One or more Board or Staff actions or inactions that contradict
ICANN’s Mission, Commitments, Core Values and/or
established ICANN policy(ies);
One or more actions or inactions of the Board or Staff that have
been taken or refused to be taken without consideration of
material information, except where the Requestor could have
submitted, but did not submit, the information for the Board’s
or Staff’s consideration at the time of action or refusal to act; or
One or more actions or inactions of the Board or Staff that are
taken as a result of the Board’s or staff’s reliance on false or
inaccurate relevant information.

Unpacking the above language, did an action (or inaction in other words an action that
could have been taken which was not taken) contradict or violate ICANN’s Mission or
established policy (including the Bylaws and relevant California laws1)? Or, was an action
taken (or not taken) without consideration of material information, or was it the result of
reliance on false or inaccurate relevant information? In providing the Board Accountability
Mechanism Committee (“BAMC”) and the ICANN Board of Directors a “substantive
evaluation” of a Request for Reconsideration, the Ombudsman must look at the substance
of what is being requested in the Request, and of course at the actions (or inaction) for
which the Requestor seeks Reconsideration.

While laws of a state or country are not mentioned explicitly in Bylaws Section 4.2, the
Mission of a California public benefit corporation includes implicitly abiding by the relevant
laws: here those are the applicable corporate laws pertinent to the governance of the
corporation. If an action or inaction clearly is in violation of California law, it is improper.
Similarly, the word “Commitments” suggests the commitment ICANN makes to be law
abiding, especially of the laws of the State wherein and whereby it was formed, where it is
headquartered, and where much of its operation takes place.

1
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Request for Reconsideration 19-2 was filed by Namecheap, Inc. (“Requestor”) on July 12th,
2019, seeking reconsideration of ICANN organization’s renewal of the Registry Agreements
with Public Interest Registry (“PIR”) and Afilias Limited (“Afilias”) for the .org and .info toplevel domains (TLDs), respectively (collectively, the .org/.info renewed Registry
Agreements are “Renewal Registry Agreements”), insofar as the renewals eliminated “the
historic price caps” on domain name registration fees for .org and .info. The Requestor
claims that ICANN org’s “decision to ignore public comments to keep price caps in legacy
TLDs is contrary to ICANN’s Commitments and Core Values, and ICANN should reverse this
decision for the public good.”
The Renewal Registry Agreements (RA) (and their Addenda) that are at the heart of this
Reconsideration Request can be found here:
https://www.icann.org/resources/agreement/org-2019-06-30-en and
https://www.icann.org/resources/agreement/info-2019-06-30-en.
The history of these RAs (which is detailed on the public comments pages) may be helpful
to explain why and how these negotiations came about. [https://www.icann.org/publiccomments/org-renewal-2019-03-18-en and https://www.icann.org/publiccomments/info-renewal-2019-03-18-en)]
The Registries for these two historic and significant Top-Level Domains (TLDs) are Public
Interest Registry (PIR) (for .org) and Afilias (for .info), (the former is a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation and the latter is a Pennsylvania corporation both are the “Registry
Operators”). ICANN and the Registry Operators each bilaterally negotiated Registry
Agreement renewals with ICANN org. ICANN and the Registry Operators “agreed to
implement the incorporation of unique legacy-related terms of .org (and .info) through an
‘Addendum’ to the Registry Agreement.”
[https://www.icann.org/resources/agreement/org-2019-06-30-en]
The initial Registry Agreements for .org and .info were due to expire on June 30th, 2019. In
anticipation of that nearing expiration date, ICANN and PIR, and ICANN and Afilias,
bilaterally negotiated renewals of their respective Registry Agreements. The proposed
renewals were based on ICANN’s current Base gTLD Registry Agreement.
The Addendum allowed the Registry Operator to renew with “unique terms” included via
the Addendum. The reasons ICANN and the Registry Operators were willing to renew with
unique terms may have to do with the historical nature of these TLDs, their size, and the
fact that in the case of .org, a vast number of non-profits and public interest entities are
registered thereunder (ICANN itself is icann.org). The .org TLD is currently the third largest
TLD, with at present more than 10 million registrants, and .info is the fourth largest (with
~4.65 million registrants as of May 2019).2

2

The TLDs .com and .net are the two largest according to the latest statistics on Statista.
[https://www.statista.com/statistics/262947/domain-numbers-of-the-ten-largest-toplevel-domains/]
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It’s no understatement to note that regarding the history of Internet domains, putting all
TLDs in context over the past 30 odd years, the three TLDs .org, .info, and .biz, (plus .com
and .net), comprise the most important, most recognized, and just most period.
Viewed separately or together, these TLDs are the most significant TLDs; thus, it is not
surprising that ICANN would take time and care to treat them differently in terms of their
renewals, and be willing to renew them on unique terms. The removal of price controls
brings these renewals in line with the current Base gTLD Registry Agreements, creating
potential conformity for all (or almost all) TLD agreement terms going forward.
When bilateral renewal negotiations were finished, ICANN org posted the proposed,
bilaterally negotiated renewal of the unique .org Registry Agreements for public comment
(from March 18th, 2019 through April 29th, 2019).
According to the Staff Report of Public Comment Proceeding (“Staff Report”) which was
posted on June 3rd, 2019, ICANN received 3,200+ submissions during the public comment
period for .org alone. (The Staff Report is available at https://www.icann.org/publiccomments/org-renewal-2019-03-18-en).
The Staff Report notes this number of comments is comparable to a prior .org Registry
Agreement renewal comment period in 2006, where over 2,000 comments were received.
All of the present comments were submitted through an ICANN org public comment portal
requiring human interaction; yet many of these comments seem clearly to be computer
generated that is to say, they may be “comments” in some way, shape or form, but a vast
number of comments are identical, with only the email address of the comment submitter
changing. A brief search on the Internet identified one source of recurring comments to be:
https://www.internetcommerce.org/comment-org/ (Web page accessed Sept. 7th, 2019).
As far as comments go for ICANN, 3200+ appears to be quite a sizeable number. But, seeing
as how the public comments can be filled out and submitted electronically, it is not
unexpected that many of the comments are, in actuality, more akin to spam.
After the public comment period closed, ICANN Staff prepared the Staff Report, which was
circulated to the ICANN Board, and then subsequently made available to the public at the
beginning of June 2019. All Board Directors could access all of the public comments, as
could anyone (they live online here: https://www.icann.org/public-comments/orgrenewal-2019-03-18-en). Given the significance of these Legacy TLDs, the Board was
briefed about the negotiations in January 2019; subsequently (in June of 2019) the Board
was briefed about the public comments and the decision taken by ICANN Staff and the
President and CEO (“CEO”) to go ahead with the renewals under the published terms.
Following consultation with the Board, ICANN published correspondence affirming that
renewal of TLDs by the CEO and Staff continues to be a proper delegation of authority by
the Board to the CEO and Staff.
[https://www.icann.org/en/system/files/correspondence/namazi-to-muscovitch-26jul19en.pdf]
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What may not be understood by the Community is that ICANN’s Board delegated such
authority to negotiate and renew Registry Agreements to the CEO and Staff long ago,
utilizing the executive authority resident in the Chief Executive and its powers:
Section 15.4. PRESIDENT
The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of ICANN in charge
of all of its activities and business. All other officers and staff shall report to
the President or his or her delegate, unless stated otherwise in these Bylaws.
The President shall serve as an ex officio Director, and shall have all the same
rights and privileges of any Director. The President shall be empowered to
call special meetings of the Board as set forth herein, and shall discharge all
other duties as may be required by these Bylaws and from time to time may
be assigned by the Board.
They call these powers “Executive” for a reason: the Staff and the officers under the CEO
execute agreements, operations, etc. Indeed, the Board’s delegation of authority to
negotiate and enter into contracts is consistent with the Bylaws and the state laws of
California, under and by which ICANN is formed as a corporation, as noted in Footnote 1
above (owing to Bylaws Section 4.2 inclusion of ICANN’s “Mission” and “Commitments”).
The most relevant Bylaw, however, is probably Bylaws Section 2.1:
Except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation or these
Bylaws, the powers of ICANN shall be exercised by, and its property
controlled and its business and affairs conducted by or under the direction
of, the Board (as defined in Section 7.1).
The Board of Directors has specifically directed the CEO and Staff to negotiate and execute
agreements especially Registry Agreements. This authority is periodically reaffirmed, as
appears to have happened in June 2019. Indeed, executing Registry Agreements (and their
renewals) are, to an extent, the raison d’être and life’s blood of ICANN; it makes total sense
that the Board gave and keeps giving this authority and power to the CEO and his Staff.
The Bylaws specifically authorize the CEO’s power to enter into and execute contracts
(including, of course, Registry Agreements). Per the Bylaws, Section 21.1:
CONTRACTS
The Board may authorize any Officer or Officers, agent or agents, to enter
into any contract or execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and on
behalf of ICANN, and such authority may be general or confined to specific
instances.
Following the ICANN 65 Marrakech Policy Meeting in June 2019, the Registry Operators for
the .org, .info and .biz TLDs executed their bilaterally negotiated Renewal Registry
4
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Agreements with ICANN (on June 30th, 2019). The choice to include unique terms (or any
terms, unique or not) properly belongs to the CEO and Staff, and all the included and
proposed terms were bilaterally negotiated by Staff with the respective Registry Operators.
After investigation, it seems apparent to me that the CEO and Staff acted within the scope of
the powers given them by the Board. The Board retained oversight, the Board was briefed
on the negotiations for the renewals of the Registry Agreements for the Legacy TLDs, and
the Board was well aware of the public comments related thereto. The Board could have
directed the CEO and Staff not to renew under these terms had it thought that warranted. It
decided not to do so.
The Board were well aware of the public comments, had been briefed on them by the CEO
and Staff, and had been provided with the Staff Report summarizing them; they chose to let
Staff go ahead and renew on the terms agreed to with the Registry Operators, and the
renewal Registry Agreements were duly and timely executed. Nothing about this seems to
me, based on my investigation and understanding of the relevant rules, laws and Bylaws, to
be any kind of violation or dereliction of CEO and Staff’s normal executive obligations and
duties, or of the Mission, Core Values, or Commitments of ICANN.
Ultimately, my substantive evaluation of this Request is that the whole renewal process and
the terms themselves may be described as a corporate governance matter, and no rules or
duties of corporate governance were violated (including the ICANN Bylaws). I have more to
say about all this in the “companion” Substantive Evaluation of Reconsideration Request
19-3 (see Annex 1), which relates to other terms of these same renewal Registry
Agreements (and which I have submitted per the Bylaws on the same day as I submitted
this Evaluation: September 7th, 2019).
What Requestor set forth and requests in Request for Reconsideration 19-2 does not merit
a recommendation by me to the BAMC or the Board to take the action Requestor requests,
or to take any action at all.
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2. ICANN Request for Additional Information, 9 December 2019
We have completed an initial review of the submitted information and have a request for
additional information. Pursuant to the .org Registry Agreement, responses should be provided
within 15 days of the receipt of this request but please let us know if that creates a difficulty for
you. Once all additional information is provided, ICANN has up to 30 days to review the
materials.
COVER LETTER
1. This document states that “… before the consummation of the Transaction, PIR will
undergo a statutory conversion and name change from Public Interest Registry to Public
Interest Registry, LLC”. If the conversion and entity name is changed before the change
of control, then a Registry Operator name change must first be processed so that all
submitted information for the change of control is consistent with the new name.
1.1. We note that you stated, “we understand ICANN will want to paper the updated name,
and trust that simple one-page document between the parties that acknowledges the
name change should be sufficient to update the Registry Agreements.” We have asked
several clarifying questions below about the process by which PIR will be changing its
legal form and legal name. Once provided, we will be able to provide direction about
how to best process a name change request.
PROPOSED OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AND INDIVIDUALS
Several entities are named in the submission. For the avoidance of doubt, please provide the
following:
2. Two comprehensive corporate organizational charts:
2.1. The first chart should reflect the current ownership (or membership) structure. The chart
should indicate the percentage of ownership each entity or individual has within the
others listed on the chart.
2.2. The second chart should document the proposed post-transaction ownership structure. It
must illustrate the relationship between all entities or individuals that will have any
indirect or direct ownership/control over the registry operator as well as all affiliates (as
defined in the Registry Agreement) of said entities. The chart should include the
percentage of ownership each will have after the proposed transaction closes. Please
ensure that this includes Ethos Capital, LLC and any entities controlling Ethos Capital
(as “control” is defined in the Registry Agreement).
3. For each entity listed in the proposed post-transaction organization chart, please provide
the full legal name, principal place of business, directors and officers, shareholders and
percentage of ownership they each have. For each individual listed, please provide their
position/title, full names, date of birth, country of birth and current country of residence.
4. For all entities and affiliates listed in the proposed post-transaction organization chart,
provide proof of establishment.
5. Although the submitted documentation states that “none of the events listed in the online
application for change of control have occurred or are applicable”, a response for each
specific question was not provided. Please provide a response for each of the following
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questions related to the background for the proposed shareholders, entities or directors and
officers named in number two above and indicate whether any of them:
5.1. Within the past ten years, has been convicted of any crime related to financial or
corporate governance activities, or has been judged by a court to have committed fraud
or breach of fiduciary duty, or has been the subject of a judicial determination that is the
substantive equivalent of any of these.
5.2. Within the past ten years, has been disciplined by any government or industry regulatory
body for conduct involving dishonesty or misuse of funds of others.
5.3. Within the past ten years has been convicted of any willful tax-related fraud or willful
evasion of tax liabilities.
5.4. Within the past ten years has been convicted of perjury, forswearing, failing to cooperate
with a law enforcement investigation, or making false statements to a law enforcement
agency or representative.
5.5. Has ever been convicted of any crime involving the use of computers, telephony
systems, telecommunications or the Internet to facilitate the commission of crimes.
5.6. Has ever been convicted of any crime involving the use of a weapon, force, or the threat
of force.
5.7. Has ever been convicted of any violent or sexual offense victimizing children, the
elderly, or individuals with disabilities.
5.8. Has ever been convicted of the illegal sale, manufacture, or distribution of
pharmaceutical drugs, or been convicted or successfully extradited for any offense
described in Article 3 of the United Nations Convention Against Illicit Traffic in
Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988.
5.9. Has ever been convicted or successfully extradited for any offense described in the
United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime (all Protocols).
5.10 Has been convicted, within the respective timeframes, of aiding, abetting, facilitating,
enabling, conspiring to commit, or failing to report any of the listed crimes (i.e., within
the past 10 years for crimes listed in (5.1) - (5.4) above, or ever for the crimes listed in
(5.5) – (5.9) above).
5.11 Has entered a guilty plea as part of a plea agreement or has a court case in any
jurisdiction with a disposition of Adjudicated Guilty or Adjudication Withheld (or
regional equivalents) within the respective timeframes listed above for any of the listed
crimes (i.e., within the past 10 years for crimes listed in (5.1) - (5.4) above, or ever for
the crimes listed in (5.5) – (5.9) above).
5.12 Is the subject of a disqualification imposed by ICANN and in effect at the time of this
application.
6. Cross-ownership information was not provided. Please disclose any cross-ownership
interests in registrars and/or registrar resellers, that may exist for any of the entities named
in the responses to number one and number two, (collectively, the “Cross-ownership
Parties”) above, specifically:
6.1. Is there any ownership interest the Cross-ownership Parties hold in any registrar or
reseller of registered names?
6.2. Is there any ownership interest that a registrar or reseller of registered names holds in the
Cross-ownership Parties?
6.3. Are there any relationships under common control with, control or controlled by any
registrar or reseller of registered names?
13
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6.4. If any of the above are Yes please explain. If referencing a registrar, please include an
IANA ID.
Note: ICANN retains the right to refer any identified relationships to a competition authority
prior to change of control of the Registry Operator if it is determined that any such crossownership interests could raise competition issues.
TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION
7. Please answer the following questions and provide any relevant documentation, if any:
Was PIR aware at any time during the negotiations and finalization of the renewal of the
.org Registry Agreement (effective 30 June 2019) that ISOC was engaged in discussions
for or planning the sale of PIR or its assets? To the best of your knowledge, was ISOC
engaged in discussions for or planning the sale of PIR or its assets at the time of the
renewal of the .org Registry Agreement?
8. Please provide a copy of the Equity Purchase Agreement, dated November 11, 2019,
pursuant to which Ethos Capital is indirectly acquiring 100% of the equity interests of
PIR, together with all ancillary agreements necessary to determine the effect of the
proposed transaction.
9. Please provide a schedule detailing the allocation/distribution of the purchase price among
interested parties, including owners, members and consultants. Please include information
on how the transaction will be funded and how that will affect the financial state of PIR
and its ability to operate a secure and stable registry and fund the initiatives recently
announced to support the .org community going forward (for example, will PIR incur debt
obligations in connection with the transaction).
10. Please provide copies of all filings made by PIR with the Pennsylvania Secretary of State
to effect its conversion to an LLC.
11. Please provide a copy of the notice to the Pennsylvania Attorney General regarding the
proposed sale to Ethos Capital, LLC, including all additional documents and information
provided to the Pennsylvania Attorney General in connection with its review of the
proposed sale.
12. Please provide the proposed organizational documents to be implemented for PIR postclosing.
13. Please provide relevant financial information (e.g. audited financial statements) and
organizational documents of the post-transaction beneficial owner of PIR, confirming that
PIR will maintain sufficient financial resources to fund operations, including financial
statements of the ultimate parent entity of PIR following the consummation of the
transaction.
14. Please provide a list of ongoing transaction-related litigation involving the transaction
parties or their related entities.
15. Please provide a list of all entities or individuals that have a financial, beneficial or
controlling interest in the transaction.
16. Please provide a list of all former directors, officers or employees of ICANN that you are
aware of that are or have been involved in, have advised on or otherwise have an interest
in the transaction.
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17. Please provide a list of all current directors, officers or employees of ICANN, if any, that
are or have been involved in, have advised on or otherwise have an interest in the
transaction.
FINANCIAL QUESTIONS
18. Please provide the financial information requested in Exhibit A. Please consider the term
“assignee” to refer to Public Interest Registry LLC.
TECHNICAL OPERATIONS
19. Please identify the current provider for each of the critical functions of the registry (as
defined in Spec 10 of the Registry Agreement) and state whether there will be a change to
the provider for each of the critical functions as a result of the proposed transaction.
THE .ORG COMMUNITY
20. In order to support PIR’s recent public statements about programs or initiatives to
promote/protect the .org community, please provide any controls or representations in the
transaction documents (or otherwise) in relation to protecting the .org community.
21. Please provide information on how PIR and the proposed new controlling entities of PIR
address the original criteria evaluated in the designation of ISOC/PIR as the operator of
.org. Please include reference to any controls or representations in the transaction
documents (or otherwise) regarding these criteria. Please confirm whether any funds from
the Verisign endowment remain available for use.
EVALUATION FEES
22. Please acknowledge that any fees associated with evaluation of this Assignment or
Change of Control request must be paid before the request can be approved.
COMMUNITY INQUIRIES
23. We note the heavy interest of many members of the .org community and ask that you
consider responding to the community questions attached as Exhibit B.
ATTESTATION OF FULL AND TRUTHFUL DISCLOSURE
24. We note that PIR attested to several conditions in the submission. However, we noticed
that you did not attest to the following: “I attest that the requested change only affects the
ownership or shareholder(s) of Registry Operator and the Registry Operator does not
change.” Please provide an explanation for this omission.
25. Please include an attestation of full and truthful disclosure in the same manner as provided
in the initial submission with respect to the additional information provided pursuant to
this request.
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EXHIBIT A
Provide responses to each of the questions below with attachments.
1. Financial Statements: provide
audited or independently certified financial statements for the most recently completed
fiscal year for the assignee, and
audited or unaudited financial statements for the most recently ended interim financial
period for the assignee for which this information may be released.
For newly-formed assignee, or where financial statements are not audited, provide:
the latest available unaudited financial statements; and
an explanation as to why audited or independently certified financial statements are not
available.
At a minimum, the financial statements should be provided for the legal entity listed as the
assignee.
Financial statements are used in the analysis of projections and costs. A complete answer should
include:
balance sheet;
income statement;
statement of shareholders equity/partner capital;
cash flow statement, and
notes to the financial statements including the accounting standard used to prepare the
statements.
2. Projections Template: provide financial projections for costs and funding using Template 1,
Most Likely Scenario available at http://newgtlds icann org/en/applicants/agb/fin-proj-template28dec11-en.xls. Note, if certain services are outsourced, reflect this in the relevant cost section of
the template. The template is intended to provide commonality among gTLD applications and
thereby facilitate the evaluation process.
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages in addition to the template.
3.(a)Costs and capital expenditures: in conjunction with the financial projections template,
describe and explain:
the expected operating costs and capital expenditures of setting up and operating the proposed
registry;
any functions to be outsourced, as indicated in the cost section of the template, and the
reasons for outsourcing;
any significant variances between years in any category of expected costs; and
a description of the basis / key assumptions including rationale for the costs provided in the
projections
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template. This may include an executive summary or summary outcome of studies,
reference data, or other steps taken to develop the responses and validate any assumptions
made.
As described in the Applicant Guidebook, the information provided will be considered in light of
the entire application and the evaluation criteria. Therefore, this answer should agree with the
information provided in Template 1 to:
1) maintain registry operations,
2) provide registry services described above, and
3) satisfy the technical requirements described in the Demonstration of Technical & Operational
Capability section. Costs should include both fixed and variable costs.
Answers must demonstrate a conservative estimate of costs based on actual examples of previous
or existing registry operations with similar approach and projections for growth and costs or
equivalent. Attach reference material for such examples.
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages.
3.(b) Describe anticipated ranges in projected costs. Describe factors that affect those ranges.
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages.
4.(a) Funding and Revenue: Funding can be derived from several sources (e.g., existing capital
or proceeds/revenue from operation of the proposed registry).
Describe:
I. How existing funds will provide resources for both:
a) start-up of operations, and
b) ongoing operations;
II. the revenue model including projections for transaction volumes and price (if the assignee
does not intend to rely on registration revenue in order to cover the costs of the registry's
operation, it must clarify how the funding for the operation will be developed and maintained in
a stable and sustainable manner);
III. outside sources of funding (the assignee must, where applicable, provide evidence of the
commitment by the party committing the funds). Secured vs unsecured funding should be clearly
identified, including associated sources of funding (i.e., different types of funding, level and type
of security/collateral, and key items) for
each type of funding;
IV. Any significant variances between years in any category of funding and revenue; and
V. A description of the basis / key assumptions including rationale for the funding and revenue
provided in the projections template. This may include an executive summary or summary
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outcome of studies, reference data, or other steps taken to develop the responses and validate any
assumptions made; and
VI. Assurances that funding and revenue projections cited in this application are consistent with
other public and private claims made to promote the business and generate support. Answers
must demonstrate:
o A conservative estimate of funding and revenue; and
o Ongoing operations that are not dependent on projected revenue.
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages.
4.(b) Describe anticipated ranges in projected funding and revenue. Describe factors that affect
those ranges.
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages
5.(a) Contingency Planning: describe your contingency planning:
Identify any projected barriers/risks to implementation of the business approach described
in the application and how they affect cost, funding, revenue, or timeline in your planning;
Identify the impact of any particular regulation, law or policy that might impact the
Registry Services offering; and
Describe the measures to mitigate the key risks as described in this question. A complete
answer should include, for each contingency, a clear description of the impact to projected
revenue, funding, and costs for the 3-year period presented in Template 1 (Most Likely
Scenario).
Answers must demonstrate that action plans and operations are adequately resourced in the
existing funding and revenue plan even if contingencies occur.
A complete answer is expected to be no more than10 pages.
5.(b) Describe your contingency planning where funding sources are so significantly reduced
that material deviations from the implementation model are required. In particular, describe:
how on-going technical requirements will be met; and
what alternative funding can be reasonably raised at a later time. Provide an explanation if
you do not believe there is any chance of reduced funding. Complete the financial
projections Template 2, Worst Case Scenario available at
http://newgtlds.icann.org/en/applicants/agb/fin-proj-template-28dec11-en.xls)
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages, in addition to the template.
5.(c) Describe your contingency planning where activity volumes so significantly exceed the
high projections that material deviation from the implementation model are required. In
particular, how will on-going technical requirements be met?
A complete answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages.
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6.(a) Provide a cost estimate for funding critical registry functions on an annual basis, and a
rationale for these cost estimates commensurate with the technical, operational, and financial
approach described in the application.
The critical functions of a registry which must be supported even if a registry’s business and/or
funding fails are:
(1) DNS resolution for registered domain names
Assignee should consider ranges of volume of daily DNS queries (e.g., 0-100M, 100M-1B,
1B+), the incremental costs associated with increasing levels of such queries, and the ability to
meet SLA performance metrics.
(2) Operation of the Shared Registration System
Assignee should consider ranges of volume of daily EPP transactions (e.g., 0-200K, 200K-2M,
2M+), the incremental costs associated with increasing levels of such queries, and the ability to
meet SLA performance metrics.
(3) Provision of Whois service
Assignee should consider ranges of volume of daily Whois queries (e.g., 0-100K, 100k-1M,
1M+), the incremental costs associated with increasing levels of such queries, and the ability to
meet SLA performance metrics for both web-based and port-43 services.
(4) Registry data escrow deposits
Assignee should consider administration, retention, and transfer fees as well as daily deposit
(e.g., full or incremental) handling. Costs may vary depending on the size of the files in escrow
(i.e., the size of the registry database).
(5) Maintenance of a properly signed zone in accordance with DNSSEC requirements.
Assignee should consider ranges of volume of daily DNS queries (e.g., 0-100M, 100M-1B,
1B+), the incremental costs associated with increasing levels of such queries, and the ability to
meet SLA performance metrics.
List the estimated annual cost for each of these functions (specify currency used). A complete
answer is expected to be no more than 10 pages.
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EXHIBIT B
1. Are the stewardship measures proposed for the new PIR sufficient to protect the interests
of the dot org community? What is missing?
2. What level of scope, authority and independence will the proposed Stewardship Council
possess? Will dot org stakeholders have opportunities to weigh in on the selection of the
Council and development of its bylaws and its relationship to PIR and Ethos?
3. What assurances can the dot org community have that Ethos and PIR will keep their
promises regarding price increases? Will there be any remedy if these promises are not
kept?
4. What mechanisms does PIR currently have in place to implement measures to protect
free speech and other rights of domain holders under its revised contract, and will those
mechanisms change in any way with the transfer of ownership and control? In particular,
how will PIR handle requests from government actors?
5. When is the planned incorporation of PIR as a B corp? Are there any repercussions for
Ethos and/or PIR if this incorporation does not take place?
6. What guarantees are in place to retain the unique character of the dot org as a home for
non-commercial organizations, one of the important stewardship promises made by PIR
when it was granted the registry?
7. Did ISOC receive multiple bids for PIR? If yes, what criteria in addition to price were
used to review the bids? Were the ICANN criteria originally applied to dot org bidders in
2002 considered? If no, would ISOC consider other bids should the current proposal be
rejected?
8. How long has Ethos committed to stay invested in PIR? Are there measures in place to
ensure continued commitment to the answers above in the event of a resale?
9. What changes to ICANN’s agreement with PIR should be made to ensure that dot org is
maintained in a manner that serves the public interest, and that ICANN has recourse to
act swiftly if it is not?
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3. PIR Response to ICANN’s Request for Additional Information, 20 December 2019
PIR’s response to ICANN’s request for additional information included the following
information (along with other confidential information not published here).
•

PIR’s planned statutory conversion and name change.

o The planned statutory conversion and associated name change of PIR will occur
substantially simultaneously with closing of the Transaction. PIR has provided
drafts for ICANN’s prior review of the documentation regarding the statutory
conversion and associated name change to be filed at closing. PIR also will
promptly provide ICANN with finalized copies of such documents upon their
submission to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
o We understand ICANN’s published instructions to be that, if a name change
occurs in conjunction with an indirect change of control, both the name change
and the indirect change of control should be handled through the single indirect
change of control process.3
o As a matter of law, “Public Interest Registry, a Pennsylvania nonprofit
corporation” will be the same entity as “Public Interest Registry, LLC.” There
will not be a “new” entity or “assignee” involved in this indirect change of
control. The conversion will be effectuated pursuant to Subchapter E of Part I,
Chapter 3, of Title 15 Pa.C.S.A. As a matter of law, Public Interest Registry,
LLC, will be “the same association without interruption” as Public Interest
Registry.4 All property of Public Interest Registry will continue to be vested in
Public Interest Registry, LLC “without reversion or impairment, and the
conversion shall not constitute a transfer of any of that property.” 5
o All debts, obligations and other liabilities of Public Interest Registry will continue
as debts, obligations and other liabilities of Public Interest Registry LLC as a matter
of law.6 Any requests regarding the financials of Public Interest Registry, LLC are
necessarily the same as requests for the financials of PIR.
o PIR is providing financial information to fully demonstrate that the continued
security of registry operations will not be in jeopardy by this Transaction in the
spirit of full transparency. If anything, the infusion of outside resources only acts
to strengthen PIR’s position in the competitive marketplace.
o PIR is a mature registry with known costs and base of revenue, rather than an
applicant for a yet-to-be-launched gTLD without a proven track record. Many of
the questions in Exhibit A are taken from the New gTLD Applicant Guidebook,
some referencing “applicant” and the Applicant Guidebook. As such, many of the
requests set forth in ICANN’s Exhibit A do not apply to a fully functioning,
legacy gTLD registry operator (e.g. startup operations, anticipated costs,
projections, etc.). PIR trusts the financial information and other documentation
“If the change is the result of a direct or indirect change of control of the registry operator, the assigning registry
operator needs to utilize the appropriate Assignment process.” https://www icann org/en/system/files/files/registryoperator-name-change-25sep17-en.pdf
4 15 Pa.C.S.A. 356(a)(1).
5 15 Pa.C.S.A. 356(a)(2).
6 15 Pa.C.S.A. 356(a)(3).
3
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provided herein is sufficient to demonstrate its financial ability to continue to
provide secure registry services.
•

Background of the proposed shareholders, entities or directors and officers
of acquiror.

o The ownership chart provided by PIR in its application for indirect change of control
illustrates the current membership structure of PIR and the post-Transaction
ownership structure. As indicated in the chart, The Internet Society is currently the
sole member of PIR (i.e. 100% control).
o PIR and Purpose Domains Direct, LLC, the post-transaction direct parent of PIR,
will each establish a Board of Managers with five seats (each, the “Board”). The
Board will include the CEO of PIR (currently Jon Nevett), two seats selected by
Ethos Capital, and two seats selected by one or more minority equity holders. 7 The
Board will act by majority vote (i.e. Ethos Capital together with the PIR CEO can
control the management and affairs of PIR). None of the minority investors will
have any special rights or preferences other than standard minority investor approval
rights and preferences.
o The management team of PIR will remain in place and continue to operate the
business of PIR in a manner consistent with past practices in furtherance of the .ORG
community.
o The investors in this Transaction do not include any ICANN registry operators or
registrars, nor is ABRY Partners an investor.
o The Internet Society (“ISOC”) has created a newly formed supporting organization,
Connected Giving Foundation, a non-profit Pennsylvania entity (“CGF”), for which
it serves as its sole member. CGF is expected to be a Section 501(c)(3) public
charity. Prior to, but in tandem with the closing of the Transaction, CGF will
become a member of PIR and upon the conversion of PIR to PIR LLC, ISOC will
no longer be a member of PIR LLC, and CGF will be the sole member of PIR LLC.
Immediately thereafter, CGF will then sell its 100% membership in PIR to Purpose
Domains Direct, LLC. CGF’s purpose is to ensure the ongoing financial stability of
ISOC, whose mission is to support and promote the development of the Internet
around the world – an Internet that is open, globally- connected, secure and
trustworthy and that is a resource to enrich people’s lives, and a force for good in
society. With the funds generated by the Transaction and paid to CGF, ISOC will
be well positioned to continue its charitable mission by investing in programs that
build and support the communities that make the Internet work, advance the
development and application of Internet infrastructure, technologies, and open
standards, and advocate for policy that is consistent with its vision for the Internet.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have, within the past ten years, been
convicted of any crime related to financial or corporate governance activities, or has
been judged by a court to have committed fraud or breach of fiduciary duty, or has
been the subject of a judicial determination that is the substantive equivalent of any
of these.
7

The contemplated Board has expanded from 3 to 5 seats from the original Notice filed to ICANN.
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o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have, within the past ten years, been
disciplined by any government or industry regulatory body for conduct involving
dishonesty or misuse of funds of others.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have, within the past ten years, been
convicted of any willful tax-related fraud or willful evasion of tax liabilities.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have, within the past ten years, been
convicted of perjury, forswearing, failing to cooperate with a law enforcement
investigation, or making false statements to a law enforcement agency or
representative.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have ever been convicted of any
crime involving the use of computers, telephony systems, telecommunications or the
Internet to facilitate the commission of crimes.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have ever been convicted of any
crime involving the use of a weapon, force, or the threat of force.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have ever been convicted of any
violent or sexual offense victimizing children, the elderly, or individuals with
disabilities. None of the entities or individuals listed herein have ever been convicted
of the illegal sale, manufacture, or distribution of pharmaceutical drugs, or been
convicted or successfully extradited for any offense described in Article 3 of the
United Nations Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and
Psychotropic Substances of 1988.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have ever been convicted or
successfully extradited for any offense described in the United Nations Convention
against Transnational Organized Crime (all Protocols).
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have been convicted of aiding,
abetting, facilitating, enabling, conspiring to commit, or failing to report any of the
listed crimes (i.e., within the past 10 years for crimes listed in (5.1) - (5.4) above, or
ever for the crimes listed in (5.5) – (5.9) above).
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein have, entered a guilty plea as part of
a plea agreement or has a court case in any jurisdiction with a disposition of
Adjudicated Guilty or Adjudication Withheld (or regional equivalents) within the
respective timeframes listed above for any of the listed crimes (i.e., within the past
10 years for crimes listed in (5.1) - (5.4) above, or ever for the crimes listed in (5.5) –
(5.9) above.
o None of the entities or individuals listed herein to their respective knowledge are the
subject of a disqualification imposed by ICANN and in effect at the time of this
application.
•

PIR’s knowledge during the negotiations and finalization of the renewal
of the .org Registry Agreement (effective 30 June 2019) that ISOC was
engaged in discussions for or planning the sale of PIR or its assets.

o No, PIR was not aware that ISOC was engaged in discussions regarding the potential
sale of PIR or its assets at the time of the negotiation and finalization of the renewal
of the .ORG Registry Agreement. The negotiations over the .ORG Registry
Agreement were handled by PIR without ISOC involvement and ended in February
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2019, with the final version of the ultimately signed agreement being posted for
public comment on March 18, 2019. In July 2019, ISOC first informed PIR that
ISOC had previously received offers for the purchase of PIR or its assets and had
determined that such offers were not in the interests of ISOC or PIR. PIR was not
made aware of those discussions at the time they occurred. In September 2019, ISOC
informed PIR that ISOC had received an offer for PIR that ISOC was contemplating
entertaining. PIR was not involved in any process ISOC may have run with regards
to the potential sale of the .ORG registry prior to September 2019,
•

Transaction funding and its affect if any on the financial state of PIR and its
ability to operate a secure and stable registry.

o The purchase price as publicly announced is $1.135 billion, and will be financed
through a combination of cash from equity partners and a $360 million term loan
facility entered into by lenders to Purpose Domains Direct, LLC, the borrower and
post-transaction direct parent of PIR. These lenders are established U.S. financial
institutions, each of which has in excess of $50 billion in assets under management
and none of which is affiliated with Ethos Capital. The final purchase price, taking
into account standard adjustments and the payment of Transaction-related fees and
expenses, all as set forth in the Equity Purchase Agreement, will be paid to CGF, the
seller of the membership interests in PIR. ISOC is the sole member of CGF and will
use the funds in furtherance its mission to support an open, globally-connected,
secure, and trustworthy Internet.
o PIR has sufficient operational cash flow to service the loan incurred by Purpose
Domains Direct, LLC, to pay taxes, and to continue to operate a secure and stable
registry and fund its recently announced initiatives to support the .ORG community.
As you may know, PIR has contributed tens of millions of dollars annually to ISOC
(contributions it will no longer be making to ISOC after the Transaction) in amounts
more than twice that which will be required to service the debt obligations.
o PIR anticipates that the shift in tax status from a non-profit entity to a for-profit
entity will not adversely impact PIR’s finances or its ability to provide registry
services.
•

Financial Information demonstrating that PIR will maintain sufficient
financial resources to fund operations:

o PIR is providing its most recent audited financial statement for 2018, along with its
IRS Form 990.8 This information more than demonstrates that PIR has sufficient
financial resources to fund operations post-Transaction. Given PIR’s longevity and
its known and solid financial performance over the past 16 years in operating the
.ORG registry, information regarding an equity investor does not seem pertinent. PIR
does not rely on its current equity owner for funding, and given its base of consistent
revenue generation, will similarly not require funding post-Transaction. As
demonstrated through the Form 990 (and each of PIR’s previously Form 990s, all of
8

https://thenew.org/org-people/about-pir/resources/990-annual-report/
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which are publicly available), PIR’s revenue more than sustains its operations, a fact
which will not change following the Transaction.
o We note that the registry operator is not changing in this indirect change of control
per ICANN’s requirements.9 PIR remains the registry operator and has the proven
financial wherewithal to ensure the registry remains secure, reliable, and stable.
Further, as illustrated in the documents provided herein, PIR is under no burdensome
financial restrictions that would hinder its financial ability to continue to securely
operate its registries. The amounts PIR currently contributes to ISOC will more than
cover any debt obligations and taxes, and leave a substantial amount to invest in the
growth of .ORG.
•

Any on-going litigation.

o To PIR’s knowledge, there are no ongoing transaction-related litigation
matters involving the transaction.
•

Former directors, officers or employees of ICANN that are or have been
involved in, have advised on or otherwise have an interest in the transaction.

o Nora Abusitta-Ouri currently serves as the Chief Purpose Officer of Ethos Capital.
Allen Grogan and Fadi Chehade are acting as advisors to Ethos Capital. Each of
them is a former ICANN officer, and Fadi Chehade is a former ICANN Board
member as well.
o Joe Abley is the current CTO of PIR, and former Director of DNS Operations at
ICANN. Suzanne Woolf is a Senior Director at PIR and is a former ICANN
Board member.
•

Current directors, officers or employees of ICANN, if any, that are or
have been involved in, have advised on or otherwise have an interest in the
transaction.

o None.
•

Critical registry functions of the registry.

o There will be no change to any of the critical functions of the registry. Afilias will
continue to serve as PIR’s back-end registry service provider and DNS provider for
all of its TLDs. Iron Mountain will continue to act as PIR’s escrow agent.
•

9

Programs or initiatives to promote/protect the .org community. ISOC/PIR’s
response to community interest.

https://www.icann.org/en/system/files/files/change-of-control-guide-13dec17-en.pdf
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o PIR and Ethos Capital hosted a webinar on December 19, 2019 to discuss safeguards
and controls that will be implemented for the .ORG Community upon consummation
of the Transaction, including a PIR Stewardship Council, a commitment to anchor
PIR in a Public Benefit LLC, and a commitment on domain registration pricing
codified in a Certificate of Formation. A copy of the slides from that webinar are
provided, and the recording can be accessed here:
https://www.pscp.tv/w/1zqKVElpoXWxB
o More information on Ethos’ commitment to protecting the .ORG community can be
found here: https://www keypointsabout org/blog/strengthening-org-for-the-future
•

Criteria of evaluation used by ISOC; availability of Verisign endowment.

o PIR was informed by ISOC that it did not exclusively apply the 2002 ICANN
assessment criteria for new gTLD applications, because several conditions in the
registry environment have changed since then, and many of the criteria do not in
fact apply to a fully functioning registry operator. PIR believes, and has been
informed that ISOC also believes, that applicable criteria from 2002 are met by
the proposed Transaction in the following ways:
• Ethos Capital is well-positioned to preserve a stable, well-functioning .ORG
registry. ISOC believes Ethos Capital plans to invest in PIR as evidenced by the
fact they are paying a significant premium for PIR in order to be able to do so.
Ethos Capital has announced that they plan to make no short-term changes to
PIR's registry management, and have committed to maintaining existing
relationships and agreements.
• PIR's ability to comply with ICANN-developed policies remains unchanged.
• Ethos Capital’s involvement will increase competition for registration services,
because Ethos Capital is another company joining the marketplace with the intent
to offer enhanced services to the market. Ethos Capital intends to offer the market
high- quality, competitive registry services with an attractive customer value
proposition, as PIR has throughout its history.
• The Transaction represents a commitment to differentiation of the .ORG TLD,
and other TLDs that PIR operates, from the rest of the TLD marketplace. That
appears to us to be the value in which Ethos Capital wishes to invest.
• Over the years, PIR has adopted mechanisms for promoting their registries
operation in a manner that is responsive to the needs, concerns, and views of the
relevant Internet user community, such as the PIR Advisory Council. Those
mechanisms were part of what Ethos Capital seemed to desire in PIR, and they
have announced investment in such mechanisms.
o There was no requirement in the 2002 process that the .ORG Registry Operator
be a non-profit itself.
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o No funds remain available for use from the Verisign endowment.
•

Cross-ownership interests in registrars and/or registrar resellers.

o This transaction will not trigger any cross-ownership for purposes of Section 2.9(b)
of the Registry Agreement, i.e., PIR will not as a result of this transaction become an
Affiliate or reseller of any ICANN accredited registrar.
Summary
PIR, ISOC, and Ethos Capital would like to take this opportunity to assure the .ORG community
that there are no agreements in place pursuant to which we anticipate control being granted to
any other entity or individual, and there are no springing rights that would be triggered by any
future event that would make any minority investor a majority investor.
We commit to maintaining as much transparency as one might reasonably expect, consistent
with the principles set forth in ICANN’s DIDP.
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The United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL)
is a subsidiary body of the General Assembly. It plays an important role in
improving the legal framework for international trade by preparing international
legislative texts for use by States in modernizing the law of international trade
and non-legislative texts for use by commercial parties in negotiating
transactions. UNCITRAL legislative texts address international sale of goods;
international commercial dispute resolution, including both arbitration and
conciliation; electronic commerce; insolvency, including cross-border insolvency;
international transport of goods; international payments; procurement and
infrastructure development; and security interests. Non-legislative texts include
rules for conduct of arbitration and conciliation proceedings; notes on organizing
and conducting arbitral proceedings; and legal guides on industrial construction
contracts and countertrade.

Further information may be obtained from:
UNCITRAL secretariat, Vienna International Centre,
P.O. Box 500, 1400 Vienna, Austria
Telephone: (+43-1) 26060-4060
Internet: http//www.uncitral.org

Telefax: (+43-1) 26060-5813
E-mail: uncitral@uncitral.org
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UNITED NATIONS COMMISSION ON INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW

UNCITRAL Model Law on
International Commercial
Arbitration
1985
With amendments
as adopted in 2006

UNITED NATIONS
Vienna, 2008
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matter alleged to be beyond the scope of its authority is raised during the
arbitral proceedings. The arbitral tribunal may, in either case, admit a later
plea if it considers the delay justiﬁed.
(3) The arbitral tribunal may rule on a plea referred to in paragraph (2) of
this article either as a preliminary question or in an award on the merits. If
the arbitral tribunal rules as a preliminary question that it has jurisdiction,
any party may request, within thirty days after having received notice of
that ruling, the court speciﬁed in article 6 to decide the matter, which decision shall be subject to no appeal; while such a request is pending, the
arbitral tribunal may continue the arbitral proceedings and make an award.

CHAPTER IV A. INTERIM MEASURES
AND PRELIMINARY ORDERS
(As adopted by the Commission at its thirty-ninth session, in 2006)

Section 1. Interim measures
Article 17.

Power of arbitral tribunal to order interim measures

(1) Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, the arbitral tribunal may, at the
request of a party, grant interim measures.
(2) An interim measure is any temporary measure, whether in the form of
an award or in another form, by which, at any time prior to the issuance of
the award by which the dispute is ﬁnally decided, the arbitral tribunal orders
a party to:
(a) Maintain or restore the status quo pending determination of the
dispute;
(b) Take action that would prevent, or refrain from taking action that
is likely to cause, current or imminent harm or prejudice to the arbitral
process itself;
(c) Provide a means of preserving assets out of which a subsequent
award may be satisﬁed; or
(d) Preserve evidence that may be relevant and material to the resolution of the dispute.

6

RE-19

10

UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration

Article 17 A.

Conditions for granting interim measures

(1) The party requesting an interim measure under article 17(2)(a), (b) and
(c) shall satisfy the arbitral tribunal that:
(a) Harm not adequately reparable by an award of damages is likely
to result if the measure is not ordered, and such harm substantially outweighs
the harm that is likely to result to the party against whom the measure is
directed if the measure is granted; and
(b) There is a reasonable possibility that the requesting party will
succeed on the merits of the claim. The determination on this possibility
shall not affect the discretion of the arbitral tribunal in making any subsequent determination.
(2) With regard to a request for an interim measure under article 17(2)(d),
the requirements in paragraphs (1)(a) and (b) of this article shall apply only
to the extent the arbitral tribunal considers appropriate.

Section 2.

Preliminary orders

Article 17 B. Applications for preliminary orders and
conditions for granting preliminary orders
(1) Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, a party may, without notice to
any other party, make a request for an interim measure together with an
application for a preliminary order directing a party not to frustrate the
purpose of the interim measure requested.
(2) The arbitral tribunal may grant a preliminary order provided it considers
that prior disclosure of the request for the interim measure to the party
against whom it is directed risks frustrating the purpose of the measure.
(3) The conditions deﬁned under article 17A apply to any preliminary
order, provided that the harm to be assessed under article 17A(1)(a), is the
harm likely to result from the order being granted or not.

Article 17 C.

Speciﬁc regime for preliminary orders

(1) Immediately after the arbitral tribunal has made a determination in
respect of an application for a preliminary order, the arbitral tribunal shall give
notice to all parties of the request for the interim measure, the application for
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the preliminary order, the preliminary order, if any, and all other communications, including by indicating the content of any oral communication, between any party and the arbitral tribunal in relation thereto.
(2) At the same time, the arbitral tribunal shall give an opportunity to any
party against whom a preliminary order is directed to present its case at the
earliest practicable time.
(3) The arbitral tribunal shall decide promptly on any objection to the
preliminary order.
(4) A preliminary order shall expire after twenty days from the date on
which it was issued by the arbitral tribunal. However, the arbitral tribunal
may issue an interim measure adopting or modifying the preliminary order,
after the party against whom the preliminary order is directed has been given
notice and an opportunity to present its case.
(5) A preliminary order shall be binding on the parties but shall not be
subject to enforcement by a court. Such a preliminary order does not constitute an award.

Section 3. Provisions applicable to interim measures
and preliminary orders
Article 17 D. Modiﬁcation, suspension, termination
The arbitral tribunal may modify, suspend or terminate an interim
measure or a preliminary order it has granted, upon application of any party
or, in exceptional circumstances and upon prior notice to the parties, on the
arbitral tribunal’s own initiative.

Article 17 E. Provision of security
(1) The arbitral tribunal may require the party requesting an interim
measure to provide appropriate security in connection with the measure.
(2) The arbitral tribunal shall require the party applying for a preliminary
order to provide security in connection with the order unless the arbitral
tribunal considers it inappropriate or unnecessary to do so.
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I.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A.

Subject matter of this Order

1.

The present order deals with a request for provisional measures, by which
BurlingPKJĀ 8 AOKQN
?AOĀ 6 NEAJP
AĀ4EI EPA@ĀȀXBurlington OrienteY; to the
exclusion of the other Claimants in this arbitration) seeks the following
relief from the Arbitral Tribunal:
(i)

that Ecuador and PetroEcuador and/or their agencies or entities
refrain from demanding payment of amounts allegedly due under
Law No. 2006-42 and commencing any action or adopting any
resolution or decision that may directly or indirectly lead to the forced
or coerced payment of any amount relating to Law No. 2006-42;

(ii)

that Ecuador and PetroEcuador and/or their agencies or entities
refrain from making or implementing any measure, decision or
resolution which directly or indirectly affects the legal situation of or is
intended to terminate the Block 7 and 21 PSCs; and

(iii)

that Ecuador and PetroEcuador and/or their agencies or entities
refrain from engaging in any other conduct that aggravates the
dispute between the parties and/or alters the status quo, including
commencing any action or adopting any resolution or decision that
directly or indirectly affects the legal or physical integrity of Burlington
6NEAJ
PA[OĀN
ALNA
OAJP=PER
AO"

B.

Origin of the dispute

2.

The present dispute originates from two production sharing contracts
(XPSCsY) for the exploration and exploitation of oil fileds in the Amazon
Region. The first contract relates to Block 7. It was concluded on 23 March
2000 between Kerr McGee Ecuador Energy Corporation, Preussag
Energie GMBH, Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A., Compañía
Latinoamericana Petrolera Numero Dos S.A., on the one hand and the
8ALQ>HE
?ĀKBĀ1 ?Q=@KNĀ
ȀX1?Q
=@KNYĀ>UĀPDAĀEJPANIA@E=NU
ĀKBĀ1IL NAO=Ā1OP=P=H
Ā
PetróHAKOĀ@AHĀ
1 ?Q=@KNĀȀX7APNK1?Q=@KN
Y, on the other hand ȀPDAĀ
X.H
K?GĀ
(Ā
79/Y ). The second contract relates to Block 21. It was concluded on 20
March 1999 between Oryx Ecuador Energy Company, Santa Fe Minerales
del Ecuador S.A., Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A. and Compañía
3
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Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A., on the one hand, and Ecuador by the
intermediary of PetroEcuador, on the other hand ȀP
DAĀX.HK
?GĀ
%$Ā79/Y ).
Burlington Resources Oriente 4EI EPA@Ā
ȀX. QN
H
EJCPKJĀ6 NEAJPAYĀalleges that it
now holds a 42.5% interest in the Block 7 PSC and a 46.25% interest in
the Block 21 PSC, an allegation that remained unchallenged. Perenco
1 ?Q=@KN
Ā4EI EP
A@ĀȀX7ANAJ?KY is the operator of Blocks 7 and 21.
3.

Both PSCs contain tax stabilization clauses, a choice of Ecuadorian law,
and an ICSID arbitration clause.

4.

According to its Article 6(2), the Block 7 PSC will expire on 16 August
2010. By contrast, pursuant to Articles 6(2)(5) and 6(3) of the Block 21
PSC, the period of exploitation for such PSC is twenty (20) years from the
date of authorization of PetroEcuador, i.e. allegedly until 2021, being
specified that by letter of 24 December 2008 (Exhibit C49) the Ministry of
Energy and Mines invited Perenco to appoint a negotiating team for the
A=NHU
ĀPANIEJ=PE
KJĀKBĀ. H
K?GĀ
%$Ā79/Ā Ȁ=OĀ?KJBENI A@Ā>UĀPDAĀ5 EJEOPN
U[OĀHAPPANĀKBĀ
26 January 2009 WExhibit E3).

5.

Burlington Oriente and Perenco formed a Consortium, which is
responsible for the tax obligations derived from the PSCs.

6.

On 19 April 2006, Ecuador enacted Law No. 2006-42 ȀX
L=SĀ&%Y), which
amended the Hydrocarbons Law of Ecuador as follows:
X[c]ontracting companies having Hydrocarbons exploration and
exploitation participation agreements in force with the Ecuadorian State
pursuant to this Law, without prejudice to the volume of crude oil which
may correspond thereto according to their participation, in the event the
actual monthly average selling price for the FOB sale of Ecuadorian crude
oil exceeds the monthly average selling price in force at the date of
subscription of the agreement expressed at constant rates for the month of
payment, shall grant the Ecuadorian State a participation of at least
50% over the extraordinary revenues caused by such price difference
;V<.Y(Exhibit C7, Article 2; emphasis added)

7.

Decrees Nos. 1583 (29 June 2006) and 1672 (13 July 2006) spelled out
the method of calculation of such 50% participation. From the record, it
appears that the Xreference priceY (that is Xthe monthly average selling
4
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price in force at the date of subscription of the agreement expressed at
constant rates for the month of paymentY) is USD 25 per barrel for Block 7
(Transcript, p.163) and USD 15 per barrel for Block 21 (Exhibit C41). In
other words, if Xthe actual monthly average selling price for the FOB sale
of Ecuadorian crude oil" amounted for instance to USD 40, Ecuador's
participation would be 50% of USD 15, i.e. USD 7.5, for Block 7 and 50%
of USD 25, i.e. USD 12.5, for Block 21.
8.

On 18 October 2007, Ecuador published Decree No. 662 ȀX0A
?NAA
Ā' '%Y;
from here, any reference to Law 42 includes Decree 662 unless otherwise
specified), which amended Decree No. 1672 and increased the
participation on Xextraordinary revenuesY pursuant to Law 42 from 50
percent to 99 percent. Using the same example as in the preceding
paragraph, Ecuador[s participation would be 99% of USD 15, i.e. USD
14.85, for Block 7 and 99% of USD 25, i.e. 24.75, for Block 21 crude.

9.

From the enactment of Law 42 until June 2008, i.e. during eighteen
months after the adoption of Law 42 and eight months after Decree 662,
the Consortium made the payments due under these texts to the State
ȀDANAEJ>
AHKS
!ĀPDAĀATLNA
OOE
KJĀX4=SĀ&%ĀL=UI AJPOY
will include payments
under Decree 662, unless otherwise specified). Specifically, by June 2008,
the Consortium alleges that it Xhad made Law No. 2006-42 payments for
Block 7 and 21 to Ecuador in excess of US$396.5 millionY (Request for
provisional measures, para.25).

10. Thereafter, the Consortium ceased to make such payments to the
Respondent. Instead, it deposited the monies owed under Law 42 (and
Decree 662) in an alleged total amount of USD 327.4 million (USD 171.7
million for Block 7 and USD 155.7 million for Block 21) into two segregated
accounts, over which it keeps control.
11. 2KHHKS
EJCĀPDA
Ā@A
?EOEKJ
KBĀ.Q NH
EJC
PKJĀ6NEA
J PAĀPK
ĀNAFA
?PĀ
1?Q=@
KN[
OĀ
LNK
LKO=HĀ
to amend the Block 7 and 21 PSCs, Ecuador allegedly threatened to seize
assets of the Consortium in order to collect unpaid amounts relating to
Law 42 and to terminate the Block 7 and Block 21 PSCs. Notices were
5

5
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served by PetroEcuador on Perenco (Exhibit C55), in order to collect
monies in the amount of USD 327,467,447.00 million (for the entire
Consortium).
12. On 19 February 2009, Ecuador and PetroEcuador (through the Executory
Tribunal of PetroEcuador) instituted so-called coactiva proceedings to
enforce the payment of USD 327,467,447.00, corresponding to the
/KJO KNPEQI [OĀ=HH
ACA@HUĀQJL=E@Ā
=I KQJPOunder Law 42.
13. On 25 February 2009, PetroEcuador proceeded to serve its third notice of
the coactiva process on Perenco, which filed an action before the Civil
Judge of Pichincha against any further actions that could be taken within
the coactiva process1.
14. On 3 March 2009, the coactiva administrative tribunal ordered the
immediate seizure of all Block 7 and 21 crude production and cargos
produced by Perenco, which decision was confirmed by the Civil Judge of
Pichincha on 9 March 2009 (Exhibit C60).
15. At the hearing, Burlington Oriente =OOANPA
@ĀPD=PĀPDA
ĀX;?K=?PER
=ĀFQ@
CA<
elected to treat it [the debt for payments under Law 42] as if it was res
judicata, and then went ahead, seized the assets, and auctioned off

and

auctioned them off for payment"YĀ
(Transcript, pp.27-8). The Respondents
did not rebut such statement. They had actually stated in a letter of
3 5 =N?DĀ%##*ĀPD=P
ĀXsteps have been, or will imminently be, taken by the
# 

    $   

 

    

  

claimed in C-55     $       


 Y.

Although no amounts were specified, there is no dispute that Ecuador has
seized certain quantities of oil produced by Burlington. By contrast, it has
not been shown that other assets such as production equipment have
been seized.

1 It is unclear whether Perenco alone, or the whole Consortium (as stated by the Respondent, see
para.40 of the Rejoinder) filed an action before the Ecuadorian courts.
6
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C.

Request for arbitration

16. On 21 April 2008, Burlington Resources Inc., Burlington Oriente,
Burlington Resources Andean Limited and Burlington Resources Ecuador
Limited filed a Request for arbitration with ICSID. They asked for the
following relief:
X(a) DECLARE that Ecuador has breached:
(i)

Article III of the Treaty [between the United States and the
Republic of Ecuador concerning the Encouragement and
Reciprocal Protection of Investment] by unlawfully expropriating
and/or taking measures tantamount to expropriation with respect
PKĀ. QN
HE
JCPKJ[OĀEJRAOPI AJPOĀEJĀ1 ?Q=@KN,

(ii)

-NPE?HA
Ā33Ā
KBĀPDA
Ā:NA=PUĀ>UĀB=EHEJCĀ
PKĀ
PN
A=PĀ
.QNHE
JCPKJ[OĀ
EJRAOPI AJPOĀEJĀ
Ecuador on a basis no less favorable than that accorded
nationals; by failing to accord BQN
HEJ
CPKJ[OĀEJR
AOPI AJPOĀB=ENĀ
=J@Ā
equitable treatment, full protection and security and treatment no
less than that required by international law; by implementing
=N>EP
N=NUĀ =J@Ā@EO?NEI EJ=P
KNUĀ I A=OQN
AOĀ =C=EJO
PĀ . QN
HEJCP
KJ[OĀ
investments; and

(iii)

Each of the PSCs;

(b) ORDER Ecuador: (i) to pay damages to Burlington for its breaches of
the Treaty in an amout to be determined at a later stage in these
proceedings, including payment of compound interest at such a rate
and for such period as the Tribunal considers just and appropriate until
the effective and complete payment of the award of damages for the
breach of the Treaty; and/or (ii) to specific performance of its obligations
under the PSCs and pay damages for its breaches of the PSCs in an
amount to be determined at a later stage in the proceedings, including
interest at such a rate as the Tribunal considers just and appropriate
until the complete payment of all damages for breach of the PSCs.
(c) AWARD such other relief as the Tribunal considers appropriate; and
(d) ORDER Ecuador to pay all of the costs and expenses of this arbitration,
EJ?HQ@
EJCĀ
. QNHE
JCPKJ[OĀHAC=HĀ
=J@Ā
ATLANPĀBAAO!ĀPDAĀBAAOĀ=J@Ā
ATLAJOAOĀKBĀ
any experts appointed by the Tribunal, the fees and expenses of the
:NE>QJ=
HĀ
=J@Ā3/930[OĀKPDA
NĀ?
KOPOY
.
D.

Procedural history

17. On 20 February 2009, Burlington Oriente filed a Request for provisional
measures (the X8AMQAOPY
).

7
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18. The Request was accompanied by a number of exhibits, including a
witness statement from Mr. Alex Martinez. It included a request for a
temporary restraining order with immediate effect.
19. On 23 February 2009, the First Respondent (Ecuador) filed a response to
the Claimant[s request for a temporary restraining order. It in particular
undertook Xto serve prior notice on the Tribunal, granting enough time for
the Tribunal to act as necessary, before it takes any measure that seeks to
enforce the debts claimed in exhibit C-55 to the request for Provisional


 ". On the basis of this undertaking, the Tribunal considered that

it could dispense with reviewing whether a temporary order with immediate
effect was justified pending determination of the application for provisional
measures.
20. Burlington Oriente renewed its request for a temporary restraining order
on 25 February 2009 alleging that the third coactiva notice had been given
and that three days thereafter the Respondents could start seizing assets.
The First Respondent replied on 26 February 2009 and reiterated its
undertaking.
21. On 27 February 2009, the Arbitral Tribunal again resolved that there was
no need to rule on Burlington OrienteZs request in view of Ecuador's
repeated assurances.
22. On 3 March 2009, Burlington Oriente again repeated its request for a
temporary restraining order, owing to the alleged imminence of the
seizures of Burlington 6 NEAJP
A[O assets pursuant to two orders issued by
the coactiva tribunal on 3 March 2009.
23. On 4 March 2009, the First Respondent filed a preliminary reply to
. QNHE
JCPKJĀ6 NEAJPA[OĀRequest for provisional measures (the X7N
AH
EI EJ=NUĀ
8ALHUY).
24. On 6 March 2009, in light of the information received three days earlier,
the Arbitral Tribunal recommended Xthat the Respondents refrain from
engaging in any conduct that aggravates the dispute between the Parties
8
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and/or alters the status quo un 



     $ Request for

Provisional Measures or it reconsiders the present recommendation,
whichever is first.Y In issuing such recommendation, the Arbitral Tribunal
considered that the requirements of urgency and of necessity were met. It
in particular considered that BurlingtKJĀ6 NEAJPA[OĀNECDP
ĀPKĀD=RAĀEP
OĀEJPAN
AOPOĀ
effectively protected by way of provisional measures was sufficient to
demonstrate necessity in the circumstances.
25. :D AĀ2ENOPĀ
8 AOLKJ@AJPĀBEH
A@ĀEPOĀ
8ALHUĀPKĀ.QNHEJCP
KJĀ6 NEAJPA[OĀ
8 AMQAOPĀ
BKNĀ
provisional measures (the X8 ALH
UY
), together with a Request for
NA?KJOE@AN=PEK
JĀKBĀPDAĀ
: NE>QJ
=H[OĀNA?KI I AJ@=PEKJ of 6 March 2009, on 17
March 2009. On 25 March 2009, the Claimant filed a Reply to the First
8AOLKJ@AJ
P[OĀ rAMQ
AOPĀBKNĀ NA
?KJOE@A
N=PEK
JĀ KBĀ PDAĀ : NE>QJ=H[
O
recommendation on 25 March 2009. The Arbitral Tribunal denied the First
8AOLKJ@AJ
P[OĀ
Nequest for reconsideration on 3 April 2009 on the ground
that no changed circumstances called for reconsideration and that the
hearing on provisional measures was to take place shortly thereafter.
26. : DAĀ/H=EI=JPOĀBEHA@Ā
PDAENĀ
8AOLKJOAĀPKĀ1 ?Q=@KN[OĀ8ALHE
AOĀPKĀPDAĀ
8AMQ
AOPĀ
for provisional measures on 27 March 2009 (the X8 AOLKJOAY) and the
8AOLKJ@AJPĀ
BEHA@Ā
PDAE
NĀ8AFKEJ@ANĀ
PKĀ.QNHEJCPKJĀ
6 NE
AJPA[OĀ8AMQAO
PĀBKNĀ
provisional measures on 6 April 2009 (the X8AFKEJ@A
NY
).
27. The hearing on provisional measures took place on 17 April 2009 in
Washington, D.C. It was attended by the following persons:
Members of the Tribunal
Professor Gabrielle Kaufmann-Kohler, President of the Tribunal
Professor Brigitte Stern, Arbitrator
Professor Francisco Orrego Vicuña, Arbitrator
ICSID Secretariat
Mr. Marco T. Montañés-Rumayor, Secretary of the Tribunal

9
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Representing the Claimants
Ms. Aditi Dravid, ConocoPhilips Company
Mr. Alex Martínez, Burlington Resources Oriente Limited
Mr. Alexander Yanos, Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP
Ms. Noiana Marigo, Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP
Mr. Viren Mascarenhas, Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP
Mr. Javier Robalino-Orellana, Pérez Bustamante & Ponce Abogados
Cía Ltda.
Representing First Respondent Republic of Ecuador
Mr. Alvaro Galindo Cardona, Director de Patrocinio Internacional
Procuraduría General del Estado
Mr. Juan Francisco Martínez, Procuraduría General del Estado
Mr. Felipe Aguilar, Procuraduría General del Estado
Mr. Eduardo Silva Romero, Dechert LLP
Mr. George K. Foster, Dechert LLP
Mr. José Manuel García Represa, Dechert LLP
Representing Second Respondent PetroEcuador
Dr. José Murillo Venegas, Empresa Estatal Petróleos del Ecuador
Dr. Wilson Narváez, Empresa Estatal Petróleos del Ecuador
At the hearing, the Tribunal heard the Parties' oral arguments as well as the
testimony of Mr. Martinez. A transcript was made in English and Spanish and
distributed to the Parties.



II.

A.

 

  S

s position

28. The Claimant argues that the test to be applied to provisional measures is
twofold: urgency and necessity PKĀ O
L=NAĀOECJEBE?=JPĀD=NI Ā KĀ
P =Ā 7=NPU[OĀ
rights.
29. It understands the first requirement of urgency in a broad fashion that
includes situations in which protection cannot wait until the award. In the
10
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present case, it submits that urgency arises out of the Respondents[ plan
to enforce all amounts due under Law 42.
30. With respect to necessity, the Claimant stresses that the distinction
between XOECJEB
E?=JPYĀ=J@Ā
XENN
AL=N=>HAY
harm does not entail consequences
in the present case. According to the Claimant, irreparable harm is not
required under the ICSID Convention or international law, and a broad
meaning has been given to the phrase by a number of international
tribunals (Paushok v. Mongolia, City Oriente v. Ecuador, Saipem v.
Bangladesh). It further submits that ICSID arbitral tribunals have
interpreted XnecessityYfor provisional measures not so much as a need to
prevent XirreparableY harm but as a need to spare Xsignificant harmY.
According to the Claimant, ICSID tribunals have also given careful
consideration to the proportionality of the measures when considering if
they are necessary.
31. The Claimant argues that necessity exists here in three respects:
(i)

Provisional measures are necessary to preserve the Claimant's rights
under Article 26 of the ICSID Convention and Rule 39(6) of the ICSID
Arbitration Rules pursuant to which X;V<Āonce the parties have
consented to ICSID arbitration, they cannot resort to other forums in
respect to the subject matter of the dispute before the ICSID
Tribunal"Y(Response, para.32). The Claimant contends that through
the coactiva proceedings, the Respondents seek provisional relief
against it in contravention to the said rights.

(ii)

PNKREOEKJ=HĀ
I A=OQNAOĀ=NAĀJA?AOO=NUĀPKĀLNKPA?PĀ. QNHEJCP
KJĀ6 NEAJPA[OĀ
independent right to specific performance of the Block 7 and 21
PSCs. The right to specific performance exists under Ecuadorian
law, as provided by Article 1505 of the Ecuadorian Civil Code and
confirmed by the Supreme Court of Ecuador in the case of Tecco v.
IEOS. The Claimant also argues PD=
PĀ. QNHEJ
CPKJĀ6NEAJ
PA[OĀ
NECDPK
Ā
Ā
specific performance would not survive termination of the PSCs and
that it is a property right that deserves protection to prevent its
dissipation or destruction. The Claimant substantially argues that the
8AOLKJ@AJ
PO[Ā
measures will irreversibly AJ@Ā
.QNHEJCPKJĀ
6NEAJPA[OĀ
actual right to seek specific performance of the PSCs by effectively
terminating them.

(iii)

Provisional I A=OQN
AOĀ=NAĀJA?AOO=NUĀPKĀLNKPA?PĀ. QN
HEJCP
KJĀ6 NEAJPA[OĀ
self-standing rights to the preservation of the status quo, non11
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aggravation of the dispute, and preservation of the award. These
rights are in danger of being irreparably harmed by the actions of the
Respondents. In particular, according to the Claimant, the
enforcement of Law 42 would alter the status quo and aggravate the
dispute, as well as frustrate the effectiveness of the award,
particularly of an award of specific performance.
32. The Claimant adds that its request for provisional measures not only
responds to the necessity criterion, but also fulfills the proportionality
requirement. : DAUĀLKE
JPĀKQP
ĀPD=PĀX[s]ince Ecuador has not enforced Law
No. 2006-42 since June 2008, when the Consortium began depositing it
into a segregated account, no additional burden would be imposed upon
Ecuador if the Tribunal authorized the Consortium or Burlington Oriente to
continue paying such amounts into a segregated account or into an official
escrow account"Y(Request, para.74).
33. The Arbitral Tribunal further notes the statement made by Mr. Alex
Martinez, a member of the Board of Directors for Burlington Oriente and
Latin America Partnership Operations and Peru Opportunity Manager for
ConocoPhillips Corporation, according to whom X;E<
f Ecuador indeed
seizes

the

production

assets

of

the

Perenco-Burlington

Oriente

Consortium and/or the oil produced by the consortium, Burlington Oriente
will be forced to exit Blocks 7 and 21 as it will be forced in this context to
spend money to produce oil for the sole benefit of PetroEcuadorYĀ
ȀWitness
Statement of Alex Martinez, para.10).
B.

 

34. In its Preliminary Reply, Reply and Rejoinder, the First Respondent
(Ecuador) set out its arguments against the Claimant[s Request. The
Second Respondent (PetroEcuador) stated in its letters of 31 March, 2
=J@Ā
'Ā- LNEHĀ
%##* ĀPD=P
ĀEPĀKLLKOA@ĀPDAĀ/ H=
EI =JPZs Request and agreed with
the position of the Republic of Ecuador, as expressed in the submissions
just referred to. Therefore, the Arbitral Tribunal will thereafter refer to the
position expressed in the First 8AOLKJ@A
J P[O submissions as that of both
Respondents (on the admissibility of PetroEcuador's opposition to the
Request, see para.43).
12
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35. The Respondents state at the outset of their submissions that the
Claimant's acts against the enforcement of a valid Ecuadorian law
constitute an interference with the sovereignty of Ecuador. They further
contend that a presumption of validity exist in favor of legislative measures
adopted by a State, that any loss might be compensated by an award of
damages and interest, and that the Claimant admits that it could meet its
obligations to pay the disputed amounts, since it stated to have set aside
the relevant amounts in U.S. accounts. The Respondents also state that
the ClaimantZs Request is neither urgent nor necessary.
36. The Respondents stress that the applicable test for granting provisional
measures is the existence of an urgent need to avoid irreparable
prejudice, in accordance with ICJ practice. In particular, they stress that no
ICSID tribunal has ever rejected the criterion of XirreparableY harm to the
benefit of XsignificantY harm. They further state PD=PĀ. QNHE
JCPKJĀ6 NEA
JPA[OĀ
reliance on Paushok v. Mongolia and City Oriente v. Ecuador is
misplaced, as in the latter case, irreparable harm was met on the facts
and, in the former, the arbitral tribunal recognized that it went against the
weight of authorities.
37. Furthermore, the Respondents understand urgency as follows: X;V<Ā
action
prejudicial to the rights of Burlington Oriente is likely to be taken before the
Tribunal can finally decide on the merits of the dispute submitted to it"Y
(Preliminary Reply, para. 8). The Respondents also state that XBurlington
Ori  $  ance on a so-

#   $     Y



(Preliminary Reply, para.52).
38. The Respondents do not see the need for protection against the
termination of the PSCs as urgent, since Ecuador confirmed on
23 February 2009 to the Arbitral Tribunal that none of the Respondents
had taken steps to this effect.
39. The Respondents further opposed the ClaimantZs arguments asserting
that Burlington Oriente has not identified any substantive right requiring
preservation through provisional measures:
13
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(i)

The coactiva process @K
AOĀJKPĀPDN
A=P
AJĀPDAĀ
/H=EI=JPO[ rights under
Article 26 of the ICSID Convention and Rule 39(6) of the ICSID
Arbitration Rules. Such process is an administrative not a judicial
proceeding. Consequently, it does not involve the determination of
any of the matters at issue in this arbitration. The only judicial
proceedings before the Ecuadorian courts (namely the proceedings
in front of the Civil Court of Pichincha) were initiated by the
Claimants, and not by any of the Respondents.

(ii)

Burlington Oriente has no right to specific performance of the PSCs,
let alone one that would be irreparably harmed absent provisional
relief. It has not established that Ecuador actually intended to
terminate the PSCs. To the contrary, the government Xexpressly
disavowed any such intention"Y(Rejoinder, para.21, with emphasis).
Even if Ecuador had such intent, Burlington Oriente would still have
no right to specific performance under international law. As for
Ecuadorian law, it does not recognize a right to specific performance
when the subject matter of the obligation is contrary to the law, which
would be the case here because the enforcement of the PSCs would
breach Law 42. Moreover, there is no more basis for a tribunal to
restrain a sovereign State from terminating a contract than to order a
State to reinstate a contract after termination.

(iii)

The preservation of the status quo, the non-aggravation of the
dispute, and the preservation of the effectiveness of the award are
not free standing rights in international law, independent from
contractual or treaty rights. The preservation of the status quo is one
of the purposes to be served by preserving rights under Article 47 of
the ICSID Convention and Rule 39 of the ICSID Arbitration Rules by
way of provisional measures. Even if it had a right to the preservation
of the status quo, Burlington Oriente is the one who altered this
status quo by ceasing to pay the amounts due to Ecuador. Finally,
there is no risk that the enforcement of Law 42 aggravates the
dispute or renders any future award ineffective, since the dispute can
easily be resolved through a monetary award.

40. The Respondents further argue that the Claimant[OĀallegations about a
PDN
A=PĀPKĀPDAĀLDUOE?=HĀ
=J@Ā
HAC
=HĀ
EJPACNEPUĀKBĀ. QNH
EJCPKJ[OĀNALNAOAJP=PERA
OĀ
EO
Ā
unparticularised and should therefore be rejected.

III.

DISCUSSION

41. The Tribunal will first deal with some preliminary matters (A). Thereafter, it
will address the standards applicable to provisional measures in general
(B), before reviewing each such standards, i.e. the existence of right (C),
14
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urgency (D), and necessity or the need to avoid harm (E). It will finally deal
with the issue of the escrow account (F) before setting forth its decision
(IV).
A.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS

42. The Arbitral Tribunal will first deal with a few procedural issues which
arose during the hearing of 17 April and in the course of previous written
exchanges, namely the timeliness of PetroEcuador's opposition to the
Request; . QNHE
JCPKJĀ6 NEA
JPA[OĀQOAĀKBĀ=JĀ=H
HA
CA@Ā
OP=PAI AJPĀby President
Correa; and the request for relief regarding the alleged threat to the legal
and physical integrity of the Claimant's representatives.
43. Burlington Oriente argues PD=P
Ā7 APNK1 ?Q=@KN[OĀendorsement of 1?Q=@K
N[O
Ā
position on 31 March 2009 (confirmed on 1 and 6 April 2009 and repeated
at the hearing, Transcript, p.9) was untimely and should thus not be
considered. PetroEcuador attended the hearing without presenting oral
argument of its own in accordance with the Tribunal's understanding set
out in the latter's letter of 8 April 2009. Since PetroEcuador made no
written or oral submissions of its own, but for its adhesion to Ecuador's
case, the fact that such adhesion did not respect the briefing schedule did
not affect the Claimant's due process rights. The Tribunal would thus find it
excessively formalistic to disregard PetroEcuador's endorsement of the
2EN
OPĀ8A
OLKJ@
AJP[s position.
44. As a second preliminary matter, the Respondents object to Burlington
Oriente[s reliance at the hearing on a statement by President Correa in
2008 (Transcript, p.21). Since evidence of such a statement was not in the
record then, the Arbitral Tribunal will not consider it for purpose of this
decision.
45. As a third preliminary matter, the Respondents submit that Burlington
6NEAJ
PA[OĀ
NAMQA
OPĀ
BKNĀNAH
EA
BĀbased on the threat to the legal and physical
integrity of its representatives has been abandoned (Transcript, pp.90-91).
The Arbitral Tribunal indeed notes that Burlington Oriente has not opposed
such submission at the hearing. Be this as it may, the allegation of threats
15
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is in any event unsubstantiated Hence, the Tribunal will not further
entertain it. 2
46. As a final observation within these preliminary matters, the Tribunal notes
that this order is made on the basis of its understanding of the record as it
stands now. Nothing herein shall preempt any later finding of fact or
conclusion of law.
B.

APPLICABLE STANDARDS

1.

Legal framework

47. The relevant rules are found in Article 47 of the ICSID Convention and
Rule 39 of the ICSID Arbitration Rules, which are generally considered to
grant wide discretion to the Arbitral Tribunal.
48. Article 47 of the ICSID Convention provides that
X[e]xcept as the parties otherwise agree, the Tribunal may, if it considers
that the circumstances so require, recommend any provisional measures
which should be taken to preserve the specific rights of either party.Y
49. Rule 39 of the ICSID Arbitration Rules reads as follows:

2

(1)

XAt any time after the institution of the proceeding, a party may
request that provisional measures for the preservation of its rights be
recommended by the Tribunal. The request shall specify the rights to
be preserved, the measures the recommendation of which is
requested, and the circumstances that require such measures.

(2)

The Tribunal shall give priority to the consideration of a request made
pursuant to paragraph (1).

(3)

The Tribunal may also recommend provisional measures on its own
initiative or recommend measures other than those specified in a
request. It may at any time modify or revoke its recommendations.

See, for a similar approach, Occidental Petroleum Corporation, Occidental Exploration and
Production Company v. Republic of Ecuador (ICSID Case No. ARB/06/11), Decision on provisional
measures of 17 August 2007, para. ) *+ĀX3J
ĀKPDANĀ
SKN@O!Ā/H
EI =JPOĀ=NA
Ā=O
GEJCĀ
=ĀLN
KREO
EKJ=HĀI A=OQNA
Ā
in order to avoid a behaviour, which they are not even sure to be intended. This is not the purpose
of a provisional measure. Provisional measures are not deemed to protect against any potential
and hypothetical harm susceptible to result from uncertain measures, they are deemed to protect
the requesting party from an imminent harm.Y
16
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(4)

The Tribunal shall only recommend provisional measures, or modify
or revoke its recommendations, after giving each party an opportunity
of presenting its observations.
;V<Y

It is undisputed by the Parties that the Arbitral Tribunal has the power to
order provisional measures prior to ruling on its jurisdiction. The Tribunal
will not exercise such power, however, unless there is prima facie basis for
jurisdiction.
50.

The provisional measures were requested by Burlington Oriente, i.e. one
of the so-?=HHA@Ā
XBurlington subsidiariesY(Request for Arbitration, para.1).
TDAĀXBurlington subsidiariesYĀȀPD=PĀ
EOĀ
. QNHE
JCPKJĀ 6NE
AJPA!Ā . QNHEJCPKJĀ
Resources Ecuador Limited and Burlington Resources Andean Limited)
seek compensation for the 8 AOLKJ@AJPO[Ā>NA=?DĀ
KBĀPDAĀ
PSCs (Request for
Arbitration, para.3). AOĀB=NĀ=OĀ. QN
HE
JCPKJ[OĀOQ>OE@
E=NEAO
Ā=NAĀ?KJ?ANJA@ĀPDAĀ
Claimants assert that ICSID has jurisdiction on the basis of the arbitration
clauses embodied in Section 20.3 of the Block 7 PSC and Section 20.2.19
of the Block 21 PSC:
XBy the express language of the PSCs for Blocks 7, 21 and 23, the parties
consented to ICSID jurisdiction from the moment the ICSID Convention
was ratified by Ecuador. Ecuador ratified the ICSID Convention on
February 7, 2001. Thus, since February 7, 2001, all parties to the PSCs
for Blocks 7, 21 and 23 have consented to ICSID arbitration to resolve the
dispute set forth herein.Y(Request for Arbitration, para.131).
Hence, the Tribunal considers that it has prima facie jurisdiction for
purposes of rendering this order.

2.

Requirements for provisional measures

51. There is no disagreement between the Parties, and rightly so, that
provisional measures can only be granted under the relevant rules and
standard if rights to be protected do exist (C below), and the measures are
urgent (D below) and necessary (E below), this last requirement implying
an assessment of the risk of harm to be avoided by the measures. By
contrast, the Parties differ on the nature of such harm. The Claimant
argues that significant harm is sufficient, while the Respondents insist on
17
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irreparable harm. The Parties further disagree on the type and existence
of the rights to be protected. The Tribunal will now review the different
requirements for provisional measures just set out and the PaNPEA
O[
divergent positions in this respect.
C.

EXISTENCE OF RIGHTS

52. Burlington Oriente asserts that three types of rights need protection by
way of provisional measures, namely the right to exclusive recourse to
ICSID under Article 26 of the ICSID Convention (1); the rights to the
preservation of the status quo, the non-aggravation of the dispute and the
effectivity of the arbitral award (2); and the right to specific performance of
the PSCs (3).
53. At the outset, one notes the Parties' concurrent view that the Tribunal must
examine the existence of rights under a prima facie standard (Transcript,
p.169, 179-80, 199). It cannot require actual proof, but must be satisfied
that the rights exist prima facie.
1.

Right to exclusivity under Article 26 ICSID Convention

54. In the first place, Burlington Oriente substantially argues that provisional
measures are necessary to preserve the exclusivity of ICSID proceedings
under Article 26 of the ICSID Convention, which in essential part provides
that ![c]onsent of the parties to arbitration under this Convention shall,
unless otherwise stated, be deemed consent to such arbitration to the
exclusion of any other remedy. A Contracting State may require the
exhaustion of local administrative or judicial remedies as a condition of its
consent to arbitration under this Convention."
55. The Claimant submits that matters at issue in the present case are being
adjudicated in the coactiva process. The Respondents reply that the
coactiva proceeding is an administrative not a judicial process, that it
carries no res judicata, and does not preempt the determination of the
dispute by this Tribunal.

18
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56. In the Tribunal's view, two questions arise here. First, does a right to the
exclusive jurisdiction of ICSID exist as a right that can be protected
through provisional measures? If the answer is positive, the second
question that arises is whether that right is at risk under the circumstances
if no provisional measures are granted.
57. The Tribunal has no doubt about the existence of a right to exclusivity
susceptible of protection by way of provisional measures, or in the words
of the Tokios Tokelés v. Ukraine tribunal:
XAmong the rights that may be protected by provisional measures is the
right guaranteed by Article 26 to have the ICSID arbitration be the
exclusive remedy for the dispute to the exclusion of any other remedy,
whether domestic or international, judicial or administrative.Y3
58. The existence of such a right being accepted, is the continuation of the
coactiva process susceptible of putting this right at risk? There is
conflicting argumentation on record about the true legal nature and the
subject matter of the coactiva process (Transcript, pp. 26-7, 49-63, 11630). The Tribunal is thus unable to come to a conclusion on this issue in
the context of this Order. Hence, for purposes of the present limited
review, it cannot but hold that Burlington Oriente has not established a
prima facie case of breach of Article 26 of the ICSID Convention.
2.

Right to the preservation of the status quo and non-aggravation of
the dispute

59. Second, Burlington Oriente asserts rights to the preservation of the status
quo, the non-aggravation of the dispute, and the preservation of the
award. The Respondents object that these are neither rights under Article
47 of the ICSID Convention nor free standing rights under international law
and that the Claimant can only seek measures that protect the substantive
rights in dispute.
60. In the Tribunal's view, the rights to be preserved by provisional measures
are not limited to those which form the subject-matter of the dispute or
3

Tokios Tokelés v. Ukraine (ICSID Case No. ARB/02/18), Order No. 3 of 18 January 2005, para. 7,
citation omitted.
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substantive rights as referred to by the Respondents, but may extend to
procedural rights, including the general right to the status quo and to the
non-aggravation of the dispute. These latter rights are thus self-standing
rights.
61. The Tribunal will now review the right to the preservation of the status quo
and the non-aggravation of the dispute. Such right focuses on the situation
at the time of the measures. By contrast, the right to the protection of the
effectivity of the award looks into the future. As such, under the
circumstances of this case, it is closely linked with the right to specific
performance. The discussion on such latter right, to which the Tribunal
refers later in this Order, thus equally disposes of the issue of the
protection of the award.
62. The existence of the right to the preservation of the status quo and the
non-aggravation of the dispute is well-established since the case of the
Electricity Company of Sofia and Bulgaria4. In the same vein, the travaux
préparatoires of the ICSID Convention referred to the need Xto preserve
the status quo between the parties pending [the] final decision on the
meritsY and the commentary to the 1968 edition of the ICSID Arbitration
Rules explained that Article 47 of the Convention Xis based on the principle
that once a dispute is submitted to arbitration the parties should not take
steps that might aggravate or extend their dispute or prejudice the
execution of the awardY5.
63. In ICSID jurisprudence, this principle was first affirmed in Holiday Inns v.
Morocco6 and then reiterated in Amco v. Indonesia. In the latter case, the
tribunal acknowledged Xthe good and fair practical rule, according to which
both Parties to a legal dispute should refrain, in their own interest, to do

4

Electricity Company of Sofia and Bulgaria (Belgium v. Bulgaria), Judgment of 5 December 1939,
PCIJ series A/B, No 79, p.199. See also the LaGrand case (Germany v. United States), Judgment of
27 June 2001, para. 103, ICJ Reports 2001, p.466.
5
1 ICSID Reports 99.
6
Holiday Inns S.A. and others v. Kingdom of Morocco (ICSID Case No. ARB/72/1), Order of 2 July
1972, not public but commented in Pierre Lalive, "The First ZWorld Bank[" Arbitration (Holiday Inns v.
Morocco) WSome Legal Problems", BYIL, 1980.
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anything that could aggravate or exacerbate the same, thus rendering its
solution possibly more difficultY7.
64. The principle was re-affirmed in Plama v. Bulgaria8 (although with a
somewhat more limited approach), Occidental v. Ecuador9, and City
Oriente v. Ecuador10.
65. There is no doubt in the Tribunal's mind that the seizures of the oil
production decided in the coactiva proceedings are bound to aggravate
the present dispute. At present, both PSCs are in force and, subject to the
controversy about the Law 42 payments, appear to be perfomed in
accordance with their terms. If the seizures continue, it is most likely that
the conflict will escalate and there is a risk that the relationship between
the foreign investor and Ecuador may come to an end.
66. In making this finding, the Tribunal QJ@A
NOP=
J@OĀ1?Q=@K
Ns[ arguments
about its duties to enforce its municipal law and in particular Law 42. Yet,
the ICSID Convention allows an ICSID tribunal to issue provisional
measures under the conditions of Article 47. Hence, by ratifying the ICSID
Convention, Ecuador has accepted that an ICSID tribunal may order
measures on a provisional basis, even in a situation which may entail
some interference with sovereign powers and enforcement duties.
67. The Tribunal is =H
OKĀI EJ@BQH
ĀKBĀPD
AĀ8AOLKJ@AJPO[argument that Burlington
Oriente is the one who altered the status quo by ceasing to pay the
amounts due to Ecuador. It cannot, however, follow this argument. Indeed,
the status quo at issue, the one that needs protection Wprovided the other
requirements are met W consists in the continuation of the cooperation
between the Parties in the framework of the PSCs.
7

Amco Asia Corporation and others v. Republic of Indonesia (ICSID Case No. ARB/81/1), Decision on
request for provisional measures of 9 December 1983, ICSID Reports, 1993, p.412.
8
Plama Consortium Limited v. Republic of Bulgaria (ICSID Case No. ARB/03/04), Order of 6
September 2005, para.40.
9
Occidental Petroleum Corporation, Occidental Exploration and Production Company v. Republic of
Ecuador (ICSID Case No. ARB/06/11), Decision on provisional measures of 17 August 2007,
para.96.
10
City Oriente Limited v. Republic of Ecuador and Empresa Estatal Petróleos del Ecuador (ICSID
Case No. ARB/06/21), Decision on provisional measures of 19 November 2007, para.55.
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68. In conclusion, the Tribunal holds that Burlington Oriente has shown the
existence of a right to preservation of the status quo and the nonaggravation of the dispute.
3.

Right to specific performance (and to the preservation of the
effectivity of the award)

69. Third, the Claimant asserts a right to specific performance of the PSCs
and to the protection of the effectivity of an award that may sanction such
right. It is disputed whether specific performance is admissible under
Ecuadorian and international law.
70. With respect to international law, Article 35 of the ILC Articles on State
responsibility provide for restitution which includes specific performance
unless it is materially impossible or wholly disproportionate11. Whether
specific performance is impossible or disproportionate is a question to be
dealt with at the merits stage. It is true that the view has been expressed
that the right to specific performance is not available under international
law where a concession agreement for natural resources has been
terminated or cancelled by a sovereign State. In the instant case, the
PSCs are in force which makes it unnecessary to consider that view. As
far as Ecuadorian law is concerned, it appears to provide for the remedy of
specific performance pursuant to Article 1505 of the Civil Code.
71. Accordingly, at first sight at least, a right to specific performance appears
to exist. Some other factual and legal elements seem to support the
possibility of specific performance: (i) Burlington Oriente's claim for
specific performance is a contract, not a treaty claim; (ii) the PSCs are still
being perfomed, and (iii) they contain a choice of Ecuadorian law and a
tax stabilization clause. Thus, at least prima facie, a right to specific
performance could exist in the present situation. Under the circumstances,
the same can be said of the right to the protection of the effectivity of a
possible future award.
11

See also e.g. CMS Gas Transmission Company v. The Argentine Republic (ICSID Case No.
ARB/01/8), Award of 12 May 2005, para.400: X8AOPQE
PE
KJĀEOĀ
PDAĀ
OP=J@
=N@Ā
used to re-establish the
situation which existed before the wrongful act was committed, provided this is not materially
EI LKOOE>H
AĀ=
J@Ā@
KAOĀJKPĀNA
OQH
PĀEJĀ=Ā
>QN@
AJĀK
QPĀKB
ĀLNKLKNPEKJ
Ā=O
Ā?KIL=NA@ĀPKĀ?KI
LAJO=P
EKJ"Y
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D.

URGENCY

72. The Parties agree that there is urgency when it is impossible to wait until
the award because actions prejudicial to the rights of the petitioner are
likely to be taken before the Arbitral Tribunal decides on the merits of the
dispute. They disagree, however, on whether the present facts meet the
urgency requirement. The Respondents in particular submit that the threat
of termination of the PSCs does not create an urgent situation as Ecuador
has confirmed to the Tribunal on 23 February 2009 that the Respondents
had taken no steps to this effect.
73. The Arbitral Tribunal agrees that the criterion of urgency is satisfied when,
as Schreuer puts it, Xa question cannot await the outcome of the award on
the meritsY12. This is in line with ICJ practice13. The same definition has
also been given in Biwater Gauff v. Tanzania:
XIn the Arbitral TNE>QJ=H[O
ĀREAS!ĀPDAĀ@A
CN
AAĀKBĀZQ
NCAJ?UZĀ
SDE?DĀEOĀ
NAMQENA@Ā
depends on the circumstances, including the requested provisional
measures, and may be satisfied where a party can prove that there is a
need to obtain the requested measures at a certain point in the procedure
before the issuance of an award.Y14
74. The Tribunal shares the Respondents' opinion that no urgency arises from
the alleged threat of termination of the PSCs. The urgency lies elsewhere
and is closely linked to the non-aggravation of the dispute discussed in the
preceding section, to which the Tribunal refers. Indeed, when the

12
13

14

Christoph SCHREUER, The ICSID Convention: A Commentary, Cambridge University Press, 2001,
p. 751 (para.17).
In the words of the ICJ, X[w]hereas the power of the Court to indicate provisional measures will be
exercised only if there is urgency in the sense that there is a real risk that action prejudicial to the
rights of either party might be taken before the Court has given its final decision (see, for example,
Passage through the Great Belt (Finland v. Denmark), Provisional Measures, Order of 29 July 1991,
ICJ Reports 1991, p. 17, para.23; Certain Criminal Proceedings in France (Republic of the Congo v.
France), Provisional Measures, Order of 17 June 2003, ICJ Reports 2003, p. 107, para.22 ; Pulp
Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay), Preliminary Objections, Order of 23 January
2007, p. 11, para.32), and whereas the Court thus has to consider whether in the current
proceedings such urgency exists", Case Concerning Application of the International Convention on
the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (Georgia v. Russian Federation), Order of 15
October 2008, para.129.
Biwater Gauff (Tanzania) Limited v. United Republic of Tanzania (ICSID Case No. ARB/05/22),
Procedural Order No. 1 of 31 March 2006, para.76.
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measures are intended to protect against the aggravation of the dispute
during the proceedings, the urgency requirement is fulfilled by definition15.
E.

NECESSITY OR NEED TO AVOID HARM

75. The Parties concur that the measures must be necessary or in other
words that they must be required to avoid harm or prejudice being inflicted
upon the applicant. They differ, however, on the required intensity of the
harm: XirreparableY, i.e. not compensable by money, for the Respondents,
as opposed to XsignificantYfor the Claimant.
76. The Respondents substantially argue that the harm invoked by Burlington
Oriente cannot be deemed XirreparableYbecause (i) no production assets
were seized and (ii) such harm can easily be made good by a monetary
award. They rely in particular on Occidental Petroleum and other v.
Ecuador to argue that Xa mere increase in damages is not a justification for
provisional measuresY(Rejoinder, para.55).
77. The Claimant does not dispute that no production assets were seized, but
insists that its operational capacity is severely threatened by the seizures,
that the imposition of the Law 42 payments led to a loss on investment in
2008 and prevented a sale of the latter (Testimony of Mr. Martinez,
Transcript, pp.117-118 and 114). It also argues that it may have no other
?DKE?
AĀPD=JĀPKĀXS=HG
Ā=S=UYfrom its investment.
78. :D AĀSKN@OĀXJA?A
OO
EP
UYĀKNĀ
XD=NIYdo not appear in the relevant ICSID
provisions. Necessity is nonetheless an indispensable requirement for
provisional measures. It is generally assessed by balancing the degree of
harm the applicant would suffer but for the measure.
79. The Respondents are right in pointing out that a number of investment
tribunals have required irreparable harm in the sense of harm not
compensable by monetary damages. The Occidental tribunal found that
there was no irreparable harm since the CH=E
I =JPO[harm, if any, could be
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Of the same opinion, in particular, City Oriente, Decision on Provisional Measures, para.69.
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compensated by a monetary award16. In the same vein, the Plama tribunal
mentioned that it accepted the respondent's argument that the harm was
not irreparable if it could be compensated by damages17, but did not
discuss the matter further. Similarly, the tribunal in Metaclad v. Mexico
denied the request and underlined that the measures must be required to
protect the applicant's rights from Xan injury that cannot be made good by
subsequent payment of damagesY18.
80. By contrast, the City Oriente tribunal distinguished its case from
investment cases where the sole relief sought was damages, while City
Oriente was seeking contract performance19. In its decision not to revoke
the measures, the tribunal stressed that neither Article 47 of the ICSID
Convention nor Arbitration Rule 39 Xrequire that provisional measures be
ordered only as means to prevent irreparable harmY20. In the UNCITRAL
investment case of Paushok v. Mongolia, the tribunal distinguished Plama,
Occidental and City Oriente and concluded that Xirreparable harmY in
international law has a Xflexible meaningY. It also referred to Article 17A of
the UNCITRAL Model Law which only requires that Xharm not adequately
reparable by an award of damages is likely to result if the measures are
not orderedY21.
81. However defined, the harm to be considered does not only concern the
applicant. The Occidental tribunal recalled that the risk of harm must be
assessed with respect to the rights of both parties. Specifically, it stated
that Xprovisional measures may not be awarded for the protection of the
rights of one party where such provisional measures would cause
irreparable harm to the rights of the other party, in this case, the rights of a
sovereign StateY.22 In the same spirit, the City Oriente tribunal stressed the
need to weigh the interests at stake against each other. Referring to
16

Occidental, para.92.
Plama, para.46.
18
Metalclad Corporation v. United Mexican States (ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/97/1), Decision on a
request by the Respondent for an order prohibiting the Claimant from revealing information
regarding ICSID Case ARB(AF)/97/1, para.8.
19
City Oriente, Decision on Revocation, para.86.
20
Ibid., para.70.
21
Paushok, paras.62, 68-69.
22
Occidental, para.93.
17
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Article 17A(1) of the UNCITRAL Model Law, it emphasized the balance of
interests that needs to be struck as follows:
XIt is not so essential that provisional measures be necessary to prevent
irreparable harm, but that the harm spared the petitioner by such
measures must be significant and that it exceeds greatly the damage
caused to the party affected thereby.Y23
82. In the circumstances of the present case, this Tribunal finds it appropriate
to follow those cases that adopt the standard of Xharm not adequately
reparable by an award of damagesY to use the words of the UNCITRAL
Model Law. It will also weigh the interests of both sides in assessing
necessity.
83. Unlike Occidental, this case is not one of only Xmore damagesYcaused by
the passage of time24. It is a case of avoidance of a different damage. The
risk here is the destruction of an ongoing investment and of its revenueproducing potential which benefits both the investor and the State. Indeed,
if the investor must continue to finance operation expenses while making
losses, from a business point of view it is likely that it will reduce its
investment and maintenance costs to a minimum and thus its output and
the shared revenues. There is also an obvious economic risk that it will
cease operating altogether. While profit sharing may be legitimate,
expecting that a foreign investor will continue to operate a loss making
investment over years is unreasonable as a matter of practice. Contrary to
the Respondents' assertion pursuant to which the protection would be
CN
=JPA@Ā
=C=E
JOPĀPDAĀEJRAOPKN[OĀKSJĀ=?PĀKBĀXwalGEJCĀ
=S=UY, the Tribunal
considers that the project and its economic standing is at risk regardless of
the conduct of the investor.
84. In reaching this conclusion, the Tribunal has paid due attention to the
Respondents[ argument that the effect of the seizures was economically
neutral for the Claimant. Every time oil is seized for a given amount, past
due Law 42 debts are extinguished, which would allow the Claimant to
withdraw the equivalent amount from the segregated account. Although
23
24

City Oriente, Decision on Revocation, para.72.
Occidental, para.99.
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the Claimant replies that it will not touch the monies on the segregated
account, the objection is mathematically speaking correct. Yet, it misses
the point. Indeed, the risk of further deterioration of the relationship
possibly ending with the destruction of the investment would still exist.
This is especially, but not exclusively so if the investor is liable to settle
both the alleged past due Law 42 payments and the newly accruing ones
(Transcript, p.195). The consequences of the end of the investment
relationship would affect the investor as well as the State. The latter would
then in effect lose future Law 42 payments if they are ultimately held to be
due.
85. This last observation shows that provisional measures are in the interest
of both sides if they are adequately structured, a matter discussed in the
next section.
F.

ESCROW ACCOUNT

86. As an alternative to its main request for relief, Burlington Oriente
confirmed at the hearing that it could envisage an escrow account Xwhere
all the funds that are the subject of this dispute could be held pending its
resolutionY (Transcript, pp.23-24, esp. lines 16-18). The Arbitral Tribunal
JKPAOĀ PDAĀ8 AOLKJ@AJPO[ argument that

such account would be

Xunmanageable and inadequateY(Transcript, p.211, line 12), since it would
exclusively cover the Parties in this arbitration, notwithstanding the joint
liability of the Consortium and also because an offshore escrow account
would be X

   

$   Y(Transcript, p.212, lines 4-5).

87. The Arbitral Tribunal is of the view that the establishment of an escrow
account would provide =Ā>=H=J?
A@ĀOKHQP
EKJĀH
EGAH
UĀ
PKĀLNAOANRAĀA=?DĀ7 =NPU[OĀ
rights. The Republic of Ecuador would have the certainty that the amounts
allegedly owing would be paid and could later be collected if held to be
due. The investor would benefit from the cessation of the coactiva
process, and although paying significant amounts into the escrow account,
would have the assurance that such amounts could later be recovered if
held not to be due. Moreover, in reliance on such assurances, one would
27
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reasonably expect both Parties to continue the performance of the PSCs
under their terms.
88. The terms and conditions of the escrow account, and other practicalities
call for a number of specifications:
(i)

The escrow account shall contain all future and past payments due
under Law 42 and Decree 662. Past payments shall include all
payments owed by the Claimant and payed into their segregated
account. It appears that past payments (in the amount of USD 327.4
million) were made by the Consortium into two segregated U.S.
accounts (one for each of the members of the Consortium, see
Request, para.25). Therefore, even if the Consortium were jointly
liable for its debts as the Respondents allege, the Claimant will be
able to separate the payments owed by it from the payments owed
by Perenco.

(ii)

The amounts deposited on the escrow account shall only be released
in accordance with a final award, or a settlement agreement duly
entered into by the Parties, or with other specific instructions issued
by this Tribunal.

(iii)

The escrow agent shall be an internationally recognized financial
institution. For reasons of neutrality, it shall not be an Ecuadorian,
North American or Bermuda institution.

(iv) Interest earned on the escrow account should be credited to such
account and released in accordance with a final award, or a
settlement agreement, or other instructions from this Tribunal.
(v)

IV.

The costs incurred by the escrow account shall be borne equally by
both Parties but can be made part of the claim for compensation by
each Party.

ORDER

On this basis, the Arbitral Tribunal makes the following order:
1.

The Parties shall confer and make their best efforts to agree on the
opening of an escrow account at an internationally recognized financial
institution incorporated outside of Ecuador, the United States of America
and Bermuda;
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2.

Burlington Oriente shall pay into the escrow account all future and past
payments allegedly due under Law 42 and Decree 662, including all
payments made by the Claimants into their segregated account;

3.

The funds in the escrow account shall only be released in accordance with
a final award or a settlement agreement duly entered into by the Parties or
with other specific instructions from this Tribunal;

4.

The costs of the escrow account shall be borne equally by both Parties
and can be made part of the claim for compensation by each Party;

5.

The interest accrued on the escrow account shall be credited to such
account and released in accordance with a final award, or a settlement
agreement, or other instructions from this Tribunal;

6.

If the Parties cannot agree on the opening of an escrow account within 60
days from notification of this Order, they shall report to the Arbitral Tribunal
setting forth the status of their negotiations and the content of and reasons
for their disagreements after which the Arbitral Tribunal will rule on the
outstanding issues;

7.

The Respondents shall discontinue the proceedings pending against the
Claimant under the coactiva process and shall not initiate new coactiva
actions;

8.

The Parties shall refrain from any conduct that may lead to an aggravation
of the dispute until the Award or the reconsideration of this order. In
particular, Burlington Oriente shall refrain from making good on its threat
to abandon the project and Ecuador shall refrain from any action that may
induce Burlington Oriente to do so;

9.

The Order issued by this Tribunal on 6 March 2009 is terminated;

10. Costs are reserved for a later decision or award.
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